
CARMEL AREA WASTEWATER DISTRICT

Regular Board Meeting 

3945 Rio Road, Carmel, CA 93923 

February 23, 2023 
Thursday 

9:00AM 

1



  
CARMEL AREA WASTEWATER DISTRICT   

REGULAR BOARD MEETING MINUTES  
  Thursday, 9:00 a.m., January 26, 2023 

Via Teleconference Webinar & In Person with Proof of Vaccination 
 

 
CALL TO ORDER - ROLL CALL - The meeting was called to order at 9:01 a.m.  
 
Present: Directors:  President Ken White, Pro Temp Bob Siegfried, and Directors Greg D’Ambrosio, Mike 

Rachel, Kevan Urquhart  
Absent: None 
 

A quorum was present. 
 
Others:     Barbara Buikema, General Manager, Carmel Area Wastewater District (CAWD or District) 

Rachél Lather, Principal Engineer, CAWD 
Patrick Treanor, Plant Engineer, CAWD 
Ed Waggoner, Plant Superintendent, CAWD 
Chris Foley, Maintenance Superintendent, CAWD 
Daryl Lauer, Superintendent of Collections, CAWD 
Domine Barringer, Board Secretary, CAWD 
Fanny Mui, Lab Analyst/Environmental Inspector Grade II, CAWD 
Kevin Young, Operations Supervisor, CAWD 
Robert Wellington, Wellington Law Offices, CAWD Legal Counsel 
Richard Gebhart, Vice President of the Board Pebble Beach Community Services District (PBCSD) 
Mike Niccum, General Manager, PBCSD 
Nick Becker, Deputy General Manager, PBCSD 
Public attendees: 

David Scopp 
Krista Ostoich 
Gail Dryden 
Keith 

1. Appearances/Public Comments: No public comments 
 

2. Agenda Changes:  
 
• Agenda Item#6, Insertion of the December 2022 CLA Independent Audit 

Letter 
• Agenda Item #4 Insertion of the Power Point Presentation 
• Agenda Item #19 -correction on the Agenda report covering December 

2022 and January 2023 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2



3. Employee Recognition: Fanny Mui 
The Board gave recognition to Fanny Mui and her achievements and provided 
congratulations.  
 

4. An oral storm update was provided by: Ed Waggoner, Superintendent of 
Plant, Daryl Lauer, Superintendent of Collections, and Chris Foley, 
Superintendent of Maintenance regarding the impact at the Treatment 
Plant. The oral presentation also included the impact of the storm on 
Scenic Drive. The Collections Superintendent Lauer reported out the 
excellent interagency cooperation and a solution was implemented for the 
impacted residents on Scenic.   

 
CONSENT CALENDAR: APPROVAL OF MINUTES, FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MONTHLY REPORTS 
Consists of routine items for which Board approval can be taken with a single motion and vote. 
 

Board Action 
A motion to receive and approve the consent agenda was made by Director 
Siegfried and seconded by Director Urquhart. After a Roll Call vote, the Board 
unanimously received and approved the following Consent Calendar/Agenda 
items. 
 
Item No. 19 of the Agenda and Consent Calendar was pulled for discussion. In that 
discussion it was asked how the District recoups costs regarding annexations?  
Director Siegfried would like to have data gathered regarding costs associated 
with annexations. A motion to add this item to the next agenda and approve Item 
#19 was made by President White and seconded by Director Pro Tem Siegfried, 
there was no objection from the Board.  

 
5. Approve December 8, 2022, Regular Board Meeting Minutes &      

December 6, Salary & Benefits Meeting Minutes 
6. Receive and Accept Bank Statement Review by Hayashi Wayland –    

November &December (will insert into the packet at board meeting or when received)   
7. Receive and Accept Schedule of Cash Receipts & Disbursements-      

 November &December,2022 
8. Approve Register of Disbursements – Carmel Area Wastewater District –    

November & December,2022 
9. Approve Register of Disbursements – CAWD/PBCSD Reclamation Project –   

 November & December,2022 
10. Receive and Accept Financial Statements and Supplementary Schedules –    

November & December,2022 
11. Receive and Accept Collection System Superintendent’s Report – 2022 December,  

November, October & Annual Collections Report 
12. Receive and Accept Safety and Regulatory Compliance Report –       

December,2022 

3



13. Receive and Accept Treatment Facility Operations Report – December,       
November & October,2022 

14. Receive and Accept Laboratory/Environmental Compliance Report –December    
15. Receive and Accept Capital Projects Report/Implementation Plan    
16. Receive and Accept Project Summaries – Capital & Non-Capital     
17. Receive and Accept Plant Operations Report – December                  
18. Receive and Accept Maintenance Projects Report – November & December               
19. Receive and Accept District Engineer’s Report-September, October & November             

 (correction – dates covered December 2022 and January 2023)    
  

ACTION ITEMS BEFORE THE BOARD 
These items are acted upon in the following sequence: (1) Staff Report (2) Board Questions to Staff (3) Public 
Comments, and (4) Board Discussion, Vote and Action. 
 
RESOLUTIONS 

 
20. Resolution No. 2023-01;Report By Principal District Engineer, Rachel Lather 

 
Board Action 

After brief discussion, a motion to approve the resolution was made by Director 
Rachel and seconded by Director Urquhart. Following a Roll Call vote, the Board 
unanimously passed Resolution 2023-01, authorizing the General Manger to 
invite bids for the 2022-2023 Pipeline Spot Repair Project #23-02. 

 
21. Resolution No. 2023-02; Report By Principal District Engineer, Rachel Lather 

 
Board Action 

After brief discussion, a motion to approve the resolution was made by Director 
Siegfried and seconded by Director D’Ambrosio. Following a Roll Call vote, the 
Board unanimously passed Resolution 2023-02, authorizing the General 
Manager to execute a contract with Monterey Peninsula Engineering (MPE)  for 
an emergency sewer relocation at Lorca Lane and Del Monte street, for an amount 
not to exceed $153,500, project #22-07. 
 

22. Resolution No. 2023-03;Report By Principal District Engineer, Rachel Lather 
 

Board Action 
A motion to approve the resolution was made by Director Rachel and seconded by 
Director Urquhart. Following a Roll Call vote, the Board unanimously passed 
Resolution 2023-03, Resolution Accepting Completed Project And Directing   
the General Manager To File A Notice Of Completion On The Manhole 
Rehabilitation Project #21-06. 
 
 
 
 

4



23. Resolution No. 2023-04; Report By Principal District Engineer, Rachel Lather 
  

Board Action 
A motion to approve the resolution was made by President White and seconded by 
Director Siegfried. Following a Roll Call vote, the Board unanimously passed 
Resolution 2023-04, A Resolution Authorizing The General Manager To Enter   
Into A Contract With MNS Engineers To Provide Design Services For The Santa Rita 
& Guadalupe Pipeline Rehabilitation, In An Amount Not To Exceed $171,464- 
Project #23-01. 
 

24. Resolution No. 2023-05;Report By Principal District Engineer, Rachel Lather  
 

Board Action 
A motion to approve the resolution was made by Director Siegfried and seconded 
by Director Rachel. Following a Roll Call vote, the Board unanimously passed 
Resolution 2023-05, Authorizing The General Manager To Amend A Contract With 
MNS Engineers To Provide  Design Support For Additional Pipeline Segments And 
Coastal Permitting Support To Be Included In The Scenic Road Pipe Bursting Ocean 
To Bay Project-#20-08 Amendment #5, In An Amount Not To Exceed $125,065. 
 

25. Resolution No. 2023-06; Report By Principal District Engineer, Rachel Lather 
 

Board Action 
A motion to approve the resolution was made by Director Urquhart and seconded 
by Director Siegfried. Following a Roll Call vote, the Board unanimously passed 
Resolution 2023-06, Authorizing The General Manager To Execute A Contract With 
Coastal Paving & Excavating For The Emergency Relocation Of A Sewer Line At 
Scenic Road On A Time And Materials Basis. 
 
Per District Counsel, Rob Wellington stated that per the Public Contract Code when 
an emergency situation occurs there is a requirement that subsequent reporting 
to the Board is required to receive the report out of the stated emergency, which 
has been covered in this meeting.  
 
 

26. Resolution No. 2023-07; Report by Plant Superintendent, Ed Waggoner 
 

Board Action 
A motion to approve the resolution was made by Director Urquhart and seconded 
by Director Siegfried. Following a Roll Call vote, the Board unanimously passed 
Resolution 2023-07, Resolution Awarding The Contract To Scinor Water America 
LLC, For The Purchase Of 160 Microfiltration Modules In An Amount Not To Exceed 
$160,000. 

5



27. Resolution No. 2023-08; Report by General Manager, Barbara Buikema 
 

Board Action 
A motion to approve the resolution was made by Director Urquhart and seconded 
by Director Siegfried. Following a Roll Call vote, the Board unanimously passed 
Resolution 2023-08, Resolution Designating Classification Titles In The Carmel 
Area Wastewater District and Providing For the Number of Positions And Monthly 
Salary Ranges. 
 

28. Resolution No. 2023-09; Report by General Manager, Barbara Buikema 
 

Board Action 
A motion to approve the resolution was made by Director Urquhart and seconded 
by President White. Following a Roll Call vote, the Board unanimously passed 
Resolution 2023-09, Resolution Authorizing The General Manager To Amend A Contract 
With The Pun Group To Provide Additional Audit Services In An Amount Not To Exceed 
$15,000. 
 
 

COMMUNICATIONS 
 

29. General Manager Report – oral report 
 
District staff and President White met with Supervisor Adams to provide  an update 
on the District projects and provide an update regarding the Carmel Meadows and 
Pescadero projects. Carmel Meadows goes before the Planning Commission March 3rd.  
Both the General Manager, Barbara Buikema, and the District Engineer, Rachél Lather 
will be attending the Planning Commission meeting.    
 

OTHER ITEMS BEFORE THE BOARD 

 
30. 2023 Committee Assignments, PBCSD Regular Board Meeting Attendance, and  

Conference Schedule – Report by Board Secretary, Domine Barringer 
 

Board Action 
A motion to accept the 2023 Committee Assignments and PBCSD Regular Board 
Meeting rotation was made by Director Siegfried and seconded by Director 
D’Ambrosio.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

6



31. Requesting a Motion to Accept the Carmel Area Wastewater District June 30, 2022  
    Financial Audit– Report by Barbara Buikema, General Manager Report is under    

separate cover (e)          
 

Board Action 
After A Brief Description Concerning The Clean Audit Opinion and The 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board(GASB) 84 Correction For Fiduciary 
Reporting A Motion To Accept The Carmel Area Wastewater District June 
30,2022 Financial Audit Was Made By Director D’Ambrosio And Seconded By 
Director Rachel.  

 
INFORMATION/DISCUSSION ITEMS 

 
32. Carmel Meadows Storm Report- Report by General Manager, Barbara Buikema  

 
General Manager, Barbara Buikema reported out that the District hiked the Carmel 
Meadows terrain with staff and Director Rachel and Director Urquhart. The General 
Manager requested the District Plant Engineer review the terrain due to the 
emergency on hand. Superintendent of Collections, Daryl Lauer was requested to 
purchase enough lay flat to do a bypass up to 1,000 feet and pump if needed. The 
District Purchased two Smart Covers to monitor both the upstream and downstream 
manhole for any unusual movement. The marking of the pipe will be done to show if 
there is any movement. The General Manager, Barbara Buikema, stated this is an area 
of concern and the Supervisor was informed that if the pipe moves that the District 
would move in immediately to ensure that there is no spill into the lagoon. The 
District will practice “watchful waiting” and will continue interface with the Planning 
Commission. A flyer was sent out to residents that this may be coming.  
 
 
  

33. Electrical Vehicle Charging Stations - Report by Maintenance Superintendent, Chris 
Foley         
 
Superintendent of Maintenance, Chris Foley stated the District is moving toward 
developing a policy and the future of the District using electric vehicles. President 
White asked who is paying for the electricity? Mr. Foley stated the employee will 
be paying for the charge and the District will be tracking the usage.  
 

34. December Construction Updates of Project #18-01                                                                                 
Electrical/Mechanical Rehab and Sludge Holding Tank Replacement – Report by Plant 
Engineer, Patrick Treanor 

 
District Plant Engineer informed the Board of the following: The sludge tank is on line 
and working well. The old structures have been demoed and are being cleaned up. The 
motor control centers (electrical equipment) will be delivered in February. The project 
is moving along.  
 

7



35. Bi-Annual Wastewater Treatment Plant Electricity Usage- Report by Plant Engineer, 
Patrick Treanor 
 
District Plant Engineer informed the Board of the following: The improvements on 
electricity usage have reduced the electricity usage at the plant. This past six month 
period has shown a savings of 12,000 kwh each month, which is annual savings of 
approximately $22K due to increased efficiencies. It is expected that similar 
improvements will continue after all of the remaining equipment has been installed 
and have run for several months.  

36. December 9,  2022, PBCSD Board Meeting Summaries-Report by General Manager, 
Barbara Buikema 

 
37. Topics For the Spring 2023 Newsletter- Report by General Manager, Barbara 

Buikema   
 
The Board discussed a few items to include in the next newsletter.  
 

38. Reclamation Agreement Discussion-Discussion by Legal Counsel, Rob Wellington 
Legal Counsel, Rob Wellington, provided a table of contents as an exhibit of the 
amended and restated four way agreement in the packet. In early 1990’s bond 
certificates of participation were issued in the amount of $33.9M issued by the Water 
Management District and underwritten by the Pebble Beach Company. The term of the 
agreement shall last and continue until terminated by mutual agreement by all parties. 
Going forward, CAWD may need to consider the orders coming down from the Coastal 
Commission regarding sea level rise (SLR). Items that should be considered are what 
might come next.  Director D’Ambrosio would like to discuss with the board in advance 
condemnation rules. Mr. Wellington stated that further discussion could move forward 
and that the proper expertise will need to be obtained regarding eminent domain 
including easements in that discussion. President White commented on the Meadows 
project and he is not sure about the demarcation of the property line and that needs to 
be addressed.  

39. Announcements on Subjects of Interest to the Board Made by 
Members of the Board or Staff         
Oral reports or announcements from Board President, Directors or staff concerning their 
activities and/or meetings or conferences attended. 

 
PBCSD Board Public Meeting Notice & Agenda – The next PBCSD meeting is scheduled for: 
Friday, January 27, 2023, at 9:30 a.m. – President White is scheduled to attend.  
Friday, February 24, 2023, at 9:30 a.m. – Director D’Ambrosio is scheduled to attend.  

 
 Special Districts Association of Monterey County – The next SDA meeting is scheduled for:  

   Tuesday, April 18, 2023, at 6:00 p.m. – Director D’Ambrosio is scheduled to attend.  
  Tuesday, July TBD, 2023, at 6:00 p.m. – Director Rachel  is scheduled to attend.  

  
Reclamation Management Committee (RMC) Meeting – The next RMC meeting is scheduled for:  
Tuesday, February 7, 2023, at 9:30 a.m. President White is scheduled to attend. 

8



 

40. CLOSED SESSION: As permitted by Government Code Section 54956 et seq., the 
Board of Directors may adjourn to a Closed Session to consider specific matters dealing 
with litigation, certain personnel matters, real property negotiations, or to confer with 
the District’s Meyers-Milias-Brown representative. 

 
The  Board adjourned 11:00 a.m. and took a 5 minute break. The Board then 
convened into closed session at 11:05 a.m.  The Board came out of closed session 
at 11:55 a.m. and Legal Counsel reported that during the closed session the Board 
took up. With regard to the performance evaluation matter, the employee 
evaluation was completed, and no reportable action was taken.  The Board came 
back into open session at 11:55 a.m. and the meeting was convened at 11:56 a.m. 
 

41. ADJOURNMENT 
The next Regular Meeting will be held at 9:00 a.m., Thursday, February 26, 2023, or 
at an alternate acceptable date.  NOTE: The meeting will have a teleconference 
option hosted through Zoom.  You may access the Zoom link by visiting our website, 
www.cawd.org.  If you need assistance, please call the District office at 831-624-
1248 or send an email to downstream@cawd.org. After staff reports have been 
distributed, if additional documents are produced by the District and provided to 
the Board regarding any item on the agenda, they will be made available on the 
District website. 

As Reported To: 

____________________________________ 
Domine Barringer, Secretary to the Board 

APPROVED: 

________________________________________________ 

Ken White, President of the Board 

9

https://www.cawd.org/
mailto:downstream@cawd.org


 

        CARMEL AREA WASTEWATER DISTRICT (CAWD) 
BUDGET COMMITTEE MEETING MINUTES 

January 23, 2023, Monday, 3:00 p.m.  

3645 Rio Road, Carmel, CA 93923 
 

CALL TO ORDER - ROLL CALL:  
The meeting was called to order at 3:00 p.m. 
 
Present:  President Pro Tem Robert Siegfried, Committee member 

Director Greg D’Ambrosio, Committee member 
Barbara Buikema, General Manager 
Chris Foley, Maintenance Superintendent 
Rachél Lather, Principal Engineer, CAWD 
Patrick Treanor, Plant Engineer, CAWD 

  
Absent:  None 

 
Appearances/Public Comments: None 

 
Agenda Changes:  None 
 
AGENDA ITEMS:  
 
The committee discussed the following agenda items: 

• The 2022-23 Capital Budget.  The committee decided to accept the capital budget. 
 
 

ADJOURNMENT: There being no further business to come before the Committee, the meeting 
concluded at  4 :45 p.m. The next Regular Board Meeting will be held at 9:00 a.m., Thursday, January 
23, 2023, or an alternate acceptable date, in person and via teleconference webinar. The teleconference 
webinar is hosted through Zoom and you may receive access by visiting our website homepage, 
www.cawd.org, calling the District office at 831-624-1248 or via email at downstream@cawd.org. 

As Reported To: 

__________________________________________ 
Barbara Buikema, General Manager 

APPROVED: 

_______________________________________________ 
Bob Siegfried, President Pro Tem 

10



 

        CARMEL AREA WASTEWATER DISTRICT (CAWD) 
BUDGET COMMITTEE MEETING MINUTES 

January 31, 2023, Tuesday, 12:00 p.m.  

3645 Rio Road, Carmel, CA 93923 
 

CALL TO ORDER - ROLL CALL:  
The meeting was called to order at 12:00 p.m. 
 
Present:  President Pro Tem Robert Siegfried, Committee member 

Director Greg D’Ambrosio, Committee member 
Barbara Buikema, General Manager 
Chris Foley, Maintenance Superintendent 

Absent:  None 
 

Appearances/Public Comments: None 
 

Agenda Changes:  None 
 
AGENDA ITEMS:  
 
The committee discussed the following agenda items: 
 

• The 2022-23 Operations & Maintenance Budget.  The committee recommended changes 
to be brought forward at the next committee meeting.  
 
 

ADJOURNMENT: There being no further business to come before the Committee, the meeting 
concluded at 1:45 p.m. The next Regular Board Meeting will be held at 9:00 a.m., Thursday, February 
23, 2023, or an alternate acceptable date, in person and via teleconference webinar. The teleconference 
webinar is hosted through Zoom and you may receive access by visiting our website homepage, 
www.cawd.org, calling the District office at 831-624-1248 or via email at downstream@cawd.org. 

As Reported To: 

__________________________________________ 
Barbara Buikema, General Manager 

APPROVED: 

_______________________________________________ 
Bob Siegfried, President Pro Tem 

11



 

        CARMEL AREA WASTEWATER DISTRICT (CAWD) 
BUDGET COMMITTEE MEETING MINUTES 

February 7, 2023, Tuesday, 12:00 p.m.  

3645 Rio Road, Carmel, CA 93923 
 

CALL TO ORDER - ROLL CALL:  
The meeting was called to order at 12:00 p.m. 
 
Present:  President Pro Tem Robert Siegfried, Committee member 

Director Greg D’Ambrosio, Committee member 
Barbara Buikema, General Manager 
Chris Foley, Maintenance Superintendent 

Absent:  None 
 

Appearances/Public Comments: None 
 

Agenda Changes:  None 
 
AGENDA ITEMS:  
 
The committee discussed the following agenda items: 

• The 2022-23 Proposed rate model was on the agenda.  However, the committee decided 
to return to additional discussion of the 2022-23 O&M budget.  They plan to discuss the 
rate model on February 16th.  
 
 

ADJOURNMENT: There being no further business to come before the Committee, the meeting 
concluded at 2:00 p.m. The next Regular Board Meeting will be held at 9:00 a.m., Thursday, February 
23, 2023, or an alternate acceptable date, in person and via teleconference webinar. The teleconference 
webinar is hosted through Zoom and you may receive access by visiting our website homepage, 
www.cawd.org, calling the District office at 831-624-1248 or via email at downstream@cawd.org. 

As Reported To: 

__________________________________________ 
Barbara Buikema, General Manager 

APPROVED: 

_______________________________________________ 
Bob Siegfried, President Pro Tem 

12



 

        CARMEL AREA WASTEWATER DISTRICT (CAWD) 
SALARY & BENEFITS COMMITTEE MEETING MINUTES 

February 9, 2023, Tuesday, 3:00 p.m.  

3645 Rio Road, Carmel, CA 93923 
 

CALL TO ORDER - ROLL CALL:  
The meeting was called to order at 3:00 p.m. 
 
Present:  President White, Committee member 

Director Mike Rachel, Committee member 
Barbara Buikema, General Manager 

Absent:  None 
 

Appearances/Public Comments: None 
 

Agenda Changes:  None 
 
AGENDA ITEMS:  
 
Closed Session: 

• General Manager Review 
• Administrative-Board Clerk Salary Request 
• Human Resources Contract Negotiations 
• Employee Negotiations -Salary Double Time Question 

 
The committee adjourned to closed session at 3:04 p.m.  The Committee came out of closed 
session at 3:42 p.m.  The Committee took up all items listed on the agenda for closed session.  
The reportable action taken with regards to the Administrative-Board Clerk salary the 
Committee, directed that the matter be taken before the full board at their next regular meeting.  
 
With regard to the General Manager Review, Human Resources Contract Negotiations, and the 
Double Time Question there was no reportable action taken.   
  
ADJOURNMENT: There being no further business to come before the Committee, the meeting concluded 
at   3:45 p.m. The next Regular Board Meeting will be held at 9:00 a.m., Thursday, February 23, 2023, or 
an alternate acceptable date, in person and via teleconference webinar. The teleconference webinar is hosted 
through Zoom and you may receive access by visiting our website homepage, www.cawd.org, calling the 
District office at 831-624-1248 or via email at downstream@cawd.org. 

As Reported To: 
__________________________________________ 
Barbara Buikema, General Manager 

APPROVED: 
_______________________________________________ 
Ken White, President 

13



 

        CARMEL AREA WASTEWATER DISTRICT (CAWD) 
PENSION COMMITTEE MEETING MINUTES 

February 13, 2023, Monday, 1:00 p.m.  

Via teleconference and in-person 
 

CALL TO ORDER - ROLL CALL:  
The meeting was called to order at 1:00 p.m. 
 
Present:  President Pro Tem Robert Siegfried, Committee member 

Kevan Urquhart, Director Committee member 
Chris Foley, Acting General Manager 
Robert Wellington, Legal Counsel 

  Bill Hastie, Managing Partner, CPFA, Hastie Financial Group 
  Haley Hitchman, Partner, CPFA, Hastie Financial Group 

Ryan Hastie, CPFA, Hastie Financial Group 
 
Absent:   Barbara Buikema, General Manager 

 
Appearances/Public Comments: None 

 
Agenda Changes:  None 
 
AGENDA ITEMS:  
 
The committee discussed the following agenda items: 
1.        Review 4th quarter 2022 and discussed 1st quarter 2023 

4th Presentation from Hastie group.  
 
 
2.         Discussion of Correlation Coefficients and implications  
            of positive correlation 

No reportable action.  
 
3.          Review CalPERS Actuarial report 

 No action on this item.  
 
4.            Review SAM Actuarial Report 

Recommendation from the committee to budget $100,000 for FY23-24 to minimize rate 
spikes when future UAL is realized.  
Direction to staff to research options on SAM conversion.  
 

5.          Review Section 115 performance and make recommendation to Budget Committee 
Recommendation from the committee to budget $100,000 for FY23-24 to minimize rate 
spikes when future UAL is realized.  
Direction to staff to verify if there is option to combine strategies in section 115.  

14



6.          Review state of committee & communication 
No action taken.  

 
7.           Graph for Quarterly & Annual investment results 

Committee requested Hastie to provide a graph in next report with 4 quadrants and 
each fund having a description of Fund Name, the percentage return, and a benchmark.  

 
8.            Discuss replacement of S & P as a component of the  
                blended benchmark 

Direction to staff to provide recommendation to the committee on benchmark options.  
 

Email Hastie Director Siegfried’s response to the Bill’s letter dated 11/21/22 
 
  
 
 
 
ADJOURNMENT: There being no further business to come before the Committee, the meeting 
concluded at 3:21 p.m. The next Regular Board Meeting will be held at 9:00 a.m., Thursday, 
February 23, 2023, or an alternate acceptable date, in-person and via teleconference webinar. The 
teleconference webinar is hosted through Zoom, and you may receive access by visiting our 
website homepage, www.cawd.org, calling the District office at 831-624-1248 or via email at 
downstream@cawd.org. 

As Reported To: 

__________________________________________ 
Chris Foley, Acting General Manager 

APPROVED: 

_______________________________________________ 
Bob Siegfried, President Pro Tem 

15



 

        CARMEL AREA WASTEWATER DISTRICT (CAWD) 
BUDGET COMMITTEE MEETING MINUTES 

February 16, 2023, Thursday, 12:00 p.m.  

3645 Rio Road, Carmel, CA 93923 
 

CALL TO ORDER - ROLL CALL:  
The meeting was called to order at 12:00 p.m. 
 
Present:  President Pro Tem Robert Siegfried, Committee member 

Director Greg D’Ambrosio, Committee member 
Barbara Buikema, General Manager 
Patrick Treanor, District Plant Engineer 
Chris Foley, Maintenance Superintendent 

Absent:  None 
 

Appearances/Public Comments: None 
 

Agenda Changes:  None 
 
AGENDA ITEMS:  
 
The committee discussed the following agenda items: 

• The 2022-23 Proposed rate model.   
The committee discussed the rate model and capital component of the rate model.  
The committee took no reportable action.  
 
 

ADJOURNMENT: There being no further business to come before the Committee, the meeting 
concluded at 1:54 p.m. The next Regular Board Meeting will be held at 9:00 a.m., Thursday, February 
23, 2023, or an alternate acceptable date, in person and via teleconference webinar. The teleconference 
webinar is hosted through Zoom and you may receive access by visiting our website homepage, 
www.cawd.org, calling the District office at 831-624-1248 or via email at downstream@cawd.org. 

As Reported To: 

__________________________________________ 
Barbara Buikema, General Manager 

APPROVED: 

_______________________________________________ 
Bob Siegfried, President Pro Tem 

16



CLA Independent Auditor Letter- 
will insert when received

17



Capital Compensated Defend or COUNTY Chase Chase
Capital Improvement General O & M Accruals Managed  Retreat Total Fund Bank O & M Bank PR L.A.I.F.
Fund Reserve Fund Reserve Reserve Balance Balance Balance Balance

BALANCE BEGINNING OF MONTH $10,399,816 $17,289,289 $12,900,983 $274,162 $5,000,000 $45,864,250 $472,993 $123,632 $1,204,556

Receipts:
   User Fees 123,585
   Property Taxes 25,907
   PBCSD Treatment Fees 230,000
   Reclamation O & M reimbursement 153,126
   Reclamation capital billing
   Permits 4,800
   PBCSD capital billing
   Other misc. revenue 4,228
   Interest income 166,307 6,293
   Connection Fees
   CCLEAN receipts 43,163
   Worker's comp check
   GovDeals sale of spare parts
   Greeley and Hansen return duplicate check
   Void checks-replace lost checks 35,051
        Total Receipts 0 25,907 289,892 0 0 315,799 470,368 0 6,293

Fund Transfers:
   Transfers to Chase Bank O&M (291,183) (308,817) 600,000
   Transfers to Chase Bank PR (260,000) 260,000
   Transfer to Defend or Managed Retreat Fund
   Intra-fund transfers for capital expenditures
   Rebalance Capital and O&M Reserves
        Total Transfers (291,183) 0 (308,817) 0 0 (600,000) 340,000 260,000 0

Disbursements:
   Operations and capital 811,318
   Payroll & payroll taxes 376,962
   Employee Dental reimbursements 1,677
   CALPERS EFT 55,078
   CAWD SAM pension EFT 0
   CAWD pension loans EFT 0
   Home Depot EFT 31
   US Bank EFT 8,059
   Deferred comp contributions EFT 19,562 0
   PEHP contributions EFT 3,321 0
   Bank/ADP fees 0 828
   Highlands Bond Debt Service Payment
   Annual County admin billing fee
   Greely Hansen deposit lost check
   HCM Unlocked EFT 2,250
         Total Disbursements 0 0 0 0 0 0 901,295 377,790 0

BALANCE END OF MONTH 10,108,633 17,315,196 12,882,058 274,162 5,000,000 45,580,049 382,067 5,842 1,210,849

Carmel Area Wastewater District
Schedule of Cash Receipts and Disbursements - JANUARY 2023

18



Capital Reserve + O&M + O&M Reserve + Compensated Absences Reserve = Total Fund held in County

0

5,000,000

10,000,000

15,000,000

20,000,000

25,000,000

30,000,000

35,000,000

40,000,000

45,000,000

50,000,000

Jul-22 Aug-22 Sep-22 Oct-22 Nov-22 Dec-22 Jan-23

Total Fund Balances 22-23Capital Reserves

O&M

Comp Absences

Retreat Reserve

Total

19



0

5,000,000

10,000,000

15,000,000

20,000,000

25,000,000

Capital Capital Reserve O&M Compensated Absences Managed Retreat Reserve

10,108,633 

17,315,196 

12,882,058 

274,162 

5,000,000 

6,930,845 

20,214,508 

10,625,740 

281,144 

4,000,000 

2022-23
2021-22

20



21



22



23



24



25



26



27



28



29



30



31



32



33



34



35



36



37



38



 

STAFF REPORT   
 
TO:  Board of Directors 
 
FROM: Daryl Lauer, Collection Superintendent 
 
DATE:            February 23, 2023  
         
SUBJECT: Monthly Report – January 
 
RECOMMENDATION  
 
Receive Report- Informational only; no action required.  
 
       
Permits Issued 
 
Sewer Lateral Permits issued in January                                …..................                           13 
 
Total Fees     ....................................................................................................... $2,760.00 
 
 
Maintenance  
Attached is a map of the areas cleaned and Closed-Circuit Television (CCTV) inspected 
in past three months. There were 46,421 feet of sewer lines cleaned, there were no CCTV 
inspections during the month of January.   
 
 
Recent Line Cleaning Summary 

Cleaning period Footage 
Cleaned 

Percentage Cleaned Size of Pipe Cleaned 

January 46,421 ft. 11.29% 6 – 10 inches 
December 47,393 ft. 11.38% 6 - 12 inches 
November 51,682 ft. 12.57% 6 – 27 inches 

 
 
 

 

 

39



Annual Line Cleaning Graph 
 
 

 
 

Line Cleaning Table 

Total Target Amount 
(Linear Feet) 

Cumulative Complete 
(Linear Feet) 

Remaining (Linear Feet) 

615,000 46,421 568,579 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

40



CCTV Progress Graph (River Watch Settlement Agreement Target) 
 

 
 
CCTV Table 

Total Required 
amount (Linear Feet) 

Cumulative Complete 
(Linear Feet) 

Remaining (Linear Feet) 

408,672 408,672 0 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

41



Manhole Inspection Progress Graph (Riverwatch Settlement Agreement Target) 
 

 
 
Manhole Inspection Table 

Total Required Amount 
(Manholes) 

Actual Complete 
(Manholes) 

Remaining                  
(Manholes) 

1428 1428 0 
 
 
Riverwatch Update 

• Staff has completed the manhole inspection part of the settlement. The Principal 
Engineer will use this data to schedule rehabilitation or replacement of damaged 
or deteriorated manholes. 

• Staff has completed the CCTV inspections and pumps station evaluations are 
being reviewed by the Principal Engineer. All of this information will be used for 
the final Collection System Asset Management Plan.  

 
 
Construction Activities 

• CAWD was notified on 1/6/2023 by the County of Monterey of a sewer line and 
manhole that were in danger of collapsing due to erosion of the roadway caused 
by the large atmospheric storm events previously in the month.  
 

42



Staff set up by-pass equipment and plugged the sewer main so no sewage would 
flow through the manhole on the bluff. Contractors were brought in on an 
emergency basis to regrade the sewer line to discharge on Valley View. The 
emergency project took about two weeks from start to finish.  
 

Staff Development 
• Staff completed several in-person tail gate trainings.  

 
General Comments 

• I would like to thank staff for all their dedication and effort for the long hours 
worked during the storms in the first two weeks of January.  

 
Service calls responded to by Crew 

c Time Callout Resolution 
1/5/2023 2:17 PM Lateral Overflow Called by homeowner for a lateral 

overflow. Staff cleaned District main 
line and found no problems in 
District’s line. Staff informed owner 
to call a plumber of their choice. 

1/6/2023 3:48 PM Infrastructure Damage Called by the County of Monterey 
for a report of a District manhole on 
Scenic in danger of collapse. See 
construction activities for summary.  

43



 
Date Time Callout Resolution 
1/16/2023 1:43 PM Storm Drain Damage Called by homeowner for a report of 

a sewer overflow in the Carmel 
Meadows area. Staff arrived onsite 
to find a storm drain that was 
damaged by a fallen tree. District 
infrastructure was not damaged and 
no sewer overflow. Informed 
homeowner to contact The County 
of Monterey for repairs.  

1/17/2022 10:38 AM  Main Line Stoppage Sanitary 
Sewer Overflow (SSO) 

Called by homeowner at 25797 
Morse Dr. for a sewer overflowing 
from their cleanout. Staff arrived on 
scene and found the mainline to be 
partially blocked. Staff used pressure 
cleaner to open the blockage.  
Estimated 5,419 gallons spilled. Staff 
cleaned the area and restored flow. 
Staff determined that roots at a 
cracked section of pipe were the 
cause of the blockage. Repairs will 
be scheduled to fix the damaged 
section of pipe in the future. See 
attached map for location of spill. 

1/23/2023 9:15 AM Lateral Overflow Called by homeowner for a lateral 
overflow. Staff cleaned District main 
line and found no problems in 
District’s line. Staff informed owner 
to call a plumber of their choice. 

1/31/2023 1:30 PM  Lateral Overflow Called by homeowner for a lateral 
overflow. Staff cleaned District main 
line and found no problems in 
District’s line. Staff informed owner 
to call a plumber of their choice. 

USA Location Requests – 138 
Plumbing permit inspections – 10 
Private Sewer Lateral Compliance Certificates Issued – 11  

           FUNDING N/A  

44



2/9/2023

45

lauer
Text Box
January (Red)               46,421 feet
December (Yellow)       47,393 feet
November (Green)        51,682 feet                Monthly Cleaning map



2/9/2023

46

lauer
Text Box
January (Red)
December (Yellow)      1,913 feet
November (Green)                                                         Monthly CCTV Map



Q759

Q760

Q763

Q761
Q762

6 - V
C

P

0 - UNK

6 - 
VCP

6 - VCP

6 - DIP

6 - VCP

CARMEL HILLS

FLANDERS

M
O

R
S

E

C
A

R
M

E
L H

ILLS

H
W

Y
 1

015092007000

015091011000

015092006000

015091009000

015141001000

015092005000

015141002000

015091010000

015092004000

CAWD GIS Maps

TiGEO

CAWD Service Area

Active Assets

Flushing Inlet (FI)

CAWD (MH)

Mains

CAWD

Streets

APNs

2/9/2023, 8:02:38 AM
0 0.01 0.020.01 mi

0 0.01 0.030.01 km

1:500

Carmel Area Wastewater District
TiGEO |

47

lauer
Oval

lauer
Callout
SSO on 1/17/2023



STAFF REPORT 
 
To:  Board of Directors 
 
From:  Mark Dias, Safety and 

Regulatory Compliance Administrator 
(S/C Admin Dias) 

 
Date:  February 23, 2023 
 
Subject: Monthly Safety Report (for January 2023) 
 
RECOMMENDATION  
 
Receive Report- Informational only; no action required  
 
DISCUSSION  
 
Safety & Training 
 

• Jan 11-Tailgate Training; Disaster Service Workers. Following the flooding of 
January 9-10, Ed Waggoner, Operations Superintendent gave a presentation 
reminding staff that special district employees are required to be available for 
disaster response. Employees can first address family needs but then must be 
available to respond.   

 
• Jan 18-Automated External Defibrillator (AED) refresher and topical treatments 

for first aid: S/C Admin Dias provided a refresher training on the AED. While all 
staff is given training on the AEDs biannually, this is a small part of a day-long class 
and details can be forgotten. A video from the manufacturer was shown and 
discussed. It was highlighted that an AED has a diagnostic feature where it analyzes 
the heart rhythm and will only advise a shock if the victim needs one. This could be 
useful if a person was found unconscious or has overlapping symptoms of a heart 
attack but is actually suffering from some other illness. S/C Admin Dias also 
discussed the contents of first aid kits. Minor cuts and scrapes occur during the 
course of work. The first aid kits contain five topical treatments so it can be 
confusing which one to use when treating a cut or scrape. When wanting to disinfect 
the hands or an area around a wound and no gloves or soap and water are 
available, alcohol and iodine wipes are recommended.  
 

  

48



When cleaning the wound itself, alcohol and hydrogen peroxide are not 
recommended because they damage the tissue and can slow healing. Mild soap and 
water remains the preferred method. If additional wound cleaning is needed 
benzalkonium chloride  (BZK) wipes should be used.  
 

Jan 25- Tailgate Training; Dusk-Dawn and Winter Driving. Mark Napier, Collections 
Worker II, listed several tips on safe driving during twilight hours and in the rain. It was 
also noted that a relatively new California law requires that headlights must be turned on 
whenever windshield wipers are in use. This would apply to our misty summer days with 
heavy fog. 
 
Ongoing Safety Improvements 
Maintenance Superintendent Chris Foley and S/C Admin Dias continued to implement 
safety improvements and seek input from the operations crew and the Safety Committee.  
 
Activities in January included:  
 

• Carmel River Flood Response, Planning and Prediction.  In anticipation of 
potential flooding, over a hundred Flood-Sax were taken out of storage and staged 
in case they were needed. These cellulose-filled sacks absorb water and swell to 
become effective flood barriers. They are much easier to store and deploy than 
traditional sandbags. In the event of a very large (50 – 100 year) river flood they 
would be used to seal low-lying grates and sumps to prevent flood waters from 
entering the treatment stream. While the site did not flood and the sacks were not 
needed, they are now staged in a readily accessible location.  

Also, during and after the river flooding on January 9 and 10, efforts were 
made to further improve prediction of when flooding will impact the plant. After 
the flooding in 2017, an engineered notch was intentionally cut in the south side of 
the levee of the river west of the Highway 1 bridge. This allows flood waters to flow 
to the south arm of the lagoon and reduce the flows past the plant and Mission 
Fields area. Since the notch was cut, the river has overtopped the levee six times in 
the last five years. This impacts access to the plant because the flood waters flow 
over the access road. For all six of these events, S/C Admin Dias has tracked the 
river flood modeling issued by the National Oceanic and Atmospheric 
Administration’s River Forecast Center. Simultaneously, the levels of the two river 
gauges and the lagoon were tracked and compared to the modeling. This 
information was then compared to the real-time visual observation of when the 
flood waters overtopped the notch in the levee east of the plant and then began 
running across the access road. This information has been documented for all six 
events. As a result, there is now a moderate level of confidence in predicting when 
the flooding will overtop the levee and how deep the water will be.  

49



 
During the most recent flood, these observations allowed time to evacuate staff from 
the plant who otherwise would not have been able to drive their vehicles through 
the flood waters.  

 
Tours and Outreach 
 

• Tours. On-site tours remain on temporary hold while several areas of the plant are 
being impacted by Phase II construction activities. Further progress was made on 
developing virtual tours. A simplified virtual tour was beta-tested with the Santa 
Catalina school in January. Although some technical transmission issues were 
discovered during the test, the tour was well received by the students. The technical 
issues are being resolved and a second virtual tour is planned in February.  

 
Injuries; First Aid Incidents; Workers Compensation Claims 
There were no first aid injuries or workers comp cases in January.  The first matrix for 2023 
is below.  
 
 

 Work Related Injuries and Illnesses for 2023 Calendar Year  

TYPE 

New  
Incidents 
(Month) 

Total  
Incidents 

(Year) 

Total Days Away 
from Work 

(Year) 

Total Days of Job 
Restriction 

(Year) 

Cumulative days 
lost  

(Year) 
OSHA 
Injuries 

0 0 0 0 0 

OSHA 
Illnesses 

0 0 0 0 0 

Other WC 
Claims 

0 0 0 0 0 

First Aid 
(non-OSHA) 

0 0 0 0 0 

 
FUNDING 
N/A- Informational item only 

50



% of Total MG

56.424 45.83

43.576 35.39

100.00 81.22

28.510 23.16

74.113 60.19

0.000 0.000

1 QTR 2 QTR 3 QTR 4 QTR

N/A N/A N/A N/A

N/A N/A N/A N/A

(1) Cost adjustment for Reclamation percentage for Secondary power costs and CAWD's percentage for

Tertiary's power costs due to the Lab's power usage.

(2) Reclamation facility taken off-line on 1/23/2023 due to full reservoir and storage tank

2190.20 1984.97

 Reclamation Total                                

160,397.56 31,515.95$   43,957.05$   

2023

18,511.37$                             

1885.30

43,078.67$                            

MICROTURBINE SUMMARY

4 QTR

1206.68

1907.67

1 QTR 3 QTR

1.615

4.568

249.13

9.27 BG (28.44 K acre-ft.)

4.512

140.57

71.03

0.000

Nov'22

108.56

184.64

0.000

346.72 MG (1064.08 acre-ft.)

0.000

1.481

0.170

Dec'22

1.981

14,804.84$   

0.179$           

53,954.32

32,804.38$   30,074.09$   

19,148.64$                            

19,953.86$   

0.221$           24,511.97$                            

16,711.11$   

MF/RO

23.16MG (71.03acre-ft.)

Total Lifetime Reclamation Production (94-22)                 

24,003.19$   

10,482.05$                            

ELECTRICAL COSTS

Month

Production,kW-h

Potable Water

CAWD Flow

Blowers

Secondary

TERTIARY PROCESS HISTORY

Report for:               

January 2023

23.155

1.942

12 Month Rolling Total Reclamation Production               

10,147

Oct'22

2022

Accumulated Totals

28,512.63$                            

66,996.00

115,142.00

93,401.56

30,699.69$                            

Nov'22

10,196.01$   

19,032.17$                            

16,189.86$                            

1,305,054.00

35,222.03$                            

9,363.99$                              

11,943

Oct'22

20,420

2 QTR

16,183.46$                            

Dec'22Jan '23 kW-h

40,695.43$                            

kW-h Per Acre Foot

5,817

Wastewater Treatment Facility Operations Report

PBCSD Flow

Total Plant Flow

Tertiary Flow (2)

0.877 2.531

2023 YEAR-TO-DATE

acre-feet
Max Daily, 

MGD

Min Daily, 

MGD

HYDRAULIC LOADINGS

35.391

81.216

Avg. Daily, 

MGD

Total 

Monthly, 

MG

60.192

CAWD Total          

22,608.37$   

0.604

Jan'23

0.000

1.47845.825

Monthly Totals

2.620

1.142

0.994

1.007

Jan'23 kWh

0.168$           

Tertiary

Total Annual Reclamation Production (2023)                      

169,096.32

0.000

Ocean Discharge

Price per kWh

0.183$           

CAWD Total

CAWD 1409.48

20,217.64$                            

9,037.96$     

Reclamation

1577.57 1448.51

Reclaim Total

21,036.13$   

Adjusted Monthly 

Totals (1)

51



Month

Feb 22

Mar 22

Apr 22

May 22

Jun 22

Jul 22

Aug 22

Sep 22

Oct 22

Nov 22

Dec 22

Jan 23

Totals

Average

0.000

10.000

20.000

30.000

40.000

50.000

60.000

70.000

80.000

90.000

Feb 22 Mar 22 Apr 22 May 22 Jun 22 Jul 22 Aug 22 Sep 22 Oct 22 Nov 22 Dec 22 Jan 23

Total Outflow Outfall Flow, mg

Tertiary Flow, mg

Total Discharge, mg

0.000

10.000

20.000

30.000

40.000

50.000

60.000

70.000

80.000

90.000

Feb 22 Mar 22 Apr 22 May 22 Jun 22 Jul 22 Aug 22 Sep 22 Oct 22 Nov 22 Dec 22 Jan 23

Total Inflow PBCSD Influent Flow, mg

CAWD Influent Flow, mg

Total Influent Flow, mg

0.000

10.000

20.000

30.000

40.000

50.000

60.000

Feb 22 Mar 22 Apr 22 May 22 Jun 22 Jul 22 Aug 22 Sep 22 Oct 22 Nov 22 Dec 22 Jan 23

Total Golf Course Usage
Tertiary Flow, mg

Total Potable, mg

Total Golf Course, mg

52



% of Total MG

58.263 291.44

41.737 148.69

100.00 440.13

62.169 349.06

37.093 90.43

0.000 1.732

1 QTR 2 QTR 3 QTR 4 QTR

1409.48 1577.57 1448.51 1206.68

2190.20 1984.97 1885.30 1907.67

(1) Cost adjustment for Reclamation percentage for Secondary power costs and CAWD's percentage for

Tertiary's power costs due to the Lab's power usage.

(2) Micro Turbine back on-line 12/16/2022 after repair by vendor 

CAWD 1453.87

19,148.64$                            

10,196.01$   

Reclamation

1327.64 1298.73

Reclaim Total

22,608.37$   

Adjusted Monthly 

Totals (1)

0.190$           

Tertiary

Total Annual Reclamation Production (2022)                      

163,183.00

0.000

Ocean Discharge

Price per kWh

0.207$           

CAWD Total

Dec'22

0.000

1.09033.771

Monthly Totals

1.870

0.780

0.096

1.162

Dec'22 kWh

HYDRAULIC LOADINGS

24.192

57.963

Avg. Daily, 

MGD

Total 

Monthly, 

MG

21.500

CAWD Total          

20,217.64$   

0.391

Wastewater Treatment Facility Operations Report

PBCSD Flow

Total Plant Flow

Tertiary Flow

0.747 2.293

2022 YEAR-TO-DATE

acre-feet
Max Daily, 

MGD

Min Daily, 

MGD

5,817

Sep'22

18,825

2 QTR

16,189.86$                            

Nov'22Dec '22 kW-h (2)

35,222.03$                            

kW-h Per Acre Foot

10,147

Oct'22

10,482.05$   

20,763.27$                            

20,917.38$                            

1,293,111.00

41,680.65$                            

11,415.30$                            

20,420

Sep'22

2021

Accumulated Totals

32,933.23$                            

109,777.00

109,445.00

91,198.24

28,512.63$                            

Potable Water

CAWD Flow

Blowers

Secondary

TERTIARY PROCESS HISTORY

Report for:               

December 2022

36.035

0.691

12 Month Rolling Total Reclamation Production               

MF/RO

349.06MG (1070.74acre-ft.)

Total Lifetime Reclamation Production (94-22)                 

24,511.97$   

9,363.99$                              

ELECTRICAL COSTS

Month

Production,kW-h

24,003.19$   

0.219$           

53,738.00

30,699.69$   32,804.38$   

21,517.93$                            

16,183.46$   

0.219$           19,032.17$                            

19,953.86$   

Oct'22

456.10

277.39

5.313

349.06 MG (1071.27 acre-ft.)

0.000

1.138

0.795

Nov'22

1.809

1.313

3.184

1350.09

9.24 BG (28.37 K acre-ft.)

4.102

893.98

1070.74

0.000

56,534.33$                            

MICROTURBINE SUMMARY

4 QTR

1681.53

1887.92

1 QTR 3 QTR

1984.84 1939.79

 Reclamation Total                                

200,975.24 43,957.05$   40,695.43$   

2022

20,227.10$                             

1682.65

53



Month

Jan 22

Feb 22

Mar 22

Apr 22

May 22

Jun 22

Jul 22

Aug 22

Sep 22

Oct 22

Nov 22

Dec 22

Totals

Average

0.000

10.000

20.000

30.000

40.000

50.000

60.000

70.000

Jan 22 Feb 22 Mar 22 Apr 22 May 22 Jun 22 Jul 22 Aug 22 Sep 22 Oct 22 Nov 22 Dec 22

Total Outflow Outfall Flow, mg

Tertiary Flow, mg

Total Discharge, mg

0.000

10.000

20.000

30.000

40.000

50.000

60.000

70.000

Jan 22 Feb 22 Mar 22 Apr 22 May 22 Jun 22 Jul 22 Aug 22 Sep 22 Oct 22 Nov 22 Dec 22

Total Inflow PBCSD Influent Flow, mg

CAWD Influent Flow, mg

Total Influent Flow, mg

0.000

10.000

20.000

30.000

40.000

50.000

60.000

Jan 22 Feb 22 Mar 22 Apr 22 May 22 Jun 22 Jul 22 Aug 22 Sep 22 Oct 22 Nov 22 Dec 22

Total Golf Course Usage
Tertiary Flow, mg

Total Potable, mg

Total Golf Course, mg

54



% of Total MG

66.587 257.67

33.413 124.50

100.00 382.17

86.701 313.03

11.811 68.93

0.000 1.732

1 QTR 2 QTR 3 QTR 4 QTR

1409.48 1577.57 1448.51 N/A

2190.20 1984.97 1885.30 N/A

(1) Cost adjustment for Reclamation percentage for Secondary power costs and CAWD's percentage for

Tertiary's power costs due to the Lab's power usage.

(2) Micro Turbine off-line on 11/18/2022 due to fault code. Scheduling vender to repair.

1984.84 1939.79

 Reclamation Total                                

187,928.00 40,695.43$   35,222.03$   

2022

18,840.29$                             

1682.65

52,554.83$                            

MICROTURBINE SUMMARY

4 QTR

1681.53

1887.92

1 QTR 3 QTR

1.243

0.294

1172.29

9.21 BG (28.26 K acre-ft.)

2.040

790.39

960.20

0.000

Sep'22

381.90

211.44

5.313

350.87 MG (1076.82 acre-ft.)

0.000

0.951

0.754

Oct'22

0.851

24,511.97$   

0.202$           

54,821.04

28,512.63$   30,699.69$   

24,363.59$                            

16,189.86$   

0.227$           20,763.27$                            

16,183.46$   

MF/RO

313.03MG (960.20acre-ft.)

Total Lifetime Reclamation Production (94-22)                 

19,032.17$   

11,415.30$                            

ELECTRICAL COSTS

Month

Production,kW-h

Potable Water

CAWD Flow

Blowers

Secondary

TERTIARY PROCESS HISTORY

Report for:               

November 2022

29.480

0.134

12 Month Rolling Total Reclamation Production               

18,825

Aug'22

2021

Accumulated Totals

36,794.16$                            

107,867.00

99,305.00

80,061.00

32,933.23$                            

Sep'22

9,363.99$     

22,362.14$                            

20,649.74$                            

1,287,294.00

43,011.88$                            

12,430.57$                            

10,147

Aug'22

12,231

2 QTR

20,917.38$                            

Oct'22Nov '22 kW-h (2)

41,680.65$                            

kW-h Per Acre Foot

20,420

Wastewater Treatment Facility Operations Report

PBCSD Flow

Total Plant Flow

Tertiary Flow

0.665 1.189

2022 YEAR-TO-DATE

acre-feet
Max Daily, 

MGD

Min Daily, 

MGD

HYDRAULIC LOADINGS

11.361

34.002

Avg. Daily, 

MGD

Total 

Monthly, 

MG

4.016

CAWD Total          

19,148.64$   

0.286

Nov'22

0.000

0.71822.641

Monthly Totals

1.097

0.379

0.092

0.983

Nov'22 kWh

0.191$           

Tertiary

Total Annual Reclamation Production (2022)                      

154,126.04

0.000

Ocean Discharge

Price per kWh

0.204$           

CAWD Total

CAWD 1453.87

21,517.93$                            

10,482.05$   

Reclamation

1327.64 1298.73

Reclaim Total

20,217.64$   

Adjusted Monthly 

Totals (1)

55



Month

Dec 21

Jan 22

Feb 22

Mar 22

Apr 22

May 22

Jun 22

Jul 22

Aug 22

Sep 22

Oct 22

Nov 22

Totals

Average

0.000

10.000

20.000

30.000

40.000

50.000

60.000

Dec 21 Jan 22 Feb 22 Mar 22 Apr 22 May 22 Jun 22 Jul 22 Aug 22 Sep 22 Oct 22 Nov 22

Total Outflow Outfall Flow, mg

Tertiary Flow, mg

Total Discharge, mg

0.000

10.000

20.000

30.000

40.000

50.000

60.000

Dec 21 Jan 22 Feb 22 Mar 22 Apr 22 May 22 Jun 22 Jul 22 Aug 22 Sep 22 Oct 22 Nov 22

Total Inflow PBCSD Influent Flow, mg

CAWD Influent Flow, mg

Total Influent Flow, mg

0.000

10.000

20.000

30.000

40.000

50.000

60.000

Dec 21 Jan 22 Feb 22 Mar 22 Apr 22 May 22 Jun 22 Jul 22 Aug 22 Sep 22 Oct 22 Nov 22

Total Golf Course Usage
Tertiary Flow, mg

Total Potable, mg

Total Golf Course, mg

56



STAFF REPORT  
 
 
To:  Board of Directors 
 
From:  Ray De Ocampo - Laboratory/Environmental 

Compliance Supervisor 
 

Date:             February 23, 2022 
 
Subject: Monthly Report – January 2023 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
Receive Report - Informational only; No action required. 
 
DISCUSSION 
LABORATORY REPORT 

• Biobot Analytics continues to provide COVID-19 analysis for Carmel Area Wastewater 
District (CAWD) composite samples of the Influent Pump Station. Biobot samples are 
available upon request and can also be viewed on the CAWD website: Biobot Analytics 
Weekly Reports on SARS-CoV-2.  

 
 
* Effective virus concentration value is derived by adjusting the raw virus concentration to account for dilution & other factors 
(copies per liter of sewage) 

 
• Laboratory staff collected CAWD Stormwater samples on January 5th and 9th to meet 

stormwater requirements.   
• Laboratory staff has completed the 2022 Annual CAWD report and the Biosolids report  to 

submit to California Integrated Water Quality System (CIWQS).  
 

  

57

https://www.cawd.org/biobot-analytics-weekly-reports-of-concentration-levels-sars-cov-2#/body_file-e72defec-6488-4185-b5f3-ab45b2fe531e
https://www.cawd.org/biobot-analytics-weekly-reports-of-concentration-levels-sars-cov-2#/body_file-e72defec-6488-4185-b5f3-ab45b2fe531e


 
ENVIRONMENTAL COMPLIANCE REPORT 

• Source Control inspections were not performed in January due to laboratory staff members 
on vacation. 

• On January 30- February 1, 2023, Mr. De Ocampo attended the California Water 
Environment Association P3S conference in Seaside. Session attended included 
Pretreatment, Per-and Polyfluoroalkyl substances (PFAS), Local Limits, Microplastics, 
Environmental Compliance Inspector (ECI) exam preparation, and CAWD’s Six Sigma 
Fats, Oil, and Grease presentation. 

 
Restaurant Inspections 

 
Restaurant 

 
Compliant 

Reason for Non-
Compliance 

 
Comments 

No inspections 
performed 

   

 
 

Grocery Store/Delicatessen Inspections 
Grocery 

Store/Delicatessen 
 

Compliant 
Reason for Non-

Compliance 
 

Comments 
NA    

 
Compliance Register 

% Compliance Maintenance Mechanical 
         November 2022 100 100 
         December 2022 100 100 
         January 2023 NA NA 
 

58



Project 
Number

GL Task Name Manager Start Finish Current FY 
Budget

Cumulative 
Budget

Status

Projects Implementation Plan Schedule 3/1/18 7/1/40 $0 $0

Treatment Plant Capital Projects 4/30/18 2/29/28 $0 $0

18-01 1620.000 Elec/Mech Rehab and Sludge Holding 
Tank Replacement Project

Treanor 4/30/18 9/29/23 $4,820,750 $9,137,431 In Construction

18-28 1626.000 Perimeter Tree Plan and Implementation Treanor 7/1/19 6/30/26 $75,000 $130,020 Planning Stakeholder
Meeting

19-21 1993.000 Carmel River FREE Mitigation Treanor 6/1/20 11/29/24 $0 $0 Pending Funding

19-19 1634.000 Aeration Basin Improvements Waggoner 7/1/20 6/30/22 $0 $17,332 On Hold Until Spring 2023

19-18 1593.000 Perimeter Fencing Treanor 7/1/22 10/13/23 $275,000 $275,000 Design/CEQA

22-03 1639.000 WWTP Gas and Water Main 
Replacement

Treanor 5/2/22 6/28/24 $100,000 $300,000 In Study Phase

22-04 5500.006 CAWD Bridge and Trail Project Treanor 3/1/21 2/29/28 $0 $550 Funding Strategy

22-06 1640.000 Vactor Receiving Station Treanor 7/1/22 8/29/24 $104,950 $354,950 Design Phase

Reclamation Capital Projects 1/1/19 12/29/23 $0 $580,000

18-26 14777 Sulfuric Acid and Citric Acid Storage and
Feed Systems

Treanor 1/1/19 12/30/22 $334,000 $455,923 In Construction

22-05 14794 Reclamation 15-Year CIP Master Plan Treanor 8/2/22 12/29/23 $300,000 $300,000 In Progress

Collections Capital Projects 4/16/18 7/1/40 $0 $8,139,000

19-03 1586.000 Carmel Meadows Sewer Replacement Lather 8/1/19 1/17/25 $2,000,000 $2,471,949 Permitting

20-07 1636.000 Bay/Scenic Pump Station Rehabilitation Lather 12/31/20 6/30/24 $650,000 $680,892 In Design

20-08 1635.000 Scenic Rd Pipe Bursting - Ocean to Bay Lather 2/5/21 6/28/24 $3,500,000 $3,731,786 In Design / CEQA

21-05 1637.000 Pescadero Sewer Relocation Lather 7/1/21 6/30/25 $100,000 $1,689,236 In Design

22-07 Emergency Lorca Lane Sewer Relocation Lather 8/30/22 1/31/23 $175,000 $0 In Progress

23-03 Scenic & Carmelo Emergency Project Lather 1/31/23 3/31/23 $0 $0 In Progress

23-01 Santa Rita & Gudalupe Pipeline Rehab Lather 1/1/23 6/30/23 $0 $0 In Design

20-06 Collections 15-Year CIP Lather 7/1/20 7/1/40 $0 $62,899,430 Work In Progress

Collections Non-Capital Projects 7/3/18 2/27/25 $0 $0

20-05 River Watch Agreement Lather 2/21/20 2/21/24 $0 $0 Work In Progress

23-02 22-23 Pipeline Spot Repair Lather 1/2/23 6/30/23 $150,000 $150,000 Bidding

Assessment Districts/Annexations Lather 7/3/18 2/27/25 $0 $105,000

19-09 5500.005 2021 Sphere of Influence Amendment and 
Annexation Proposal 

Lather 3/15/19 3/1/23 $0 $73,675 Complete

18-21 1631.000/
2505.000

Corona Road Assessment District Lather 8/2/18 3/15/24 $0 $0 In Design / CEQA

19-08 1632.000 Carmel Valley Manor Pipeline and Pump 
Station

Lather 7/3/18 2/15/24 $0 $0 In Construction

18-29 9095.000 September Ranch Subdivision Lather 9/1/22 8/30/24 $0 $0 Sewer Agreement

Rancho Cañada Village Subdivision Lather 3/1/23 2/27/25 $0 $0 In Design by Property Owner

Tank Replacement Project

Perimeter Tree Plan and Implementation

Carmel River FREE Mitigation

Improvements

Perimeter Fencing

WWTP Gas and Water Main Replacement

CAWD Bridge and Trail Proj

Vactor Receiving Station

ge and Feed Systems

Reclamation 15-Year CIP Master Plan

Meadows Sewer Replacement

ay/Scenic Pump Station Rehabilitationay/Scenic Pump Station Rehabilitation

cenic Rd Pipe Bursting - Ocean to Bay

Pescadero Sewer Relocation

mergency Lorca Lane Sewer Relocation

Scenic & Carmelo Emergency Project

Santa Rita & Gudalupe Pipeline RehabSanta Rita & Gudalupe Pipeline Rehab

Collections 15-Year CIPCollections 15-Year CIP

ver Watch Agreementver Watch Agreement

22-23 Pipeline Spot Repair

nt and Annexation Proposal 

essment District

ine and Pump Stationine and Pump Station

September Ranch SubdivisionSeptember Ranch Subdivision

Rancho Cañada Village SubdivisionRancho Cañada Village Subdivision

H2 H1 H2 H1 H2 H1 H2 H1
21 2022 2023 2024 20

59



Project 
Number

GL Task Name Manager Start Finish Current FY 
Budget

Cumulative 
Budget

Status

Other Non-Capital Projects 3/1/18 2/29/40 $0 $0

Workforce Now Foley 3/1/18 3/1/18 $0 $0 Implementation

Real Property Investigation Buikema 3/1/18 3/1/18 $75,000 $75,000 Ongoing

Cyber Security Foley 3/1/18 3/1/18 $17,000 $17,000 Ongoing

Source Control Six Sigma Buikema 3/1/18 3/1/18 $0 $0 Board Presentation

22-01 5500.006 Long Term SLR Planning Buikema /
Treanor

5/3/21 2/29/40 $260,000 $1,400,000 In Progress Long Term SLR Planning

H2 H1 H2 H1 H2 H1 H2 H1
21 2022 2023 2024 20

60



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Treatment Plant Capital Project Summaries 
 

 

61



 
Photo: New Sludge Tank Under Construction 

  
Project Number: 18-01 
Project Name: Wastewater Treatment Plant 

(WWTP) – Elec/Mech Rehab & 
Sludge Holding Tank Replacement 
Project 

Project Location: Wastewater Treatment Plant 
Project Manager: Treanor 
Status: In Construction 
Project 
Description: 

This project is a multi-area project 
at the WWTP aimed at mitigating 
risk of failure in the Influent Pump 
Station, Headworks, 3W/Chlorine 
Analyzer Building, Effluent Building 
and Sludge Storage Tank. Most of 
the work involves replacing aged 
electrical and mechanical 
equipment in existing buildings. 

Department: Treatment 
Financial: Cumulative Budget: 

$9,137,431 
Cumulative Spent: 
$6,210,263 

FY Budget: 
$4,820,750 

FY Spent: 
$1,889,159 

Reclamation 
Share: 

Estimated at 2.7% of project cost.  

Other Entities: Pebble Beach Community Services 
District, CAWD/PBCSD Reclamation 
Project 

Permits Required: Coastal Commission Notification 
Challenges: Electrical Equipment Supply Chains 
Schedule: • Construction anticipated for 

FY21/22 into FY22/23 
Consultants: Design: Kennedy/Jenks Consultants  

Construction Management: Currie 
Engineers 

Contractor: Clark Bros. Inc. 
 

 

 

Photo: Eucalyptus trees on South Side of Treatment Plant 
  
Project Number: 18-28 
Project Name: Perimeter Tree Plan and 

Implementation 
Project Location: Wastewater Treatment Plant 
Project Manager: Treanor 
Status: Planning Stakeholder Meeting 
Project 
Description: 

Planning and landscaping around 
the treatment plant. This will 
include looking into possibly 
replacing the non-native eucalyptus 
trees around the perimeter of the 
treatment plant with native tree 
species. The project will start with a 
study and a plan to determine 
costs, sequencing schedule, and 
visual impacts. The Eucalyptus trees 
around the plant have ongoing 
maintenance costs, which may be 
offset in the long term with a 
different type of tree screening. 
The purpose is to improve security 
around plant perimeter.  

Department: Treatment 
Financial: Cumulative Budget: 

$130,020 
Cumulative Spent: 
$5,020  

FY Budget: 
$75,000 

FY Spent: 
$0 

Reclamation: N/A 
Other Entities: N/A 
Permits Required: Currently unknown (In Study Phase) 

Challenges: Time it will take for new trees to 
grow up that will fully screen 
treatment plant from view 

Schedule: • Study moved to 2023; 
anticipate completion 06-30-26 

Consultants: Scott Hall Landscape Design 

Contractor: TBD 
 

  

62



 

 

Photo: Carmel River Floodplain Restoration and 
Environmental Enhancement (CRFREE) 

Project Number: 19-21 
Project Name: Carmel River Floodplain 

Restoration & Environmental 
Enhancement (CRFREE) Mitigation  

Project Location: Carmel River Lagoon 
Project Manager: Treanor 
Status: Pending Funding 
Project 
Description: 

The CRFREE Project intends to 
create a new river channel in the 
Carmel River lagoon floodplain, 
which will significantly impact 
existing wastewater pipelines that 
cross the lagoon. To fully mitigate 
impacts from CRFREE the pipelines, 
which are currently crossing over a 
portion of the lagoon, are proposed 
to be installed underground using 
Horizontal Directional Drilling 
construction methods.   

Department: Engineering 
Financial: Coastal 

Conservancy Grant 
Budget: 
$750,000 

Cumulative Spent: 
$618,569 
FY Spent: 
$0 

** Project is being funded by CRFREE initiated grants 

Reclamation 
Share: 

N/A 

Other Entities: Monterey County 
Permits 
Required: 

Coastal Commission, CA Fish and 
Wildlife, Army Corp of Engineers, 
Reginal Water Quality Control 
Board (RWQCB) 

Challenges: Construction near environmentally 
sensitive habitat and obtaining new 
easement from State Parks 

Schedule: • Construction anticipated in 
2024 

Consultants: Design: Kennedy Jenks and Staheli 
Trenchless 
CEQA: Johnson Marigot 

Contractor: TBD 
 

 
Photo: Existing air diffuser system 

  
Project Number: 19-19 
Project Name: WWTP – Aeration Basin 

Improvements 
Project Location: Wastewater Treatment Plant 
Project Manager: Waggoner 

Status: On Hold Until Spring 2023 
Project Description: The Aeration Basins 4A & 4B need 

to have additional diffusers 
installed to ensure the proper air 
(oxygen) transfer into the 
wastewater to support the 
aerobic microorganisms in the 
basins.  

Department: Treatment 
Financial: Cumulative Budget: 

$17,332 
Cumulative Spent: 
$17,332  

FY Budget: 
$0 

FY Spent: 
$0 

Reclamation Share: N/A 

Other Entities: N/A 

Permits Required: N/A 

Challenges: Weather conditions and 
Scheduling 

Schedule: • Design is complete 
• Materials ordered and 

received  
• Construction anticipated for 

Spring 2023 
Consultants: N/A 

Contractor: N/A 
  

63



 
Photo: Existing Dilapidated Fence 

  
Project Number: 19-18 
Project Name: Perimeter Fencing 

Project Location: Wastewater Treatment Plant 
Project Manager: Treanor 

Status: Design/CEQA 
Project Description: Install a new fence around the 

perimeter of the WWTP. 

Department: Treatment 
Financial: Cumulative Budget: 

$275,000 
Cumulative Spent: 
$31,020  

FY Budget: 
$275,000 

FY Spent: 
$31,020 

Reclamation Share: N/A 

Other Entities: N/A 

Permits Required: California Environmental Quality 
Act (CEQA) Mitigated Negative 
Declaration (MND), Coastal 
Developmental Permit (CDP) 
Notification 

Challenges: Environmental Mitigations 

Schedule: • Design in FY22-23 
• Construction in FY23-24 

Consultants: Kennedy Jenks 

Contractor: TBD 
 

 
Photo: Gas Meter on North Side of River 

  
Project Number: 22-03 
Project Name: WWTP Gas and Water Main 

Replacement 
Project Location: Wastewater Treatment Plant 
Project Manager: Treanor 

Status: In Study Phase 
Project Description: The WWTP natural gas and water 

utility service exists on the 
opposite side of the Carmel River 
from the WWTP. CAWD owns the 
piping under the river for these 
utilities. The water line and gas 
line are PVC and identified as 
having a high risk of failure. The 
gas line is needed for plant 
operations to provide 
supplementary heating to the 
digesters for thermophilic 
digestion. 

Department: Treatment 
Financial: Cumulative Budget: 

$300,000 
Cumulative Spent: 
$43,444 

FY Budget: 
$100,000 

FY Spent: 
$43,444 

Reclamation Share: N/A 

Other Entities: Cost Share w/ Collections @ 5.5% 

Permits Required: TBD 

Challenges: Underground work in riparian 
area 

Schedule: • Currently undergoing 
alternatives analysis study 

• Design in FY22-23 
• Construction in FY23-24 

Consultants: Kennedy Jenks 

Contractor: N/A 
  

64



 
Photo: Conceptual Rendering of Public Use and Bridge 

  
Project Number: 22-04 
Project Name: CAWD Bridge and Trail Project 

Project Location: Wastewater Treatment Plant 
Project Manager: Treanor 

Status: Funding Strategy 
Project Description: Construct a new bridge at the 

location of the existing CAWD 
bridge over the Carmel River. 
Bridge would be open for public 
use and would allow for new 
walking trails to connect the City 
of Carmel-by-the-Sea (Mission 
Trail) to the Regional Parks (Palo 
Corona). 

Department: Treatment 
Financial: Cumulative Budget: 

$550 
Cumulative Spent: 
$550  

FY Budget: 
$0 

FY Spent: 
$0 

**No budget. Funding potential via Carmel River 
settlement grants. 
Reclamation Share: N/A 

Other Entities: State Parks, Diocese of Monterey, 
City of Carmel-by-the-Sea, 
Regional Parks District 

Permits Required: TBD 

Challenges: Obtaining Funding and 
Community Support 

Schedule: Currently working on video and 
marketing outreach effort 

Consultants: TBD 

Contractor: TBD 

 

 
Photo: CAWD Vactor Truck 

  
Project Number: 22-06 
Project Name: Vactor Receiving Station 

Project Location: Wastewater Treatment Plant 
Project Manager: Treanor 

Status: Design Phase 
Project Description: Construct a new Vactor 

Receiving Station for the 
Collections Department and the 
disposal of waste collected in 
the vactor truck.  

Department: Treatment 

Financial: Cumulative 
Budget: 
$354,950 

Cumulative Spent: 
$11,996 

FY Budget: 
$104,950 

FY Spent: 
$11,996 

Reclamation Share: N/A 

Other Entities: N/A 

Permits Required: Coastal Developmental Permit 
(CDP) Notification 

Challenges: Design for ultimate user 
satisfaction. 

Schedule: Construction in FY23/24 

Consultants: Kennedy Jenks 

Contractor: TBD 

 

 

65



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Reclamation Capital Project Summaries 
 

 

66



 
Photo: Existing totes used for Sulfuric Acid storage and 

Feed  
  
Project Number: 18-26 
Project Name: Sulfuric Acid & Citric Acid Storage 

& Feed Systems Project 
Project Location: Reclamation – Microfiltration 

(MF)/Reverse Osmosis (RO) 
Project Manager: Treanor 
Status: In Construction 
Project 
Description: 

Code compliance upgrades for 
existing acid chemical storage and 
feed system used by Reclamation 
for enhancing RO recovery. Project 
includes code compliant secondary 
containment and separation of 
dissimilar chemicals. 

Department: Treatment 
Financial: Cumulative Budget: 

$455,923 
Cumulative Spent: 
$380,691 

FY Budget: 
$334,000 

FY Spent: 
$255,223 

Reclamation 
Share: 

100%  

Other Entities: Reclamation Project 
Permits Required: Coastal Commission Notification 
Challenges: Hazardous Chemical Safety 
Schedule: Anticipated Completion mid 2023 
Consultants: Trussell Technologies, Inc 
Contractor: Monterey Peninsula Engineering 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Photo: Exterior of Tertiary Building  

  
Project Number: 22-05 
Project Name: Reclamation MF/RO and 

Tertiary System 15-Year Capital 
Improvement Program (CIP) 
Master Plan 

Project Location: Reclamation – Microfiltration 
(MF)/Reverse Osmosis (RO) and 
Tertiary Building 

Project Manager: Treanor 
Status: In Progress 
Project Description: Asset management condition 

and risk evaluations, 
development of projections of 
capital expenditures, and 
preliminary engineering 
planning 

Department: Treatment 
Financial: Cumulativ

e Budget: 
$300,000 

Cumulative Spent: 
$0 

FY 
Budget: 
$300,000 

FY Spent: 
$0 

Reclamation Share: 100%  

Other Entities: Reclamation Project 
Permits Required: None 
Challenges: Complexity 
Schedule: Planning Process will extend 

into FY 23/24 
Consultants: Kennedy Jenks 

Trussell Technologies, Inc 
Contractor: N/A 

67



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Collections Capital Project Summaries 
 

 

 

68



 
Photo: View gravity pipe in Carmel easement  

  
Project Number: 19-03 
Project Name: Carmel Meadows Sewer 

Replacement  
Project Location: Collection System 
Project Manager: Lather 
Status: Permitting 
Project 
Description: 

The project will replace 1,300 feet 
of Ductile Iron Pipe (DIP) on an 
aerial span and eight manholes by 
constructing a small pump station 
at the end of Mariposa Drive. This 
project is located on an easement 
parallel to Ribera Road and was 
originally installed in the early 
1960's. 

Department: Collections 
Financial: Cumulative Budget: 

$2,471,949 
Cumulative Spent: 
$511,198  

FY Budget: 
$2,000,000 

FY Spent: 
$36,839 

Permits Required: Coastal Permit and Environmental 
Review 

Challenges: Redirecting the sewer to the pump 
station without requiring booster 
pumps for individual houses. 

Schedule: Design and Environmental Review 
completed 6/28/22. Construction 
to begin FY22/23. 

Consultants: SRT Consultants, WRA         
Environmental 

Contractor: TBD 
 

 

 

 

 

 

  Photo: Looking at Pump Station Exterior 
  
Project Number: 20-07 
Project Name: Bay/Scenic Pump Station 

Rehabilitation 
Project Location: Collection System 
Project Manager: Lather 
Status: In Design 
Project Description: Remodel the interior of the 

pump station and update the 
SCADA panel to minimize areas 
prone to flooding. 

Department: Collections 
Financial: Cumulative Budget: 

$680,892 
Cumulative Spent: 
$63,520 

FY Budget: 
$650,000 

FY Spent: 
$32,628 

Reclamation Share: 0% 
Other Entities: Carmel-by-the-Sea, Coastal 

Commission 
Permits Required: Exemptions from CEQA & 

Coastal Commission 
Challenges: Traffic Control  
Schedule: Design 2021, Construct 2022, 

completed by 06-2023 
Consultants: SRT Consultant 

Contractor: Pending 

  

69



 

Photo: Pipe Bursting Limits on Scenic 
  
Project Number: 20-08 
Project Name: Scenic Rd Pipe Bursting 

- Ocean to Bay 
Project Location: Collection System 
Project Manager: Lather 
Status: In Design / CEQA 
Project Description: Replace approximately 

9,525 linear feet of 
existing 6-inch clay pipe 
with a new 8-inch High-
Density Polyethylene 
(HDPE) and includes 
manhole rehabilitation. 

Department: Collections 
Financial: Cumulative Budget: 

$3,731,786 
Cumulative Spent: 
$248,220 

FY Budget: 
$3,500,000 

FY Spent: 
$16,434 

Reclamation Share: 0% 
Other Entities: Carmel-by-the-Sea, 

Coastal 
Commission 

Permits Required: CEQA & Coastal 
Commission permit 
required. 

Challenges: Traffic control & poorly 
mapped underground 
utilities. Cultural 
Resources at southern 
end of project. 

Schedule: Design 2021-2022, 
Construct 2023, 
Completed 06-2023 

Consultants: MNS, Rincon 

Contractor: Pending 

 

 

Photo: Sewer Line at Pescadero Creek 
  
Project Number: 21-05 
Project Name: Pescadero Sewer Relocation 
Project Location: Collection System 
Project Manager: Lather 
Status: In Design 
Project Description: Relocate damaged pipe from 

creek slope to roadway 
Department: Collections 
Financial: 
O&M 

Cumulative Budget: 
$1,689,236 

Cumulative Spent: 
$175,513 

FY Budget: 
$100,000  

FY Spent: 
$86,277 

Reclamation Share: 0% 
Other Entities: N/A 
Permits Required: Environmental Review 

Challenges: Narrow road, depth of 
manhole, houses to be placed 
on individual pumps 

Schedule: Start design, public outreach, 
& Environmental in Winter 
2022/2023. 

Consultants: MNS, Denise Duffy, TBC 
Communication  & Media 

Contractor: TBD 

  

70



 

    Photo: LT Capital Schedule 
  
Project Number: 20-06 
Project Name: Collections 15 -Year CIP 
Project Location: Collection System 
Project Manager: Lather 
Status: Work in Progress 
Project 
Description: 

Utilize updated sewer line 
inspection information and flow 
modeling to develop a 20-year 
Construction Improvement Plan  

Department: Collections 
Projection of 
Total Capital 
Costs-15-Yr $63M 

Construction 
Costs: $63M 

Administration 
Costs: $10M (20% 
engineering, legal, 
admin.) 

Financial: Cumulative 
15YR 
Budget: 
EST $63M 

Cumulative Spent: 
 
N/A 

FY Budget: 
N/A 

FY Spent: 
N/A 

Reclamation 
Share: 

 
0% 

Other Entities: River Watch Agreement-see project 
#20-05 

Permits Required: none 
Challenges: Need all pipeline Closed Caption 

Television (CCTV) results to be 
completed to develop plan.  

Schedule: 2020 - 2040 
Consultants: West Yost 

Contractor: N/A 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Lorca Lane Sewer Replacement 

  
Project Number: 22-07 
Project Name: Lorca Lane Sewer 

Replacement 
Project Location: Collection System 
Project Manager: Lather 
Status: Work in Progress 
Project Description: Relocate 300’ of 6” line 

and install manhole at 
Lorca Lane and Del 
Monte Street.  

Department: Collections 
Financial: Cumulative Budget: 

$153,500 
Cumulative Spent: 
$10,325 

FY Budget: 
$153,500 

FY Spent: 
$10,325 

Reclamation Share: 0% 
Other Entities: Carmel-by-the-Sea, 

Coastal 
Commission 

Permits Required: None 
Challenges: Weather 
Schedule: Construct 2023 
Consultants: Monterey Bay 

Engineering 
Contractor: Monterey Peninsula 

Engineering 
 

 

 

 

71



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Collections Non-Capital Project Summaries 

 

72



 

Photo: River Watch logo 
  
Project Number: 20-05 
Project Name: River Watch Agreement 
Project Location: Collection System 
Project Manager: Lather 
Status: Work in Progress 
Project 
Description: 

Work with Collections to provide 
data that is needed to satisfy the 
milestones in the agreement with 
River Watch. As of May 2022, staff 
completed all of the 1,478 District 
manholes for the Fiscal Year (FY).  

Department: Collections 
Financial: Cumulative Budget: 

N/A 
Cumulative Spent: 
N/A 

FY Budget: 
N/A 

FY Spent: 
N/A 

Reclamation 
Share: 

0% 

Other Entities: River Watch 
Permits 
Required: 

none 

Challenges: Closed caption television (CCTV) 
scheduling deadlines. The Board 
agreed to increase staffing by one 
full time equivalent (FTE) to assist in 
meeting the required schedule. 
Received 1 yr. extension from River 
Watch due to COVID-19. 

Schedule: Due date June 2023 
Consultants:  

Contractor: N/A 

 

 

 

 

73



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Assessment Districts/Annexations 

 

74



 
Photo: Areas of Potential Annexation  

  
Project Number: 19-09 
Project Name: 2021 Sphere of Influence (SOI) 

Amendment & Annexation 
Proposal 

Project Location: Collection System 
Project Manager: Lather 
Status: Complete 
Project 
Description: 

The project will provide access for 
homes and businesses currently on 
septic systems and add 350 new 
connections to the District at build-
out.  

Department: Collections 
Financial: Cumulative Budget: 

$73,675 
Cumulative Spent: 
$73,675 

FY Budget: 
$0 

FY Spent: 
$0 

** No Budget included for Annexation b/c costs will be 
recouped through annexation fees. 
Permits 
Required: 

Environmental Review, Local Agency 
Formation Commission (LAFCO) 
Annexation Approval 

Challenges:  

Schedule: Waiting for State Board of 
Equalization 

Consultant: Denise Duffy & Associates 
 

 
Photo: Areas of Potential Annexation 

  
Project Number: 18-21 

Project Name: Corona Road Sewer Assessment 
District 

Project Location: Collection System 

Project Manager: Lather 
Status: In design phase by Assessment 

Engineer. The application has been 
made for the Septic to Sewer grant.  
Also organizing efforts for Special 
Assessment District. 

Project 
Description: 

The project will provide sewer facilities 
to the Corona Road neighborhood and 
parcels on the west side of Highway 1, 
across from Corona Road. #18-21 
Corona Road (Deferred Revenue**) 

Department: Collections 
Financial: Cumulative Budget: 

$0 
Cumulative Spent: 
$0 

FY Budget: 
$0 

FY Spent: 
$0 

** No Budget included for project because the initial costs 
were funded by Corona Road residents.  District has agreed 
to fund a portion of environmental work $56,200 (Res #22-
62) 
Permits 
Required: 

Coastal Permit, CalTrans Encroachment 
permit, Environmental Review 

Challenges: Assessment District process/approval 
and obtaining easements for pump 
station. Funds from homeowners in 
the amount of $67K have been 
received by CAWD.  

Schedule: Complete studies July/August 2022, 
Assessment District proceeding along 
with Septic to Sewer Grant Funding 

Consultant: Denise Duffy & Associates and 
Monterey Bay Engineers 

  

75



 

Photo: Entrance to Carmel Valley Manor 
  
Project Number: 19-08 
Project Name: Carmel Valley Manor Pipeline and 

Pump Station 
Project Location: Collection System 
Project Manager: Lather 
Status: In Construction 
Project 
Description: 

Sewer extension project to be 
completed by the owners of Carmel 
Valley Manor to connect to CAWD’s 
sewer system. Riley Ranch, #19-08 
Carmel Valley Manor (Deferred 
Revenue)  

Department: Collections 
Financial: this is an 
unbudgeted item- 
under repayment 
agreement (no 
funds received)- 

Cumulative 
Budget: 
$0 

Cumulative  
Spent: 
$180 

FY Budget: 
$0 

FY Spent: 
$180 

Other Entities: The prospect of a pipeline has given 
rise to a plethora of potential 
additional connections 

Permits Required: County Encroachment Permit, 
Environmental Review completed.  

Challenges: Funding, Repayment Agreement, 
easement agreements LAFCO 
annexation 

Schedule: Approved without protest at 
3/22/21 LAFCO hearing. 

Consultants: MNS and Rincon are working for 
Carmel Valley Manor to permit and 
design the project. 

Contractor: N/A 

 

76



 

 

 

 

 

 

Other Non-Capital Project Summaries 

 

 

77



 

            ADP Workforce Now 

Photo: ADP Clip Art 
Project Number: N/A 
Project Name: Workforce Now 
Project Location: All Supervisor Locations 
Project Manager: Foley 
Status: Implementation 
Project 
Description: 

Implementation of a 
comprehensive Human Resource 
(HR) software database for all 
supervisors and employees to 
utilize. Modules provide employee 
development tracking, benefits 
administration, custom 
performance review templates, and 
employee goal management. 

Department: Administration 
Financial: Cumulative Budget: 

$0 
Cumulative Spent: 
$2,520 (annual fee) 

FY Budget: 
$0 

FY Spent: 
$2,520 (annual fee) 

Challenges: Technical issues need to be 
resolved & employee training. 
Implementation of advanced 
features for employee 
development and learning 
management.   

Schedule: Anticipate implementation in Feb 
2023. HCM Unlocked Consultant 
hired for specialized 
implementation services 

Consultants: ADP 
 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

Photo: Real Estate Clip Art 

  
Project Number: N/A 
Project Name: Real Property Investigation 
Project Location: Carmel Valley 
Project Manager: Barbara Buikema 
Status: Evaluation in Progress 
Project 
Description: 

An investigation of a possible new 
treatment facility site in the mouth 
of the Carmel Valley, which is in 
response to the Coastal Commission 
requirement to move facilities 
within 30 years. 

Department: Administration 
Financial: Cumulative Budget: 

$75,000 
Cumulative Spent: 
$0 

FY Budget: 
$75,000 

FY Spent: 
$0 

Permits Required: None – at this time 

Challenges: Limited land possibilities, regulatory 
hurdles, and zoning 

Schedule: 24 months 
Consultants: Mahoney & Associates 

 

  

78

https://youtu.be/0_dJBfrta9g


 
Photo: Cyber Security Clip Art 

  
Project Number: N/A 
Project Name: Cyber Security 
Project Location: District-wide 
Project Manager: Chris Foley 
Status: Ongoing 
Project Description: Internal Cyber Security 

Incident Response Team 
(CSIRT) formed, and they are 
working on a response plan & 
training. The upgrades to 
email filtering system have 
been completed. Stricter 
geofencing policies have been 
put in place, and a cold backup 
system that is sandboxed from 
the network were installed 
March 2022.  Waiting on the 
receipt of the final report. 

Department: All 
Financial: Cumulative 

Budget: 
$17,000 

Cumulative 
Spent: 
$0 

FY Budget: 
$17,000 

FY Spent: 
$0 

Challenges: Ongoing training & the need 
for continual upgrades as skills 
of hackers grow. 

Schedule: Continually updating 
Consultant: Exceedio 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Photo: Six Sigma Clip Art 

  
Project Number: N/A 
Project Name: Source Control Six Sigma 

Project Location: Management staff 
Project Manager: Barbara Buikema 
Status: Board Presentation 
Project 
Description: 

A Six Sigma project to improve 
source control activities by 
focusing majority of inspection and 
compliance efforts on restaurants 
determined to be likely causes of 
grease in District lines.. 

Department: Administration 
Financial: Cumulative Budget: 

$0 
Cumulative Spent: 
$2,000 

FY Budget: 
$0 

FY Spent: 
$0 

Permits Required: None 
Challenges: Implementation phase 
Schedule: Ongoing 
Consultants: Self-study online 

 

  

79



 

Photo: California coastline  
  
Project Number: 22-01 
Project Name: Long-Term Sea Level Rise Planning 

Project Location: Treatment Plant 
Project Manager: Barbara Buikema/Patrick Treanor 
Status: In Progress 
Project 
Description: 

As conditions of Coastal Permit #3-
82-199-A8 - the District submitted 
its Long-Term Coastal Hazards Plan 
on 03-03-22.  Board approved a 
Wastewater Treatment Plant 
Alternatives Planning Assistance on 
Sea Level Rise consultant services 
contract in May 2022.   

Department: Administration 
Financial: Cumulative Budget: 

$1,400,00 
Cumulative Spent: 
$100,261.55 

FY Budget: 
$260,000 

FY Spent: 
$100,261.55 

Permits Required: In response to California Coastal 
Commission 

Challenges: Establishing focus on long term 
objectives and committing to follow 
through items. 

Schedule: WWTP Relocation Planning 
Alternatives on Sea Level Rise 
presented in  May 2022  

Consultants: Greeley & Hansen 

 

 

 

 

80



STAFF REPORT 
 
To:  Board of Directors 
 
From: Ed Waggoner, Operations Superintendent                                             
 
Date:  February 23, 2023 
 
Subject: Monthly Operations Reports – January 2023 
 
RECOMMENDATION  
Receive Report- Informational only; no action required. 
 
DISCUSSION  
 

Plant Operation 
 

Treatment Plant: 
• The treatment plant operations staff has continued finishing projects and 

concentrating on Preventative Maintenance Work Orders during the month of 
January. This included the implementation of the Operations Flood Preparation 
Standard Operating Procedures from the Plant Engineer. 

• Univar Chemical site visit on January 31 for discussions on current and projected 
pricing on Sodium Hypochlorite and other supplied chemicals. 
 

Reclamation: 
• The Reclamation Facility shut down  on January 23 due to the full Forest Lake 

Reservoir being at 115 million gallons. 
• Staff continued preventative maintenance work on pumps, motors, and any 

equipment that needs maintenance for the Microfiltration (MF) and Reverse 
Osmosis Systems (ROS).  

• Staff completed Clean-in-Place (CIP) cleans on Microfiltration (MF) Cells 1, 2, and 
3 . These cells were cleaned successfully with Trans Membrane Pressures (TMPs) 
pressures ranging between 1.8 to 5.5 pounds per square inch (psi).  

• Clean-in-Place protocol on Reverse Osmosis Train A and B completed in January. 
• (Project #21-09) Programmable Logic Controller/Supervisory Control and Data 

Acquisition (PLC/SCADA). Operations staff have been meeting and working with 
Maintenance and Frisch Engineering on the upgrades and programming of the 
PLC/SCADA System.  
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 

81



Training: 
• Staff continued to complete online training at the treatment facility from Target 

Solutions as Carmel Area Wastewater District (CAWD) implements  new safety 
policies. 

• Staff  participated in scheduled tailgate safety meetings in the digester building 
conference room. 

•  January 18, the Operations Superintendent attended an online class on 
“Operations Plans” PFAS in California. 
 

Capital Improvement:  
• Staff continues working with Plant Engineer, Patrick Treanor, on Project #18-01, the 

Electrical/Mechanical Rehabilitation and Sludge Holding Tank Replacement Project 
for the following areas: Influent Pump Station, Headworks, Blower Building, 
Chlorination/Dechlorination Building, Effluent Building, Digester No. 1, Digester 
No. 1 Control Building and Dewatering Building. 

 
Meetings Attended 

•  January 5, Zoom meeting with Trussell Technologies to review  the past three 
months operational data on the Wastewater Reclamation Project.  

• January 6, Zoom meeting with Trussell Technologies and Kennedy/Jenks 
Engineering to clarify questions on the asset evaluation program. 

• January 12, Operations Superintendent attended a Zoom meeting with the Water 
Awareness Committee of Monterey County. 

• (Project #18-01) Weekly Teams Meeting on the construction progress of the 
Electrical/Mechanical Rehabilitation and Sludge Holding Tank Replacement 
Project for the following areas: Influent Pump Station, Headworks, Blower 
Building, Chlorination/Dechlorination Building, Effluent Building, Digester No. 1, 
Digester No. 1 Control Building and Dewatering Building. 

 
Annual Reports 

• Submitted the following Annual reports: 
o Annual Report for National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) 

Number CA0047996, Order No. R3-2014-0012, which included annual outfall 
inspection and Bio-solids disposal. To view the report click the link: To view the 
Secondary NPDES Annual Report. 

o Annual Report for Reclamation Permit 93-72. To view the report click the link: 
To view the Tertiary NPDES Annual Report 2022. 

o Environmental Protection Agency Sewage Sludge (Biosolids) Annual Report 
Permit CAL047996  

o CalRecycle Annual (Quarterly) Biosolids Report Permit RD10733 
o State of California Annual Volumetric Reporting of Wastewater and Recycle 

Water, WDR100029577 
 
 
 

82

https://www.cawd.org/files/c4be8ace0/2022+Secondary+NPDES+Annual+Report.pdf
https://www.cawd.org/files/c4be8ace0/2022+Secondary+NPDES+Annual+Report.pdf
https://www.cawd.org/files/4fcc2e936/2022+Tertiary+NPDES+Annual+Report.pdf


 
 
Discharge Permit Violations 

• There were no violations of Reclamation Permit 93-72 for the month of December 
2022.  

• There was one violation of the National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System 
(NPDES) Number CA0047996, Order No. R3-2014-0012 within the month of 
December 2022.  

• On December 15, 2022, Carmel Area Wastewater District, Monterey County 
exceeded Waste Discharge Requirements (WDR) Order No. R3-2014-0012 
National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) Permit No. 
CA0047996. For the following constitution for ocean discharge as listed under 
Table 5 Effluent Limitations, pollutant “Instantaneous Maximum-Total Chlorine 
Residual” (this is located on page 6 of CAWD’s WDR permit). 

1. Instantaneous Maximum Chlorine Residual of 7300 micrograms per liter or 
7.3 milligrams per liter (mg/L). Chlorine Residual at time of Supervisory 
Control and Data Acquisition alarm condition at 0851 hours by laboratory 
titration was 9.7 mg/L. 

 
Note: see attached PDF for the full report filed to the Central Coast Regional Water 
Quality Control Board.  

 
.  

 
FUNDING-N/A-Informational item only 
 
Attachment:  

• Attachment 1-12-15-2022 Chlorine Violation 
 

     
December 15 2022 

Chlorine Violation fo       
 
 

83



84



85



STAFF REPORT 
 
 
To:  Board of Directors 
 
From:  Chris Foley, Maintenance Superintendent 
 
Date:  February 23, 2023 
 
Subject: Monthly Maintenance Report – January 2023 
 
RECOMMENDATION  
 
Receive Report- Informational only; no action required.  
 
DISCUSSION  
 
Maintenance Projects in Progress/Completed 
 

• Staff is working on Reclamation preventative maintenance and equipment 
upgrades.  
 

A. Reverse Osmosis (RO) train B flow meters have been replaced with new 
units. The existing units have been placed in stock as used spares until the 
flow meters for train A and C are replaced.  

B. The check valves for the microfiltration (MF) pumps have been rebuilt.  
C. One RO motor will be sent out for recondition.  
D. The turbidity meter annual maintenance has been completed. There are some 

gaskets for the automated cleaning head that need to be replaced. This 
cannot be completed in the field so the units will be sent to the manufacturer.  

E. Electrical testing and inspection of the motors has been completed.  
F. Upgraded blend pump check valves have been ordered and will be installed 

when they arrive.  
G. A spare parts audit was performed on the MF pneumatic valves. Gaps in 

spare parts were identified and the order was replaced. A robust spare 
inventory is required due to the age of the valve components and long lead 
times for parts. This will ensure staff can quickly make any repairs during 
the irrigation season.  

H. The piping tee that failed and was temporarily repaired will be replaced with 
a permanent repair. The permanent repair is an improved design.  

I. Ammonia pumps will be rebuilt with new wear parts installed.  
 

  

86



 
• The belt for the dewatering conveyer was replaced.  The belt guide limit switches 

were also tested and required replacement. New switches have arrived and 
scheduled for installation.   
 

• The dewatering screw press has been intermittently faulting. Staff is working with 
Fukoku Kogyo Company (FKC) the manufacturer to resolve the issue. The screw 
press will run for hours then trip. Staff added the amp reading to the Supervisory 
Control and Data Acquisition system so the trend can be analyzed.  

 
 
Upcoming Maintenance Projects 

 
 

• Update 2: (Waiting on parts) Automatic drain valves are on order for the low-
pressure methane gas. Currently staff has to drain the manual valves multiple times 
per day to prevent moisture buildup to the flare and microturbine. The automatic 
valves will be on a timer.  
 

• (Project 18-01) Staff is preparing for influent pump replacement. Carmel Area 
Wastewater District is responsible for coordinating the Programmable Logic 
Controller (PLC) programming for the new pumps. Staff audited the PLC wiring 
connection points to ensure there are no conflicts between new and existing 
equipment and working with Frisch engineering on the PLC programming.  
 

• Staff is working with DKF Solutions on Risk Survey improvements. This includes 
equipment specific lock out tag out procedures, emergency response planning and 
qualified electrical worker policy documentation.  

 
 

Work Order Metrics 
Preventive Maintenance (January) 
        
Total Work Orders Generated    335 
Total Work Orders Closed/Done    293 
Total Work Orders Still Open    42 
Percentage of Work Orders 
Completed    87.46% 

87



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
FUNDING-N/A- Informational item only 
 
 

88



STAFF REPORT 
 
To:                  Board of Directors 
 

From:             Rachél Lather, Principal Engineer 
 

Date:  February 23, 2023 
 

Subject:          General Engineering  
   
RECOMMENDATION 
 
Receive Report- Informational only; no action required. 
 
DISCUSSION 
 
This report is provided to update the Board of the Carmel Area Wastewater District 
(District) on current engineering activities during the month of January. 
 
General Engineering 
 
The Principal Engineer continues to work on projects related to the 2021 Annexation, 
including Yankee Point, Carmel Valley Manor and Corona Road.   
 
The Corona Road project environmental work is being finalized and will be circulated in 
time to meet the April 1, 2023 deadline to submit the State Revolving Fund (SRF) funding 
full application.  The SRF engineers have indicated that they plan to fund the project with 
50% grant and 50% low interest rate loan for a total amount of $6 million. In order for the 
parcels that are benefitting from the SRF loan to pay off the loan over 30 years, the District 
will have to set up a special assessment zone that will be established through a Proposition 
218 process.  The Principal Engineer will be working with our attorney to follow the correct 
procedures to do that prior to acceptance of the financing from the SRF program. 
 
Carmel Valley Manor (CVM) have commenced construction at the end of January.  They 
have not broken ground but have completed pot holing of utilities along the pipeline 
alignment and submitted specifications for materials to be approved and requests for 
information.  They plan to break ground in early spring 2023, weather and groundwater 
levels permitting. 
 
 
FUNDING 
N/A- Informational item only 

  

89



Resolutions

90



STAFF REPORT 
 
To:                  Board of Directors 
 

From:             Rachél Lather, Principal Engineer 
 

Date:  February 23, 2023 
 

Subject:          Acceptance of Sewer Installation 
Agreement, Easements Agreement, and 
Approval for General Manager to Enter 
into Contract with MNS Engineers for Construction Inspection 
Services for the September Ranch Sewer Project #18-29  

   
RECOMMENDATION 
 
The Board takes the following actions: 

• Adopt Resolution 2023-10 approving the sewer installation agreement with CARMEL 
RESERVE LLC, a Delaware Limited liability company (CARMEL RESERVE) to 
construct sewer improvements and connect to the District’s sewer system;  

• Adopt Resolution 2023-11 approving easement agreements with CARMEL RESERVE 
for the sewer improvements to be constructed and authorizing the General Manager 
to sign the agreements in substantially the form presented, subject to such 
modifications as are necessary, and as are approved by the General Manger, the 
District Engineer and the District’s legal counsel. 

• Adopt Resolution 2023-12 authorizing the General Manager to Enter into a contract 
with MNS Engineers to Provide Construction Inspection Services for the September 
Ranch Sewer Project #18-29 in an amount not to exceed $299,662. 

 
DISCUSSION 
 
CARMEL RESERVE has completed permitting and design of the Sewer Extension Project.  
The District’s Principal Engineer has reviewed and approved the project plans and Don 
Chapin is in the process of being awarded the construction contract.  In order to move 
forward with construction of facilities that will be accepted in the future by the District, 
CARMEL RESERVE needs to provide easements for the facilities to the District, provide a 
deposit of $361,252 to pay for engineering inspection and District staff costs and sign a sewer 
installation agreement with the District. 
 
 
 

  

91



The Principal Engineer, General Manager and the District’s attorney have been working with 
CARMEL RESERVE for the past few years in order to provide the easement and sewer 
installation agreements needed for the sewer facilities to ultimately be accepted for operation 
and maintenance by the District.  Attachment 1 is a drawing of the facilities to be constructed 
and later accepted by the District.   
 
The Sewer Installation Agreement (Attachment 2) summarizes the work to be done, 
insurance requirements and what is required for the District to accept the constructed sewer 
improvements.  As part of this agreement, any District costs due to construction inspections 
and meetings with District staff are required to be reimbursed and a deposit of $20,000 will 
be provided by CARMEL RESERVE for this.  
In addition, CARMEL RESERVE has agreed to pay for construction inspection services by 
MNS Engineers, Inc. in the amount of $299,662 for a total deposit of $319,662 be provided to 
the District to pay for these services on a time and materials basis.  (see Attachments 6 for 
MNS proposal dated October 7, 2022).   Easement deeds and the agreement by CARMEL 
RESERVE for the pump station site and pipeline alignments are Exhibits to the Sewer 
Installation agreement. (Attachment 3).   
 
In order to move forward with the construction of the CARMEL RESERVE sewer 
improvements, it is required that the Board adopt resolutions 2023-10, 2023-11 and 2023-12 
approving the sewer installation agreement, the pump lot and pipeline easement agreement 
and the consulting services agreement  (Attachment 7) with MNS Engineers.  The attached 
agreements will be signed after the Board approval of the basic form of the agreements and 
all deposits and easements have been received by the District.   
 
FUNDING:   CARMEL RESERVE is funding the project and the District’s costs for 
inspections of the construction with total deposit of $319,662 to the District 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 

1.  Plans showing future CAWD Facilities and Pipelines 
2. Sewer Installation Agreement between CARMEL RESERVE and Carmel Area 

Wastewater District 
3.  Pump Lot and Pipeline Easement deed Agreement by CARMEL RESERVE 
4. Resolution 2023-10 Approving Sewer Installation Agreement with CARMEL             
      RESERVE 
5.  Resolution 2023-11 Approving the Easement Agreement with CARMEL RESERVE 
6.  MNS Construction Inspection Services Proposal dated 10-7-2022 
7.  MNS Consulting Services Agreement Inspection Services 
8.  Resolution 2023-12 Authorizing the General Manager to Sign Consulting Services 

Agreement with MNS Engineers 

92



Attachment 1 - Plans showing future CAWD 
Facilities & Pipelines

93



BROOKDALE 

 PARCEL F
INCLUSIONARY

4.5 AC

DRIVE

11

10

9 8

12

15

14

13

6
5

4

3
2

1

16

17

7

20

21

31

3029

28

2725

24

23

22

19

18

32

33

26

73
4039

CARMEL VALLEY ROAD

W
ILD

 R
YE

LANE

CLOVER

LANE

DR
IV

E

PINE

G
RO

VE

DR
IV

E

OAKGROVELANE

PI
NE

 G
RO

VE

DRIVE

PARCEL G
FUTURE DEVELOPMENT

350.5 AC

ONE CARMEL

COMMON OPEN SPACE &
PUBLIC FACILITIES

6.28 AC

PARCEL E
EQUESTRIAN CENTER

19.38 AC
PARCEL A
OPEN SPACE

125.3 AC

PARCEL A
OPEN SPACE /

COMMON AREA

 PARCEL F
INCLUSIONARY

4.5 AC

PARCEL B

PARCEL A
OPEN SPACE

PARCEL H
WELL PARCEL

0.46 AC

WHITSON ENGINEERS  -  6 HARRIS COURT  -  MONTEREY, CALIFORNIA 93940  -  TEL (831) 649-5225  -  FAX (831)373-5065  -  WWW.WHITSONENGINEERS.COM

CARMEL VALLEY, CALIFORNIA

EXHIBIT  6 - SANITARY SEWER SYSTEM
ONE CARMEL

SCALE 1" = 700'
0 1 / 0 4 / 2 0 2 3
P r o j e c t  No . : 5 9 5 . 0 1

NOTES/LEGEND:
1. HOA - OWNED SANITARY SEWER FACILITIES

2. CAWD - OWNED GRAVITY SANITARY SEWER

3.     PRIVATELY OWNED  AND MAINTAINED FORCED LATERALS

94



Attachment 2 - Sewer Installation 
Agreement between Carmel Reserve and 

Carmel Area Wastewater District

95



SEWER INSTALLATION AGREEMENT 
Between 

CARMEL RESERVE LLC AND CARMEL AREA WASTEWATER DISTRICT 
February 23, 2023 

 
 

THIS AGREEMENT, by and between CARMEL RESERVE LLC, a Delaware limited 
liability company (“CARMEL RESERVE”); and the CARMEL AREA WASTEWATER 
DISTRICT, a California sanitary district (“DISTRICT”), is made with reference to the 
following: 
 

A. CARMEL RESERVE desires to connect to the District’s wastewater treatment 
facility in Carmel, California; 
 

B. The proposed connection will require the installation of an extension of the 
existing sewer line to CARMEL RESERVE’s property in Carmel Valley, California, known as 
the Carmel Reserve Sewer Extension (“the Extension”), described and depicted in Exhibit A, 
attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference; 
 

C. CARMEL RESERVE is willing to construct and pay the cost of installation of the 
Extension, in consideration of the District accepting title to the Extension, and agreeing to pay 
all the costs of maintenance, repair and replacement of the Extension; 

   
E. CARMEL RESERVE, through its independent contractor Whitson Engineers 

(“Whitson”) has submitted construction plans and specifications for the installation of the 
Extension, which plans and specifications have been approved by the District’s Engineer; 

 
F. CARMEL RESERVE is in the process of engaging the services of a construction 

manager (“CONSTRUCTION MANAGER”) to act as construction manager and provide 
inspection services in connection with the construction of the Extension; 

 
G. Upon DISTRICT and CARMEL RESERVE obtaining all necessary permits for 

the construction of the Extension, CARMEL RESERVE shall commence construction of the 
Extension, and will have entered into an agreement with a general contractor (“GENERAL 
CONTRACTOR”) for the construction of the Extension; 
 

H. It is anticipated by the parties hereto that the Extension will be built and 
completed in accordance with the plans and specifications for the Extension which have been 
approved by the District’s Engineer.  
 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises and covenants of the 
parties hereto, and with the acknowledgement and agreement that all recitals A-H above shall 
be and are incorporated in this Agreement as part of its terms, it is agreed as follows: 
 

96



1. CONSTRUCTION OF IMPROVEMENTS.  CARMEL RESERVE, through 
GENERAL CONTRACTOR, shall at its own expense, construct the Extension in accordance 
with the plans and specifications approved by DISTRICT. 

2. INDEMNIFICATION.  CARMEL RESERVE shall to the full extent permitted by 
law exonerate, indemnify, and immediately defend (with independent counsel reasonably 
acceptable to the DISTRICT), and hold harmless DISTRICT, including without limitation, the 
DISTRICT’s officers, agents, employees and volunteers (collectively “Indemnified Parties” or in 
the singular “Indemnified Party”) from and against any and all claims, demands, losses, 
damages, penalties, fines, judgments, associated investigations and administrative expense, and 
defense costs, including without limitation reasonable attorney’s fees, court costs, expert witness 
fees and costs of alternate dispute resolution, or liability of any kind or nature which DISTRICT 
may sustain or incur or which may be imposed upon it for injury to or death of  persons, or 
damage to property where same arise out of or are in any manner connected with performance 
(including without limitation the CONSTRUCTION described at Section 1 hereof) of this 
Agreement by CARMEL RESERVE, its officers, agents, employees, contractors, subcontractors, 
or volunteers The duty to defend is a separate and distinct obligation from CARMEL 
RESERVE’s duty to indemnify and CARMEL RESERVE shall be obligated to defend in all 
legal, equitable, administrative or special proceedings upon tender to CARMEL RESERVE of 
any claim in any form or at any stage of an action or proceeding, whether or not liability is 
established, and the obligation extends through final judgment including the exhaustion of any 
appeals. CARMEL RESERVE’s obligation to indemnify applies unless it is finally determined 
that the liability was caused by the negligence or misconduct of an Indemnified Party, wherein 
the obligation shall be reduced in proportion to the established comparative liability of the 
Indemnified Party. 

(a) The provisions of this Section are not limited by the provisions herein 
relating to insurance, including without limitation, the provisions of any workers’ compensation 
act or similar act. CARMEL RESERVE waives its statutory immunity under such statutes or 
laws as to the DISTRICT, its employees and officials. An allegation or determination of 
negligence or willful misconduct by an Indemnified Party does not relieve CARMEL RESERVE 
from its separate and distinct obligation to defend the DISTRICT, subject, however, to the right 
to offset or reduce such duty to defend or indemnify as herein provided. 

(b) CARMEL RESERVE shall obtain executed indemnity agreements with 
provisions identical to those in this Section from each and every contractor, subcontractor, sub-
tier contractor or any other person or entity involved by, for, with or on behalf of CARMEL 
RESERVE in the performance (including without limitation the CONSTRUCTION described as 
Section 1 hereof) or subject matter of this Agreement. In the event CARMEL RESERVE fails to 
obtain such indemnity obligations from others as required here, CARMEL RESERVE agrees to 
be fully responsible according to the terms of this section irrespective of the identity of the party, 
person, or entity at fault.  

(c) Failure of the DISTRICT to monitor compliance with any of the 
requirements of this Section 2 imposes no additional obligations on the DISTRICT and in no 
way acts as a waiver of any rights hereunder. 

3. INSURANCE. For the full term of this Agreement (and any extensions 
thereof) CARMEL RESERVE shall obtain for itself, and shall require of GENERAL 

97



CONTRACTOR and every other contractor, subcontractor, sub-tier contractor or any other 
person or entity involved by, for, with or on behalf of CARMEL RESERVE in the 
performance of the subject matter of this Agreement, to obtain and maintain, all without 
cost or expense to DISTRICT, at a minimum, compliance with all of the following 
insurance coverage(s) and requirements. Such insurance coverage shall be primary 
coverage as respects DISTRICT, and any insurance or self-insurance maintained by 
DISTRICT shall be considered in excess of insurance coverage maintained by GENERAL 
CONTRACTOR and shall not contribute to it.  If any person or entity required hereby to 
obtain and maintain insurance  carries insurance with coverage limits in an amount greater 
than the minimum amount required by the DISTRICT for this Agreement, that greater 
amount shall become the minimum required  coverage limit for purposes of this 
Agreement. Therefore, CARMEL RESERVE hereby acknowledges and agrees, and shall 
require that all persons and entities required hereby to obtain and maintain insurance, that 
any and all insurance required hereunder shall be deemed liability coverage for any and all 
actions it performs in connection with this Agreement. 

  CARMEL RESERVE shall for itself and all persons and entities required hereby to 
obtain and maintain insurance, provide to DISTRICT or cause to be provided to DISTRICT on or 
before the commencement of performance of this Agreement, proof of insurance in a form 
acceptable to DISTRICT for all required coverages. All such proof shall be delivered or sent to: 
 

CARMEL AREA WASTEWATER DISTRICT 
ATTENTION: DISTRICT ENGINEER 

3945 RIO ROAD 
CARMEL, CA 93922 

 
(a) Types of Insurance and Minimum Limits 
 

   (i) Worker's Compensation in the minimum statutorily required 
coverage amounts.  This insurance coverage shall be required. 

(ii) Vehicles used in the performance of this Agreement by CARMEL 
RESERVE or any persons or entities required above in this Section to obtain and maintain 
insurance, including owned, nonowned (e.g., owned by CARMEL RESERVE or said 
persons’ or entities’ employees), leased or hired vehicles, in the minimum amount of 
$1,000,000.00 combined single limit per occurrence for bodily injury and property damage. 

   (iii) Comprehensive or Commercial General Liability Insurance 
coverage in the minimum amount of $3,000,000.00 combined single limit, including 
coverage for: bodily injury, personal injury, broad form property damage, contractual 
liability, and cross-liability. 

(b) Other Insurance Provisions 

 If any insurance coverage required in this Agreement is provided on a “Claims 
Made” rather than “Occurrence” form, the required coverage shall be maintained for a 
period of three (3) years after this Agreement has been fully performed (hereinafter 
"post Agreement coverage").  Required post Agreement coverage may be maintained by 
renewal or purchase of prior acts or tail coverage.   

98



This provision is contingent upon post Agreement coverage being both available and 
reasonably affordable in relation to the coverage provided during the term of this 
Agreement.  For purposes of interpreting this requirement, a cost not exceeding one 
hundred percent (100%) of the last annual policy premium during the term of this 
Agreement in order to purchase prior acts or tail coverage for post Agreement coverage 
shall be deemed to be reasonable. 
 

(i) All required Automobile and Comprehensive or Commercial 
General Liability Insurance shall be endorsed to contain the following clause: 

 “The Carmel Area Wastewater District, its officials, employees, agents, and 
volunteers are added as an additional insured as respects the operations and activities 
of, and on behalf of, the named insured’s performance under its agreement with the 
Carmel Area Wastewater District.  No insurance Coverages described herein shall 
exclude claims against CARMEL RESERVE or any other above-described persons or 
entities required to obtain and maintain insurance, by the DISTRICT on grounds that 
DISTRICT is named an additional insured.” 

 
(ii) All required insurance policies shall be endorsed to contain the 

following clause: “This insurance shall not be cancelled, reduced or modified until and unless thirty 
(30) days prior written notice has been given to: 

“CARMEL AREA WASTEWATER DISTRICT 
ATTENTION: DISTRICT ENGINEER 

3945 RIO ROAD 
CARMEL, CA 93922” 

 
4. EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY.  CARMEL RESERVE, unless 

excused in writing by DISTRICT, shall require for itself, and shall obtain promises by written 
agreements that GENERAL CONTRACTOR and every other contractor, subcontractor, sub-tier 
contractor, or any other person or entity involved by, for with or on behalf of CARMEL 
RESERVE in the performance of the subject matter of this Agreement agrees as follows that: 

(a)  They shall not discriminate against any employee or applicant for 
employment because of race, color, religion, national origin, ancestry, physical handicap or 
disability, medical condition (cancer related), marital status, sex, sexual preference, age (over 
40), veteran status, or any other non-merit factor unrelated to job duties.  Such action shall 
include, but not be limited to the following:  recruitment; advertising; (including 
apprenticeship), employment, upgrading, demotion, or transfer.  They shall post in conspicuous 
places, available to employees and applicants for employment, notice setting forth the 
provisions of this non-discrimination clause. 

(b) If they employ fifteen (15) or more employees, the following requirements 
shall be included in their agreements. 

(c) They shall, in all solicitations or advertisements for employees placed, 
state that all qualified applicants will receive consideration for employment without regard 
to race, color, religion, national origin, ancestry, physical handicap or disability, medical 
condition (cancer related), marital status, sex, sexual preference, age (over 40), veteran 

99



status, or any other non-merit factor unrelated to job duties.  In addition, they shall make a 
good faith effort to consider Minority/Women/Disabled-Owned Business Enterprises in 
solicitation of goods and services.  

(i) They shall furnish CARMEL RESERVE and  District’s 
Affirmative Action Office information and reports in the prescribed reporting format (PER 
4012) identifying the sex, race, handicap or disability, and job classification of its 
employees and the names, dates and methods of advertisement and direct solicitation 
efforts made to subcontract with Minority/Women/Disabled- Owned  Business Enterprises. 

5. FEES.  CARMEL RESERVE will deposit $319,662  in a trust fund with the 
DISTRICT for District’s engineering reviews and inspection costs.  Only actual costs will be 
billed to this account. The costs include $ 299,662 for inspection services by MNS Engineering 
as summarize in the attached proposal dated October 7, 2022 and $20,000 for District costs.  If 
any funds remain in the account after construction is completed, those funds shall be returned to 
CARMEL RESERVE. 

6. TIME OF COMPLETION.  The construction work shall be completed within 
Two thousand (2,000) working days from date work begins and shall be completed no later than 
4 years from date of execution.  This Agreement shall be void unless work is initiated within 
ninety (90) days of the District’s issuance of its permit to start work.  The timelines in this 
Paragraph 6 may be extended from time to time by District upon request of CARMEL 
RESERVE.  Approval of any such extension(s) shall not be unreasonably withheld by District. 

7. EASEMENTS.  CARMEL RESERVE agrees to provide or has provided 
DISTRICT with all necessary easements for the purposes of installing, maintaining, repairing or 
replacing the two pump stations and sewer lines leading to and from the pump stations, all in 
accordance with the approved plans for the Extension and on the improvement plans for the 
Carmel Reserve Subdivision. 

8. CONSENT TO ACCESS.  During the course of construction of the Extension, 
District consents to CARMEL RESERVE, GENERAL CONTRACTOR, CONSTRUCTION 
MANAGER and any of said entities’ duly authorized representatives, including, but not limited 
to, any subcontractor or independent contractor which is engaged in the installation of the 
Extension, having access to any property owned or controlled by DISTRICT, including any 
easements and rights of way in order to carry out the purposes of this Agreement and for the 
installation of the Extension. 

9. ACCEPTANCE OF SEWERS.  DISTRICT, for and in consideration of the 
execution of this Agreement and fulfillment by CARMEL RESERVE of the terms set forth 
herein, agrees to accept full ownership and possession of and to undertake all maintenance, 
upkeep, repair and replacement of, the sewer system, including all underground piping, pump 
stations and other facilities constituting or encompassed in the Extension excepting sewer 
laterals. Acceptance of full ownership and possession is contingent on DISTRICT, by and 
through its Engineer, approving the Project as built.  

10. NOTICES.  All notices to the parties, provided for or permitted under this 
Agreement or by law, must be in writing and shall be deemed duly served when personally 
delivered to the other party.   

100



In lieu of personal service, notices shall be deemed duly served on a party when 
deposited in the United States mail, certified postage prepaid, addressed to such party 
as set forth below or at such other place as may from time to time be specified in a 
notice given pursuant to this paragraph as the address for service of notice on such 
party: 
 

If to CARMEL RESERVE: Carmel Reserve, LLC 
Attn:  Wei Huang, Authorized Signatory 
920 Hillview Ct. 
Suite 180 
Milpitas, CA  95035 
E-mail: weihuang@onecarmel.com 
 

With a copy to: Anthony L. Lombardo, Esq. 
Anthony Lombardo & Associates 
144 West Gabilan St 
Salinas, CA  93901 
Telephone: (831) 751-2330 
Facsimile: (831) 751-2331 
E-mail:tony@alombardolaw.com 
 

If to DISTRICT: Carmel Area Wastewater District 
Barbara Buikema, General Manager 
P.O. Box 221428 
Carmel, CA  93922 
Telephone: (831) 624-1248 
 E-mail:  buikema@cawd.org 
 

With a copy to: 
 
 
 

Rachél Lather, Principal Engineer 
E-mail:  lather@cawd.org 
 

11. BINDING EFFECT.  This Agreement shall be binding upon each party and their 
respective successors in interest and assigns. 

12. CONTROLLING LAW.  This Agreement has been negotiated, drafted and executed 
in Monterey County, California.  The parties agree that this Agreement and the rights and remedies 
of the parties hereunder shall be governed by California law.  Each party consents to the exclusive 
jurisdiction of the Superior Court of California in and for the County of Monterey with respect to 
any dispute which is not otherwise resolved as herein provided and for the enforcement hereof. 

13. COUNTERPARTS.  This Agreement may be executed in a number of counterparts, 
each of which shall be deemed an original and all of which shall constitute one and the same 
Agreement. 

 

101

mailto:tony@alombardolaw.com


14. COMPLETE AGREEMENT.  This instrument, any attached exhibits, and the 
documents expressly described or referred to in the Agreement constitute all of the understandings 
and agreements existing between the parties concerning this Agreement and the rights, interest, 
understandings, agreements and obligations created by this Agreement.  Any prior discussions or 
documents relating to this Agreement and the subject matter hereof are fully and completely 
integrated herein, and no such prior discussion or document outside of this Agreement shall be 
considered or used in any way to interpret any provision of this Agreement. 

15. SEVERABILITY.  If any one or more of the provisions contained in this Agreement 
is held by a court of competent jurisdiction (or by an arbitrator who adjudicates any dispute or 
interprets this Agreement) for any reason to be invalid, illegal, or unenforceable in any respect, the 
invalidity, illegality, or unenforceability of any such provision shall not affect any other provisions 
hereof, and this Agreement shall be construed as if it did not contain any invalid, illegal or 
unenforceable provision. 

16. AMENDMENTS.  The exclusive method to change or modify this Agreement shall 
be by a written amendment to this Agreement, signed by the parties, and shall be effective from the 
date specified in such amendment unless the parties agree to another effective date of amendment in 
such writing.  No oral agreement conflicting in any manner with the terms hereof shall be effective, 
whether or not partially performed, unless and until embodied in such an amendment to this 
Agreement and signed by the parties to this Agreement. 

17. NUMBER; GENDER.  Whenever appropriate in this Agreement, terms in the 
singular form shall include the plural (and vice versa) and any gender form shall include all others. 

18. HEADINGS.  Section headings in this Agreement are for the convenience of the 
parties only and do not form a part of this Agreement, nor should such headings be used to interpret 
any provision of this Agreement. 

19. REMEDIES.  All rights and remedies of any party under this Agreement or under 
applicable law shall be separate and cumulative, and no right or remedy, whether or not exercised, 
shall preclude a party from exercising any other right or remedy. 

20. PREPARATION OF AGREEMENT.  The parties acknowledge that the law offices 
of Anthony Lombardo & Associates, a professional corporation ("Lombardo"), has prepared this 
Agreement on behalf of CARMEL RESERVE; and that Lombardo has not provided legal 
representation or given legal advice to the District in connection with negotiating, drafting or 
executing this Agreement.  Each party to this Agreement acknowledges that it has been given a 
reasonable opportunity to obtain independent legal advice in connection with its negotiation, drafting 
and executing of this Agreement. 

21. TIME OF THE ESSENCE.  Time is of the essence of this Agreement and failure to 
comply strictly with this provision and the time periods specified herein (unless waived or extended 
by written agreement) shall be a material breach of this Agreement.  

22. CUMULATIVE RIGHTS.  All rights and remedies of any party under this 
Agreement or under applicable law shall be separate and cumulative, and no right or remedy, 
whether or not exercised, shall preclude a party from exercising any other right or remedy it may 
have. 

102



23. INTERPRETATION/CONSTRUCTION OF AGREEMENT.  The parties 
acknowledge that this Agreement was drafted after negotiations between the parties.  The parties 
agree that any ambiguities or uncertainties shall be resolved by giving effect to the ascertained intent 
of the parties pursuant to California Civil Code section 1654 without any presumption against either 
party.   

24. AUTHORITY.  The individuals signing the Agreement on behalf of the District and 
CARMEL RESERVE represent, covenant and warrant that they have the full and absolute authority 
and ability to bind the respective organizations on whose behalf they are signing and that no other 
parties must execute this Agreement to make it effective as to  those parties.  Each party that is a 
corporation, limited liability company, limited partnership, partnership, association or similar type 
entity, represents and warrants to the other party that it is in good standing in its State of 
incorporation or organization, and that it is qualified to conduct business in the State of California. 

25. ATTORNEYS’ FEES AND COSTS.  Each party shall bear its own attorneys’ fees 
and costs incurred through the Effective Date, as well as all costs of preparing, negotiating and 
executing this Agreement.  If any action is necessary to enforce or interpret the provisions of this 
Agreement, the judge hearing such action shall be empowered to award attorneys’ fees, including 
expert witness fees and costs, to the prevailing party.  For purposes of this Agreement, “costs” shall 
not be defined as narrowly as they are in Code of Civil Procedure section 1033.5, but shall include 
all reasonable expenditures necessary to this action. 

26. ALTERNATE DISPUTE RESOLUTION.  Any dispute arising out of or relating to 
this Agreement, or the making, performance or interpretation thereof, shall first be submitted to 
mediation in Monterey County, California, before a neutral mediator to be selected by the parties.  If 
the parties cannot agree on a mediator, then counsel for the parties shall select a mediator from the 
panel maintained by the Judicial Arbitration and Mediation Service (“JAMS”) in San Jose, 
California.  If counsel cannot agree on a mediator, then the mediator shall be selected by JAMS in 
accordance with the JAMS Rules then in effect.  

  The mediation fee shall be divided equally between the parties involved.  Mediation 
shall be commenced not later than sixty (60) business days after one party gives the other party 
written demand to mediate.   
  
  If any party to this Agreement refuses to submit a dispute to mediation after written 
demand having been given by the other party, then the failure or refusal to submit to mediation shall 
be taken into consideration by the arbitrator hereafter designated in determining whether the party 
failing or refusing to mediate should be awarded any costs or attorneys’ fees by the arbitrator, it 
being agreed by the parties that a party’s failure or refusal to participate in mediation would cause 
both parties unnecessarily to incur costs and attorneys’ fees in the resolution of any dispute. 
 
 
 
  In the event the dispute is not resolved by mediation, or in the event that a party fails 
or refuses to participate in mediation, the dispute shall be referred to neutral, binding arbitration 
before a single arbitrator as provided in this paragraph.  In the event a dispute is referred to 
arbitration, the parties shall select a mutually agreeable arbitrator.   
 
 

103



If the parties do not agree on an arbitrator within twenty (20) business days after a request to 
arbitrate is given by a party, then the arbitrator shall be a retired appellate justice, or a retired Federal 
Court or retired California Appellate Court or Superior Court judge or a licensed attorney having not 
less than ten (10) years’ practice in business or commercial law selected from the JAMS San Jose 
Office in accordance with the JAMS Rules then in effect.  All arbitration proceedings shall be 
conducted in Monterey County, California, unless otherwise agreed by the parties in writing.  The 
arbitrator must follow California law in reaching their decision, and the failure to do so is grounds 
for setting aside any arbitration award. 
 
  The decision of the arbitrator shall be binding upon the parties and shall include a 
written statement of facts and the legal basis for the arbitrator's decision.  The decision shall not be 
final until the written decision is delivered to the parties.  Judgment upon the award rendered by the 
arbitrator may be entered in any court having jurisdiction thereof.  Except as expressly provided 
herein, the arbitration shall be conducted in accordance with California Code of Civil Procedure 
sections 1280, et seq.  Notwithstanding anything in this paragraph to the contrary, either party may 
seek from a court any provisional or interim relief that is necessary or appropriate to protect the 
rights or property of that party, pending the establishment of the arbitrator’s final determination and 
shall not thereby waive the right to require any dispute hereunder to be resolved by binding 
arbitration. 
 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have affixed their signatures this ______ 
day of ___________________, 2023. 
 

CARMEL RESERVE, a Delaware limited liability 
company 
 
By: ___________________________________ 
 Wei Huang, Authorized Signatory__________ 
     [print name and title] 
 
 
 
 
CARMEL AREA WASTEWATER DISTRICT 
 
By: ____________________________________ 
 Barbara Buikema, General Manager_______ 
     [print name and title] 
 

 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
__________________________ 
District Counsel 

104



Attachment 4 - Resolution 2023-10
Installation Agreement 

105



RESOLUTION NO. 2023-10 
 
 

RESOLUTION TO APPROVE THE SEPTEMBER RANCH  SEWER EXTENSION 
PIPELINE INSTALLATION AGREEMENT WITH CARMEL RESERVE, PROJECT 

#18-29 
-oOo- 

 
WHEREAS, CARMEL RESERVE, Inc., (CARMEL RESERVE)  is  willing to grant an 

easement to the District to provide access to real property (“the Property”)  
owned by CARMEL RESERVE, for the purposes of maintaining and operating an 
underground pump station contained within an underground wet well and an 
above ground enclosed control panel and generator (“the Pump Station 
Facility”);  the installation of a gravity sewer line on and adjacent to the Property 
and a sewer line within Carmel Valley Road; and 

WHEREAS, construction of the Pump Station Facility on the Property for and on behalf 
of the District is necessary for the development of the September Ranch 
Subdivision; and 

WHEREAS, an Access Pump Lot and Pipeline Easement Agreement (see Resolution 
2023-11) is needed  to be signed by CARMEL RESERVE and  the District to 
summarize the understanding and the agreements associated with the facilities 
within the easement. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the Board of Directors of the Carmel Area 
Wastewater District, hereby authorizes the General Manager to sign the Sewer 
Extension  Pipeline Installation Agreement in substantially the form  presented, 
subject to such  modifications as are necessary, and  as are approved by  the 
General Manager, the District Engineer and the District’s legal counsel. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Board of Directors of the Carmel Area Wastewater 
District on February 23, 2023 by the following vote: 

AYES:     BOARD MEMBERS: 
 NOES: BOARD MEMBERS: 
 ABSENT:   BOARD MEMBERS: 

ABSTAIN:   BOARD MEMBERS: 
 
       _________________________________ 

Ken White, President of the Board 
ATTEST: 
_____________________________________ 
Domine Barringer, Secretary to the Board 

106



Attachment 3 - Pump Lot and Pipeline 
Easement Deed Agreement by Carmel Reserve

107



ASSESSOR PARCEL NO.:   (will be confirmed at later date) 
PROJECT: September Ranch Sewer Extension and Pump Station Project 
OWNER: CARMEL RESERVE, LLC 
 
 

  PUMP FACILITY AND PIPELINE EASEMENT AGREEMENT 
 
 

 
THIS AGREEMENT is made and entered into by and between CARMEL RESERVE LLC, 

a Delaware limited liability company (“CARMEL RESERVE”) and Carmel Area Wastewater 
District, a California public agency duly organized and existing under the laws of the State of 
California (“the District”).  The effective date of this Agreement is ____________2023.  
 

RECITALS 
 

1. CARMEL RESERVE intends to construct on its property located in Carmel Valley (“the 
Property”) an underground pump station contained within an underground wet well and an 
above ground enclosed control panel and generator (“the Pump Station Facility”) for the 
September Ranch Sewer Extension (“the Project”) and related purposes. The Project includes 
the installation of a sewer line on and adjacent to the Property. The course of the sewer line 
is more particularly described in Exhibit A.  

2. CARMEL RESERVE’s construction of the Pump Station Facility on their Property for the 
District is necessary for the Project to connect to the District’s public sewer system. 

3. CARMEL RESERVE is willing to grant an easement over a portion of the Property (“Pump 
Station Facility and gravity sewer”), a copy of which easement is attached hereto as Exhibit A 
and incorporated by this reference (“the Easement Deed”) to the District in exchange for the 
connection of the Property to the District’s system.   

4. The Project will be designed and constructed by CARMEL RESERVE in accordance with 
plans and specifications approved by the District. 

NOW THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration, including but not limited to the 
mutual promises of the parties to each other as herein set forth, receipt of which is hereby 
acknowledged, it is mutually agreed as follows: 
 
1. INCORPORATION OF RECITALS.   The foregoing Recitals are incorporated in this 
Agreement and made a part hereof by this reference. 
 
2.  CARMEL RESERVE SHALL:  
 
 A. DEED APPROVAL - Obtain the District’s approval of a grant of easement deed (“the 
Deed”) by which CARMEL RESERVE grants a non-exclusive easement in the form attached as set 
forth in Exhibit B. 

108



B. RECORDATION OF THE DEED - Deliver the Deed when executed to the District 
and cause the same to be recorded in the office of the Monterey County Recorder. 
 

C. CONSTRUCTION SCHEDULE – CARMEL RESERVE contemplates the 
construction work on the Property contemplated by this Agreement begin on or around March 1, 
2023 and conclude within four (4) years of the commencement of the work. 

 
 D. PERMISSION TO ENTER - Grants to the District, and their respective officers, 
directors, employees, agents, and contractors, permission to enter the Property as necessary and as 
described in the Deed to maintain, repair and/or replace the Pump Station Facility and the sewer line 
extension, and to carry out any necessary surface restoration and revegetation on the Property, subject 
to all applicable terms and conditions contained in this Agreement and the Deed.  
 
 E. TITLE INDEMNITY AND WARRANTY - Represents and warrants that it is the sole 
vested owner of the Property, holding all ownership and possessory rights, and the signatories for 
CARMEL RESERVE are the authorized signatories to grant the rights referenced in this Agreement 
without conflict or claims from other parties.   
 

F. HAZARDOUS SUBSTANCES - Represents and warrants, to the best of CARMEL 
RESERVE’s knowledge, and after reasonable inquiry, the following:   
 
  i) During CARMEL RESERVE’s ownership of the Property, CARMEL 
RESERVE knows of no disposal, releases, or threatened releases of hazardous substances on, from, 
or under the Property or CARMEL RESERVE’s remaining adjacent property. CARMEL RESERVE 
further represents and warrants that CARMEL RESERVE has no knowledge of disposal, release, or 
threatened release of hazardous substances on, from, or under the Property, or CARMEL 
RESERVE’s remaining adjacent property, which may have occurred prior to CARMEL RESERVE’s 
ownership.   
 
  ii) There is no pending claim, lawsuit, agency proceeding, or any administrative 
challenge concerning the presence or use of hazardous substances on or within the Property or 
CARMEL RESERVE’s remaining adjacent property. 
 

 
3.  THE DISTRICT: 
 

A. MAINTENANCE OF PUMP STATION AND SEWER LINES.  The District agrees 
that, upon completion of the Project and dedication of the Pump Station Facility and sewer line 
extension to the District, it shall be solely responsible for the maintenance and repair of the Pump 
Station Facility and sewer line on the Property so long as they remain operational.  If, pursuant to 
this Agreement, additional soundproofing or odor proofing is installed after completion and 
dedication of the Pump Station Facility to the District, the District shall repair and replace such 
soundproofing and odor proofing.  District shall maintain any visual landscape screening installed 
as part of the Pump Station Facility.  
 

 

109



B. SEWER LINE EXTENSIONS.  The District agrees that it shall be solely responsible 
for those portions of the sewer line extensions and manholes constructed pursuant to this 
Agreement located in the public right of way and within the pipeline easement from the public road 
to the pump station. 
 

C. FENCING.  The District agrees that the maintenance, repair and replacement of any 
fencing installed around the perimeter of the Pump Station Facility shall be the sole responsibility 
of the District. The District’s acceptance of the Deed shall be deemed District’s acceptance of this 
obligation. 

 
D. INDEMNIFICATION.  The District agrees to indemnify and hold harmless 

CARMEL RESERVE, its shareholders, directors, officers, employees, agents and contractors, 
consultants or CARMEL RESERVE’s tenants or invitees on CARMEL RESERVE’s lands 
described herein against any and all claims, liability, losses and damages for the District’s exercise 
of its rights under this Agreement and the Deed, as further described in the Deed. 
 
5.  THE PARTIES AGREE: 
 
 A. MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 
 
  1. ARTICLE HEADINGS - Article headings in this Agreement are for 
convenience only and are not intended to be used in interpreting or construing the terms, covenants 
and conditions of this Agreement. 
 
   2. COMPLETE AGREEMENT -   This instrument, any attached exhibits, and 
the documents expressly described or referred to in the Agreement constitute all of the 
understandings and agreements existing between and among the parties concerning this Agreement 
and the rights, interest, understandings, agreements and obligations created by this Agreement.  
Any prior discussions or documents relating to this Agreement and the subject matter hereof are 
fully and completely integrated herein, and no such prior discussion or document outside of this 
Agreement shall be considered or used in any way to interpret any provision of this Agreement. 

   3. APPROVAL - This transaction is subject to and conditioned upon approval 
of the Deed by the District and the delivery of a conformed copy of a Resolution of Acceptance of 
the Pump Station Facility by the District. 
  
   4. COUNTERPARTS - This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each 
of which so executed shall, irrespective of the date of its execution and delivery, be deemed an 
original, and all such counterparts together shall constitute one and the same document. 
 
   5. ELECTRONIC AND FACSIMILE SIGNATURES – In the event that the 
parties hereto utilize electronic or facsimile documents which include signatures, such documents 
shall be accepted as if they bore original signatures if documents bearing original signatures are 
provided following transmittal of the electronic or facsimile signature.  Documents for recordation 
by the Monterey County Recorder must contain original signatures. 
 
   6. BINDING EFFECT - This Agreement shall be binding upon each party and 
their respective successors in interest and assigns. 

110



 
   7. CONTROLLING LAW - This Agreement has been negotiated, drafted and 
executed in Monterey County, California. The parties agree that this Agreement and the rights and 
remedies of the parties hereunder shall be governed by California law.  Each party consents to the 
exclusive jurisdiction of the Superior Court of California in and for the County of Monterey for the 
resolution of any dispute which is not otherwise resolved as herein provided and for the 
enforcement hereof. 
 
   8. SEVERABILITY -  If any one or more of the provisions contained in this 
Agreement is held by a court of competent jurisdiction (or by an arbitrator who adjudicates any 
dispute or interprets this Agreement) for any reason to be invalid, illegal, or unenforceable in any 
respect, the invalidity, illegality, or unenforceability of any such provision shall not affect any other 
provisions hereof, and this Agreement shall be construed as if it did not contain such invalid, illegal 
or unenforceable provision. 
 
   9. AMENDMENTS - The exclusive method to change or modify this 
Agreement shall be by a written amendment to this Agreement, signed by the parties, and shall be 
effective from the date specified in such written amendment unless the parties agree to another 
effective date of amendment in such writing.  No oral agreement shall be effective, whether or not 
partially performed, unless and until embodied in such an amendment to this Agreement and signed 
by the parties to this Agreement. 
 
   10. NUMBER; GENDER - Whenever appropriate in this Agreement, terms in 
the singular form shall include the plural (and vice versa) and any gender form shall include all 
others. 
 
   11. REMEDIES - All rights and remedies of any party under this Agreement or 
under applicable law shall be separate and cumulative, and no right or remedy, whether or not 
exercised, shall preclude a party from exercising any other right or remedy. 
 
   12. TIME OF THE ESSENCE - Time is of the essence of this Agreement and 
failure to comply strictly with this provision and the time periods specified herein (unless waived or 
extended by written agreement) shall be a material breach of this Agreement. 
 
   13. INTERPRETATION/CONSTRUCTION OF AGREEMENT - The parties 
acknowledge that this Agreement was drafted after negotiations between the parties.  The parties 
agree that any ambiguities or uncertainties shall be resolved by giving effect to the ascertained 
intent of the parties pursuant to California Civil Code section 1654 without any presumption against 
any party.   
 
   14. AUTHORITY – Each of the individuals signing the Agreement on behalf of 
the parties hereto represents, covenants and warrants to the other parties  that he or she has the full 
and absolute authority and ability to bind the entities on whose behalf they are signing and that no 
other parties must execute this Agreement to make it effective as to such party.  Each party that is a 
corporation, limited liability company, limited partnership, partnership, association or similar type 
entity, represents and warrants to the other parties that it is in good standing in its state of 
incorporation or organization, and that it is qualified to conduct business in the State of California. 

111



 
   15. ATTORNEYS’ FEES AND COSTS - Each party shall bear its own 
attorneys’ fees and costs incurred through the Effective Date, as well as all costs of preparing, 
negotiating and executing this Agreement.  If any action or arbitration is necessary to enforce or 
interpret the provisions of this Agreement, the judge or arbitrator hearing such proceeding shall be 
empowered to award reasonable attorneys’ fees, including expert witness fees and costs, to the 
prevailing party or parties.  The said judge or arbitrator shall have the authority to determine which 
party is the prevailing party, if any.  For purposes of this Agreement, “costs” shall not be defined as 
narrowly as they are in Code of Civil Procedure section 1033.5, but shall include all reasonable 
expenditures necessary to this action. 
 
   16. ALTERNATE DISPUTE RESOLUTION - Any dispute arising out of or 
relating to this Agreement, or the making, performance or interpretation thereof, shall first be 
submitted to mediation in Monterey County, California, before a neutral mediator to be selected by 
the Parties.  If the Parties cannot agree on a mediator, then counsel for the Parties shall select a 
mediator from the panel maintained by the Judicial Arbitration and Mediation Service (”JAMS”) in 
San Jose, California.  If counsel cannot agree on a mediator, then the mediator shall be selected by 
JAMS in accordance with the JAMS Rules then in effect. 
 

  The mediation fee shall be divided equally between or among the Parties involved as 
the case may be.  Mediation shall be commenced not later than sixty (60) business days after one 
Party gives the other Party written demand to mediate.   

  If any Party to this Agreement refuses to submit a dispute to mediation after written 
demand having been given by another Party, then the failure or refusal to submit to mediation shall 
be taken into consideration by the arbitrator (or any judge as the case may be) hereafter designated 
in determining whether the Party failing or refusing to mediate should be awarded any costs or 
attorneys’ fees by the arbitrator, it being agreed by the Parties that a Party’s failure or refusal to 
participate in mediation would cause  the Parties unnecessarily to incur costs and attorneys’ fees in 
the resolution of any dispute. 

  In the event the dispute is not resolved by mediation, or in the event that a Party fails 
or refuses to participate in mediation, the dispute shall be referred to neutral, binding arbitration 
before a single arbitrator as provided in this Paragraph.  In the event a dispute is referred to 
arbitration, the Parties shall select a mutually agreeable arbitrator.  If the Parties do not agree on an 
arbitrator within twenty (20) business days after a request to arbitrate is given by a Party, then the 
arbitrator shall be a retired justice of the Federal or California appellate court, or a retired judge of 
the  Federal District Court or California Superior Court, or a licensed attorney having not less than 
ten (10) years’ practice in business or commercial law selected from the JAMS San Jose Office in 
accordance with the JAMS Rules then in effect.  All arbitration proceedings shall be conducted in 
Monterey County, California, unless otherwise agreed by the Parties in writing.  The arbitrator must 
follow California law in reaching his or her decision, and the failure to do so is grounds for setting 
aside any arbitration award. 

  The decision of the arbitrator shall be binding upon the Parties and shall include a 
written statement of facts and the legal basis for the arbitrator's decision.  The decision shall not be 
final until the written decision is delivered to the Parties.  Judgment upon the award rendered by the 
arbitrator may be entered in any court having jurisdiction thereof.   

112



Except as expressly provided herein, the arbitration shall be conducted in accordance with 
California Code of Civil Procedure sections 1280, et seq. 

  Notwithstanding anything in this Paragraph to the contrary, either Party may request  
from a court any provisional or interim relief that is necessary or appropriate to protect the rights or 
property of that Party, pending the establishment of the arbitrator’s final determination and any 
such request shall not thereby waive the right to require any dispute hereunder to be resolved by 
binding arbitration. 

  17. NOTICES - All notices to the parties, provided for or permitted under this 
Agreement or by law, must be in writing and shall be deemed duly served when personally 
delivered to the other party.  In lieu of personal service, notices shall be deemed duly served on a 
party when deposited in the United States mail, certified postage prepaid, addressed to such party 
as set forth below or at such other place as may from time to time be specified in a notice given 
pursuant to this paragraph as the address for service of notice on such party:  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
GRANTOR: 

 
CARMEL RESERVE LLC, a Delaware limited liability 
company. 

 
By:       
        
 (Print Name) 
 Its:      

 
 
 
 
 

If to CARMEL RESERVE: 

 

CARMEL RESERVE LLC 
c/o Anthony Lombardo, Esq. 
Cody Phillips, Esq. 
ANTHONY LOMBARDO & ASSOCIATES 
144 W. Gabilan Street 
Salinas, CA  93901 
Telephone: (831) 751-2330 
E-mail: tony@lombardolaw.com 
 
 

If to Carmel Area Wastewater District: Barbara Buikema 
3945 Rio Road 
Carmel, CA  93922 
Telephone: (831) 624-1248 
E-mail:  buikema@cawd.org 

113

mailto:tony@lombardolaw.com


CERTIFICATE OF ACCEPTANCE 
GOVERNMENT CODE SECTION 27281 

 
This is to certify that the CARMEL AREA WASTEWATER DISTRICT, Grantee herein, 

hereby accepts for public purposes the real property, or interest therein, described in the foregoing 
Easement Deed dated       , 2023, from CARMEL RESERVE LLC, a 
Delaware limited liability company, Grantor therein, and consents to the recordation thereof. 
 
 In witness whereof, I have hereunto set my hand this _____ day of _____________, 2023  
 

CARMEL AREA WASTEWATER DISTRICT 
  
By: _________________________ 
 Name:  Barbara Buikema 
 Title:    General Manager 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

114



 
ATTEST: 
____________________________ 

A notary public or other officer completing this certificate verifies only the identity of the individual who 
signed the document to which this certificate is attached, and not the truthfulness, accuracy, or validity of 
that document. 

 
STATE OF CALIFORNIA 
COUNTY OF MONTEREY 
 
On _______________________, 2023, before me _________________________, Notary Public, personally 
appeared ______________________________________ who proved to me on the basis of satisfactory 
evidence to be the person(s) whose name(s) is/are subscribed to the within instrument and acknowledged to 
me that he/she/they executed the same in his/her/their authorized capacity(ies), and that by his/her/their 
signature(s) on the instrument the person(s), or the entity upon behalf of which the person(s) acted, executed 
the instrument. 
 
I certify under PENALTY OF PERJURY under the laws of the State of California that the foregoing 
paragraph is true and correct. 
 
WITNESS my hand and official seal. 
 
Signature: ______________________________________ (Seal) 
 
CARMEL RESERVE: 
 
CARMEL RESERVE LLC, a Delaware limited liability company  
 
By: ________________________________  Date: ____________________________ 
 
 Name:__________________________ 
 
 Title:___________________________ 
 
By: ________________________________  Date: ____________________________ 
 
 Name:__________________________ 
 
 Title:___________________________ 
 
CARMEL RESERVE’S MAILING ADDRESS: 
CARMEL RESERVE LLC 
c/o Anthony Lombardo, Esq. 
Cody Phillips, Esq. 
Anthony Lombardo & Associates 
144 W. Gabilan Street 
Salinas, CA  93901 
Phone: (831) 751-2330 
tony@alombardolaw.com 
  

115

tel:(831)%20751-2330
mailto:tony@alombardolaw.com


CAWD: 
 
CARMEL AREA WASTEWATER DISTRICT 
 
 
By: ________________________________  Date: ____________________________ 
 
 Name:  Barbara Buikema 
 
 Title:  General Manager 
 
 
 
 
 
MAILING ADDRESS OF CAWD:  
3945 Rio Road 
Carmel, California  93922 
 
CAWD’S AGENT CONTACT INFO: 
Rachél Lather 
3945 Rio Road 
Carmel, California  93922 
Phone: Office 831-624-1248 / Cell (831)917-1423 
email: lather@cawd.org 
 
  

116



EX A – Sewer Line Extension Map AND Pump Station 
Facility 

 
EX C – Form of Grant Deed 

 
 
 

(Attachments to be inserted when received) 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

117



(Attachments to be inserted when received) 
 

EXHIBIT A 
 
 

PUMP STATION EASEMENT LEGAL DESCRIPTION 

 
 EXHIBIT B 

 
PIPELINE EASEMENT LEGAL DESCRIPTION 

 
EXHIBIT C 

 
CARMEL RESERVE PROPERTY DESCRIPTION 

 

118



Attachment 5 - Resolution 2023-11
Easement Deed Agreement

119



RESOLUTION NO. 2023-11 
 
 

RESOLUTION TO  
APPROVE THE SEPTEMBER RANCH SEWER EXTENSION PROJECT EASEMENT 

AGREEMENT FOR SEWER IMPROVEMENTS, PROJECT #18-29 
-oOo- 

 
 
WHEREAS, the CARMEL RESERVE, LLC., (CARMEL RESERVE)  is required to 

provide easements to the Carmel Area Wastewater District (“District”) for the 
purposes of operating and maintaining an underground pump station contained 
within an underground wet well and an above ground enclosed control panel 
and generator (“the Pump Station Facility”) for the September Ranch Sewer 
Extension (“the Project”) and the sewer line on the property, including beneath 
private roads within the subdivision; and 

WHEREAS, construction of the Pump Station Facility and pipelines on the Property for 
and on behalf of the District is necessary; and 

WHEREAS, a Pump Lot and Pipeline Easement Agreement is needed to be signed by 
CARMEL RESERVE  and the District to summarize the understanding and the 
agreements associated with the facilities within the easement on the property. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the Board of Directors of the Carmel Area 
Wastewater District, hereby authorizes the General Manager to sign the Pump 
Lot and Pipeline Easement Agreement. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Board of Directors of the Carmel Area Wastewater 
District on February 23, 2023 by the following vote: 

AYES:     BOARD MEMBERS: 

 NOES: BOARD MEMBERS: 

 ABSENT:   BOARD MEMBERS: 

ABSTAIN:   BOARD MEMBERS: 

 
   ________________________________ 

Ken White, President of the Board 
 
ATTEST: 
_____________________________________ 
Domine Barringer, Secretary to the Board 

120



Attachment 6 - MNS Construction 
Inspection Service Proposal 

121



811 El Capitan Way, Suite 130  | San Luis Obispo, CA 93401 

805.692.6921 OFFICE 

mnsengineers.com 

October 7, 2022 

Ms. Rachél Lather, M.S., P.E. 

Carmel Area Wastewater District 

3945 Rio Road 

Carmel-By-The-Sea CA 93923 

SUBJECT: September Ranch Development – Proposal for Engineering Support During 
Construction and Construction Inspection 

Dear Ms. Lather, 

MNS Engineers, Inc. (MNS) appreciates the opportunity to submit this proposal to provide engineering 

support and construction inspection services during construction for the wastewater collection 

expansion for the September Ranch Development (Project) for the Carmel Area Wastewater District 

(District) We offer our highly qualified team to provide services for this Project.  

Project Understanding 

The September Ranch development is a planned residential community in the Carmel Valley, west of 

Carmel Valley Road.  

As part of the Project, new wastewater infrastructure will be installed, which, upon completion, will be 

owned and operated by the District. The proposed wastewater infrastructure is divided into on-site and 

offsite improvements. The off-site improvements include: 

 Wastewater lift station

 Approximately 400 linear feet of 8-inch gravity sewer in Carmel Valley Road

 Approximately 4,250 linear feet of 4” HDPE sanitary sewer force main in Carmel Valley Road

The on-site improvements include: 

 Approximately 9,900 linear feet of 8-inch gravity sewer.

The District is interested in obtaining construction phase services to verify the wastewater 

infrastructure is installed in accordance with District standards, and the contract documents. 

MNS proposes to provide engineering support services during construction to review contractor 

submittals, respond to RFIs, and other as needed engineering support services during construction. 

MNS also proposes to provide inspection services during construction to verify the installation is in 

accordance to District requirements.  

MNS DETAILS 

LEGAL NAME 

MNS Engineers, Inc. 

FIRM OWNERSHIP TYPE 

C-Corporation 

YEAR FIRM ESTABLISHED 

1962 

CALIFORNIA DEPARTMENT 

OF INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS 

DIR No. 1000003564 

CORPORATE OFFICE 

201 N. Calle Cesar Chavez, 

Suite 300 

Santa Barbara, CA 93103 

805.692.6921 Office/Fax 

mnsengineers.com 

LOCAL OFFICE 

811 El Capitan Way, Suite 130 

San Luis Obispo, CA 93401 

(805) 692-6921

PROJECT CONTACT 

Nick Panofsky, PE 

Lead Engineer 

(805) 592-2074

Npanofsky@MNSengineers.com 

AUTHORIZED SIGNATURE 

James Salvito 

President and CEO 

(805) 692-6921

Jsalvito@MNSengineers.com 

Exhibit A

122



CARMEL AREA WASTEWATER DISTRICT 

SEPTEMBER RANCH DEVELOPMENT   

P A G E  2 

Scope of Work 
MNS will provide the following scope of work for the Project. 

Task 1 – Engineering Support Services During Construction 

Our staff will support the District through the construction process as described in the following subtasks. 

Subtask 1.1 Construction Meetings: MNS’ Project Manager and the Senior Construction Manager will attend the pre-construction 

meeting, which is anticipated to be completed virtually. We have also budgeted for the MNS Project Manager to attend up to ten 

additional video conference meetings during construction.  We assume these meetings will be led by others, and MNS will not be 

responsible for meeting agendas or minutes. 

Subtask 1.2 Submittal Review: MNS will review the Contractor’s shop drawings and submittals for conformance with the Project 

drawings and specifications, as well as District standards. We will be supported by our subconsultant, IRJ Engineers, Inc. (IRJ), to 

review electrical submittals. For the purpose of budgeting, we have assumed 28 submittals with 14 requiring re-submittal. We will 

prepare a Shop Drawing Review Letter (SDRL) for each submittal and maintain a Submittal Log. We have assumed all submittals 

and SDRLs will be transmitted electronically. 

Subtask 1.3 Respond to RFIs/RFCs: MNS will prepare responses to requests for information/clarification (RFI/RFCs) forwarded by 

the District from the Contractor, or develop recommendations based on changed field conditions. We have assumed responses will 

be prepared for a total of eight RFIs/RFCs. 

Task 2 – Construction Inspection 

MNS will provide construction inspection services for the Project as described in the following subtasks. 

Subtask 2.1 – Project Construction Meetings: MNS staff will participate in bi-weekly construction meetings to monitor the progress 

of the Construction, discuss field issues, and to coordinate on the construction schedule. The Construction Inspector and Senior 

Construction Manager will attend each meeting. We assume the Senior Construction Manager will attend remotely. For the purposes 

of this proposal, it is assumed the Construction Manager and the MNS Construction Inspector will attend 20 meetings. 

Subtask 2.2 – Construction Inspection: MNS will provide on-site inspection of the construction. The inspector's primary duties will 

be to inspect and verify work in place meets the requirements of the contract plans and specifications. Responsibilities include: 

 Daily Inspection Reports 

 Photo record maintenance  

 Record drawing maintenance  

 Verification of material and equipment  

 Quality Assurance  

 Verification of Contractor’s acceptance/performance testing 

We have scheduled full-time inspection in 8-hour shifts for a 7.5-month estimated construction duration (1260 total hours for a civil 

Inspector) for this Project starting on or around November 1, 2022 for both the on-site and off-site project components. We have also 

budgeted 32 hours for an electrical inspector. We assume the on-site an off-site work will be constructed concurrently, and one 

inspector will inspect both portions of the project. Additional work hours beyond 8 hours per day will be billed at the stated hourly 

rate. Weekend and holiday work will be billed at 1.5 times the stated hourly rate.  

Daily Inspection Reports will detail weather conditions, status of work, and the location and type of work performed by the 

Contractor. Inspection reports will include documentation of the craft labor, equipment, and other relevant observations of the work.  

123



CARMEL AREA WASTEWATER DISTRICT 

SEPTEMBER RANCH DEVELOPMENT   

P A G E  3 

We assume any required special inspections such as backfill compaction or pipe pressure tests and materials testing will be the 

responsibility a special inspection firm obtained and paid for by the Contractor. 

Subtask 2.3 – Project Closeout: 

MNS will support project closeout. The MNS’ Construction Inspector will attend a final job walk in the presence of the District prior to 

the completion of construction. The Senior Construction Manager and the Construction Inspector will collaborate with the District to 

develop a deficiency list (Punch List) for the work performed, and re-inspect the completed work. We assume the District will notify 

the Contractor of deficiencies.    

Based on the results of the Punch List, MNS will make a written recommendation to the District to accept the completed work 

following the completion of Punch List items in a Letter of Project Completion. 

It is assumed the Contractor will be responsible for documenting all variations from the contract documents and will provide that 

information to MNS on a single, official, Project redlined plan set, which is maintained by the District and the Contractor during 

project construction. The MNS Construction Inspector will review the Contractor’s redlined drawings to confirm variations to the 

design are reflected on the redlined drawings. 

Deliverables: 

 Daily Construction Inspection Reports including photos 

 Punch List 

 Letter of Project Completion 

Project Team 
Our highly qualified project team is available to provide the District with a professional engineering and inspection services. 

Engineering Support Services during Construction will be lead by Nick Panofsky, PE, with support from staff as appropriate. 

Construction inspection oversight will be provided by Ryuun Ernst, PE. The Construction Inspector will be Art Chance. Additional 

MNS staff will support the Project on an as-needed basis. Resumes for all team members are available upon request. 

Schedule 
MNS will coordinate with the District on construction schedules. We assume work on this Project will occur concurrently with other 

work in the area, allowing for part time inspection.  

Compensation 
MNS proposes to perform the services described herein for a not-to-exceed fee estimate of $299,662. A detailed fee proposal 

spreadsheet is provided as an attachment. All fees are in accordance with the MNS 2022 Standard Fee Schedule, also included as 

an attachment.  

  

124



CARMEL AREA WASTEWATER DISTRICT 

SEPTEMBER RANCH DEVELOPMENT 

P A G E  4 

Closing 
Thank you for the opportunity to submit this proposal. We are excited and look forward to working with the District. Please feel free to 

contact me with any questions you may have at 805.592.2074 or npanofsky@mnsengineers.com. Thank you for your consideration. 

Sincerely, 

MNS Engineers, Inc. 

Nick Panofsky, PE 

Lead Engineer 

Attachments: Fee Spreadsheet 
MNS Standard Fee Schedule 

125



2 0 2 2  S T A N D A R D  S C H E D U L E  O F  F E E S

PROJECT/PROGRAM MANAGEMENT 
Principal-In-Charge ............................... $320 
Senior Project/Program Manager ...... 295 
Project/Program Manager .................... 255 
Assistant Project/Program Manager 215 
Senior Project Coordinator ................... 175 
Project Coordinator ................................. 145 

ENGINEERING 
Principal Engineer .................................. $280 
Lead Engineer ............................................ 245 
Supervising Engineer .............................. 235 
Senior Project Engineer ......................... 220 
Project Engineer........................................ 200 
Associate Engineer .................................. 180 
Assistant Engineer.................................... 165 

SURVEYING 
Principal Surveyor .................................. $260 
Lead Surveyor ............................................ 250 
Supervising Surveyor .............................. 215 
Senior Project Surveyor ......................... 195 
Project Surveyor........................................ 170 
Senior Land Title Analyst....................... 165 
Associate Project Surveyor ................... 160 
Assistant Project Surveyor .................... 145 
Party Chief (PW) ........................................ 170 
Chainperson (PW) .................................... 150 
One-Person Survey Crew (PW) ........... 210 

CONSTRUCTION MANAGEMENT 
Principal Construction Manager ...... $305 
Senior Construction Manager ............. 275 
Senior Resident Engineer ...................... 265 
Resident Engineer .................................... 240 
Structure Representative ....................... 235 
Construction Manager ........................... 210 
Assistant Resident Engineer................. 195 
Sr. Construction Inspector (PW)  ........ 177 
Construction Inspector (PW)  .............. 168 
Office Administrator ................................ 130 

TECHNICAL SUPPORT 
CADD Manager ....................................... $195 
Supervising Technician .......................... 165 
Senior Technician ..................................... 155 
Engineering Technician .......................... 125 

ADMINISTRATIVE SUPPORT 
Senior Management Analyst ............. $180 
Management Analyst.............................. 155 
IT Technician ............................................... 135 
Graphics/Visualization Specialist ....... 120 
Administrative Assistant ........................... 95 

GOVERNMENT SERVICES 
City Engineer ........................................... $240 
Deputy City Engineer .............................. 215 
Assistant City Engineer ........................... 205 
Plan Check Engineer................................ 190 
Permit Engineer ......................................... 180 
City Inspector ............................................. 150 
Senior City Inspector (PW)  .................. 177 
City Inspector (PW) .................................. 168 
Principal Stormwater Specialist .......... 175 
Senior Stormwater Specialist ............... 165 
Stormwater Specialist ............................. 155 
Stormwater Technician .......................... 140 
Building Official ......................................... 215 
Senior Building Inspector ...................... 190 
Building Inspector .................................... 160 
Planning Director ...................................... 215 
Senior City Planner .................................. 190 
Assistant Planner ...................................... 160 
Senior Grant Writer .................................. 175 
Grant Writer ................................................ 165 
Grant Associate ......................................... 145 
Grant Assistant .......................................... 125 

DIRECT EXPENSES 
Use of outside consultants as well as copies, blueprints, survey stakes, monuments, computer plots, telephone, travel (out of area) 
and all similar charges directly connected with the work will be charged at cost plus fifteen percent (15%). Mileage will be charged 
at the current federal mileage reimbursement rate. Expert Witness services will be charged at three (3) times listed rate. 

PREVAILING WAGE RATES 
Rates shown with Prevailing Wage “(PW)” annotation are used for field work on projects subject to federal or state prevailing 
wage law and are subject to increases per DIR. 

ANNUAL ESCALATION 
Standard fee rates provided for each classification are subject to an annual escalation increase of 3.5% starting January 1, 2023. 

OVERTIME 
Overtime for non-exempt employees will be charged at 1.5 x hourly rate; overtime for exempt employees and other classification 
will be charged at 1 x hourly rate. 

Exhibit B

126



Carmel Area Wastewater District
September Ranch Construction Support and Inspection

Le
ad

 E
ng

in
ee

r 
- 

N
EP

Pr
oj

ec
t 

En
gi

ne
er

Se
ni

or
 C

on
st

rt
uc

tio
n 

M
an

ag
er

Se
ni

or
 E

le
ct

ric
al

 I
ns

pe
ct

or
 

Se
ni

or
 C

on
st

rt
uc

tio
n 

In
sp

ec
to

r 

1 – Engineering Support Services During Construction Task 1 Task 1 Task 1

1.1 Construction Meetings (11) Task 1.1 12 2 14 $3,490 Task 1.1 $0 $0 Task 1.1 $3,490 $0 $3,490

1.2 Submittal Review (42) Task 1.2 20 40 60 $12,900 Task 1.2 $4,250 $4,250 Task 1.2 $12,900 $4,250 $17,150

1.3 Respond to RFIs/RFCs (8) Task 1.3 12 12 24 $5,340 Task 1.3 $0 $0 Task 1.3 $5,340 $0 $5,340

Task 1 Subtotal 44 52 2 0 0 98 $21,730 $4,250 $4,250 $25,980

2 – Construction Inspection Task 2 Task 2 Task 2

2.1 Project Construction Meetings (20) Task 2.1 20 20 40 $9,040 Task 2.1 $0 $0 Task 2.1 $9,040 $0 $9,040

2.2 Construction Inspection Task 2.2 80 32 1,290 1402 $255,994 Task 2.2 $0 $0 Task 2.2 $255,994 $0 $255,994

2.3 Project Closeout Task 2.3 16 8 16 40 $8,648 Task 2.3 $0 $0 Task 2.3 $8,648 $0 $8,648

Task 2 Subtotal 0 0 116 40 1,326 1482 273,682 $0 $0 $273,682

Hours 44 52 118 40 1,326

Cost $10,780 $10,400 $32,450 $7,080 $234,702

SUBCONSULTANTS

T
o

ta
l

S
u

b
co

n
su

lt
a

n
ts

 T
o

ta
l

S
u

m
m

ar
y

T
o

ta
l 

M
N

S
 R

es
o

u
rc

e
 C

o
st

s

T
o

ta
l 

S
u

b
co

n
su

lt
an

t 
C

o
st

s 
&

 A
ll

 
R

ei
m

b
u

rs
ab

le
 E

xp
en

se
s

S
u

b
co

n
su

lt
a

n
t 

P
ar

ti
ci

p
at

io
n

$275

ENGINEERING

$200 $177

SUPPORT

$177

Sub-Total 1,580 295,412$   Sub-Total

$2452022 Rates

$299,662Grand Total $295,412 $4,250

IR
J 

En
gi

ne
er

s

T
o

ta
l 

R
es

o
u

rc
e 

H
o

u
rs

T
o

ta
l 

H
o

u
rs

*
R

at
es

Task 1 Subtotal

Task 2 Subtotal

$4,250 $4,250

10/5/2022

127



Attachment 7 - MNS Consulting Services 
Agreement Inspection Services

128



AGREEMENT FOR CONSULTATION AND/OR OTHER SERVICES 
 
 
THIS AGREEMENT dated ________________, 2023, is by and between the Carmel Area Wastewater 
District (hereinafter referred to as the "District") and MNS ENGINEERS, INC.  (hereinafter referred to as 
"Consultant"), for a project generally described as September Ranch Sewer Extension Project #18-29. 
 
1. GENERAL 
 

The District engages the Consultant to furnish the services as defined in this agreement, at the 
compensation and upon the terms set forth herein and the Consultant accepts the engagement 
based upon the stated terms. 

 
 
2. DUTIES OF THE CONSULTANT; SERVICES TO BE PERFORMED BY THE CONSULTANT 
  

A. The Consultant shall perform such duties and services as are listed on Exhibit "A".  The 
services shall be completed according to the time schedule contained in Exhibit "A". 

 
 B. Standard of Care:  The standard of care applicable to the Consultant's services will be 

the degree of skill and diligence normally employed by professional engineers or 
consultants performing the same or similar services.  The Consultant will re-perform any 
services not meeting this standard without additional compensation. 

 
 C. Consultant Professional Team:  The Consultant shall provide and maintain the 

professional team to perform the services and furnish the materials in connection with 
this Agreement whose names and capacities are set forth on Exhibit "B".  In the event 
that any member of that team shall leave the employ of the Consultant or be transferred 
to another office of the Consultant, the Consultant shall so advise the District and replace 
them with a new member who is competent to perform the required work and who shall 
be satisfactory to the District.  Such other agents or employee contractors or 
subcontractors not listed on Exhibit "B" as may be required to perform any portion of this 
Agreement shall be competent and shall be suitably experienced in the function which 
they perform. 

 
3. SERVICES OR MATERIALS TO BE PERFORMED OR FURNISHED BY District 
 
 A. The District shall perform such services or furnish such materials to Consultant in 

connection with this Agreement as are set forth on Exhibit "C".  If there are no entries on 
Exhibit "C", the District shall not be required to provide any services or furnish any 
materials to the Consultant.  Unless otherwise provided on Exhibit "C", all services and 
material to be furnished by the District will be without cost to Consultant. 

 
 B. The District will authorize the Consultant in writing to proceed prior to the Consultant 

starting work on any of the services listed in Exhibit "A". 
 
 C. The District will make its facilities accessible to Consultant as required for Consultant's 

performance of its services.  The District will be responsible for all acts of District's 
personnel performed within the scope of their employment. 

 
 D. Unless otherwise agreed to in the Scope of Services, the District will obtain, arrange, and 

pay for all advertisements for bids, permits, and licenses required by local, state or 
federal authorities; and land, easements, rights-of-way, and access necessary for the 
Consultant's services or project construction. 

 

129



4. PAYMENT BY THE DISTRICT:  TIME AND MANNER OF PAYMENT 
 

The District shall pay the Consultant, for all required services and materials furnished to fulfill this 
Agreement, the amount or amounts on a time and materials basis billed monthly, not to 
exceed $299,662 (Exhibit “A”) .  Consultant agrees to accept the stated sums as full 
compensation for all required services due under this Agreement. 

 
 
5. ADDITIONAL WORK 
 

The Consultant shall be entitled to extra compensation for services or materials not otherwise 
required under this Agreement, provided that the District shall first have identified the service or 
materials as extra, and specifically requested extra services or materials in writing, and in no 
event shall the District be liable for payment unless the amount of extra compensation shall first 
have been agreed to in writing by the District. 

 
 
6. EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY 
 

The Consultant shall not discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because 
of age, race, religious creed, color, national origin, physical handicap, medical condition, marital 
status or sex. 

 
 
7. COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS 
 

The Consultant shall at all times exercise standard of care to comply with all federal, state and 
local laws, statutes, ordinances, rules, and regulations affecting the performance of its services 
under this Agreement. 

 
 
8. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR 
 

The Consultant is acting as an independent contractor in furnishing the services or materials and 
performing the work required by this Agreement and is not an agent, servant, or employee of the 
District. 

 
 
9. PROJECT REPRESENTATIVES; NOTICES 
 
The District and the Consultant each designate the following persons to act as authorized representatives 
of the District and the Consultant in matters and decisions pertinent to the timely performance of this 
Agreement, and each authorized representative will have full powers to bind the District or the Consultant, 
including, but not limited to, transmitting instructions, receiving information, making project-related 
decisions not requiring official District approval, processing Consultant payment requests and other 
matters.  All notices or other official correspondence relating to work under this Agreement may be given 
by being personally delivered, by being placed in the United States mail, first-class postage prepaid, or by 
being sent by overnight prepaid air freight, addressed to the party to whom notice is to be given.  Each 
notice shall be deemed to be effective upon receipt, if personally delivered or sent by air freight, or five 
days after being so mailed.  Any notice may also be given by facsimile.  Notices shall be provided to the 
following names and addresses: 
 
 
 
 

130



 
For the Carmel Area Wastewater District: 

 
   Rachél Lather, Principal Engineer 

    P. O. Box 221428 
    Carmel, CA  93922 
 For the Consultant: 
 

 Murat Bozkurt, Senior Construction Manager 
 401 Grand Ave #200,  
 Oakland, CA 94610  

 
10. INSURANCE: 
 

Prior to the commencement of services hereunder, the Consultant shall certify and provide 
evidence of coverage from responsible insurance carriers of the following insurance.  Such 
insurance policy or policies shall be stated to be primary and noncontributing with any insurance 
which may be carried by the District.  Consultant shall deliver to District certificates of insurance 
which shall provide that thirty days' notice will be given to District in the event of a reduction, 
modification or cancellation. 

 
a) Workers' Compensation and Employer's Liability Insurance. Workers' Compensation in 

compliance with the applicable state and federal laws.  Employer's Liability limit 
$1,000,000. 

 
 b) Commercial General Liability Insurance, including Blanket Contractual, Broad Form 

Property Damage, Completed Operations and Independent Contractor's Liability, all 
applicable to Personal Injury, Bodily Injury and Property Damage to limit of $1,000,000 
per each occurrence/claim, subject to $2,000,000 annual aggregate for Completed 
Operations and Personal Injury other than Bodily Injury. 

 
 c) Comprehensive Automobile Liability Insurance including owned, hired and non-owned 

automobiles, Bodily Injury and Property Damage to a combined single limit of 
$1,000,000. 

 
 d) Professional Liability Insurance affording professional liability coverage to a combined 

single limit of $1,000,000 per /claim subject to a $2,000,000 annual aggregate. 
 
 e) Excess Liability Insurance following employers' liability afforded by item a) and other 

coverages afforded by items b), and c)  set forth above, subject to a limit of liability of 
$2,000,000 for each occurrence/ claim/aggregate. 

 
 f) Additional Insured.  District shall be included as an additional insured (but not as a 

named insured) on the Commercial General Liability, Comprehensive Automobile Liability 
and Excess Liability insurance policies described in parts b), c) and e) above; and as 
evidenced by filing with District the ISO (Insurance Service Office) CG 2010 endorsement 
form or equivalent. 

 
 g) No Exclusion. No insurance coverages described herein shall exclude coverage for 

claims against the Consultant by the District because the District is named as an 
additional insured. 

 

131



11. INDEMNITY 
 

(a) Other than in the performance of design professional services by a design professional, which 
shall be as addressed by subsection (b) below, and to the full extent permitted by law, Consultant shall 
indemnify, immediately defend (with independent counsel reasonably acceptable to the District) and hold 
harmless the District, its board of directors, employees, officials and agents (collectively "Indemnified 
Parties" or in the singular "Indemnified Party") from and against any claims, losses, damages, penalties, 
fines and judgments, associated investigation and administrative expenses, and defense costs including 
but not limited to reasonable attorney’s fees, court costs, expert witness fees  and costs of alternate 
dispute resolution (collectively "Liabilities“), where same arise out of the performance of this Agreement 
by Consultant, its officers, employees, agents and sub-contractors. The duty to defend is a separate and 
distinct obligation from the Consultant’s duty to indemnify and Consultant shall be obligated to defend in 
all legal, equitable, administrative or special proceedings upon tender to the Consultant of any claim in 
any form or at any stage of an action or proceeding, whether or not liability is established and the 
obligation extends through final judgment including exhaustion of any appeals.. The Consultant’s 
obligation to indemnify applies unless it is finally determined that the liability was caused by the sole 
active negligence or sole willful misconduct of an indemnified party.  If it is finally determined that liability 
is caused by the comparative active negligence or willful misconduct of an Indemnified Party, the 
Consultant’s indemnification obligation shall be reduced in proportion to the established comparative 
liability of the indemnified party.    
 

(b) To the fullest extent permitted by law (including without limitation California Civil Code 
Sections 2782.8) as amended effective 1/1/2018), when the services to be provided under this 
Agreement are design professional services to be performed by a design professional, as that term is 
identified by said section 2782.8(c)(1-4) (“Design Professional”) Design Professional shall indemnify, 
protect and hold harmless  any Indemnified Party for all Liabilities that to the extent arise out of, pertain 
to, or relate to the negligence, recklessness, or willful misconduct of Design Professional, or such acts or 
omissions of an officer, employee, agent or subcontractor of the Design Professional. Design 
Professional shall not have an immediate duty to defend an Indemnified Party, however, Design 
Professional’s obligation to indemnify (including reimbursing the cost to defend) and hold the Indemnified 
Parties harmless applies unless it is finally determined that the liability was caused by the sole active 
negligence or sole willful misconduct of an Indemnified Party.  If it is finally determined that liability was 
caused by the comparative active negligence or willful misconduct of an Indemnified Party the Design 
Professional’s indemnification obligation shall be reduced in proportion to the established comparative 
liability. Within 30 days following Design Professional’s receipt of a properly presented written invoice 
Design Profession shall reimburse the Indemnified Party for the cost of reasonable attorney’s fees and 
defense costs incurred by the Indemnified Party to the same extent of Design Professional’s indemnity 
obligation herein.  In no event shall the cost to defend and/or liabilities charged to the Design Professional 
exceed the Design Professional’s adjudicated proportionate percentage of fault.  
 

(c)  The provisions of this Section are not limited by the provisions of sections relating to 
insurance including provisions of any worker's compensation act or similar act.  Consultant expressly 
waives its statutory immunity under such statues or laws as to District, its employees and officials.  An 
allegation or determination of comparative active negligence or willful misconduct by an Indemnified Party 
unrelated to design professional services does not relieve Consultant from its separate and distinct 
obligation to defend District. Consultant agrees to obtain executed indemnity agreements with provisions 
identical to those set forth here in this section from each and every subcontractor, sub tier contractor or 
any other person or entity involved by, for, with or on behalf of Consultant in the performance or subject 
matter of this Agreement.  In the event Consultant fails to obtain such indemnity obligations from others 
as required here, Consultant agrees to be fully responsible according to the terms of this section.  Failure 
of District to monitor compliance with these requirements imposes no additional obligations on District 
and will in no way act as a waiver of any rights hereunder. 

 
 
 

132



(d) If any action or proceeding is brought against any Indemnified Party by reason of any of the 
matters against which the Consultant has agreed to provide an immediate defense to any Indemnified 
Party, as provided above, Consultant, upon notice from the District, shall defend the Indemnified Party at 
Consultant's expense by independent counsel reasonably acceptable to the District.  Unless otherwise 
provided above, an Indemnified Party need not have first paid for any of the matters to which it is entitled 
to indemnification in order to be so defended.  Consultant may submit a claim to the District for 
reasonable defense costs (including attorney’s and expert fees) incurred in providing a defense of any 
Indemnified Party to the extent such defense costs arise under principals of comparative fault from the 
Indemnified Party’s active negligence, recklessness or willful misconduct. 

 
(e) This obligation to indemnify and defend, as set forth herein, is binding on the successors, 

assigns, or heirs of Consultant and shall survive the termination of this Agreement or this Section. 
 
 
12. FORCE MAJEURE 
 

The Consultant is not responsible for damages or delay in performance caused by acts of God, 
strikes, lockouts, accidents, or other events beyond the control of the Consultant. 

 
13. TITLE TO DOCUMENTS 
 

All original calculations, photographs, maps, drawings, plans, design notes and other material or 
documents developed or used in connection with the performance of this Agreement shall be the 
property of the District, provided, however, that the Consultant may provide the District with 
legible photostatic copies in lieu of the originals.  Any plans and specifications shall bear the 
name of the Consultant together with the Consultant's certification number, if any.  If the 
Consultant's working papers or product includes computer generated statistical material, the 
Consultant shall provide the material to the District in a mutually agreed upon computer machine-
readable format and media. 

 
14. ASSIGNMENT 
 

The Consultant shall not assign or sublet any portion of this Agreement without the express prior 
written consent of the District, which may be withheld by the District in its discretion. 
 

15. TERMINATION 
 

Without limitation to such rights or remedies as the District shall otherwise have by law, the 
District shall also have the right to terminate this Agreement for any reason upon seven (7) days' 
written notice to the consultant.  This Agreement may also be terminated by either party upon 
seven (7) days' written notice should the other party fail substantially to perform in accordance 
with this Agreement through no fault of the other or if the project is stopped for a period of 60 
days by conditions beyond the control of the District. 

 
16. ADDITIONAL PROVISIONS, EXHIBITS 
 

Additional provisions of this Agreement are set forth on Exhibits "A" - "C".  All Exhibits shall be 
attached to this Agreement and are incorporated and made a part by reference. 

 
17. AMENDMENT OR MODIFICATION  
 

This Agreement may be amended, altered or modified only by written agreement executed by 
both parties.  

133



18. FURTHER ASSURANCES 
 

Each of the parties agree to execute and deliver to the other such documents and instruments, 
and to take such actions, as may reasonably be required to effectuate the terms and conditions of 
this Agreement; provided, however, such covenant shall not have the effect of increasing the 
obligations of any party pursuant to this Agreement or require any representations and warranties 
by any party. 

 
19. SEVERABILITY 
 

Should any provision of this Agreement be declared invalid and unenforceable in any jurisdiction 
by a court of competent jurisdiction, then such portion or provision shall be deemed to be 
severable, to the extent valid or unenforceable, from this Agreement as to such jurisdiction (but, 
to the extent permitted by law, not elsewhere) and shall not affect the remainder hereof.  
Notwithstanding the foregoing, a) such provision of this Agreement shall be interpreted by the 
parties and by any such court, to the extent possible, in such a manner that such provision shall 
be deemed to be valid and enforceable, and b) such court shall have the right to make such 
modifications to any provision of this Agreement as do not materially affect the rights or 
obligations under this Agreement of the parties hereto and as may be necessary in order for such 
provision to be valid and enforceable. 

 
20. WAIVER 
 

No waiver of any right or obligation of any of the parties shall be effective unless in a writing, 
specifying such waiver, executed by the party against whom such waiver is sought to be 
enforced.  A waiver by any of the parties of any of their rights under this Agreement on any 
occasion shall not be a bar to the exercise of the same right on any subsequent occasion or of 
any other right at any time. 

 
21. ATTORNEYS FEES 
 

Should either party to this Agreement bring legal action against the other, (formal judicial 
proceeding, mediation or arbitration), the case shall be handled in Monterey County, California, 
and the party prevailing in such action shall be entitled to a reasonable attorney's fee which shall 
be fixed by the judge, mediator or arbitrator hearing the case and such fee shall be included in 
the judgment, together with all costs. 

 
22. COUNTERPARTS 
 

This Agreement may be executed in two counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, 
but both of which shall constitute one and the same instrument. 

 
23. ENTIRE AGREEMENT 
 

This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the parties regarding the subject 
matter hereof, and supersedes all prior or contemporaneous negotiations, understandings or 
agreements of the parties, whether written or oral, with respect to such subject matter. 

 
 
 

134



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Agreement has been executed in duplicate by the duly authorized officers 
of each of the parties effective the date first shown above. 
 
 
 
 
FOR THE DISTRICT     FOR THE CONSULTANT 
 
By ____________________________   By ______________________________ 
 
General Manager     Printed Name: Darren Riegler, PE 
  
       Title: President & CEO 
 
____________________________ 
Approved as to Form:  
 
       By ______________________________ 
 
_______________________________   Printed Name: Miranda Patton 
 
 
District Legal Counsel     Title: Assistant Secretary/Vice President 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Exhibit "A": Consultant Scope of Services and Schedule 
Exhibit "B": Consultant Team/Rate Sheet 
Exhibit "C”: Not applicable 
  
  

135



Attachment 8 - Resolution 2023-12 General 
Manager to enter into contract MNS 

136



RESOLUTION 2023-12 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE GENERAL MANAGER TO ENTER INTO A 
CONTRACT WITH MNS ENGINEERS TO PROVIDE CONSTRUCTION INSPECTION 

SERVICES  FOR THE SEPTEMBER RANCH SEWER PROJECT #18-29, IN AN 
AMOUNT NOT TO EXCEED $299,662 

 

  WHEREAS,  the District has received funding from CARMEL RESERVE 
to fund the costs of inspection services by MNS Engineering for the September Ranch 
Sewer Project (Project); 

  WHEREAS, the District received a proposal from MNS Engineers for 
professional engineering services to provide construction inspection services for the 
Project; 

  WHEREAS, in order to proceed with construction of the Project, the 
District must execute a contract with MNS Engineers to provide construction inspection 
services  for the project as summarized in their proposal dated October 7, 2022  in the 
amount of $299,662.  

  NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Board of Directors of 
Carmel Area Wastewater District, hereby authorizes the General Manager to enter into 
a contract with MNS Engineers to provide construction inspection services of a sewer 
pipeline and pump station as part of the September Ranch Sewer Project. 

  PASSED AND ADOPTED at a regular meeting of the Board of Directors 
of the Carmel Area Wastewater District duly held on February 23, 2023 by the following 
vote: 

AYES:     BOARD MEMBERS: 

 NOES: BOARD MEMBERS: 

 ABSENT:   BOARD MEMBERS: 

ABSTAIN:   BOARD MEMBERS: 

 
   ________________________________ 

Ken White, President of the Board 
 
ATTEST: 
_____________________________________ 
Domine Barringer, Secretary to the Board 

137



STAFF REPORT 

To: 

From: 

Date: 

Subject: 

Board of Directors 

Barbara Buikema, General Manager 

February 23, 2023 

Corona Road-Clean Water State Revolving  
Fund Program 

RECOMMENDATION 

It is recommended that the Board of Directors adopt two resolutions authorizing the 
District to participate in the Clean Water State Revolving Fund Program (CWSRRF) 

DISCUSSION 

The District has received verbal assurances that the Corona Road Project will be funded 
with a combination of grant and state revolving fund monies.   

These two programs require the following resolutions: 
Reimbursement Resolution 2023-13:  all loan applicants that are publicly-owned entities 
are required to submit an adopted Reimbursement Resolution.  The Reimbursement 
Resolution should be a stand-alone resolution.  Note that we are requesting a maximum 
principal amount of $6,000,000 with the intent of covering both grant and loan proceeds, or 
project total. 

Authorizing Resolution 2023-14:  this resolution designates the Authorized 
Representative(s) for the project, who will have the authority to sign and submit 
CWSRF application materials, certify compliance with applicable state and federal laws, 
execute the financial assistance agreement and amendments, and certify disbursement 
requests. 

FINANCIAL 

None at this time. 

138



RESOLUTION No. 2023-13 
 
REIMBURSEMENT RESOLUTION 

Attachment 
F4 

 
WHEREAS, the Carmel Area Wastewater District (the "Agency"} desires to finance the costs of 
constructing and/or reconstructing certain public facilities and improvements relating to its wastewater 
system, including certain treatment facilities, pipelines and other infrastructure (the "Project"}; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Agency intends to finance the construction and/or reconstruction of the Project or 
portions of the Project with moneys ("Project Funds"} provided by the State of California, acting by 
and through the State Water Resources Control Board (State Water Board}; and 
 
WHEREAS, the State Water Board may fund the Project Funds with proceeds from the sale of 
obligations the interest upon which is excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes 
(the "Obligations"}, and 
 
WHEREAS, prior to either the issuance of the Obligations or the approval by the State Water 
Board of the Project Funds the Agency desires to incur certain capital expenditures (the 
"Expenditures") with respect to the Project from available moneys of the Agency; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Agency has determined that those moneys to be advanced on and after the date 
hereof to pay the Expenditures are available only for a temporary period and it is necessary to 
reimburse the Agency for the Expenditures from the proceeds of the Obligations. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, THE AGENCY DOES HEREBY RESOLVE, ORDER AND DETERMINE AS 
FOLLOWS: 
SECTION 1. The Agency hereby states its intention and reasonably expects to reimburse     

Expenditures paid prior to the issuance of the Obligations or the approval by the 
State Water Board of the Project Funds. 

 
SECTION 2.  The reasonably expected maximum principal amount of the Project Funds is    

$6,000,000.00. 
 
SECTION 3. This resolution is being adopted no later than 60 days after the date on which the              

Agency will expend moneys for the construction portion of the Project costs to be 
reimbursed with Project Funds. 

 
SECTION 4. Each Agency expenditure will be of a type property chargeable to a capital account       

under general federal income tax principles. 
 
SECTION 5. To the best of our knowledge, this Agency is not aware of the previous adoption of  

official intents by the Agency that have been made as a matter of course for the 
purpose of reimbursing expenditures and for which tax-exempt obligations have not 
been issued. 

 
 
 

139



SECTION 6.   This resolution is adopted as the official intent of the Agency in order to comply with    
Treasury Regulation §1.150-2 and any other regulations of the Internal Revenue Service 
relating to the qualification for reimbursement of Project costs. 

 
SECTION 7. All the recitals in this Resolution are true and correct and this Agency so  

finds, determines and represents. 
 
 

AYES:  
NOES: 
ABSENT 
ABSTAIN:  

 
 

__________________________________ 
Ken White, President of the Board 

 
PASSED AND ADOPTED at a regular meeting of the Board of Directors of the Carmel Area  

Wastewater District duly held on February 23, 2023, by the following vote: 

AYES: BOARD MEMBERS:  
NOES: BOARD MEMBERS: ABSENT: 
BOARD MEMBERS:  
ABSTAIN: BOARD MEMBERS: 

          ______________________________ 

   Ken White, President of the Board 

ATTEST: 

_____________________________________ 

Domine Barringer, Secretary to the Board 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
140



CERTIFICATION 
 

I do hereby certify that the foregoing is a full, true, and correct copy of a resolution duly and 
regularly adopted at a  
 
 
meeting of the  held on   

(Governing Board of the Agency) (Date) 
 
 

(Name, Signature, and Seal of the Clerk or Authorized Record Keeper of the Governing Board of the 
Agency) 

 
 

Financial Assistance 
Application 
(Rev. 12/2019) 

 
Page 12 of 14 Financial Security Package 

(Construction) Clean Water 
State Revolving Fund Water 
Recycling Funding Program 

141



Attachment FSa 
AUTHORIZING RESOLUTION/ORDINANCE 

 
RESOLUTION NO: N o . 2 0 2 3 - 1 4  

 
WHEREAS the residents of the area in the Highlands commonly known as “Corona 
Road” have banded together in an effort to replace their septic tanks and to install 
sewer facilities to their neighborhood; and 
 
WHEREAS  said neighborhood has engaged an engineering firm (Monterey Bay 
Engineers) and Environmental/Permitting firm (Denise Duffy) to prepare and 
present such reports as necessary to make an application to the State Water 
Resources Control Board; and, 
 
WHEREAS,  said neighborhood has indicated its desire to apply for grant funds and 
a State Revolving Loan to finance their Septic to Sewer Project;  
 

Corona Road Septic to Sewer Project (the “Project”) 
 

RESOLVED BY THE Board of Directors OF THE Carmel Area Wastewater District (the "Entity"), AS 
FOLLOWS: 

 
The General Manager (the "Authorized Representative") or designee is hereby authorized and 
directed to sign and file, for and on behalf of the Entity, a Financial Assistance Application for a 
financing agreement from the State Water Resources Control Board for the planning, design, and 
construction of the Corona Road Septic to Sewer Project (the "Project"). 

 
This Authorized Representative, or his/her designee, is designated to provide the assurances, 
certifications, and commitments required for the financial assistance application, including 
executing a financial assistance agreement from the State Water Resources Control Board and 
any amendments or changes thereto. 

 
The Authorized Representative, or his/her designee, is designated to represent the Entity in 
carrying out the Entity's responsibilities under the financing agreement, including certifying 
disbursement requests on behalf of the Entity and compliance with applicable state and federal 
laws. 

 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED at a regular meeting of the Board of Directors of the Carmel 

Area Wastewater District duly held on February 23, 2023, by the following vote: 

AYES: BOARD MEMBERS:  
NOES: BOARD MEMBERS: ABSENT: 
BOARD MEMBERS:  
ABSTAIN: BOARD MEMBERS: 

          ______________________________ 

   Ken White, President of the Board 

ATTEST: 

_____________________________________ 

Domine Barringer, Secretary to the Board 

 
142



 
 

 
 

CERTIFICATION 
 

I do hereby certify that the foregoing is a full, true, and correct copy of a resolution duly and 
regularly adopted 

   at a meeting of the Carmel Area Wastewater District Board of Directors held
on February 23, 2023 
 
 

(Name, Signature, and Seal of the Clerk or Authorized Record Keeper of the Governing Board of the 
Agency) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Financial Assistance 
Application 
(Rev. 12/2019) 

 Financial Security Package 
(Construction) Clean Water State 
Revolving Fund Water Recycling 
Funding Program 

143



 
STAFF REPORT     
 
        
To:   Board of Directors  
 
From:   Rachél Lather, Principal Engineer 
 
Subject:  Carmel Area Wastewater District (CAWD) Installed Ejector Pump Policy 
 
Date:   February 23, 2023 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
After consideration of the proposed CAWD Installed Ejector Pump Policy, staff 
recommends that the Board of Directors: 
 

• Approve Resolution 2023-15 adopting the policy.   
• Find that the Policy is not a “project” within the meaning of the California 

Environmental Quality Act (“CEQA”) 
 
DISCUSSION 
 
The District is committed to addressing serious collections system pipeline failures and 
this may require installation of ejector pump systems by CAWD due to a relocation of a 
CAWD owned sewer system requiring a homeowner to use an ejector pump to lift their 
sewage into the new CAWD sewer main requiring relocation.   
 
After hearing public comment on December 8, 2022 regarding ejector pumps, your Board 
accepted the creation of the Ejector Pump Policy Ad Hoc Committee and assigned 
Directors Urquhart and Rachel to the committee to develop a District wide policy 
regarding issues related to cost and maintenance of CAWD installed ejector pumps that 
are installed on private property. 
 
The Ejector Pump Policy Ad Hoc Committee met several times between December 2022 
and February 2023 to review and provide input on a draft policy prepared by the 
Principal Engineer.   
The attached Draft CAWD Installed Ejector Pump Policy has been approved by the 

 

 

144



committee and is provided for the Board’s review, comment, and approval.   
 
FUNDING 
 
Not applicable. 
 
Staff has determined that the Policy and its adoption is not a “project” within the meaning 
of CEQA.  CEQA Guidelines section 15378(b) states that the term “project” does not 
include “general policy and procedure making.” The Policy is of general applicability to 
any ejector pump installation as defined in the Policy.  

145



 

 

 

 

 

 

CARMEL AREA WASTEWATER DISTRICT (CAWD) 

 

CAWD INSTALLED EJECTOR PUMP POLICY 

 

 

 
 

Origination Date: February 23, 2023 

 

  

146



CAWD INSTALLED EJECTOR PUMP POLICY 
 

1. DEFINITIONS 
a. CONTRACTOR- plumbing contractor employed to provide installation of the ejector 

pump system and lateral to the sewer main. 
b. CAWD- Carmel Area Wastewater District 
c. DISTRICT – Carmel Area Wastewater District 
d. EJECTOR PUMP- a pump that grinds and ejects wastewater from a lower level up to the 

sewer main in specific locations where gravity alone cannot do the job due to site 
specific circumstances. It is part of a private lateral system as defined below.  

e. GRINDER PUMP- same as ejector pump in the context of this policy. 
f. PRIVATE LATERAL – Private Lateral (Building Lateral, House Lateral) is that portion of 

a sewer lateral beginning 2 feet from the perimeter walls at the plumbing outlet of any 
building or industrial facility and running to and including the connection to the Sewer 
Main. 

g. UNIFORM PLUMBING ORDINANCE- A Carmel Area Wastewater District ordinance 
regulating the use of public and private sewers, the installation and connection of 
building laterals, the installation of sewer laterals and public sewer main extensions, 
providing permits and fees for the installation and connection of sanitary sewers, 
establishing charges, and providing penalties for the violation of the ordinance. 

h. SEWAGE ‐ Water‐carried wastes from residences, business buildings, institutions and 
industrial establishments.  

i. SEWER MAIN-  A pipe or conduit for carrying sewage. 
 

2. GENERAL 
a. This policy does not pertain to any particular identified project.  It is of general 

applicability to any installation of ejector pump systems by CAWD (at CAWD’s 
expense) due to a relocation of a CAWD owned sewer system requiring a homeowner to 
use an ejector pump to lift their sewage into the new CAWD sewer main (“Installation”). 

b. For Installations meeting the requirements of subdivision 2(a), CAWD will pay for and 
provide the residence with a high quality sewer ejection pump system equivalent to the 
Environment One (E-One) low pressure pump system during the construction of the 
relocation of the CAWD sewer system.  This is contingent on the property owner signing 
an agreement providing a construction and access easement for their property. 

c. The only substances allowed in the sewer system are human waste and toilet paper.  No 
substances or materials may be placed into the ejector pump that would damage the 
pump or sewage system per CAWD Ordinance 2022-02, Pretreatment Ordinance, 
Section 2.4 Specific Prohibited Substances or Characteristics.   

147



These materials include anything that could cause sewer line blockages or create 
hazardous conditions in the home.  The materials include but are not limited to solid 
food waste, glass, metal, wood, shells, diapers, wipes, kitty litter, socks, rags, needles, 
plastic objects, chemicals, gasoline, kerosene, fuel, oil, grease and degreasing solvents.  
For more information, review the CAWD Uniform Plumbing Ordinance (Section 3.0 Use 
of Sewers) and the Pretreatment Ordinance. 

d. Access to the ejector pump shall not be covered by permanent structures that would 
impede inspections, service, replacement or the use of the pump system (e.g. 
landscaping, structures, and fencing).  Pets shall not be allowed in the access area during 
the time when a CAWD employee is accessing the pump system. 

3. TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR CAWD MAINTENANCE OF EJECTOR 
PUMP SYSTEM 

 
a. CAWD shall provide maintenance services for the ejector pumps installed under the 

terms identified in Section 2(a) for 10 years from the date of original installation and 
utilize remote monitoring services.  A third-party inspection of the ejector pump system 
will be provided prior to cessation of maintenance by CAWD and any required repairs 
or replacements will be completed at that time at CAWD’s expense 

b. Providing maintenance for the 10 year period identified in Section 3(a) is contingent on 
the property owner providing an access easement. . In addition, all pets are required to 
be removed from the area during maintenance activities for the safety of CAWD 
employees and representative contractors.  

c. Maintenance will include inspection of the pump system as recommended by the 
manufacturer, replacement of pumps or other items if required, and response to 
emergency calls. 

d. The ejector pump system includes adequate holding time but in the event of a sustained 
power outage CAWD crews will utilize a portable generator that connects directly to the 
ejector pump station to pump down the sewage.  

e. CAWD crews will make every effort to contact the occupant of the residence prior to 
completing  routine inspections, maintenance,  repairs and/or replacement of the ejector 
pump system.   However, in the case of an emergency, CAWD reserves the right to 
access the pump system and complete necessary repairs and/or replacement.  

f. The property owner is responsible for providing safe access to the ejector pump system.  
CAWD staff will contact the property owner at least 48 hours prior to accessing the 
ejector pump on their property, except in an emergency. 

g. The property owner is responsible for the electrical cost needed to run the pump and the 
pump system is for their sole use and ownership. 
 

148



h. The property owner is responsible for following the Pretreatment Ordinance 
requirements regarding materials that may be placed in the sewer (See item 2.c. of this 
policy).  If the ejector pump system is mis-used, any repairs or replacement  to the 
system will be the financial responsibility of the property owner. 

149



RESOLUTION NO. 2023-15 
A RESOLUTION APPROVING THE CARMEL AREA WASTEWATER DISTRICT 

INSTALLED EJECTOR PUMP POLICY 
-oOo- 

WHEREAS, the District is committed to addressing serious collections 
system pipeline failures and this may require installation of ejector pump systems by 
CAWD (at CAWD’s expense) due to a relocation of a CAWD owned sewer system 
requiring a homeowner to use an ejector pump to lift their sewage into the new CAWD 
sewer main require relocation; and  

WHEREAS, the District has an interest in establishing a written policy 
regarding the installation and maintenance of District installed ejector pump systems; 
and 

WHEREAS, the attached Installed Ejector Pump Policy (“Policy”) is intended 
to ensure that the District installs and maintains an ejector pump system for the use 
and ownership of a private residence for a period of 10 years under the terms 
identified in the Policy. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Board of Directors of the 
Carmel Area Wastewater District (CAWD) does hereby adopt and approve the 
Policy. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Board of Directors finds, in the 
exercise of its independent judgment and based on substantial evidence in the 
record, that the Policy is not a project within the meaning of the California 
Environmental Quality Act (“CEQA”) pursuant to CEQA Guidelines section 
15378(b)(2).  Section 15378(b)(2) states that general policy and procedure making 
activities, such as the Policy and its adoption, is not a project within CEQA’s 
meaning. The Policy is of general applicability to any installation identified in the 
Policy.  

PASSED AND ADOPTED at a regular meeting of the Board of Directors of the 
Carmel Area Wastewater District duly held on February 23, 2023, by the following 
vote: 

AYES:  BOARD MEMBERS: 

NOES:  BOARD MEMBERS: 

ABSENT:  BOARD MEMBERS: 

ABSTAIN:  BOARD MEMBERS: 

_____________________________________________ 

             Ken White, President of the Board 

ATTEST: 

_______________________________________                                                                                  
Domine Barringer, Secretary to the Board 

150



 
STAFF REPORT      

 
To:   Board of Directors  
 
From:   Patrick Treanor, Plant Engineer 
 
Date:  February 23, 2023 
 
Subject:  Project #22-03 – Design Services for Wastewater Treatment Plant (WWTP) 

Water and Gas Service Replacement – Kennedy Jenks 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
It is recommended that the Board of Directors adopt a resolution authorizing the General 
Manager to execute a Professional Services Agreement with Kennedy Jenks for 
developing design and construction bid documents for new water and gas service 
pipelines to the WWTP. The design documents would be prepared for a not to exceed 
price of $291,208. 
 
DISCUSSION 
 
The existing gas and water lines serving the WWTP originate on the North side of the 
Carmel River and were installed 50 years ago. Carmel Area Wastewater District  (CAWD) 
owns the lines which cross through the riparian habitat along the riverbanks and under 
the river to the WWTP. The gas line is a critical asset for the WWTP sludge digestion 
heating system and prolonged loss of gas service could cause issues meeting sludge 
stabilization permit requirements. The water line is less critical than the gas line, however 
having potable water at the plant for washing hands is a necessity for the health of 
workers. Repairing failures of these pipelines is difficult in the riparian corridor which is 
overgrown with willows and poison oak. If the pipes fail under the river a repair would 
most likely not be feasible. 
 
An alternative analysis for replacing the water and gas service pipelines was completed 
by Kennedy Jenks in 2022. The analysis determined that the best alternative for replacing 
the lines was to locate them under the treatment plant access road off Hwy 1. Most of the 
access road is a thick concrete slab built to withstand flooding events and so traditional 
open trench installation is not a desirable construction method.  

 

 

151



Therefore, the new lines are planned to be installed using horizontal directional drilling 
under the concrete slabs.   
 
The proposal from Kennedy Jenks to develop the design and construction documents to 
install a new gas and water main under the treatment plant access road is attached. 
 
FUNDING 

     
The CAWD Treatment Plant Long Term Capital Budget includes budget for the design 
of the Water and Gas Main Replacement ($100,000 in FY22/23, and $300,000 in the Draft 
FY23/24 Budget). 
 
Attachment: 

1. Proposal – Kennedy Jenks 
 

152



 

11 January 2023   

Patrick Treanor, P.E.      
Plant Engineer 
Carmel Area Wastewater District (CAWD) 
3945 Rio Road 
Carmel, CA 93922 

Subject: Proposal for Professional Engineering Services 
WWTP Water and Gas Service Pipelines 
KJ Proposal No. 22680XX.XX 

 

Dear Patrick Treanor, 

Kennedy Jenks (KJ) is pleased to submit this proposal to provide design and bidding services for the relocation and 
replacement of the WWTP water and gas service pipelines. 

Project Overview 

CAWD, KJ, and Bennett Trenchless Engineers recently completed the predesign Trenchless Alignment Alternatives 
Analysis technical memorandum (TM), which evaluated two potential alignments for new water and gas service 
pipelines – under the Carmel River or along the existing access road. After the TM, CAWD decided that the 
alignment along the access road is preferred for the new water and gas service pipelines. The alignments extend 
from Hwy 1 to the operations building, with most of the alignment outside the WWTP to be installed via horizontal 
directional drilling (HDD). The plan is to complete the access road installation with an open cut segment from Hwy 1, 
followed by two HDD segments under the concrete portions of the access road. 

Scope of Work 
Task 1 – 50% Design 
This task includes the 50% drawings, specification table of contents, Opinion of Probable Construction Cost 
(OPCC), geotechnical evaluation, topographical survey of the access road, and 50% deliverable QA/QC. The 
geotechnical evaluation includes two days of drilling for 3 borings down to 50-foot depth along the trenchless portion 
of the alignment, laboratory tests, and Geotech Report. The laboratory tests will include moisture content and unit 
weight testing, grain-size analysis on granular soils, Atterberg limits on any plastic soils, unconfined compressive 
strength testing on any cohesive soils that would allow testing, and a few direct shear tests on granular soils. The 
access road topo will be provided on same datum (i.e. NAD 83, NAVD 88) and be stitched together with the existing 
WWTP topo for ease of use. The surveyor’s proposal is attached for reference. 

Deliverables 

• Geotechnical Report, draft and final 
• Access Road Survey 
• Class 2 estimate, per Association for the Advancement of Costing Engineering (AACE) 
• 11x17, electronic PDF drawing package per the drawing list below 

153



• Electronic PDF Specification Table of Contents 

Task 2 – 90% Design 
This task includes the 90% drawings, specifications, Opinion of Probable Construction Cost (OPCC), and 90% 
deliverable QA/QC.  

Deliverables 

• Class 1 estimate, per Association for the Advancement of Costing Engineering (AACE) 
• 11x17, electronic PDF drawing package per the drawing list below 
• Electronic PDF Specifications, both front end and technical specifications 

Task 3 – Final Design 
This task includes the final stamped drawings, specifications, Opinion of Probable Construction Cost (OPCC), and 
final deliverable QA/QC.  

Deliverables 

• Class 1 estimate, per Association for the Advancement of Costing Engineering (AACE) 
• 11x17 and 22x34, electronic PDF drawing package per the drawing list below 
• Electronic PDF Specifications, both front end and technical specifications 

Task 4 – Coordination and Permitting Support 
This task includes coordination and permitting support with PG&E, California American Water, and Caltrans. This 
task includes submitting a Caltrans encroachment permit on behalf of CAWD.   

Task 5 – Bidding Services 
KJ will attend an in-person Pre-bid Conference for prospective bidders, led by CAWD.  KJ will prepare the meeting 
agenda and notes. During the bidding phase, KJ will respond to up to ten (10) enquiries from bidders regarding the 
proposed project. KJ has assumed that CAWD will distribute responses to potential bidders. KJ will prepare up to 
two (2) addenda resulting from question asked at the Pre-Bid conference or questions sent by bidders to CAWD 
directly during the bid phase of the project. Each written addendum is anticipated to be no more than five (5) pages. 
KJ will review construction bids received and prepare a brief email recommendation to CAWD regarding bid 
responsiveness, bidder capabilities, and contract award. KJ will prepare conformed drawings and specifications 
incorporating changes to the contract documents by addenda. 

Deliverables 

• Electronic addenda 
• 11x17 and 22x34, electronic conformed PDF drawing package 
• Two hardcopy conformed 11x17 drawings and specifications 

Task 6 – Project Management 
KJ will provide project management services to manage project costs, meet the project schedule requirements, 
collaborate with the CAWD on project progress, and maintain effective communication. KJ will provide monthly 
invoices to the CAWD that include hourly expenditures separated into each budget task. A project file will be 
maintained, including copies of correspondence, reports, minutes of meetings, and memoranda. Budget includes 8 
months of project management and an internal combined kickoff and concept and criteria review meeting. 

Deliverables 

• Electronic copies of meeting minutes 
• Monthly invoices and cover letter 

 
 

154



Assumptions 
 

The scope, schedule, and budget are based on the following assumptions.  

• KJ to prepare all specification sections, including Division 0 and 1 
• CAWD will review and provide comments on deliverables within 2 weeks 
• Two site visits by two KJ staff (one during 50% design and one during 90% design) 
• All meetings excluding the Pre-Bid Conference and site visits will be virtual 
• CAWD will advertise and distribute project documents to prospective bidders and bid the project only once.  
• CAWD will contact references if required to evaluate the apparent low bidder. 
• Existing water and gas services lines to be abandoned in-place 
• Removal and replacement of concrete access road portions not required 
• Permits are not required for borings 
• CAWD will complete any environmental tasks (e.g. CEQA, biologist recommendations for native species, etc.) 
• No piezometer 
• CAWD will pay any application or permitting fees. 

 

Expected Drawing List 

Drawing Number Drawing Name 
50% 

Design 
90% 

Design 
Final 

Design 
G0001 Title Sheet, Location Map, and Vicinity Map X X X 
G0002 Drawing Index, Standard Abbreviations, and Pipe Schedule X X X 
G0003 Design Criteria and Symbols Legend X X X 
C0001 Civil General Notes and Key Map X X X 
C0002 Civil Details  X X 
C0003 Civil Partial Plans and Section  X X 
C0004 Plan and Profile from STA XX+XX to STA XX+XX X X X 
C0005 Plan and Profile from STA XX+XX to STA XX+XX X X X 
C0006 Plan and Profile from STA XX+XX to STA XX+XX X X X 
C0007 Plan and Profile from STA XX+XX to STA XX+XX X X X 
C0008 Plan and Profile from STA XX+XX to STA XX+XX X X X 
C0009 Civil Paving Plan  X X 

M0001 Building Mechanical Details  X X 

     

Expected Specification List 

Section Number Section Name 
00010 Invitation to Bid 
00100 Instructions to Bidders 
00200 Information Available to Bidders 
00300 Bid Form 
00410 Bid Security 
00414 Security for Compensation Certificate 
00416 Bidders References 
00420 Bidder’s Qualifications 
00430 Subcontractor List 
00480 Noncollusion Affidavit 
00500 Agreement 

155



00610 Performance Bond 
00700 General Conditions 
00800 Supplementary Conditions 
01010 Summary of the Work and Contract Considerations 
01040 Coordination and Project Requirements 
01140 Environmental Protection Procedures 
01300 Submittals 
01311 CPM Construction Schedule 
01500 Construction Facilities and Temporary Controls 
01700 Contract Closeout 
02050 Demolition 
02200 Site Preparation 
02300 Earthwork 
02351 Fusible HDPE 
02400 Horizontal Directional Drilling 
02510 Water System Piping and Accessories 
02700 Paving and Surfacing 
15400 Plumbing 

  

Estimated Schedule 
It is anticipated that the task order will be completed in 8 months from notice to proceed. 

Milestone 
Completion 

Date 
Duration 
(Months) 

Notice to Proceed 1/13/2023 - 
50% Design 5/12/2023 4 
90% Design 7/14/2023 2 
Final Design 9/15/2023 2 

   
 

Compensation for Consulting Services 

Task Budget 
Task 1 – 50% Design $140,019 
Task 2 – 90% Design $58,260 
Task 3 – Final Design $44,191 
Task 4 – Coordination and Permitting Support $6,500 
Task 5 – Bidding Services   $18,968 
Task 6 – Project Management $23,270 
Total $291,208 

  
 

In accordance with the attached Schedule of Charges dated January 1, 2022, we propose a budget of $291,208. A 
breakdown of our proposed project budget and line-item descriptions of the project deliverables is provided in 
Attachment A. It is acknowledged the individual task budget breakdowns are an estimate and may be transferred 
among each work element depending on specific interim work needs, as long as the total budget is not exceeded. 

 

156



Standard Conditions 
To assure a clear understanding of all matters related to our mutual responsibilities, the attached Standard 
Conditions dated 1 August 2021 are made part of this agreement. We have found these terms to be appropriate for 
use in agreements for provision of consultant services. Accordingly, if any conflicts exist between the attached terms 
and the form of any purchase order or confirmation issued, the terms of this proposal and the attached Standard 
Conditions will prevail in the absence of our express written agreement. This proposal is based on current 
projections of staff availability and costs and, therefore, is valid for 90 days following the date of this letter. 

Authorization 
The KJ Team appreciates the opportunity to submit another proposal for the continual improvements of the Carmel 
Area Wastewater District’s Wastewater Treatment Plant and look forward to continuing to work with you and your 
staff. Please feel free to contact me at (925) 953-1521 should you have any questions.  

 

KENNEDY/JENKS CONSULTANTS, INC. CARMEL AREA WASTEWATER DISTRICT 

Signature:         
 
Printed Name:  Nick Lazarakis, PE    
 
Title:    Principal    
 
Date:    1/11/2023   

Signature:         
 
Printed Name:        
 
Title:          
 
Date:          
  

157



 

Contact Information 
CONTACT 
Nick Lazarakis, PE 
nicklazarakis@kennedyjenks.com 
 
ADDRESS 
2350 Mission College Boulevard 
Suite 700, Santa Clara, CA 95054 

158



Client/Address:  Carmel Area Wastewater District 
3945 Rio Road 
Carmel, CA 93922 

  
Contract/Proposal Date:  January 2023 

Custom Schedule of Charges Date: January 1, 2022 

PERSONNEL COMPENSATION 
Classification Hourly Rate 

 Engineer-Scientist-Specialist 1........................................................................... $140 
 Engineer-Scientist-Specialist 2........................................................................... $170 
 Engineer-Scientist-Specialist 3........................................................................... $190 
 Engineer-Scientist-Specialist 4........................................................................... $205 
 Engineer-Scientist-Specialist 5........................................................................... $225 
 Engineer-Scientist-Specialist 6........................................................................... $250 
 Engineer-Scientist-Specialist 7........................................................................... $275 
 Engineer-Scientist-Specialist 8........................................................................... $295 
 Engineer-Scientist-Specialist 9........................................................................... $310 
 CAD-Technician ................................................................................................ $130 
 Senior CAD-Technician ..................................................................................... $145 
 CAD-Designer ................................................................................................... $160 
 Senior CAD-Designer ........................................................................................ $175 
 Project Assistant ................................................................................................ $135 
 Administrative Assistant ..................................................................................... $115 
 Aide..................................................................................................................... $90 

No Associated Project Cost charge will be added to the Personnel Compensation. 

Direct Expenses 

Reimbursement for direct expenses, as listed below, incurred in connection with the work, will be at cost plus 
ten percent for items such as: 

a. Maps, photographs, 3rd party reproductions, 3rd party printing, equipment rental, and special supplies 
related to the work. 

b. Consultants, soils engineers, surveyors, contractors, and other outside services. 
c. Rented vehicles, local public transportation and taxis, travel and subsistence. 
d. Project specific telecommunications and delivery charges. 
e. Special fees, insurance, permits, and licenses applicable to the work. 
f. Outside computer processing, computation, and proprietary programs purchased for the work. 

Reimbursement for vehicles used in connection with the work will be at the federally approved mileage rates or at a 
negotiated monthly rate. 
If prevailing wage rates apply, the above billing rates will be adjusted as appropriate.   
Overtime for non-exempt employees will be billed at one and a half times the Hourly Rates specified above. 
Rates for professional staff for legal proceedings or as expert witnesses will be at rates one and one-half times the 
Hourly Rates specified above. 
Excise and gross receipts taxes, if any, will be added as a direct expense. 
The foregoing Schedule of Charges is incorporated into the agreement for the services provided, effective January 1, 
2022 through December 31, 2023. After December 31, 2023, invoices will reflect the January 1, 2023 Schedule of 
Charges. 

159



Proposal Fee Estimate (Assoc. Proj. Costs or Comm Charges as ODC)

 CLIENT Name:  

PROJECT Description: WWTP Water and Gas Service Pipelines

Proposal/Job Number: 2680XX.XX Date:
  

Carmel Area Wastewater District

1/10/2023

January 1, 2022 Rates (Special) KJ Sub Sub Sub KJ KJ KJ

 

 

 
n

 

 
nt

 

 

 
 

er
 

d
 

 

   
 

 
ub

s 
 

Classification: A
id

e

Total La
bo

r

B
TE

En
ge

o

Sa
nd

is

Su
b-

M
ar

ku
p

O
D

C
s

O
D

C
s 

M
ar

ku
p

To
ta

l
La

bo
r

A
dm

in
. A

ss
is

t.

PM N
ic

k 
La

za
ra

ki
s

En
gi

ne
er

E4 Sr
. C

A
D

-D
es

ig
n

C
A

D
-D

es
ig

n

En
g-

Sc
i-3

En
g-

Sc
i-1

Sr
. C

A
D

-T
ec

h

C
A

D
-T

ec
h

Pr
oj

ec
t A

ss
is

ta
n

A
l S

he
w

ey

M
ec

ha
ni

ca
l 

En
gi

ne
er

Za
c 

H
ar

ris
Pr

oj
ec

t E
ng

in
ee

r
Ja

m
es

 B
ow

la
nd

D
ep

ut
y 

PM
R

ac
he

lle
 

Th
om

ps
on

En
g-

Sc
i-2

C
os

t E
st

im
at

or
Ja

ne
t H

of
fm

an

To
ta

l
Su

bs

To
ta

l
Ex

pe
ns

es

To
ta

l L
ab

or
 +

 S
u

 
+ 

Ex
pe

ns
es

Hourly Rate: $310 $275 $275 $250 $250 $225 $205 $190 $170 $140 $175 $160 $145 $130 $135 $115 $90 Hours Fees Fees Fees Fees 10% Fees 10% Fees

Task 1 - 50% Design

Specs 1 2 3 $685 $6,560 $656 $0 $685 $7,216 $0 $7,901

Drawings 6 24 8 4 50 30 122 $26,860 $16,430 $1,643 $500 $50 $26,860 $18,073 $550 $45,483

Geotech 4 4 8 $1,920 $50,000 $0 $0 $1,920 $50,000 $0 $51,920

Survey 4 4 8 $1,920 $24,000 $2,400 $0 $1,920 $26,400 $0 $28,320

Cost Estimate 8 4 12 $2,820 $3,250 $325 $0 $2,820 $3,575 $0 $6,395

Task 1 - Subtotal 6 0 33 8 8 4 64 0 0 0 30 0 0 0 0 0 0 153 $34,205 $26,240 $50,000 $24,000 $5,024 $500 $50 $34,205 $105,264 $550 $140,019

Task 2 - 90% Design

Specs 4 16 24 8 54 6 112 $26,120 $0 $0 $26,120 $0 $0 $26,120

Drawings 6 16 24 8 4 32 40 130 $29,320 $0 $0 $29,320 $0 $0 $29,320

Cost Estimate 8 4 12 $2,820 $0 $0 $2,820 $0 $0 $2,820

Task 2 - Subtotal 10 32 48 16 8 4 90 0 0 0 40 0 0 0 6 0 0 254 $58,260 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $58,260 $0 $0 $58,260

Task 3 - Final Design

Specs 4 24 32 6 66 $15,210 $3,280 $328 $0 $15,210 $3,608 $0 $18,818

Drawings 6 18 8 4 16 40 92 $19,990 $2,330 $233 $0 $19,990 $2,563 $0 $22,553

Cost Estimate 8 4 12 $2,820 $0 $0 $2,820 $0 $0 $2,820

Task 3 - Subtotal 10 0 42 8 8 4 52 0 0 0 40 0 0 0 6 0 0 170 $38,020 $5,610 $0 $0 $561 $0 $0 $38,020 $6,171 $0 $44,191

Task 4 - Coordination and Permitting Support

Coordination and Permitting Support 20 4 24 $6,500 $0 $0 $6,500 $0 $0 $6,500

Task 4 - Subtotal 0 0 20 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 24 $6,500 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $6,500 $0 $0 $6,500

Task 5 - Bidding Services

Pre-Bid Meeting 8 8 $2,000 $2,174 $217 $100 $10 $2,000 $2,391 $110 $4,501

Addenda 8 16 24 $5,480 $1,870 $187 $0 $5,480 $2,057 $0 $7,537

Conformed Documents 4 4 6 18 32 $6,380 $0 $500 $50 $6,380 $0 $550 $6,930

Task 5 - Subtotal 0 0 12 8 0 4 22 0 0 0 18 0 0 0 0 0 0 64 $13,860 $4,044 $0 $0 $404 $600 $60 $13,860 $4,448 $660 $18,968

Task 6 - Project Management

Kickoff and CCR Meeting 3 2 2 4 2 13 $3,290 $0 $0 $3,290 $0 $0 $3,290

Project Management 54 24 8 86 $19,980 $0 $0 $19,980 $0 $0 $19,980

Task 6 - Subtotal 3 0 2 56 0 28 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 8 0 0 99 $23,270 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $23,270 $0 $0 $23,270

All Phases Total 29 32 157 100 24 44 230 0 0 0 128 0 0 0 20 0 0 764 $174,115 $35,894 $50,000 $24,000 $5,989 $1,100 $110 $174,115 $115,883 $1,210 $291,208

https://kjcnet-my.sharepoint.com/personal/rachellethompson_kennedyjenks_com/Documents/Desktop/Temp for offline work/KJ fmProposalFeeEstimate CAWD pieplines Jan 2023 © 2019 Kennedy/Jenks Consultants, Inc.

160



Senior Project 

Manager

Senior Project 

Engineer

$245/hr $230/hr

1

1.1 8 16 $5,640

1.2 12 24 $8,460

1.3 2 8 $2,330

1.4 8 20 $6,560

1.5 2 12 $3,250

32 80 $26,240

2

2.1 2 8 $2,330

2.2 4 10 $3,280

6 18 $5,610

3

3.1 6 $1,470

3.2 2 6 $1,870

8 6 $3,340

46 104 $35,190

$704

$35,894

Proposed Scope and Estimated Fee for Bennett Trenchless Engineers 

Design and Bid Period Services

Carmel Area Wastewater District - 3" Gas and 2" Water Utility Replacements

Task Description and Deliverables

50% Design (Deliver 6 weeks after receipt of Geotech report)

Geotechnical and Pipe Material Review

Review geotechnical data provided by others. Review pipe material requirements for proposed 

utilities and provide summary of recommendations and limitations for pipe to be used for HDD 

installation.

90% and Final Design (Deliver 4 weeks after receipt of review comments)

Calculations and Drawings

Revise Calculations as needed for changes in alignment or profile. Provide red-line edits to 

drawings by others. General review of overall 90% design drawings for coordination with HDD 

drawings. Provide stamp for Final Drawings covering HDD work, if required.

Specifications

Incorporate Comments into Final Technical Specifications for Trenchless Components of the 

Work (HDD, Pipe Material, Contact Grouting). General review of 90% specifications prepared by 

KJ for coordination with HDD sections. Provide stamp for Final Technical Specifications covering 

HDD work.

Subtotal

Calculations

Provide calculations for Pullback Load, Pipe Stress Analysis, Hydrofracture Analysis for each of 

the four (4) proposed HDD bores. 

Drawings

Refine bore geometry based on calculations described above and survey data provided by 

others. Provide red-line edits to drawings by others for HDD bore alignments and profiles. 

Backcheck drafted drawings and coordinate edits as needed.

Specifications

Provide Draft Technical Specifications for trenchless components of the work (HDD, Pipe 

Material, Contact Grouting). 

Cost Estimate

Provide cost and schedule estimate for recommended HDD bore alignments. 

Subtotal Task 1 - Preliminary Design

Subtotal, Labor All Tasks

ODCs (Estimated at 2% Labor)

TOTAL

Subtotal Task 3 - Final Design

Subtotal Task 2 - Final Design

Bid Period Services

Pre-Bid Meeting

BTE will attend the pre-bid meeting and site walk  to provide input regarding the trenchless 

construction and risk mitigation efforts.  One staff member will travel to Carmel for the meeting.

RFIs and Addenda

BTE will respond to contractor questions regarding the trenchless crossing during bidding.  

Assume up to 3 RFIs will be addressed. Any resulting modifications to the design documents will 

be compiled into a single Addendum.

December 2, 2022

161



 

BUILD ON. | 1 
 

 

December 1, 2022  
Promo No. 722138 

Nick Lazarakis 
Kennedy/Jenks Consultants 
2350 Mission College Boulevard, Suite 700 
Santa Clara, CA 95054 
T: 925.953.1521 
E: NickLazarakis@kennedyjenks.com 

RE: CAWD ACCESS ROAD 
 CARMEL, CA 

Dear Nick, 

Thank you for the opportunity to submit our proposal to provide surveying services for the above referenced 
project. Our proposal is based on the request for proposal email dated November 28, 2022 from Bestor and 
recent email correspondence.  

We propose to provide the following scope of services: 

SURVEYING SERVICES 
TOPOGRAPHIC SURVEY AND BASE MAP $24,000 

 Provide field work, office calculations and drafting to produce a topographic survey at an appropriate 
scale to fit on a 24x36 or 30x42 sheet layout for the area outlined in yellow on the attached exhibit 
including the 3 turnout areas.  Approximate length of roadway 2,200 linear feet from Highway 1 to 
entrance of Wastewater Treatment Plant.  

 This survey will show the location and sizes of existing trees 6 inches and larger (Driplines are not 
included), structures, existing grade elevations, walkways, hardscape, fences, adjacent roadways, and 
visible above ground utilities within the project area(s). Field measurement of inverts of accessible 
and unobstructed visible catch basins, area drains, storm drain manholes and sanitary sewer 
manholes will be shown. Mechanical detection of existing utilities is specifically excluded and can be 
provided at an additional cost, if needed.   

 Road survey will be limited to 4-5 feet past the edge of the existing pavement where accessible. 
Where not accessible the survey will be limited to the edge of the existing pavement. 

 Elevation spot grades and or the combination of contours will be shown at one (1) foot intervals or as 
appropriate to clearly define the slopes.  Elevations collected by ground surveys will be shown to an 
accuracy of 0.01' (one hundredth) of a foot. Heavily brushed areas will be defined at the perimeter.  
Brush clearing will be the responsibility of the client if ground elevations need to be collected in those 
areas. 

 Survey will be tied into the same coordinate system and integrated with the existing work for the 
treatment plant.  

  Provide a record boundary survey to determine the location of existing parcel lines based upon 
available maps and deeds on file in the County and BLM records, together with found monuments as 
surveyed and available parcel GIS records.  

 Prepare a drawing showing boundary lines and plottable easements within the project areas. This is 
not a boundary determination and no monumentation will be set. 

162



 
December 1, 2022  
Nick Lazarakis 
Promo No. 722138 

BUILD ON. | 2 
 

 A Preliminary Title Report with referenced documents shall be provided by the owner’s title company, 
or one can be ordered at the clients request as a reimbursable expense. 

SCOPE OF WORK ASSUMPTIONS 
 Our work will be performed using AutoCAD and AutoCAD Civil 3D, MS Word, MS Excel, and Bluebeam. If 

software is required by the client that is not a part of our standard suite of software including 
engineering, drafting or accounting software (Textura, MicroStation, etc.), licensing or purchase fees 
will be charged as a reimbursable. 

 We assume that our plans will be constructed in accordance with industry standards, utilizing a 
licensed land surveyor for construction layout and staking. 

 The cost of utility research and maps, if needed from utility companies such as PG&E, AT&T, 
Comcast, EBMUD, etc. will be charged at cost to the client. Recent experience indicates that a typical 
project will require between $500 and $1,000 for copies of utility block maps. 

TERMS AND CONDITIONS 
 This proposal and the agreement provided by client will become our contract for services upon 

execution.  

 Our services will be provided in a manner consistent with the degree and skill ordinarily exercised by a 
member of the civil engineering and survey profession practicing in the State of California. 

 All reports, plans, specifications, field data, notes and other documents (either electronic or 
hardcopy) prepared by our office as instruments of service shall remain the property of SANDIS. 

 The client acknowledges the instruments of service of SANDIS shall become the property of the client 
when the documents are complete and when compensation for services is paid in full. The client is 
prohibited from making any alterations to the instruments of service without the written consent of 
SANDIS. 

 Neither SANDIS nor the client shall be liable to the other for consequential damages incurred due to 
the fault of the other party, regardless of the nature of this fault or whether it was committed by the 
client, SANDIS, their employees, agents, subconsultants or vendors.  

 The scope of work included in the proposal is limited to the specific scope included and specified 
only. Any exclusions listed are for clarity only and do not represent a complete list of exclusions to the 
scope. Any additional scope proposed or done other than that listed in the proposal as included shall 
be done as an additional service. 

 Agency review and permit fees will not be paid by SANDIS and are not included in this proposal.   

 This proposal is firm for thirty (30) days from the date of this letter.  

Our services will be provided for the amount listed above and will be performed under the provisions of the 
agreement provided by client. 

Pursuant to state law, no work can proceed on this project without written acceptance. If a formal agreement 
is not finalized prior to payment on any invoice, by submitting payment it is understood that you agree to the 
scope, fee, and terms and conditions presented above.  

  

163



 
December 1, 2022  
Nick Lazarakis 
Promo No. 722138 

BUILD ON. | 3 
 

If this proposal meets with your approval, please return one signed copy of this proposal and your agreement 
to our office as our authorization to proceed. 

Regards Approved 

 KENNEDY/JENKS CONSULTANTS 

 
 
  
 
Chris Cintean, PLS By: __________________________________ 
Project Manager 

Title: _________________________________ 
 

Laura Cabral, PLS  Date: _________________________________ 
Vice President 
 
Attachment:  Exhibit 

 

164



 
December 1, 2022  
Nick Lazarakis 
Promo No. 722138 

BUILD ON. | 4 
 

 

 

 

165



 
December 1, 2022  
Nick Lazarakis 
Promo No. 722138 

BUILD ON. | 5 
 

 

166



RESOLUTION NO. 2023-16 
 
 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE GENERAL MANAGER TO EXECUTE A 
PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT WITH KENNEDY JENKS CONSULTANTS 

IN AN AMOUNT NOT TO EXCEED $291,208 FOR WASTEWATER TREATMENT 
PLANT (WWTP) WATER AND GAS SERVICE REPLACEMENT (PROJECT #22-03) 

 
-oOo- 

 

 WHEREAS, the existing Carmel Area Wastewater District (CAWD) WWTP Water 

and Gas service pipelines are critical to WWTP operations; and 

WHEREAS, the Water and Gas service pipelines currently cross through riparian 

habitat which makes them difficult to maintain; and 

 WHEREAS, Kennedy Jenks has submitted an acceptable design proposal and is 

well qualified to provide necessary design services at a competitive rate; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the Carmel 

Area Wastewater District that it does hereby authorize the General Manager to enter into 

a professional services agreement, with a not to exceed amount of $291,208, with 

Kennedy Jenks Consultants for WWTP Water and Gas Service Replacement Design. 

 PASSED AND ADOPTED at a regular meeting of the Board of Directors of the 

Carmel Area Wastewater District duly held on February 23, 2023, by the following vote: 

 AYES:     BOARD MEMBERS: 

 NOES:    BOARD MEMBERS: 

 ABSENT:   BOARD MEMBERS: 

ABSTAIN:   BOARD MEMBERS: 

       ______________________________ 
        Ken White, President of the Board 
ATTEST: 
______________________________________ 
  Domine Barringer, Secretary of the Board 

167



STAFF REPORT 
 
 
To:  Board of Directors 
 
From:  Barbara Buikema, General Manager 
   
Date:  February 23, 2023 
 
Subject: Adjust Salary Classification Tables 
 
RECOMMENDATION  
 
It is recommended the Board authorize an amendment to the salary classification table for 
the Administrative Assistant/Board Clerk effective January 29, 2023 from Range 16 to 
Range 17. 
 
DISCUSSION  
 
The Salary/Benefits Committee met February 9th to discuss the salary classification table in 
relation to the Administrative Assistant/Board Clerk position. The committee agreed with 
the reclassification because: 
 

• The position has been changed from part time (3 days/week) to full time. 
 

• The position has expanded beyond what was originally contemplated with the 
addition of purchase order processing for the administration group, managing grant 
funding draws, improvements to plumbing permit process, initiation of the online 
payment platform, remote meeting management, source control billing 
management, real estate sales for compliance tracking under Ordinance 2019, 
codification project, and for the conversion of old website to Streamline and 
continued maintenance of the website.  These changes have all contributed to 
making the Administrative Assistant position of great importance to the District. 
 

• This position was also classified as a “Confidential” position. 
 
 

• Moving the position up one range improves its competitiveness with the added 
responsibilities to the position it is no longer accurate to compare it solely to other 
Administrative Assistant positions.  The position is Administrative Assistant/Board 
Clerk plus purchasing, source control, real estate tracking, codification, web site 

  

168



maintenance, etc.  
 

The position became full time with the start of the pay period beginning January 29, 2023 
and the departure of one of the prior Admin Assistants, Kristina Pacheco, on January 15th. 
 
The July 1, 2022 Classification Titles was last approved by Resolution 2023-08. 
 
 
FUNDING 
 
Change in 2022-23 Budget 
 
  

Current Step E 
 

Recommended 
Step E 

 
% 

Inc 

 
5 months 2023 

Administrative 
Assistant/Board Clerk 

$8,180.76 $8,385.28 2.5% $1,022.60 

 
    

169



                                                RESOLUTION NO. 2023-17
                      DESIGNATING CLASSIFICATION TITLES IN THE
                             CARMEL AREA WASTEWATER DISTRICT
            AND PROVIDING FOR THE NUMBER OF POSITIONS AND
                                          MONTHLY SALARY RANGES

BE IT RESOLVED  by the Board of Directors of the Carmel Area Wastewater District as follows:

Section 1.   That the "Positions", "Classification Titles" and "Salary Ranges and Steps" enumerated
            below are hereby adopted for positions of employment in the Carmel  Area Wastewater District:

                SALARY         STEPS
Positions Range Classification Titles A B C D E

      Administration
1 n/a General Manager
1 26 Principal Accountant 8,615.40 9,046.17 9,498.48 9,973.40 10,472.07
1 17 Administrative Assistant/Board Clerk 6,898.59 7,243.52 7,605.69 7,985.98 8,385.28

     Engineering
1 37 Principal Engineer 12,173.34 12,782.01 13,421.11 14,092.16 14,796.77
1 37 Plant Engineer 12,173.34 12,782.01 13,421.11 14,092.16 14,796.77

     Treatment Plant Operations
1 32 Operations Superintendent 9,991.22 10,490.78 11,015.32 11,566.08 12,144.39
1 32 Maintenance Superintendent 9,991.22 10,490.78 11,015.32 11,566.08 12,144.39
0 31 Associate Engineer 9,747.53 10,234.90 10,746.65 11,283.98 11,848.18
1 26 Operations Supervisor 8,615.40 9,046.17 9,498.48 9,973.40 10,472.07
1 24 Laboratory Supervisor 8,200.26 8,610.28 9,040.79 9,492.83 9,967.47
3 20 Senior Operator 7,429.03 7,800.49 8,190.51 8,600.04 9,030.04
1 19 Safety/Regulatory Compliance Administrator I 7,247.82 7,610.21 7,990.72 8,390.25 8,809.77
2 19 Laboratory Analyst II/Environmental Inspector 7,429.03 7,800.47 8,190.50 8,600.02 9,030.03
1 18 Maintenance Mechanic III 7,247.82 7,610.21 7,990.72 8,390.26 8,809.77
3 17 Plant Operator II 6,898.59 7,243.52 7,605.69 7,985.98 8,385.28
1 17 Purchaser Plant Asset Coordinator 6,898.59 7,243.53 7,605.70 7,985.98 8,385.27
0 16 Laboratory Analyst I/Environmental Inspector 6,730.33 7,066.86 7,420.19 7,791.20 8,180.75
1 15 Maintenance Mechanic II 6,566.18 6,894.49 7,239.21 7,601.17 7,981.22
0 14 Maintenance Worker II 6,406.03 6,726.33 7,062.65 7,415.78 7,786.57
1 12 Plant Operator I 6,097.35 6,402.21 6,722.33 7,058.44 7,411.36
0 12 Maintenance Mechanic I 6,097.35 6,402.21 6,722.33 7,058.44 7,411.36
0 9 Maintenance Worker I 5,662.00 5,945.10 6,242.35 6,554.47 6,882.20

     Collection Maintenance
1 32 Collection System Superintendent 9,991.22 10,490.78 11,015.32 11,566.08 12,144.39
4 18 Collection Worker III 7,247.84 7,610.23 7,990.74 8,390.28 8,809.79
0 11 Collection Worker II 5,948.62 6,246.06 6,558.37 6,886.28 7,230.59
0 6 Collection Worker I 5,257.73 5,520.61 5,796.64 6,086.48 6,390.80
1 6 Collection/Maintenance Utility Worker I 5,257.73 5,520.61 5,796.64 6,086.48 6,390.80

28.0 Total Positions authorized

Section 2.    That salaries paid to occupants of said positions shall be administered in accordance  with 
           Ordinance No. 97-2 titled "Personnel Policies".

Section 3.     The Provisions hereof shall be in force and effect as of January 29, 2023

Section 4.     That this resolution supercedes 23-08 in its entirety.

                           PASSED AND ADOPTED at a regular meetng of the Board of Directors of the Carmel 
           Wastewater District duly held on February 23, 2023, by the following vote:

AYES:                    BOARD MEMBERS:

NOES:                   BOARD MEMBERS:

ABSENT:              BOARD MEMBERS:

ABSTAIN: BOARD MEMBERS: __________________________________________
                                                                             Ken White,  President of the Board

             ATTEST:

___________________________________  
                           Domine Barringer, Secretary to the Board

Negotiated with Board of Directors

170



STAFF REPORT 
 
 
To:  Board of Directors 
 
From:  Chris Foley, Maintenance Superintendent 
 
Date:  February 23, 2023 
 
Subject: Workplace Electric Vehicle Charging Policy 
 
RECOMMENDATION  
 
It is recommended that the Board of Directors adopt a Workplace Electric Vehicle Charging 
Policy and authorize the General Manager to approve the policy.  
 
DISCUSSION  
 
Carmel Area Wastewater District (CAWD) installed Electric Vehicle (EV) Chargers for 
employees at the administrative site and treatment site. The goal is to demonstrate CAWD’s 
commitment to sustainability and environmental leadership.  
 
This is consistent with many other public agencies and businesses. The two EV chargers that 
were installed are a pilot program to develop EV charging infrastructure and policies to 
prepare for the EV future.  
 
Both EV chargers have energy meters that track usage and will be billed to employees who 
choose to charge at work on a quarterly basis. The expected cost that will be billed is $20-$30 
per vehicle per month.  
 
The policy is intended to allow equitable access to electric vehicle charging at work by 
limiting the charging time. The policy will be reviewed on an annual basis as the number of 
electric vehicles increases to ensure that all employees have equal access to EV charges and 
that the costs are monitored.  
 
 
 
FUNDING-N/A- Policy item only 
 

  

171



CARMEL AREA WASTEWATER DISTRICT 

Date Written:                   2/9/2023 
Work Place Electric 

Vehicle Charging Policy 

Author: Chris Foley 
 

Policy No. EV-01 
 Approved By:      
Date Revised/Approved: MM/DD/YY 

Work Place Electric Vehicle Charging Policy 

Parking Spaces with Electric Vehicle (EV) charging stations for plug in EVs are available 
on a first come, first served basis for all employees in accordance with the following Use 
Policy. 

Use Policy: 

• Employees who utilize the EV charging stations must limit charging to no more 
than 4 hours per day for level 2 charging stations.  

• When your charge is complete, move your vehicle so other employees can use 
the charging station.  

• By using the EV charging stations, the EV owner consents for the vehicle to be 
unplugged when the EV charging station indicates that the vehicle is fully 
charged. This will enable vehicles parked in adjacent parking spots to have the 
opportunity to charge.  

• Energy consumption for the EV charging will be tracked and billed to the 
employee on a quarterly basis for the energy consumed at the cost of electricity.  

• Employees who utilize the EV charging system must register their vehicle with 
the District.  

• The District EV chargers are limited to use by employees and not available to 
vendors or contractors or the general public.  

172



RESOLUTION NO. 2023-18 
 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE GENERAL MANAGER TO ADOPT 
A WORKPLACE ELECTRIC VEHICLE CHARGING POLICY 

 
-oOo- 

 
WHEREAS, the District requires an electric vehicle charging policy to 

communicate guidelines for employee usage; and 

WHEREAS, the District has provided a fair and equitable method to 

provide access to electric vehicle charging at work with no cost to the District; 

and 

WHEREAS, the District encourages the use of electric vehicles as a 

sustainable commuting option; and 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the 

Carmel Area Wastewater District, which is convinced by the staff report on 

February 23, 2023, that this policy has merit and hereby authorizes the General 

Manager to approve the electric vehicle charging policy. 

 

PASSED AND ADOPTED at a regular meeting of the Board of Directors of 

the Carmel Area Wastewater District duly held on February 23, 2023, by the 

following vote: 

AYES: BOARD MEMBERS:  
NOES: BOARD MEMBERS: 
ABSENT: BOARD MEMBERS:  
ABSTAIN: BOARD MEMBERS: 

          ______________________________ 

   Ken White, President of the Board 

ATTEST: 

 

_____________________________________ 

Domine Barringer, Secretary to the Board 

173



STAFF REPORT 
 
 
To:  Board of Directors 
 
From:  Barbara Buikema, General Manager 
 
Date:  February 23, 2023 
 
Subject: Designation of Applicant’s Agent Resolution for Non-State  

Agencies for Cal OES 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
It is recommended that the Board of Directors adopt a resolution authorizing the General 
Manager to act as the District’s Authorized Agent to provide the Governor’s Office of 
Emergency Services applications for financial assistance. 
 
 
DISCUSSION 
 
On January 14, 2023, the President declared a major disaster exists in the State of California 
and made federal disaster aid available for local recovery efforts due to storm damage. 
Monterey County was added to the list of eligible California counties on January 17, 2023.  
District staff is in the process of applying for Federal Emergency Management Agency 
(FEMA) and California Office of Emergency Services (Cal OES) financial assistance for the 
Scenic Road emergency. 
 
One of the requirements to be eligible to receive funding is a resolution designating the 
applicant’s agent. Rather than specify the agent’s name, staff recommends title only to 
make it more flexible. The resolution stays in effect for three years from the date of 
approval.  The District went through this process in April 2020  
 
 
FINANCIAL 
 
None at this time. 

 

  

174



175



176



RESOLUTION NO. 2023 – 19 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE GENERAL MANAGER TO ACT AS THE DISTRICT’S 
AUTHORIZED AGENT TO PROVIDE THE GOVERNOR’S OFFICE OF EMERGENCY 

SERVICES APPLICATION FOR FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE 

-oOo- 

WHEREAS, The District has applied to the Federal Emergency Management Agency 
(FEMA) and California office of Emergency Services (Cal OES) for disaster assistance for 
California Severe Winter Storms, Flooding, Landslides, and Mudslides that started in January 
2023, and 

WHEREAS, the District has determined that it is a requirement of Cal OES that the 
District execute Form Cal OES 130 “Designation of Applicant’s Agent Resolution for Non-State 
Agencies” in order to apply for financial assistance; and 

WHEREAS, the District agrees that it is justified in applying for financial assistance and 
in the best interest of the rate payers of the District to participate in financial assistance 
programs; and 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the Carmel Area 
Wastewater District, as follows: 

• The Board authorizes the General Manager to execute for and on behalf of the 
District any application for assistance with FEMA or Cal OES and to file with 
said agencies for relief. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED at a meeting of the Board of Directors of the Carmel Area 
Wastewater District duly held on February 23, 2023 by the following vote: 
 

AYES: BOARD MEMBERS 

NOES: BOARD MEMBERS 

ABSENT: BOARD MEMBERS 

ABSTAIN: BOARD MEMBERS 

      ________________________________________ 
      Ken White, President of the Board 
ATTEST: 

_____________________________________ 

Domine Barringer, Secretary of the Board 

177



STAFF REPORT 
 
 
To:  Board of Directors 
 
From:  Barbara Buikema, General Manager 
 
Date:  February 23, 2023 
 
Subject: Selecting and Appointing Trustees to the District Employees’  

Pension Plan (“Plan”) 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
It is recommended that the Board of Directors adopt a resolution authorizing Execution of 
an Amendment to the Carmel Area Wastewater District Employees’ Trust (aka “Plan”)  to 
change the membership of the Plan Committee as agreed upon 02-23-23. 
 
DISCUSSION 
 
At the District’s January 2023 meeting a request was made to remove Director Rachel and 
add Director Urquhart to the District Employees’ Pension Plan.   
 
According to the plan document, established in 1969 by Resolution No. 843 and last 
restated in 2003 by Resolution 2003-29, the Board has authority to appoint and remove the 
Trustee and the Administrator from time to time as it deems necessary for the proper 
administration of the plan under Section 2.1(a) of the plan document.  The Employer may 
appoint counsel, specialists, advisers, agents (including any nonfiduciary agent) and other 
persons as the Employer deems necessary or desirable in connection with the exercise of its 
fiduciary duties under the Plan.   
 
The Plan requires that the District enter into an agreement between itself and the Plan to 
appoint trustees.  The attached Plan Amendment names all current trustees (Robert 
Wellington, Barbara Buikema, Robert Siegfried and Michael Rachel) and amends the plan 
to make the changes recommended by the Board.  At this time, to formalize said action, we 
request the Board adopt a resolution officially authorizing the change in trustees to satisfy 
our plan requirements. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
N/A 
 

  

178



Exhibit A 
 

AMENDMENT TO THE CARMEL AREA WASTEWATER 
DISTRICT EMPLOYEES’ PENSION TRUST (THE “PLAN”) 

 

 THIS AGREEMENT is entered into by and between the Carmel Area Wastewater 
District (the “Employer”) and Director Michael Rachel, General Manager Barbara 
Buikema, and Legal Counsel Robert R. Wellington (the “Trustees”), as follows: 
 

WITNESSETH THAT: 
 

 WHEREAS, the Employer created a Pension Plan for the exclusive benefit of its 
Employees effective July 1, 1969; and 
  

 WHEREAS, Section 8.01 of Article VIII of said Plan provides that same may be 
amended by the District; and 
 

 WHEREAS, it is deemed advisable by the District to amend the Pension Plan 
effective February 23, 2023, as hereinafter set forth: 
 

 NOW, THEREFORE, the parties hereto agree that the Carmel Area Wastewater 
District Employees’ Pension Plan is hereby amended as follows: 
 

 Director Michael Rachel is hereby removed as trustee, and 
 

Director Kevan Urquhart is hereby added as a trustee hereto. 
 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto affix their signatures this 23rd day of 
February, 2023. 
      CARMEL AREA WASTEWATER DISTRICT 
 
________________________  By: ______________________________________ 
Witness           Ken White, President of the Board   
  
________________________  By: ______________________________________ 
Witness           Director Mike Rachel, Trustee 
________________________  By: _________________________________________ 
Witness          Director Robert Siegfried, Trustee 
________________________  By: _________________________________________ 
Witness           General Manager & Trustee, Barbara Buikema 
________________________  By: ______________________________________ 
Witness          Legal Counsel & Trustee, Rob Wellington 
________________________  By: ______________________________________ 
Witness          Domine Barringer, Secretary of the Board 
 
 

179



RESOLUTION NO. 2023-20 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING EXECUTION OF AN 
AMENDMENT TO THE CARMEL AREA WASTEWATER DISTRICT 

EMPLOYEES’ PENSION TRUST (“PLAN”) 
 

-oOo- 

 WHEREAS, on June 10, 1969, by its Resolution No. 843, the District did approve 

and establish a pension plan for the exclusive financial benefit of its employees; and 

 WHEREAS, amendments to said pension plan must be, and have been 

heretofore approved in agreements between the Employer (Carmel Area Wastewater 

District) and the Trustees under the pension plan. 

 NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Board of Directors and current 

TRUSTEES (Director Rachel, Director Siegfried, General Manager Barbara Buikema, & 

Legal Counsel Robert Wellington) be, and they are hereby authorized and directed to 

execute the Amendment to the Carmel Area Wastewater District Pension Trust, 

effective February 23, 2023, which is attached hereto and market “Exhibit A.” 

 PASSED AND ADOPTED at a regular meeting of the Board of Directors of the 

Carmel Area Wastewater District duly held on February 23, 2023 by the following vote: 

 AYES:  BOARD MEMBERS: 

 NOES: BOARD MEMBERS: 

 ABSENT:  BOARD MEMBERS: 

ABSTAIN:  BOARD MEMBERS: 

      ________________________________ 
      Ken White, President of the Board 
 

ATTEST: 

____________________________________ 
Domine Barringer, Secretary of the Board 

180



General Manager's Report

181



Staff Report 
 
 
 
TO:  Board of Directors 
 
FROM: Barbara Buikema, General Manager 
     
DATE: February 23, 2023 
 
SUBJECT: Summary of General Manager Goals 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
This is in response to the Board’s request in Closed Session on January 26, 2023 to 
summarize my understanding of the goals they have set forth.  This recap was reviewed 
by the Salary & Benefits Committee on February 9, 2023. 
 
DISCUSSION 
 

1. Take two 2-week break periods.  All or portions of the sessions can be spent in 
the extra office with a “do not disturb” sign working on projects (i.e. Employee 
Handbook, Codification, etc.,) or with additional continuing education 

2. Continuing Education – may be an online course 
3. Turn in Committee reports to Committee members first, before placing in board 

packet 
4. Update Retention Policy 
5. Distribute Committee materials at least 48 hours in advance 
6. The Board has consensus on 3.8% COLA for the period July 22 – June 23 

 
FINANCIAL 
 
None at this time 

  

182



183



184



185



186



Other Items Before the Board

187



STAFF REPORT 
 
To:  Board of Directors 
 
From:  Barbara Buikema, General Manager 
 
Date:  February 23, 2023 
 
Subject: Summary of Monterey County Treasurer 

Report dated December 31, 2022  
 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
Action required – requesting acceptance of report. 
 
 
DISCUSSION 
 
The U.S. economy during this period was characterized by strong labor market conditions 
as well as growth in consumer spending and business investments, which were primary 
contributing factors to mitigate the impacts of a possible recession.  Inflation remained 
elevated during the quarter; however, Consumer Price Index (CPI) has moderated for five 
consecutive months from the June peak of 9.1% to the November reading of 7.1%.  Interest 
rates on securities with maturities under 2 years saw the biggest increases during the 
quarter, while 3 to 5 year maturities fell slightly, and longer maturities rose modestly.  The 
yield curve remained near historically negative levels of inversion at year end.  
 
On December 14, 2022, the Federal Open Market Committee (FOMC) voted to raise the 
Federal Funds target rate by 50 basis points (0.50%) to a new range of 4.25% to 4.50%, 
which was a modest down shift following four consecutive 75 basis point (0.75%) increases. 
Rapid decreases in personal consumption may have caused the Federal Reserve to ratchet 
back its tightening plans. 
 
On December 31, 2022, the Monterey County investment portfolio contained an amortized 
book value of $2,927,536,012 spread among 297 separate securities and funds.  The par 
value of those funds was $2,951,545,544 with a market value of $2,847,146,415 or 97% of 
amortized book value.  The portfolio’s net earned income for the period was 1.78%.  The 
portfolio produced an estimated quarterly income of $11,952,629 that will be distributed 
proportionally to all agencies participating in the investment pool.   

  

188



The investment portfolio had a weighted average maturity of 441 days.  The County 
Treasury continues to utilize shorter term debt to provide portfolio liquidity and enhanced 
investment opportunities in the current market environment. 
 

PORTFOLIO CHARACTERISTICS 
 06-30-22 09-30-22 12-31-22 
Total Assets $2,713,566,160 $2,479,457,264 $2,951,545,544 
Market Value $2,638,757,893 $2,382,359,729 $2,847,146,415 
Days to 
Maturity 

482 450 441 

Yield 0.71% 1.06% 1.78% 
Estimated 
Earnings 

$4,603,441 $6,528,970 $11,952,629 

 
The Monterey County Treasurer’s portfolio consists of fixed income investments, all of 
which are authorized by the State of California Government Code §53601. 
 

PORTFOLIO ASSET COMPOSITION 12-31-22 
Corporate Notes 16.6% 
Overnight Liquid Assets 22.6% 
US Treasuries 36.2% 
Federal Agencies 16.1% 
Commercial Paper 2.8% 
Negotiable CDs 3.5% 
Supranationals 2.0% 
Municipal Bonds <0.1% 
Asset Backed Securities <0.1% 
 
Future Strategy:  The Treasury continues to strategically invest matured assets while 
accounting for potential liquidity needs.  As market conditions continue to evolve, the 
portfolio will be actively managed under the established tenets of safety and liquidity 
while seeking to maximize the total rate of return.  
 
The investment portfolio was in compliance with all applicable provisions of state law and 
the adopted Investment Policy contained sufficient liquidity to meet all projected outflows 
over the next six months. 
 
Note:  the Monterey County Treasurer Report is available on the Monterey County 
Treasury website.  
 

189

https://www.co.monterey.ca.us/government/departments-i-z/treasurer-tax-collector/treasury


STAFF REPORT 
 
 
To:  Board of Directors 
 
From:  Barbara Buikema, General Manager 
 
Date:  February 23, 2023 
 
Subject: California public Employee Retirement System (CalPERS) Actuarial Report –

July 1, 2021 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION  
 
 It is recommended that the Board of Directors make a motion to accept the Classic and 
Public Employees’ Pension Reform Act (PEPRA) Actuarial reports.  The report is 
informational only. 
 
 
DISCUSSION  
 
The actuarial reports for the Classic and PEPRA were reviewed by the Pension Committee 
on February 13, 2023.  In the latest CalPERS actuarial valuation reports, as of June 30, 2021 
the District retirement plan funding ratio is as follows: 
 
 Classic (Miscellaneous) PEPRA Miscellaneous 
 06-30-20 06-30-21 06-30-20 06-30-21 
Entry Age Accrued Liability $7,353,724 $8,258,096 $788,000 $1,151,254 
Market Value of Assets $6,395,122 $9,006,224 $707,343 $1,267,478 
UAL (Unfunded Liability) $958,602 <$748,128> $80,657 <$116,224> 
Funded Ratio 87.0% 109.1% 89.8% 110.1% 
 
The District started participation in CalPERS on October 29, 2005.  Currently there are 15 
employees under the Classic Plan.  The CalPERS membership date for those employees 
was effective October 29, 2005.  Those who were at CAWD prior to membership in 
CalPERS maintained their pension in the SAM plan, but on a “frozen” status.  
 
The Classic Plan’s employer annual required contribution (ARC) rate is currently 8.63% of 

  

190



salaries and the employee contribution is 7% of salaries. 
 
The California Public Employees’ Pension Reform Act (PEPRA) became effective on July 1, 
2013 is an effort to reduce financial liability of public agencies and improve long-term 
sustainability of pension plans.  PEPRA lowered pension benefits, removed some benefit 
items, and increased mandatory employee contributions.  There are 13 District employees 
under the PEPRA plan.  The PEPRA plan’s employer ARC rate is currently 7.470% of 
salaries and the employee contribution rate is 6.75% of salaries. 
 
The primary difference between the Classic and the PEPRA plan is that the benefit formula 
for the Classic Plan is 2.0% at 60 or up to 2.418% for age 63 or older.  The PEPRA plan is 2% 
of final compensation at age 62.  Both plans calculate compensation as the highest average 
annual compensation over 36 consecutive months. 
 
The liabilities and required contributions of CalPERS member agencies fluctuate from one 
year to the next based on assumed and realized economic and demographic variables 
including rate of return on investments, payroll growth rate, inflation, and retirement, 
disability, and mortality rates of employees.  The unfunded accrued liability (UAL) is the 
difference between the market value of assets and the discounted valued of future 
liabilities. 
 
For the 2023-24FY the UAL is $0 for the PEPRA Plan. 
For the 2023-24FY the UAL is $0 for the Classic Plan. 
 
FUNDING  
 
No additional funding beyond normal CalPERS contributions required at this time. 
 
 

191



 
California Public Employees’ Retirement System 

Actuarial Office 
400 Q Street, Sacramento, CA 95811 | Phone: (916) 795-3000 | Fax: (916) 795-2744 

888 CalPERS (or 888-225-7377) | TTY: (877) 249-7442 | www.calpers.ca.gov  

 

 

July 2022 
 

Miscellaneous Plan of the Carmel Area Wastewater District (CalPERS ID: 7018407272) 

Annual Valuation Report as of June 30, 2021 

Dear Employer, 

Attached to this letter, you will find the June 30, 2021 actuarial valuation report for the rate plan noted above. Provided 
in this report is the determination of the minimum required employer contributions for fiscal year (FY) 

2023-24. In addition, the report contains important information regarding the current financial status of the plan as 
well as projections and risk measures to aid in planning for the future. 

Because this plan is in a risk pool, the following valuation report has been separated into two sections: 

• Section 1 contains specific information for the plan including the development of the current and projected 
employer contributions, and 

• Section 2 contains the Risk Pool Actuarial Valuation appropriate to the plan as of June 30, 2021. 

Section 2 can be found on the CalPERS website (www.calpers.ca.gov). From the home page, go to “Forms & 
Publications” and select “View All”. In the search box, enter “Risk Pool” and from the results list download the 

Miscellaneous Risk Pool Actuarial Valuation Report for June 30, 2021. 

Your June 30, 2021 actuarial valuation report contains important actuarial information about your pension plan at 

CalPERS. The plan actuary whose signature is in the Actuarial Certification is available to discuss. 

Actuarial valuations are based on assumptions regarding future plan experience including investment return and payroll 

growth, eligibility for the types of benefits provided, and longevity among retirees. The CalPERS Board of Administration 
(board) adopts these assumptions after considering the advice of CalPERS actuarial and investment teams and other 

professionals. Each actuarial valuation reflects all prior differences be tween actual and assumed experience and adjusts 
the contribution requirements as needed. This valuation is based on an investment return assumption of 6.8%, which 

was adopted by the board in November 2021. Other assumptions used in this report are those recommended in the 
CalPERS Experience Study and Review of Actuarial Assumptions report from November 2021.  

Required Contribution 

The table below shows the minimum required employer contributions for FY 2023-24 along with estimates of the 

required contributions for FY 2024-25. Employee contributions other than cost sharing (whether paid by the employer 
or the employee) are in addition to the results shown below. The required employer contributions in this report 

do not reflect any cost sharing arrangement between the agency and the employees. 

Fiscal Year 
Employer Normal 

Cost Rate 

Employer Amortization of 

Unfunded Accrued Liability 

2023-24 10.10% $0 
   

Projected Results   

2024-25 10.1% $0 

  

  

192



Miscellaneous Plan of the Carmel Area Wastewater District 
(CalPERS ID: 7018407272) 

Annual Valuation Report as of June 30, 2021 
Page 2 

 
 

 

The actual investment return for FY 2021-22 was not known at the time this report was prepared. The projections 
above assume the investment return for that year would be 6.8%. To the extent the actual investment return 
for FY 2021-22 differs from 6.8%, the actual contribution requirements for FY 2024-25 will differ from 
those shown above.  For additional details regarding the assumptions and methods used for these projections, 

please refer to the “Projected Employer Contributions” in the “Highlights and Executive Summary” section.  This section 
also contains projected required contributions through FY 2028-29. 

Changes from Previous Year’s Valuation 

On July 12, 2021, CalPERS reported a preliminary 21.3% net return on investments for FY 2020-21. Since the return 

exceeded the 7.00% discount rate sufficiently, the CalPERS Funding Risk Mitigation policy allows CalPERS to use a 
portion of the investment gain to offset the cost of reducing the expected volatility of future investment returns. Based 

on the thresholds specified in the policy, the excess return of 14.3% prescribes a reduction in investment volatility that 
corresponds to a reduction in the discount rate of 0.20%, from 7.00% to 6.80%. 

 
On November 17, 2021, the board adopted new actuarial assumptions based on the recommendations in the November 

2021 CalPERS Experience Study and Review of Actuarial Assumptions. This study reviewed the retirement rates, 
termination rates, mortality rates, rates of salary increases , and inflation assumption for public agencies. These new 

assumptions are incorporated in this actuarial valuation and will impact the required contribution for FY 2023-24. In 
addition, the board adopted a new strategic asset allocation as part of its Asset Liability Management process. The new 

asset allocation along with the new capital market assumptions and economic assumptions support a discount rate of 
6.80%. This includes a reduction in the price inflation assumption from 2.50% to 2.30%. 

 
Besides the above noted changes, there may also be changes specific to the plan such as contract amendments and 

funding changes. 
 

Further descriptions of general changes are included in the “Highlights and Executive Summary” section and in Appendix 
A of the Section 2 report, “Actuarial Methods and Assumptions.” 

 
Questions 
 

We understand that you might have questions about these results , and the plan actuary whose signature is on the 
valuation report is available to discuss. If you have other questions, you may call the Customer Contact Center at (888)-

CalPERS or (888-225-7377). 
 
 
Sincerely, 

 
SCOTT TERANDO, ASA, EA, MAAA, FCA, CFA 
Chief Actuary

193



 
 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 
Actuarial Valuation 
as of June 30, 2021 

 

for the 
 Miscellaneous Plan 

of the 

Carmel Area Wastewater District 
(CalPERS ID: 7018407272) 

 
Required Contributions 

for Fiscal Year 
July 1, 2023 - June 30, 2024

194



 
 

 

 

Table of Contents 

 
Section 1 – Plan Specific Information 

 

Section 2 – Risk Pool Actuarial Valuation Information

195



 
 

 

 

 

Section 1 

C A L I F O R N I A  P U B L I C  E M P L O Y E E S ’  R E T I R E M E N T  S Y S T E M  

 
 

 
Plan Specific Information  

for the 
Miscellaneous Plan 

 of the 

Carmel Area Wastewater District 
 

(CalPERS ID: 7018407272) 
(Rate Plan ID: 5923)

196



 
 

 

 

Rate Plan belonging to the Miscellaneous Risk Pool  
 
 
 
 

Table of Contents 
 

 
 
Actuarial Certification            1 

 

Highlights and Executive Summary 

Introduction 3 
Purpose of Section 1 3 

Required Contributions 4 
Additional Discretionary Employer Contributions 5 

Plan’s Funded Status 6 
Projected Employer Contributions 6 

Other Pooled Miscellaneous Risk Pool Rate Plans 7 
Cost 8 

Changes Since the Prior Year’s Valuation 9 
Subsequent Events 9 

 
 

Assets and Liabilities 

Breakdown of Entry Age Accrued Liability 11 
Allocation of Plan’s Share of Pool’s Experience/Assumption Change 11 

Development of Plan’s Share of Pool’s Market Value of Assets 11 
Schedule of Plan’s Amortization Bases 12 

Amortization Schedule and Alternatives 13 
Employer Contribution History 15 

Funding History 15 
 
 

Risk Analysis 

Future Investment Return Scenarios 17  
Discount Rate Sensitivity 18  

Mortality Rate Sensitivity 18  
Maturity Measures 19  

Maturity Measures History 20  
Hypothetical Termination Liability 21  

 
 

Participant Data          22 
 
List of Class 1 Benefit Provisions        22 

 
Plan’s Major Benefit Options         23 

 
         

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

197



CALPERS ACTUARIAL VALUATION - June 30, 2021 
Miscellaneous Plan of the Carmel Area Wastewater District 

CalPERS ID: 7018407272 

 

Rate Plan belonging to the Miscellaneous Risk Pool Page 1 

 
 

 

Actuarial Certification 
 
To the best of our knowledge, this report, comprising of Sections 1 and 2, is complete and accurate and contains 

sufficient information to disclose, fully and fairly, the funded condition of the  Miscellaneous Plan of the Carmel 
Area Wastewater District and satisfies the actuarial valuation requirements of Government Code section 7504. 

This valuation is based on the member and financial data as of June 30, 2021 provided by the various CalPERS 
databases and the benefits under this plan with CalPERS as of the date this report was produced. Section 1 of 
this report is based on the member and financial data for Carmel Area Wastewater District, while Section 2 is 

based on the corresponding information for all agencies participating in the Miscellaneous Risk Pool to which the 
plan belongs. 

As set forth in Section 2 of this report, the pool actuaries have certified that, in their opinion, the valuation of the 
Miscellaneous Risk Pool has been performed in accordance with generally accepted actuarial principles consistent 

with standards of practice prescribed by the Actuarial Standards Board, and that the assumptions and methods 
are internally consistent and reasonable for the risk pool as of the date of this valuation and as prescribed by the 

CalPERS Board of Administration according to provisions set forth in the California Public Employees’ Retirement 
Law. 

Having relied upon the information set forth in Section 2 of this report and based on the census and benefit 
provision information for the rate plan, it is my opinion as the plan actuary that the Unfunded Accrued Liability 

amortization bases as of June 30, 2021 and employer contribution as of July 1, 2023 have been properly and 
accurately determined in accordance with the principles and standards stated above. 

The undersigned is an actuary who satisfies the Qualification Standards for Actuaries Issuing Statements of 
Actuarial Opinion in the United States with regard to pensions. 

 
 

 

 
ALEX GRUNDER, ASA, MAAA 

Associate Pension Actuary, CalPERS 
 

 
 

  

 

198



 

 
 

 
 

Highlights and Executive Summary 
 

 

• Introduction 

 

• Purpose of Section 1 

 

• Required Contributions 

 

• Additional Discretionary Employer Contributions 

 

• Plan’s Funded Status 

 

• Projected Employer Contributions 

 

• Other Pooled Miscellaneous Risk Pool Rate Plans 

 

• Cost 

 

• Changes Since the Prior Year’s Valuation 

 

• Subsequent Events

199



CALPERS ACTUARIAL VALUATION - June 30, 2021 
Miscellaneous Plan of the Carmel Area Wastewater District 

CalPERS ID: 7018407272  

 

Rate Plan belonging to the Miscellaneous Risk Pool Page 3  

 
 

 

Introduction 

This report presents the results of the June 30, 2021 actuarial valuation of the Miscellaneous Plan of the Carmel 
Area Wastewater District of the California Public Employees’ Retirement System (CalPERS). This  actuarial 

valuation sets the required employer contributions for (FY) 2023-24. 

Purpose of Section 1 

This Section 1 report for the Miscellaneous Plan of the Carmel Area Wastewater District of CalPERS was prepared 

by the plan actuary in order to: 

• Set forth the assets and accrued liabilities of this plan as of June 30, 2021; 
• Determine the minimum required employer contribution for this plan for the FY July 1, 2023 through 

June 30, 2024; and 

• Provide actuarial information as of June 30, 2021 to the CalPERS Board of Administration (board) and 
other interested parties. 

The pension funding information presented in this report should not be used in financial reports subject to 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 68 for a Cost Sharing Employer Defined 

Benefit Pension Plan. A separate accounting valuation report for such purposes is available on the CalPERS 
website (www.calpers.ca.gov). 

The measurements shown in this actuarial valuation may not be applicable for other purposes. The agency 
should contact the plan actuary before disseminating any portion of this report for any reason that is not explicitly 

described above. 

Future actuarial measurements may differ significantly from the current measurements presented in th is report 

due to such factors as the following: plan experience differing from that anticipated by the economic or 
demographic assumptions; changes in economic or demographic assumptions; changes in actuarial policies; 

changes in plan provisions or applicable law; and differences between the required contributions determined by 
the valuation and the actual contributions made by the agency. 

Assessment and Disclosure of Risk 

 
This report includes the following risk disclosures consistent with the recommendations of Actuarial Standards 

of Practice No. 51 and recommended by the California Actuarial Advisory Panel (CAAP) in the Model Disclosure 
Elements document: 

 

• A “Scenario Test,” projecting future results under different investment income returns. 

• A “Sensitivity Analysis,” showing the impact on current valuation results using alternative discount rates 
of 5.8% and 7.8%.  

• A “Sensitivity Analysis,” showing the impact on current valuation results assuming rates of mortality 
are 10% lower or 10% higher than our current post-retirement mortality assumptions adopted in 2021. 

• Plan maturity measures indicating how sensitive a plan may be to the risks noted above. 

200



CALPERS ACTUARIAL VALUATION - June 30, 2021 

Miscellaneous Plan of the Carmel Area Wastewater District 

CalPERS ID: 7018407272  

 

 

Rate Plan belonging to the Miscellaneous Risk Pool Page 4  

 
 

 

Required Contributions 

    Fiscal Year 

Required Employer Contributions  
 

 2023-24 

Employer Normal Cost Rate    10.10% 

Plus     

Required Payment on Amortization Bases1    $0 

  Paid either as     

1) Monthly Payment    $0.00 

  Or     

2) Annual Prepayment Option*    $0 

The total minimum required employer contribution is the sum of the Plan’s Employer Normal Cost Rate 
(expressed as a percentage of payroll and paid as payroll is reported) plus the Employer Unfunded Accrued 
Liability (UAL) Contribution Amount (billed monthly (1) or prepaid annually (2) in dollars). 

* Only the UAL portion of the employer contribution can be prepaid (which must be received in full no 
later than July 31). 

 
 

 Fiscal Year Fiscal Year 

  2022-23  2023-24 

Development of Normal Cost as a Percentage of Payroll     

Base Total Normal Cost for Formula  15.56%  17.03% 

Surcharge for Class 1 Benefits2     

    None  0.00%  0.00% 

Phase out of Normal Cost Difference3  0.00%  0.00% 

Plan’s Total Normal Cost  15.56%  17.03% 

Formula's Expected Employee Contribution Rate  6.93%  6.93% 

Employer Normal Cost Rate  8.63%  10.10% 

     
1 The required payment on amortization bases does not take into account any additional discretionary payment made after  

April 29, 2022. 

2 Section 2 of this report contains a list of Class 1 benefits and corresponding surcharges for each benefit. 

3 The normal cost change is phased out over a five-year period in accordance with the CalPERS contribution allocation policy. 

  

 

  

201



CALPERS ACTUARIAL VALUATION - June 30, 2021 

Miscellaneous Plan of the Carmel Area Wastewater District 

CalPERS ID: 7018407272  

 

 

Rate Plan belonging to the Miscellaneous Risk Pool Page 5  

 
 

Additional Discretionary Employer Contributions 
 

The minimum required employer contribution towards the Unfunded Accrued Liability (UAL) for this rate plan 
for the 2023-24 FY is $0. CalPERS allows agencies to make additional discretionary payments (ADPs) at any time 

and in any amount. These optional payments serve to reduce the UAL and future required contributions and can 
result in significant long-term savings. Agencies can also use ADPs to stabilize annual contributions as a fixed 

dollar amount, percent of payroll or percent of revenue.  
 
Provided below are select ADP options for consideration. Making such an ADP during FY 2023-24 does not 

require an ADP be made in any future year, nor does it change the remaining amortization period of any portion 
of unfunded liability. For information on permanent changes to amortization periods, see the “Amortization 

Schedule and Alternatives” section of the report. 
 

Agencies considering making an ADP should contact CalPERS for additional information.  
 

Minimum Required Employer Contribution for Fiscal Year 2023-24 
 

Estimated 
Normal Cost 

Minimum UAL 
Payment 

ADP Total UAL 
Contribution 

Estimated Total 
Contribution 

$191,039 $0 $0 $0 $191,039 

 
 

   
Alternative Fiscal Year 2023-24 Employer Contributions for Greater UAL Reduction 

 

Funding 

Target 

Estimated 

Normal Cost 

Minimum UAL 

Payment 

ADP1 Total UAL 

Contribution 

Estimated Total 

Contribution 

N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

 

1 The ADP amounts are assumed to be made in the middle of the fiscal year. A payment made earlier or later in the fiscal 
year would have to be less or more than the amount shown to have the same effect on the UAL amortization. 

 
Note that the calculations above are based on the projected Unfunded Accrued Liability as of June 30, 2023 as 

determined in the June 30, 2021 actuarial valuation. New unfunded liabilities can emerge in future years  due to 
assumption or method changes, changes in plan provisions , and actuarial experience different than assumed. 

Making an ADP illustrated above for the indicated number of years will not result in a plan that is exactly 100% 
funded in the indicated number of years. Valuation results will vary from one year to the next and can diverge 

significantly from projections over a period of several years.  

202



CALPERS ACTUARIAL VALUATION - June 30, 2021 

Miscellaneous Plan of the Carmel Area Wastewater District 

CalPERS ID: 7018407272  

 

 

Rate Plan belonging to the Miscellaneous Risk Pool Page 6  

 
 

 

Plan’s Funded Status 

June 30, 2020 June 30, 2021 

1. Present Value of Projected Benefits (PVB)  $9,102,785  $10,715,656 

2. Entry Age Accrued Liability (AL)  7,353,724  8,258,096 

3. Plan’s Market Value of Assets (MVA)  6,395,122  9,006,224 

4. Unfunded Accrued Liability (UAL) [(2) - (3)]  958,602  (748,128) 

5. Funded Ratio [(3) / (2)]  87.0%  109.1% 
 

The UAL and funded ratio are assessments of the need for future employer contributions based on the actuarial 
cost method used to fund the plan. The UAL is the present value of future employer contributions for service 

that has already been earned and is in addition to future normal cost contributions for active members. The 
funded ratio, on the other hand, is a relative measure of funded status that allows f or comparison between 

plans of different sizes. For measures of funded status that are appropriate for assessing the sufficiency of plan 
assets to cover estimated termination liabilities, please see “Hypothetical Termination Liability” in the “Risk 

Analysis” section. 

Projected Employer Contributions 

The table below shows the required and projected employer contributions (before cost sharing) for the next six 

fiscal years. The projection assumes that all actuarial assumptions will be realized and that no further changes 
to assumptions, contributions, benefits, or funding will occur during the projection period. In particular, the 

investment return beginning with FY 2021-22 is assumed to be 6.80% per year, net of investment and 
administrative expenses. Actual contribution rates during this projection period could be significantly higher or 

lower than the projection shown below. Future contribution requirements may differ significantly from those 
shown below. The actual long-term cost of the plan will depend on the actual benefits and expenses paid and 

the actual investment experience of the fund. 
 

 
Required 

Contribution 
Projected Future Employer Contributions 

(Assumes 6.80% Return for Fiscal Year 2021-22 and Beyond) 

Fiscal Year 2023-24 2024-25 2025-26 2026-27 2027-28 2028-29 

 Rate Plan 5923 Results 

Normal Cost % 10.10% 10.1% 10.1% 10.1% 10.1% 10.1% 

UAL Payment $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 

For some sources of UAL, the change in UAL is amortized using a 5-year ramp up. For more information, please 

see “Amortization of the Unfunded Actuarial Accrued Liability” under “Actuarial Methods” in Appendix A of the 
Section 2 Report. This method phases in the impact of the change in UAL over a 5-year period in order to reduce 

employer cost volatility from year to year. As a result of this methodology, dramatic changes in the required 
employer contributions in any one year are less likely. However, required contributions can change gradually 

and significantly over the next five years. In years when there is a large increase in UAL, the relatively small 
amortization payments during the ramp up period could result in a funded ratio that is projected to decrease 

initially while the contribution impact of the increase in the UAL is phased in.  
 

For projected contributions under alternate investment return scenarios, please see the “Future Investment 
Return Scenarios” in the “Risk Analysis” section. 

Our online pension plan projection tool, Pension Outlook, is available in the Employers section of the CalPERS 
website. Pension Outlook can help plan and budget pension costs under various scenarios.

203



CALPERS ACTUARIAL VALUATION - June 30, 2021 

Miscellaneous Plan of the Carmel Area Wastewater District 

CalPERS ID: 7018407272  

 

Rate Plan belonging to the Miscellaneous Risk Pool Page 7  

 
 

Other Pooled Miscellaneous Risk Pool Rate Plans 

 

All of the results presented in this Section 1 report, except those shown below, correspond to rate plan 5923. 
In many cases, employers have additional rate plans within the same risk pool. For cost analysis and budgeting 

it is useful to consider contributions for these rate plans as a whole rather than individually. The estimated 
contribution amounts and rates for all of the employer’s rate plans in the Miscellaneous Risk Pool are shown 

below and assume that the payroll for each rate plan will grow according to the overall payroll growth assumption 
of 2.80% per year for three years. 

 
 Fiscal Year Fiscal Year 

  2022-23  2023-24 
     

Estimated Combined Employer Contributions for all Pooled Miscellaneous Rate Plans 

Projected Payroll for the Contribution Year  $2,924,586   $3,157,551  

Estimated Employer Normal Cost  $239,298  $288,274 

Required Payment on Amortization Bases  $9,982  $0 

Estimated Total Employer Contributions  $249,280  $288,274 

Estimated Total Employer Contribution Rate (illustrative only)  8.52%  9.13% 
 

204



CALPERS ACTUARIAL VALUATION - June 30, 2021 

Miscellaneous Plan of the Carmel Area Wastewater District 

CalPERS ID: 7018407272  

 

Rate Plan belonging to the Miscellaneous Risk Pool Page 8  

 
 

Cost 
 

Actuarial Determination of Plan Cost  
 

 
Contributions to fund the plan are comprised of two components: 

 

• Normal Cost, expressed as a percentage of total active payroll 
• Amortization of the Unfunded Accrued Liability (UAL), expressed as a dollar amount 

 

For fiscal years prior to 2016-17, the Amortization of UAL component was expressed as a percentage of total 
active payroll. Starting with FY 2016-17, the Amortization of UAL component was expressed as a dollar amount 

and invoiced on a monthly basis. There continues to be an option to prepay this amount during July of each 
fiscal year. 
 

The Normal Cost component is expressed as a percentage of active payroll with employer and employee 
contributions payable as part of the regular payroll reporting process.  

 
The determination of both components requires complex actuarial calculations. The calculations are based on a 

set of actuarial assumptions which can be divided into two categories: 
 

• Demographic assumptions (e.g., mortality rates, retirement rates, employment termination rates, 

disability rates) 

• Economic assumptions (e.g., future investment earnings, inflation, salary growth rates) 

 
These assumptions reflect CalPERS’ best estimate of future experience of the plan and are long term in nature. 

We recognize that all assumptions will not be realized in any given year. For example, the investment earnings 
at CalPERS have averaged 6.9% over the 20 years ending June 30, 2021, yet individual fiscal year returns have 

ranged from -23.6% to +21.3%. In addition, CalPERS reviews all actuarial assumptions by conducting in-depth 
experience studies every four years, with the most recent experience study completed in 2021. 

205



CALPERS ACTUARIAL VALUATION - June 30, 2021 

Miscellaneous Plan of the Carmel Area Wastewater District 

CalPERS ID: 7018407272  

 

Rate Plan belonging to the Miscellaneous Risk Pool Page 9  

 
 

Changes Since the Prior Year’s Valuation 

Benefits 

 
The standard actuarial practice at CalPERS is to recognize mandated legislative benefit changes in the first 

annual valuation following the effective date of the legislation. Voluntary benefit changes by plan amendment 
are generally included in the first valuation that is prepared after the amendment becomes effective, even if the 

valuation date is prior to the effective date of the amendment. 
 
This valuation generally reflects plan changes by amendments effective before the date of the report. Please 

refer to the “Plan’s Major Benefit Options” and Appendix B of the Section 2 Report for a summary of the plan 
provisions used in this valuation. 

 
Actuarial Methods and Assumptions 

 
On November 17, 2021, the board adopted new actuarial assumptions based on the recommendations in the 

2021 CalPERS Experience Study and Review of Actuarial Assumptions. This study reviewed the retirement rates, 
termination rates, mortality rates, rates of salary increases, and inflation assumption for Public Agencies. These 

new assumptions are incorporated in this actuarial valuation and will impact the require d contribution for FY 
2023-24. In addition, the board adopted a new asset portfolio as part of its Asset Liability Management process. 

The new asset mix supports a 6.80% discount rate, which reflects a change in the price inflation assumption to 
2.30%. 

Subsequent Events 

The contribution requirements determined in this actuarial valuation report are based on demographic and 
financial information as of June 30, 2021. Changes subsequent to that date are not reflected. Investment returns 

below the assumed rate of return may increase future required contributions  while investment returns above 
the assumed rate of return may decrease future required contributions. 

 
The projected employer contributions on Page 6 are calculated under the assumption that the discount rate 

remains at 6.8% going forward and that the realized rate of return on assets for FY 2021-22 is 6.8%. 
 

This actuarial valuation report reflects statutory changes, regulatory changes and board actions through January 
2022. Any subsequent changes or actions are not reflected. 

206



 

 

 
 

 
 

Assets and Liabilities 
 

 

• Breakdown of Entry Age Accrued Liability 

 

• Allocation of Plan’s Share of Pool’s Experience/Assumption Change  

 

• Development of Plan’s Share of Pool’s Market Value of Assets 

 

• Schedule of Plan’s Amortization Bases 

 

• Amortization Schedule and Alternatives 

 

• Employer Contribution History 

 

• Funding History

207



CALPERS ACTUARIAL VALUATION - June 30, 2021 
Miscellaneous Plan of the Carmel Area Wastewater District 

CalPERS ID: 7018407272  

 

Rate Plan belonging to the Miscellaneous Risk Pool Page 11 

 
 

 

Breakdown of Entry Age Accrued Liability 

 Active Members $4,654,162 

 Transferred Members 429,044 

 Terminated Members 626,446 

 Members and Beneficiaries Receiving Payments 2,548,444 

 Total $8,258,096 
 

 

Allocation of Plan’s Share of Pool’s 

Experience/Assumption Change 

It is the policy of CalPERS to ensure equity within the risk pools by allocating the pool’s experience 
gains/losses and assumption changes in a manner that treats each employer equitably and maintains benefit 
security for the members of the System while minimizing substantial variations in employer contributions. 

The Pool’s experience gains/losses and impact of assumption/method changes is allocated to the plan as 
follows: 

 
1. Plan’s Accrued Liability $8,258,096 

2. Projected UAL balance at 6/30/2021 224,380 

3. Pool’s Accrued Liability1 20,794,529,023 

4. Sum of Pool’s Individual Plan UAL Balances at 6/30/20211 4,597,734,264 

5. Pool’s 2020/21 Investment (Gain)/Loss1 (2,338,185,055) 

6. Pool’s 2020/21 Non-Investment (Gain)/Loss1 (84,077,623) 

7. Plan’s Share of Pool’s Investment (Gain)/Loss: [(1) - (2)] ÷ [(3) - (4)] × (5) (1,159,755) 

8. Plan’s Share of Pool’s Non-Investment (Gain)/Loss: (1) ÷ (3) × (6) (33,390) 

9. Plan’s New (Gain)/Loss as of 6/30/2021: (7) + (8) (1,193,145) 

10. Increase in Pool’s Accrued Liability due to Change in Assumptions1 60,407,898 

11. Plan’s Share of Pool’s Change in Assumptions: (1) ÷ (3) × (10) 23,990 

12. Increase in Pool’s Accrued Liability due to Funding Risk Mitigation1 495,172,731 

13. Plan’s Share of Pool’s Change due to Funding Risk Mitigation: (1) ÷ (3) × (12) 196,647 

14. Offset due to Funding Risk Mitigation (222,150) 

15. Plan’s Net Investment (Gain): (7) – (14) (937,605) 

 
1 Does not include plans that transferred to Pool on the valuation date. 

 

Development of the Plan’s Share of Pool’s Market 

Value of Assets 

16.  Plan’s UAL: (2) + (9) + (11) + (13) ($748,128) 

17. Plan’s Share of Pool’s MVA: (1) - (16) $9,006,224 

 

 

  

208



CALPERS ACTUARIAL VALUATION - June 30, 2021 
Miscellaneous Plan of the Carmel Area Wastewater District 

CalPERS ID: 7018407272  

 

Rate Plan belonging to the Miscellaneous Risk Pool       Page 12 

 
 

Schedule of Plan’s Amortization Bases 

Note that there is a two-year lag between the valuation date and the start of the contribution fiscal year.  

• The assets, liabilities, and funded status of the plan are measured as of the valuation date: June 30, 2021. 

• The required employer contributions determined by the valuation are for the fiscal year beginning two years after the valuation date: FY 2023-24. 

This two-year lag is necessary due to the amount of time needed to extract and test the membership and financial data, and the need to provide pub lic agencies with 

their required employer contribution well in advance of the start of the fiscal year.  

The Unfunded Accrued Liability (UAL) is used to determine the employer contribution and therefore must be rolled forward two years from the valuation da te to the first 

day of the fiscal year for which the contribution is being determined. The UAL is rolled forward each year by subtracting the expected payment on the UAL for the fiscal 
year and adjusting for interest. The expected payment for the first fiscal year is determined by the actuarial valuation two years ago and the contribution for the second 

year is from the actuarial valuation one year ago. Additional discretionary payments are reflected in the Expected Payments column in the fiscal year they were made by 
the agency. 

 Reason for Base 
Date 
Est. 

Ramp 
Level 

2023-24 
Ramp 
Shape 

Escala-
tion 
Rate 

Amort. 
Period 

Balance 
6/30/21 

Expected 
Payment   
2021-22 

Balance 
6/30/22 

Expected 
Payment   
2022-23 

Balance 
6/30/23 

Minimum 
Required 
Payment   
2023-24 

Fresh Start 6/30/21   N/A (748,128) (23,740) (774,467) (18,120) (808,405) 0 

Total     (748,128) (23,740) (774,467) (18,120) (808,405) 0 

The (gain)/loss bases are the plan’s allocated share of the risk pool’s (gain)/loss for the fiscal year as disclosed in “Allo cation of Plan’s Share of Pool’s Experience/Assumption 
Change” earlier in this section. These (gain)/loss bases will be amortized in accordance with the CalPERS amortization policy  in effect at the time the base was established. 
 

209



CALPERS ACTUARIAL VALUATION - June 30, 2021 
Miscellaneous Plan of the Carmel Area Wastewater District 

CalPERS ID: 7018407272  

 

Rate Plan belonging to the Miscellaneous Risk Pool      
 Page 13 

 
 

 

Amortization Schedule and Alternatives 

The amortization schedule on the previous page(s) shows the minimum contributions required according to the CalPERS 
amortization policy. Many agencies have expressed a desire for a more stable pattern of payments or have indicated interest 

in paying off the unfunded accrued liabilities more quickly than required. As such, we have provided alternative amortization 
schedules to help analyze the current amortization schedule and illustrate the potential savings of accelerating unfunded 

liability payments.   
 

Shown on the following page are future year amortization payments based on 1) the current amortization schedule reflecting 
the individual bases and remaining periods shown on the previous page, and 2) alternative “fresh start” amortization schedules 

using two sample periods that would both result in interest savings relative to the current amortization schedule.  To initiate 
a Fresh Start, please contact the plan actuary. 

 
The Current Amortization Schedule typically contains both positive and negative bases. Positive bases result from plan 

changes, assumption changes, method changes or plan experience that increase unfunded liability. Negative bases result 
from plan changes, assumption changes, method changes, or plan experience that decrease unfunded liability. The 

combination of positive and negative bases within an amortization schedule can result in unusual or problematic circumstances 
in future years, such as: 

 

• When a negative payment would be required on a positive unfunded actuarial liability; or 
• When the payment would completely amortize the total unfunded liability in a very short time period, and results in 

a large change in the employer contribution requirement. 

 
In any year when one of the above scenarios occurs, the actuary will consider corrective action such as replacing the existing 

unfunded liability bases with a single “fresh start” base and amortizing it over an appropriate period.  
 

The Current Amortization Schedule on the following page may appear to show that, based on the current amortization bases, 
one of the above scenarios will occur at some point in the future.  It is impossible to know today whether such a scenario will 

in fact arise since there will be additional bases added to the amortization schedule in each future year. Should such a scenario 
arise in any future year, the actuary will take appropriate action based on guidelines in the CalPERS amortization policy.   

210



CALPERS ACTUARIAL VALUATION - June 30, 2021 
Miscellaneous Plan of the Carmel Area Wastewater District 

CalPERS ID: 7018407272  

 

Rate Plan belonging to the Miscellaneous Risk Pool      
 Page 14 

 
 

Amortization Schedule and Alternatives (continued) 

 

  Alternate Schedules 

 
Current Amortization  

Schedule 
N/A Year Amortization N/A Year Amortization 

Date Balance Payment Balance Payment Balance Payment 

6/30/2023 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

6/30/2024       

6/30/2025       

6/30/2026       

6/30/2027       

6/30/2028       

6/30/2029       

6/30/2030       

6/30/2031       

6/30/2032       

6/30/2033       

6/30/2034       

6/30/2035       

6/30/2036       

6/30/2037       

6/30/2038       

6/30/2039       

6/30/2040       

6/30/2041       

6/30/2042       

6/30/2043       

6/30/2044       

6/30/2045       

6/30/2046       

6/30/2047       

6/30/2048       

6/30/2049       

6/30/2050       

6/30/2051       

6/30/2052       

       

Total  N/A  N/A  N/A 

Interest Paid N/A  N/A  N/A 

Estimated Savings   N/A  N/A 

211



CALPERS ACTUARIAL VALUATION - June 30, 2021 
Miscellaneous Plan of the Carmel Area Wastewater District 

CalPERS ID: 7018407272  

 

Rate Plan belonging to the Miscellaneous Risk Pool Page 15 
 

       
 

 

Employer Contribution History 

The table below provides a recent history of the required employer contributions for the plan.  The amounts are 

based on the actuarial valuation from two years prior and does not account for prepayments or benefit changes 
made during a fiscal year. Additional discretionary payments before July 1, 2019 or after June 30, 2021 are not 

included. 
 

[  

Fiscal 

Year 

Employer 

Normal Cost 

Unfunded Liability 

Payment ($) 

Additional Discretionary 

Payments 

2016 - 17 7.159% $0 N/A 

2017 - 18 7.200% 7,110 N/A 

2018 - 19 7.634% 13,511 N/A 

2019 - 20 8.081% 19,893 0 

2020 - 21 8.794% 30,706 725,000 

2021 - 22 8.65% 45,884  

2022 - 23 8.63% 9,274  

2023 - 24 10.10% 0  

 

Funding History 

The table below shows the recent history of the actuarial accrued liability, share of the pool’s market value of 

assets, unfunded accrued liability, funded ratio, and annual covered payroll. 

 

 

Valuation 
Date 

 

 
 

Accrued 

Liability 
(AL) 

 

Share of Pool’s 

Market Value of 
Assets (MVA) 

 

Unfunded 

Accrued 
Liability (UAL) 

 

Funded 
Ratio 

 

 
 

Annual 

Covered 
Payroll 

06/30/2012  $2,549,434  $2,034,807  $514,627 79.8%  $1,852,453 

06/30/2013  3,359,049  2,832,203  526,846 84.3%  1,599,299 

06/30/2014  3,872,495  3,444,687  427,808 89.0%  1,627,751 

06/30/2015  4,382,102  4,287,596  94,506 97.8%  1,689,374 

06/30/2016  4,830,671  4,369,389  461,282 90.5%  1,468,922 

06/30/2017  5,525,619  5,115,345  410,274 92.6%  1,568,613 

06/30/2018  6,285,834  5,657,871  627,963 90.0%  1,734,679 

06/30/2019  6,760,977  6,021,439  739,538 89.1%  1,593,438 

06/30/2020  7,353,724  6,395,122  958,602 87.0%  1,655,395 

06/30/2021  8,258,096  9,006,224  (748,128) 109.1%  1,741,086 

 

212



 

 

 

Risk Analysis 

• Future Investment Return Scenarios 

 

• Discount Rate Sensitivity 

 

• Mortality Rate Sensitivity 

 

• Maturity Measures 

 

• Maturity Measures History 

 

• Hypothetical Termination Liability

213



CalPERS Actuarial Valuation – June 30, 2021 
Miscellaneous Plan of the Carmel Area Wastewater District 

CalPERS ID: 7018407272 

 

 
 

 

 Page 17 

Future Investment Return Scenarios 

Analysis using the investment return scenarios from the Asset Liability Management process completed in 

2021 was performed to determine the effects of various future investment returns on required employer 
contributions. The projections below reflect the impact of the CalPERS Funding Risk Mitigation policy.  The 

projections also assume that all other actuarial assumptions will be realized and that no further changes in 
assumptions, contributions, benefits, or funding will occur.  

 
The first table shows projected contribution requirements if the fund were to earn either 3.0% or 10.8% 
annually. These alternate investment returns were chosen because 90% of long-term average returns are 

expected to fall between them over the 20-year period ending June 30, 2041.  

 
Required contributions outside of this range are also possible. In particular, whereas it is unlikely that 

investment returns will average less than 3.0% or greater than 10.8% over a 20 -year period, the likelihood 
of a single investment return less than 3.0% or greater than 10.8% in any given year is much greater. The 

following analysis illustrates the effect of an extreme, single year investment return.  
 

The portfolio has an expected volatility (or standard deviation) of 12.0% per year. Accordingly, in any given 
year there is a 16% probability that the annual return will be -5.2% or less and a 2.5% probability that the 

annual return will be -17.2% or less. These returns represent one and two standard deviations below the 
expected return of 6.8%. 

 
The following table shows the effect of a one or two standard deviation investment loss in FY 2021-22 on the 

FY 2024-25 contribution requirements. Note that a single-year investment gain or loss decreases or increases 
the required UAL contribution amount incrementally for each of the next five years, not just one, due to the 

5-year ramp in the amortization policy. However, the contribution requirements beyond the first year are also 
impacted by investment returns beyond the first year. Historically, significant downturns in the market are 

often followed by higher than average returns. Such investment gains would offset the impact of these single 
year negative returns in years beyond FY 2024-25. 

 

Assumed Annual Return for 

Fiscal Year 2021-22 

Required 
Employer 

Contributions 

Projected 
Employer 

Contributions 

2023-24 2024-25 

(17.2)% (2 standard deviation loss)   

    Normal Cost Rate 10.10% 10.1% 

    UAL Contribution $0 $35,000 

(5.2)% (1 standard deviation loss)     

    Normal Cost Rate 10.10% 10.1% 

    UAL Contribution $0 $8,000 

 

• Without investment gains (returns higher than 6.8%) in year FY 2022-23 or later, projected 
contributions rates would continue to rise over the next four years due to the continued phase-in of 

the impact of the illustrated investment loss in FY 2021-22. 

• The Pension Outlook Tool can be used to model projected contributions for these scenarios beyond 
FY 2024-25 as well as to model other investment return scenarios.

Assumed Annual Return 

 FY 2021-22 
through 2040-41 

Projected Employer Contributions 

2024-25 2025-26 2026-27 2027-28 2028-29 

3.0% (5th percentile)      

    Normal Cost Rate 10.1% 10.1% 10.1% 10.1% 10.1% 

    UAL Contribution $0 $0 $6,500 $22,000 $47,000 

10.8% (95th percentile)           

    Normal Cost Rate 10.3% 10.5% 10.7% 11.0% 11.2% 

    UAL Contribution $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 

214



CalPERS Actuarial Valuation – June 30, 2021 
Miscellaneous Plan of the Carmel Area Wastewater District 

CalPERS ID: 7018407272 

 

Rate Plan belonging to the Miscellaneous Risk Pool Page 18 

 
 

Discount Rate Sensitivity 
 

The discount rate assumption is calculated as the sum of the assumed real rate of return and the  assumed 
annual price inflation, currently 4.5% and 2.3%, respectively. Changing either the price inflation assumption or 

the real rate of return assumption will change the discount rate. The sensitivity of the valuation results to the 
discount rate assumption depends on which component of the discount rate is changed. Shown below are 

various valuation results as of June 30, 2021 assuming alternate discount rates by changing the two components 
independently. Results are shown using the current discount rate of 6.8% as well as alternate disco unt rates of 

5.8% and 7.8%. The rates of 5.8% and 7.8% were selected since they illustrate the impact of a 1.0% increase 
or decrease to the 6.8% assumption.  

 
Sensitivity to the Real Rate of Return Assumption 

 

As of June 30, 2021 
1% Lower 

Real Return Rate 

Current 

Assumptions 

1% Higher 

Real Return Rate 

Discount Rate 5.8% 6.8% 7.8% 

Inflation 2.3% 2.3% 2.3% 
Real Rate of Return 3.5% 4.5% 5.5% 

a) Total Normal Cost 21.31% 17.03% 13.75% 
b) Accrued Liability $9,510,987 $8,258,096 $7,227,584 

c) Market Value of Assets $9,006,224 $9,006,224 $9,006,224 
d) Unfunded Liability/(Surplus) [(b) - (c)] $504,763 ($748,128) ($1,778,640) 

e) Funded Ratio 94.7% 109.1% 124.6% 

 

Sensitivity to the Price Inflation Assumption  
 

As of June 30, 2021 
1% Lower 

Inflation Rate 
Current 

Assumptions 
1% Higher 

Inflation Rate 

Discount Rate 5.8% 6.8% 7.8% 

Inflation 1.3% 2.3% 3.3% 
Real Rate of Return 4.5% 4.5% 4.5% 

a) Total Normal Cost 17.90% 17.03% 15.49% 
b) Accrued Liability $8,585,251 $8,258,096 $7,570,186 

c) Market Value of Assets $9,006,224 $9,006,224 $9,006,224 
d) Unfunded Liability/(Surplus) [(b) - (c)] ($420,973) ($748,128) ($1,436,038) 

e) Funded Ratio 104.9% 109.1% 119.0% 

Mortality Rate Sensitivity 

The following table looks at the change in the June 30, 2021 plan costs and funded status under two different 

longevity scenarios, namely assuming post-retirement rates of mortality are 10% lower or 10% higher than our 
current mortality assumptions adopted in 2021. This type of analysis highlights the impact on the plan of 

improving or worsening mortality over the long-term. 

 

As of June 30, 2021 10% Lower 

Mortality Rates 

Current 

Assumptions 

10% Higher 

Mortality Rates 

a) Total Normal Cost 17.35% 17.03% 16.73% 

b) Accrued Liability $8,435,133   $8,258,096 $8,095,040 
c) Market Value of Assets $9,006,224 $9,006,224 $9,006,224 

d) Unfunded Liability/(Surplus) [(b) - (c)] ($571,091) ($748,128) ($911,184) 
e) Funded Ratio 106.8% 109.1% 111.3% 

  

215



CalPERS Actuarial Valuation – June 30, 2021 
Miscellaneous Plan of the Carmel Area Wastewater District 

CalPERS ID: 7018407272 

 

Rate Plan belonging to the Miscellaneous Risk Pool Page 19 

 
 

Maturity Measures 

As pension plans mature they become more sensitive to risks. Understanding plan maturity and how it affects 

the ability of a pension plan sponsor to tolerate risk is important in understanding how the pension plan is 
impacted by investment return volatility, other economic variables and changes in longevity or other 

demographic assumptions. Since it is the employer that bears the risk, it is appropriate to perform this analysis 
on a pension plan level considering all rate plans. The following measures are for one rate plan only. 

One way to look at the maturity level of CalPERS and its plans is to look at the ratio of a plan’s retiree liability 
to its total liability. A pension plan in its infancy will have a very low ratio of retiree liability to total liability.  As 
the plan matures, the ratio starts increasing. A mature plan will often have a ratio above 60%-65%. 

Ratio of Retiree Accrued Liability to 
Total Accrued Liability 

June 30, 2020 June 30, 2021 

   
1. Retired Accrued Liability $2,436,226 $2,548,444 

2. Total Accrued Liability 7,353,724 8,258,096 

3. Ratio of Retiree AL to Total AL [(1) / (2)]  0.33 0.31 

Another measure of maturity level of CalPERS and its plans is to look at the ratio of actives to retirees, also 

called the support ratio. A pension plan in its infancy will have a very high ratio of active to retired members. As 
the plan matures and members retire, the ratio declines. A mature plan will often have a ratio near or below 

one. 

To calculate the support ratio for the rate plan, retirees and beneficiaries receiving a continuance are each 

counted as one, even though they may have only worked a portion of their caree rs as an active member of this 
rate plan. For this reason, the support ratio, while intuitive, may be less informative than the ratio of retiree 

liability to total accrued liability above. For comparison, the support ratio for all CalPERS public agency plans is 
0.82 and is calculated consistently with how it is for the individual rate plan. Note that to calculate the support 

ratio for all public agency plans, a retiree with service from more than one CalPERS agency is counted as a 
retiree more than once. 

Support Ratio June 30, 2020 June 30, 2021 

   
1. Number of Actives 15 15 

2. Number of Retirees 11 12 

3. Support Ratio [(1) / (2)]  1.36 1.25 

 

216



CalPERS Actuarial Valuation – June 30, 2021 
Miscellaneous Plan of the Carmel Area Wastewater District 

CalPERS ID: 7018407272 

 

Rate Plan belonging to the Miscellaneous Risk Pool Page 20 

 
 

Maturity Measures (Continued)  

The actuarial calculations supplied in this communication are based on various assumptions about long-term 

demographic and economic behavior. Unless these assumptions (e.g., terminations, deaths, disabilities, 
retirements, salary growth, investment return) are exactly realized each year, there will be differences on a 

year-to-year basis. The year-to-year differences between actual experience and the assumptions are called 
actuarial gains and losses and serve to lower or raise required employer contributions from one year to the 

next. Therefore, employer contributions will inevitably fluctuate, especially due to the ups and downs of 
investment returns. 

Asset Volatility Ratio 

Shown in the table below is the asset volatility ratio (AVR), which is the ratio of market value of assets to payroll.  
Plans that have higher AVR experience more volatile employer contributions (as a percentage of payroll) due to 

investment return. For example, a plan with an asset-to-payroll ratio of 8 may experience twice the contribution 
volatility due to investment return volatility than a plan with an asset-to-payroll ratio of 4. It should be noted 

that this ratio is a measure of the current situation. It increases over time but generally tends to stabilize as the 
plan matures. 

Liability Volatility Ratio 

Also shown in the table below is the liability volatility ratio (LVR), which is the ratio of accrued liability to payroll. 

Plans that have a higher LVR experience more volatile employer contributions (as a percentage of payroll) due 
to changes in liability. For example, a plan with LVR ratio of 8 is expected to have twice the contribution volatility 

of a plan with LVR of 4. It should be noted that this ratio indicates a longer-term potential for contribution 
volatility, since the AVR, described above, will tend to move closer to the LVR as the funded ratio approaches 

100%. 
 

Contribution Volatility June 30, 2020 June 30, 2021 

   
1. Market Value of Assets  $6,395,122  $9,006,224 

2. Payroll  1,655,395  1,741,086 

3. Asset Volatility Ratio (AVR) [(1) / (2)]  3.9  5.2 

4. Accrued Liability  $7,353,724  $8,258,096 

5. Liability Volatility Ratio (LVR) [(4) / (2)]  4.4  4.7 

 

Maturity Measures History 

 

Valuation Date 

Ratio of 

Retiree Accrued Liability  
to 

Total Accrued Liability 

Support 
Ratio 

Asset 

Volatility 
Ratio 

Liability 

Volatility 
Ratio 

     
06/30/2017 

 

0.40 

 

1.60 

 

3.3 

 

3.5 

 06/30/2018 

 

0.37 

 

1.70 

 

3.3 

 

3.6 

 06/30/2019 

 

0.34 

 

1.50 

 

3.8 

 

4.2 

 06/30/2020 

 

0.33 

 

1.36 

 

3.9 

 

4.4 

 06/30/2021 

 

0.31 

 

1.25 

 

5.2 

 

4.7 

  

217



CalPERS Actuarial Valuation – June 30, 2021 
Miscellaneous Plan of the Carmel Area Wastewater District 

CalPERS ID: 7018407272 

 

Rate Plan belonging to the Miscellaneous Risk Pool Page 21 

 
 

Hypothetical Termination Liability 

The hypothetical termination liability is an estimate of the financial position of the plan had the contract with 

CalPERS been terminated as of June 30, 2021. The plan liability on a termination basis is calculated differently 
compared to the plan’s ongoing funding liability. For the hypothetical termination liability calculation, both 

compensation and service are frozen as of the valuation date and no future pay increases or service accruals 
are assumed. This measure of funded status is not appropriate for assessing the need for future employer 

contributions in the case of an ongoing plan, that is, for an employer that continues to provide CalPERS 
retirement benefits to active employees. 

A more conservative investment policy and asset allocation strategy was adopted by the board for the 

Terminated Agency Pool. The Terminated Agency Pool has limited funding sources since no future employer 
contributions will be made. Therefore, expected benefit payments are secured by risk-free assets and benefit 

security for members is increased while limiting the funding risk. However, this asset allocation has a lower 
expected rate of return than the PERF and consequently, a  lower discount rate is assumed. The lower discount 

rate for the Terminated Agency Pool results in higher liabilities for terminated plans. 

The effective termination discount rate will depend on actual market rates of return for risk-free securities on 

the date of termination. As market discount rates are variable, the table below shows a range for the hypothetical 
termination liability based on the lowest and highest interest rates observed during an approximate 19 -month 

period from 12 months before the valuation date to seven months after. 
 

 
Market 

Value of  
Assets (MVA) 

Hypothetical 
Termination 

   Liability1,2 

 at 1.00% 

Funded  

Ratio 

Unfunded 
Termination 

Liability 
at 1.00% 

Hypothetical 
Termination 

    Liability1,2 
 at 2.25% 

Funded 

Ratio 

Unfunded 
Termination 

Liability 
at 2.25% 

$9,006,224 $18,874,418 47.7% $9,868,194 $15,338,999 58.7% $6,332,775 

 
1 The hypothetical liabilities calculated above include a 5% contingency load. The contingency load and other actuarial 

assumptions can be found in Appendix A. 
 

2 The discount rate used for termination valuations is a weighted average of the 10-year and 30-year U.S. Treasury yields 
where the weights are based on matching asset and liability durations as of the termination date. The discount rates 
used in the table are based on 20-year Treasury bonds, rounded to the nearest quarter percentage point, which is a 
good proxy for most plans. The 20-year Treasury yield was 2.00% on June 30, 2021, the valuation date. 

 
In order to terminate the plan, first contact our Pension Contract Services unit to initiate a Resolution of Intent 

to Terminate. The completed Resolution will allow the plan actuary to provide a preliminary termination valuation 
with a more up-to-date estimate of the plan liabilities. Before beginning this process, please consult with the 

plan actuary. 
 

 

218



CalPERS Actuarial Valuation – June 30, 2021 
Miscellaneous Plan of the Carmel Area Wastewater District 

CalPERS ID: 7018407272 

 

Rate Plan belonging to the Miscellaneous Risk Pool Page 22 

 
 

 

Participant Data 
 
The table below shows a summary of the plan’s member data upon which this valuation is based:   

 

 

   June 30, 2020  June 30, 2021 

    

 Active Members     

  Counts  15  15 

  Average Attained Age  51.68  52.68 

  Average Entry Age to Rate Plan  41.27  41.27 

  Average Years of Credited Service  10.48  11.48 

  Average Annual Covered Pay  $110,360  $116,072 

  Annual Covered Payroll  $1,655,395  $1,741,086 

  Present Value of Future Payroll  $11,291,387  $14,306,356 

      

 Transferred Members  7  6 

      

 Separated Members  7  7 

      

 Retired Members and Beneficiaries     

  Counts*  11  12 

  Average Annual Benefits*  $16,023  $15,422 

 
Counts of members included in the valuation are counts of the records processed by the valuation. Multiple 
records may exist for those who have service in more than one valuation group. This does not result in double 

counting of liabilities. 
 

* Values include community property settlements. 
 

List of Class 1 Benefit Provisions 

This plan has the additional Class 1 Benefit Provisions: 
 

• None 

219



 
 

CALPERS ACTUARIAL VALUATION - June 30, 2021 
Miscellaneous Plan of the Carmel Area Wastewater District 

CalPERS ID: 7018407272 

 

Rate Plan belonging to the Miscellaneous Risk Pool Page 23 
 

 

 

Plan’s Major Benefit Options 
Shown below is a summary of the major optional benefits for which the agency has contracted. A description of principal standard and optional plan provisions 

is in Section 2. 
 

 

Benefit Group 

Member Category Misc       

Demographics        
Actives Yes       
Transfers/Separated Yes       

Receiving Yes       
Benefit Group Key 106102       

Benefit Provision        
        

Benefit Formula 2% @ 60       

Social Security Coverage Yes       
Full/Modified Full       

        

Employee Contribution Rate 7.00%       
        

Final Average Compensation Period Three Year       
        

Sick Leave Credit Yes       
        

Non-Industrial Disability Standard       
        

Industrial Disability No       
        

Pre-Retirement Death Benefits        
Optional Settlement 2 Yes       

1959 Survivor Benefit Level No       
Special No       

Alternate (firefighters) No       
        

Post-Retirement Death Benefits        
Lump Sum $500       

Survivor Allowance (PRSA) No       
        

COLA 2%       

  
 

 

 

220



 
 

CALPERS ACTUARIAL VALUATION - June 30, 2021 
Miscellaneous Plan of the Carmel Area Wastewater District 

CalPERS ID: 7018407272 

 

Rate Plan belonging to the Miscellaneous Risk Pool Page 24 
 

 

 

 
 

Section 2 

 

C A L I F O R N I A  P U B L I C  E M P L O Y E E S ’  R E T I R E M E N T  S Y S T E M  

 

 
 

Risk Pool Actuarial Valuation Information 
 

 
 

 
 

 

Section 2 may be found on the CalPERS website 

(www.calpers.ca.gov) in the Forms and  

Publications section 

 

 

221



 
California Public Employees’ Retirement System 

Actuarial Office 
400 Q Street, Sacramento, CA 95811 | Phone: (916) 795-3000 | Fax: (916) 795-2744 

888 CalPERS (or 888-225-7377) | TTY: (877) 249-7442 | www.calpers.ca.gov  

 

 

July 2022 
 

PEPRA Miscellaneous Plan of the Carmel Area Wastewater District (CalPERS ID: 7018407272) 

Annual Valuation Report as of June 30, 2021 

Dear Employer, 

Attached to this letter, you will find the June 30, 2021 actuarial valuation report for the rate plan noted above. Provided 
in this report is the determination of the minimum required employer contributions for fiscal year (FY) 

2023-24. In addition, the report contains important information regarding the current financial status of the plan as 
well as projections and risk measures to aid in planning for the future. 

Because this plan is in a risk pool, the following valuation report has been separated into two sections: 

• Section 1 contains specific information for the plan including the development of the current and projected 
employer contributions, and 

• Section 2 contains the Risk Pool Actuarial Valuation appropriate to the plan as of June 30, 2021. 

Section 2 can be found on the CalPERS website (www.calpers.ca.gov). From the home page, go to “Forms & 
Publications” and select “View All”. In the search box, enter “Risk Pool” and from the results list download the 

Miscellaneous Risk Pool Actuarial Valuation Report for June 30, 2021. 

Your June 30, 2021 actuarial valuation report contains important actuarial information about your pension plan at 

CalPERS. The plan actuary whose signature is in the Actuarial Certification is available to discuss. 

Actuarial valuations are based on assumptions regarding future plan experience including investment return and payroll 

growth, eligibility for the types of benefits provided, and longevity among retirees. The CalPERS Board of Administration 
(board) adopts these assumptions after considering the advice of CalPERS actuarial and investment teams and other 

professionals. Each actuarial valuation reflects all prior differences be tween actual and assumed experience and adjusts 
the contribution requirements as needed. This valuation is based on an investment return assumption of 6.8%, which 

was adopted by the board in November 2021. Other assumptions used in this report are those recommended in the 
CalPERS Experience Study and Review of Actuarial Assumptions report from November 2021.  

Required Contribution 

The table below shows the minimum required employer contributions and the Employee PEPRA Rate for FY 2023-24 

along with estimates of the required contributions for FY 2024-25. Employee contributions other than cost sharing 
(whether paid by the employer or the employee) are in addition to the results shown below. The required employer 

contributions in this report do not reflect any cost sharing arrangement between the agency and the 
employees. 

  
  

Fiscal Year 
Employer Normal 

Cost Rate 

Employer Amortization of 

Unfunded Accrued Liability 

PEPRA Member 

Rate 

2023-24 7.68% $0 7.75% 
    

Projected Results    

2024-25 7.7% $0  TBD 

222



PEPRA Miscellaneous Plan of the Carmel Area Wastewater District 
(CalPERS ID: 7018407272) 

Annual Valuation Report as of June 30, 2021 
Page 2 

 
 

 

The actual investment return for FY 2021-22 was not known at the time this report was prepared. The projections 
above assume the investment return for that year would be 6.8%. To the extent the actual investment return 
for FY 2021-22 differs from 6.8%, the actual contribution requirements for FY 2024-25 will differ from 
those shown above.  For additional details regarding the assumptions and methods used for these projections, 

please refer to the “Projected Employer Contributions” in the “Highlights and Executive Summary” section.  This section 
also contains projected required contributions through FY 2028-29. 

Changes from Previous Year’s Valuation 

On July 12, 2021, CalPERS reported a preliminary 21.3% net return on investments for FY 2020-21. Since the return 

exceeded the 7.00% discount rate sufficiently, the CalPERS Funding Risk Mitigation policy allows CalPERS to use a 
portion of the investment gain to offset the cost of reducing the expected volatility of future investment returns. Based 

on the thresholds specified in the policy, the excess return of 14.3% prescribes a reduction in investment volatility that 
corresponds to a reduction in the discount rate of 0.20%, from 7.00% to 6.80%. 

 
On November 17, 2021, the board adopted new actuarial assumptions based on the recommendations in the November 

2021 CalPERS Experience Study and Review of Actuarial Assumptions. This study reviewed the retirement rates, 
termination rates, mortality rates, rates of salary increases , and inflation assumption for public agencies. These new 

assumptions are incorporated in this actuarial valuation and will impact the required contribution for FY 2023-24. In 
addition, the board adopted a new strategic asset allocation as part of its Asset Liability Management process. The new 

asset allocation along with the new capital market assumptions and economic assumptions support a discount rate of 
6.80%. This includes a reduction in the price inflation assumption from 2.50% to 2.30%. 

 
Besides the above noted changes, there may also be changes specific to the plan such as contract amendments and 

funding changes. 
 

Further descriptions of general changes are included in the “Highlights and Executive Summary” section and in Appendix 
A of the Section 2 report, “Actuarial Methods and Assumptions.” 

 
Questions 
 

We understand that you might have questions about these results , and the plan actuary whose signature is on the 
valuation report is available to discuss. If you have other questions, you may call the Customer Contact Center at (888)-

CalPERS or (888-225-7377). 
 
 
Sincerely, 

 
SCOTT TERANDO, ASA, EA, MAAA, FCA, CFA 
Chief Actuary

223



 
 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 
Actuarial Valuation 
as of June 30, 2021 

 

for the 
 PEPRA Miscellaneous Plan 

of the 

Carmel Area Wastewater District 
(CalPERS ID: 7018407272) 

 
Required Contributions 

for Fiscal Year 
July 1, 2023 - June 30, 2024

224



 
 

 

 

Table of Contents 

 
Section 1 – Plan Specific Information 

 

Section 2 – Risk Pool Actuarial Valuation Information

225



 
 

 

 

 

Section 1 

C A L I F O R N I A  P U B L I C  E M P L O Y E E S ’  R E T I R E M E N T  S Y S T E M  

 
 

 
Plan Specific Information  

for the 
PEPRA Miscellaneous Plan 

 of the 

Carmel Area Wastewater District 
 

(CalPERS ID: 7018407272) 
(Rate Plan ID: 26996)

226



 
 

 

 

Rate Plan belonging to the Miscellaneous Risk Pool  
 
 
 
 

Table of Contents 
 

 
 
Actuarial Certification            1 

 

Highlights and Executive Summary 

Introduction 3 
Purpose of Section 1 3 

Required Contributions 4 
Additional Discretionary Employer Contributions 5 

Plan’s Funded Status 6 
Projected Employer Contributions 6 

Other Pooled Miscellaneous Risk Pool Rate Plans 7 
Cost 8 

Changes Since the Prior Year’s Valuation 9 
Subsequent Events 9 

 
 

Assets and Liabilities 

Breakdown of Entry Age Accrued Liability 11 
Allocation of Plan’s Share of Pool’s Experience/Assumption Change 11 

Development of Plan’s Share of Pool’s Market Value of Assets 11 
Schedule of Plan’s Amortization Bases 12 

Amortization Schedule and Alternatives 13 
Employer Contribution History 15 

Funding History 15 
 
 

Risk Analysis 

Future Investment Return Scenarios 17  
Discount Rate Sensitivity 18  

Mortality Rate Sensitivity 18  
Maturity Measures 19  

Maturity Measures History 20  
Hypothetical Termination Liability 21  

 
 

Participant Data          22 
 
List of Class 1 Benefit Provisions        22 

 
Plan’s Major Benefit Options         23 

 
PEPRA Member Contribution Rates        24 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

227



CALPERS ACTUARIAL VALUATION - June 30, 2021 
PEPRA Miscellaneous Plan of the Carmel Area Wastewater District 

CalPERS ID: 7018407272 

 

Rate Plan belonging to the Miscellaneous Risk Pool Page 1 

 
 

 

Actuarial Certification 
 
To the best of our knowledge, this report, comprising of Sections 1 and 2, is complete and accurate and contains 

sufficient information to disclose, fully and fairly, the funded condition of the  PEPRA Miscellaneous Plan of the 
Carmel Area Wastewater District and satisfies the actuarial valuation requirements of Government Code section 

7504. This valuation is based on the member and financial data as of June 30, 2021 provided by the various 
CalPERS databases and the benefits under this plan with CalPERS as of the date this report was produced. Section 
1 of this report is based on the member and financial data for Carmel Area Wastewater District, while Section 2 

is based on the corresponding information for all agencies participating in the Miscellaneous Risk Pool to which 
the plan belongs. 

As set forth in Section 2 of this report, the pool actuaries have certified that, in their opinion, the valuation of the 
Miscellaneous Risk Pool has been performed in accordance with generally accepted actuarial principles consistent 

with standards of practice prescribed by the Actuarial Standards Board, and that the assumptions and methods 
are internally consistent and reasonable for the risk pool as of the date of this valuation and as prescribed by the 

CalPERS Board of Administration according to provisions set forth in the California Public Employees’ Retirement 
Law. 

Having relied upon the information set forth in Section 2 of this report and based on the census and benefit 
provision information for the rate plan, it is my opinion as the plan actuary that the Unfunded Accrued Liability 

amortization bases as of June 30, 2021 and employer contribution as of July 1, 2023 have been properly and 
accurately determined in accordance with the principles and standards stated above. 

The undersigned is an actuary who satisfies the Qualification Standards for Actuaries Issuing Statements of 
Actuarial Opinion in the United States with regard to pensions. 

 
 

 

 
ALEX GRUNDER, ASA, MAAA 

Associate Pension Actuary, CalPERS 
 

 
 

  

 

228



 

 
 

 
 

Highlights and Executive Summary 
 

 

• Introduction 

 

• Purpose of Section 1 

 

• Required Contributions 

 

• Additional Discretionary Employer Contributions 

 

• Plan’s Funded Status 

 

• Projected Employer Contributions 

 

• Other Pooled Miscellaneous Risk Pool Rate Plans 

 

• Cost 

 

• Changes Since the Prior Year’s Valuation 

 

• Subsequent Events

229



CALPERS ACTUARIAL VALUATION - June 30, 2021 
PEPRA Miscellaneous Plan of the Carmel Area Wastewater District 

CalPERS ID: 7018407272  

 

Rate Plan belonging to the Miscellaneous Risk Pool Page 3  

 
 

 

Introduction 

This report presents the results of the June 30, 2021 actuarial valuation of the PEPRA Miscellaneous Plan of the 
Carmel Area Wastewater District of the California Public Employees’ Retirement System (CalPERS). This  actuarial 

valuation sets the required employer contributions for (FY) 2023-24. 

Purpose of Section 1 

This Section 1 report for the PEPRA Miscellaneous Plan of the Carmel Area Wastewater District of CalPERS was 

prepared by the plan actuary in order to: 

• Set forth the assets and accrued liabilities of this plan as of June 30, 2021; 
• Determine the minimum required employer contribution for this plan for the FY July 1, 2023 through 

June 30, 2024; and 

• Provide actuarial information as of June 30, 2021 to the CalPERS Board of Administration (board) and 
other interested parties. 

The pension funding information presented in this report should not be used in financial reports subject to 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 68 for a Cost Sharing Employer Defined 

Benefit Pension Plan. A separate accounting valuation report for such purposes is available on the CalPERS 
website (www.calpers.ca.gov). 

The measurements shown in this actuarial valuation may not be applicable for other purposes. The agency 
should contact the plan actuary before disseminating any portion of this report for any reason that is not explicitly 

described above. 

Future actuarial measurements may differ significantly from the current measurements presented in th is report 

due to such factors as the following: plan experience differing from that anticipated by the economic or 
demographic assumptions; changes in economic or demographic assumptions; changes in actuarial policies; 

changes in plan provisions or applicable law; and differences between the required contributions determined by 
the valuation and the actual contributions made by the agency. 

Assessment and Disclosure of Risk 

 
This report includes the following risk disclosures consistent with the recommendations of Actuarial Standards 

of Practice No. 51 and recommended by the California Actuarial Advisory Panel (CAAP) in the Model Disclosure 
Elements document: 

 

• A “Scenario Test,” projecting future results under different investment income returns. 

• A “Sensitivity Analysis,” showing the impact on current valuation results using alternative discount rates 
of 5.8% and 7.8%.  

• A “Sensitivity Analysis,” showing the impact on current valuation results assuming rates of mortality 
are 10% lower or 10% higher than our current post-retirement mortality assumptions adopted in 2021. 

• Plan maturity measures indicating how sensitive a plan may be to the risks noted above. 

230



CALPERS ACTUARIAL VALUATION - June 30, 2021 

PEPRA Miscellaneous Plan of the Carmel Area Wastewater District 

CalPERS ID: 7018407272  

 

 

Rate Plan belonging to the Miscellaneous Risk Pool Page 4  

 
 

 

Required Contributions 

    Fiscal Year 

Required Employer Contributions  
 

 2023-24 

Employer Normal Cost Rate    7.68% 

Plus     

Required Payment on Amortization Bases1    $0 

  Paid either as     

1) Monthly Payment    $0.00 

  Or     

2) Annual Prepayment Option*    $0 

 
Required PEPRA Member Contribution Rate    7.75% 

The total minimum required employer contribution is the sum of the Plan’s Employer Normal Cost Rate 
(expressed as a percentage of payroll and paid as payroll is reported) plus the Employer Unfunded Accrued 
Liability (UAL) Contribution Amount (billed monthly (1) or prepaid annually (2) in dollars). 

* Only the UAL portion of the employer contribution can be prepaid (which must be received in full no 
later than July 31). 

For additional detail regarding the determination of the required PEPRA member contribution rate see section 
on PEPRA Member Contribution Rates. 
 

 

 Fiscal Year Fiscal Year 

  2022-23  2023-24 

Development of Normal Cost as a Percentage of Payroll     

Base Total Normal Cost for Formula  14.22%  15.43% 

Surcharge for Class 1 Benefits2     

    None  0.00%  0.00% 

Phase out of Normal Cost Difference3  0.00%  0.00% 

Plan’s Total Normal Cost  14.22%  15.43% 

Plan's Employee Contribution Rate  6.75%  7.75% 

Employer Normal Cost Rate  7.47%  7.68% 

     
1 The required payment on amortization bases does not take into account any additional discretionary payment made after  

April 29, 2022. 

2 Section 2 of this report contains a list of Class 1 benefits and corresponding surcharges for each benefit. 

3 The normal cost change is phased out over a five-year period in accordance with the CalPERS contribution allocation policy. 

  

 

  

231



CALPERS ACTUARIAL VALUATION - June 30, 2021 

PEPRA Miscellaneous Plan of the Carmel Area Wastewater District 

CalPERS ID: 7018407272  

 

 

Rate Plan belonging to the Miscellaneous Risk Pool Page 5  

 
 

Additional Discretionary Employer Contributions 
 

The minimum required employer contribution towards the Unfunded Accrued Liability (UAL) for this rate plan 
for the 2023-24 FY is $0. CalPERS allows agencies to make additional discretionary payments (ADPs) at any time 

and in any amount. These optional payments serve to reduce the UAL and future required contributions and can 
result in significant long-term savings. Agencies can also use ADPs to stabilize annual contributions as a fixed 

dollar amount, percent of payroll or percent of revenue.  
 
Provided below are select ADP options for consideration. Making such an ADP during FY 2023-24 does not 

require an ADP be made in any future year, nor does it change the remaining amortization period of any portion 
of unfunded liability. For information on permanent changes to amortization periods, see the “Amortization 

Schedule and Alternatives” section of the report. 
 

Agencies considering making an ADP should contact CalPERS for additional information.  
 

Minimum Required Employer Contribution for Fiscal Year 2023-24 
 

Estimated 
Normal Cost 

Minimum UAL 
Payment 

ADP Total UAL 
Contribution 

Estimated Total 
Contribution 

$97,235 $0 $0 $0 $97,235 

 
 

   
Alternative Fiscal Year 2023-24 Employer Contributions for Greater UAL Reduction 

 

Funding 

Target 

Estimated 

Normal Cost 

Minimum UAL 

Payment 

ADP1 Total UAL 

Contribution 

Estimated Total 

Contribution 

N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

 

1 The ADP amounts are assumed to be made in the middle of the fiscal year. A payment made earlier or later in the fiscal 
year would have to be less or more than the amount shown to have the same effect on the UAL amortization. 

 
Note that the calculations above are based on the projected Unfunded Accrued Liability as of June 30, 2023 as 

determined in the June 30, 2021 actuarial valuation. New unfunded liabilities can emerge in future years  due to 
assumption or method changes, changes in plan provisions , and actuarial experience different than assumed. 

Making an ADP illustrated above for the indicated number of years will not result in a plan that is exactly 100% 
funded in the indicated number of years. Valuation results will vary from one year to the next and can diverge 

significantly from projections over a period of several years.  

232



CALPERS ACTUARIAL VALUATION - June 30, 2021 

PEPRA Miscellaneous Plan of the Carmel Area Wastewater District 

CalPERS ID: 7018407272  

 

 

Rate Plan belonging to the Miscellaneous Risk Pool Page 6  

 
 

 

Plan’s Funded Status 

June 30, 2020 June 30, 2021 

1. Present Value of Projected Benefits (PVB)  $2,237,668  $2,969,401 

2. Entry Age Accrued Liability (AL)  788,000  1,151,254 

3. Plan’s Market Value of Assets (MVA)  707,343  1,267,478 

4. Unfunded Accrued Liability (UAL) [(2) - (3)]  80,657  (116,224) 

5. Funded Ratio [(3) / (2)]  89.8%  110.1% 
 

The UAL and funded ratio are assessments of the need for future employer contributions based on the actuarial 
cost method used to fund the plan. The UAL is the present value of future employer contributions for service 

that has already been earned and is in addition to future normal cost contributions for active members. The 
funded ratio, on the other hand, is a relative measure of funded status that allows f or comparison between 

plans of different sizes. For measures of funded status that are appropriate for assessing the sufficiency of plan 
assets to cover estimated termination liabilities, please see “Hypothetical Termination Liability” in the “Risk 

Analysis” section. 

Projected Employer Contributions 

The table below shows the required and projected employer contributions (before cost sharing) for the next six 

fiscal years. The projection assumes that all actuarial assumptions will be realized and that no further changes 
to assumptions, contributions, benefits, or funding will occur during the projection period. In particular, the 

investment return beginning with FY 2021-22 is assumed to be 6.80% per year, net of investment and 
administrative expenses. Actual contribution rates during this projection period could be significantly higher or 

lower than the projection shown below. Future contribution requirements may differ significantly from those 
shown below. The actual long-term cost of the plan will depend on the actual benefits and expenses paid and 

the actual investment experience of the fund. 
 

 
Required 

Contribution 
Projected Future Employer Contributions 

(Assumes 6.80% Return for Fiscal Year 2021-22 and Beyond) 

Fiscal Year 2023-24 2024-25 2025-26 2026-27 2027-28 2028-29 

 Rate Plan 26996 Results 

Normal Cost % 7.68% 7.7% 7.7% 7.7% 7.7% 7.7% 

UAL Payment $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 

For some sources of UAL, the change in UAL is amortized using a 5-year ramp up. For more information, please 

see “Amortization of the Unfunded Actuarial Accrued Liability” under “Actuarial Methods” in Appendix A of the 
Section 2 Report. This method phases in the impact of the change in UAL over a 5-year period in order to reduce 

employer cost volatility from year to year. As a result of this methodology, dramatic changes in the required 
employer contributions in any one year are less likely. However, required contributions can change gradually 

and significantly over the next five years. In years when there is a large increase in UAL, the relatively small 
amortization payments during the ramp up period could result in a funded ratio that is projected to decrease 

initially while the contribution impact of the increase in the UAL is phased in.  
 

For projected contributions under alternate investment return scenarios, please see the “Future Investment 
Return Scenarios” in the “Risk Analysis” section. 

Our online pension plan projection tool, Pension Outlook, is available in the Employers section of the CalPERS 
website. Pension Outlook can help plan and budget pension costs under various scenarios.

233



CALPERS ACTUARIAL VALUATION - June 30, 2021 

PEPRA Miscellaneous Plan of the Carmel Area Wastewater District 

CalPERS ID: 7018407272  

 

Rate Plan belonging to the Miscellaneous Risk Pool Page 7  

 
 

Other Pooled Miscellaneous Risk Pool Rate Plans 

 

All of the results presented in this Section 1 report, except those shown below, correspond to rate plan 26996. 
In many cases, employers have additional rate plans within the same risk pool. For cost analysis and budgeting 

it is useful to consider contributions for these rate plans as a whole rather than individually. The estimated 
contribution amounts and rates for all of the employer’s rate plans in the Miscellaneous Risk Pool are shown 

below and assume that the payroll for each rate plan will grow according to the overall payroll growth assumption 
of 2.80% per year for three years. 

 
 Fiscal Year Fiscal Year 

  2022-23  2023-24 
     

Estimated Combined Employer Contributions for all Pooled Miscellaneous Rate Plans 

Projected Payroll for the Contribution Year  $2,924,586   $3,157,551  

Estimated Employer Normal Cost  $239,298  $288,274 

Required Payment on Amortization Bases  $9,982  $0 

Estimated Total Employer Contributions  $249,280  $288,274 

Estimated Total Employer Contribution Rate (illustrative only)  8.52%  9.13% 
 

234



CALPERS ACTUARIAL VALUATION - June 30, 2021 

PEPRA Miscellaneous Plan of the Carmel Area Wastewater District 

CalPERS ID: 7018407272  

 

Rate Plan belonging to the Miscellaneous Risk Pool Page 8  

 
 

Cost 
 

Actuarial Determination of Plan Cost  
 

 
Contributions to fund the plan are comprised of two components: 

 

• Normal Cost, expressed as a percentage of total active payroll 
• Amortization of the Unfunded Accrued Liability (UAL), expressed as a dollar amount 

 

For fiscal years prior to 2016-17, the Amortization of UAL component was expressed as a percentage of total 
active payroll. Starting with FY 2016-17, the Amortization of UAL component was expressed as a dollar amount 

and invoiced on a monthly basis. There continues to be an option to prepay this amount during July of each 
fiscal year. 
 

The Normal Cost component is expressed as a percentage of active payroll with employer and employee 
contributions payable as part of the regular payroll reporting process.  

 
The determination of both components requires complex actuarial calculations. The calculations are based on a 

set of actuarial assumptions which can be divided into two categories: 
 

• Demographic assumptions (e.g., mortality rates, retirement rates, employment termination rates, 

disability rates) 

• Economic assumptions (e.g., future investment earnings, inflation, salary growth rates) 

 
These assumptions reflect CalPERS’ best estimate of future experience of the plan and are long term in nature. 

We recognize that all assumptions will not be realized in any given year. For example, the investment earnings 
at CalPERS have averaged 6.9% over the 20 years ending June 30, 2021, yet individual fiscal year returns have 

ranged from -23.6% to +21.3%. In addition, CalPERS reviews all actuarial assumptions by conducting in-depth 
experience studies every four years, with the most recent experience study completed in 2021. 

235



CALPERS ACTUARIAL VALUATION - June 30, 2021 

PEPRA Miscellaneous Plan of the Carmel Area Wastewater District 

CalPERS ID: 7018407272  

 

Rate Plan belonging to the Miscellaneous Risk Pool Page 9  

 
 

Changes Since the Prior Year’s Valuation 

Benefits 

 
The standard actuarial practice at CalPERS is to recognize mandated legislative benefit changes in the first 

annual valuation following the effective date of the legislation. Voluntary benefit changes by plan amendment 
are generally included in the first valuation that is prepared after the amendment becomes effective, even if the 

valuation date is prior to the effective date of the amendment. 
 
This valuation generally reflects plan changes by amendments effective before the date of the report. Please 

refer to the “Plan’s Major Benefit Options” and Appendix B of the Section 2 Report for a summary of the plan 
provisions used in this valuation. 

 
Actuarial Methods and Assumptions 

 
On November 17, 2021, the board adopted new actuarial assumptions based on the recommendations in the 

2021 CalPERS Experience Study and Review of Actuarial Assumptions. This study reviewed the retirement rates, 
termination rates, mortality rates, rates of salary increases, and inflation assumption for Public Agencies. These 

new assumptions are incorporated in this actuarial valuation and will impact the require d contribution for FY 
2023-24. In addition, the board adopted a new asset portfolio as part of its Asset Liability Management process. 

The new asset mix supports a 6.80% discount rate, which reflects a change in the price inflation assumption to 
2.30%. 

Subsequent Events 

The contribution requirements determined in this actuarial valuation report are based on demographic and 
financial information as of June 30, 2021. Changes subsequent to that date are not reflected. Investment returns 

below the assumed rate of return may increase future required contributions  while investment returns above 
the assumed rate of return may decrease future required contributions. 

 
The projected employer contributions on Page 6 are calculated under the assumption that the discount rate 

remains at 6.8% going forward and that the realized rate of return on assets for FY 2021-22 is 6.8%. 
 

This actuarial valuation report reflects statutory changes, regulatory changes and board actions through January 
2022. Any subsequent changes or actions are not reflected. 

236



 

 

 
 

 
 

Assets and Liabilities 
 

 

• Breakdown of Entry Age Accrued Liability 

 

• Allocation of Plan’s Share of Pool’s Experience/Assumption Change  

 

• Development of Plan’s Share of Pool’s Market Value of Assets 

 

• Schedule of Plan’s Amortization Bases 

 

• Amortization Schedule and Alternatives 

 

• Employer Contribution History 

 

• Funding History

237



CALPERS ACTUARIAL VALUATION - June 30, 2021 
PEPRA Miscellaneous Plan of the Carmel Area Wastewater District 

CalPERS ID: 7018407272  

 

Rate Plan belonging to the Miscellaneous Risk Pool Page 11 

 
 

 

Breakdown of Entry Age Accrued Liability 

 Active Members $1,140,535 

 Transferred Members 0 

 Terminated Members 10,719 

 Members and Beneficiaries Receiving Payments 0 

 Total $1,151,254 
 

 

Allocation of Plan’s Share of Pool’s 

Experience/Assumption Change 

It is the policy of CalPERS to ensure equity within the risk pools by allocating the pool’s experience 
gains/losses and assumption changes in a manner that treats each employer equitably and maintains benefit 
security for the members of the System while minimizing substantial variations in employer contributions. 

The Pool’s experience gains/losses and impact of assumption/method changes is allocated to the plan as 
follows: 

 
1. Plan’s Accrued Liability $1,151,254 

2. Projected UAL balance at 6/30/2021 20,858 

3. Pool’s Accrued Liability1 20,794,529,023 

4. Sum of Pool’s Individual Plan UAL Balances at 6/30/20211 4,597,734,264 

5. Pool’s 2020/21 Investment (Gain)/Loss1 (2,338,185,055) 

6. Pool’s 2020/21 Non-Investment (Gain)/Loss1 (84,077,623) 

7. Plan’s Share of Pool’s Investment (Gain)/Loss: [(1) - (2)] ÷ [(3) - (4)] × (5) (163,185) 

8. Plan’s Share of Pool’s Non-Investment (Gain)/Loss: (1) ÷ (3) × (6) (4,655) 

9. Plan’s New (Gain)/Loss as of 6/30/2021: (7) + (8) (167,840) 

10. Increase in Pool’s Accrued Liability due to Change in Assumptions1 60,407,898 

11. Plan’s Share of Pool’s Change in Assumptions: (1) ÷ (3) × (10) 3,344 

12. Increase in Pool’s Accrued Liability due to Funding Risk Mitigation1 495,172,731 

13. Plan’s Share of Pool’s Change due to Funding Risk Mitigation: (1) ÷ (3) × (12) 27,414 

14. Offset due to Funding Risk Mitigation (44,485) 

15. Plan’s Net Investment (Gain): (7) – (14) (118,700) 

 
1 Does not include plans that transferred to Pool on the valuation date. 

 

Development of the Plan’s Share of Pool’s Market 

Value of Assets 

16.  Plan’s UAL: (2) + (9) + (11) + (13) ($116,224) 

17. Plan’s Share of Pool’s MVA: (1) - (16) $1,267,478 

 

 

  

238



CALPERS ACTUARIAL VALUATION - June 30, 2021 
PEPRA Miscellaneous Plan of the Carmel Area Wastewater District 

CalPERS ID: 7018407272  

 

Rate Plan belonging to the Miscellaneous Risk Pool       Page 12 

 
 

Schedule of Plan’s Amortization Bases 

Note that there is a two-year lag between the valuation date and the start of the contribution fiscal year.  

• The assets, liabilities, and funded status of the plan are measured as of the valuation date: June 30, 2021. 

• The required employer contributions determined by the valuation are for the fiscal year beginning two years after the valuation date: FY 2023-24. 

This two-year lag is necessary due to the amount of time needed to extract and test the membership and financial data, and the need to provide pub lic agencies with 

their required employer contribution well in advance of the start of the fiscal year.  

The Unfunded Accrued Liability (UAL) is used to determine the employer contribution and therefore must be rolled forward two years from the valuation da te to the first 

day of the fiscal year for which the contribution is being determined. The UAL is rolled forward each year by subtracting the expected payment on the UAL for the fiscal 
year and adjusting for interest. The expected payment for the first fiscal year is determined by the actuarial valuation two years ago and the contribution for the second 

year is from the actuarial valuation one year ago. Additional discretionary payments are reflected in the Expected Payments column in the fiscal year they were made by 
the agency. 

 Reason for Base 
Date 
Est. 

Ramp 
Level 

2023-24 
Ramp 
Shape 

Escala-
tion 
Rate 

Amort. 
Period 

Balance 
6/30/21 

Expected 
Payment   
2021-22 

Balance 
6/30/22 

Expected 
Payment   
2022-23 

Balance 
6/30/23 

Minimum 
Required 
Payment   
2023-24 

Fresh Start 6/30/21   N/A (116,224) (17,805) (105,727) (17,629) (94,698) 0 

Total     (116,224) (17,805) (105,727) (17,629) (94,698) 0 

The (gain)/loss bases are the plan’s allocated share of the risk pool’s (gain)/loss for the fiscal year as disclosed in “Allo cation of Plan’s Share of Pool’s Experience/Assumption 
Change” earlier in this section. These (gain)/loss bases will be amortized in accordance with the CalPERS amortization policy  in effect at the time the base was established. 
 

239



CALPERS ACTUARIAL VALUATION - June 30, 2021 
PEPRA Miscellaneous Plan of the Carmel Area Wastewater District 

CalPERS ID: 7018407272  

 

Rate Plan belonging to the Miscellaneous Risk Pool      
 Page 13 

 
 

 

Amortization Schedule and Alternatives 

The amortization schedule on the previous page(s) shows the minimum contributions required according to the CalPERS 
amortization policy. Many agencies have expressed a desire for a more stable pattern of payments or have indicated interest 

in paying off the unfunded accrued liabilities more quickly than required. As such, we have provided alternative amortization 
schedules to help analyze the current amortization schedule and illustrate the potential savings of accelerating unfunded 

liability payments.   
 

Shown on the following page are future year amortization payments based on 1) the current amortization schedule reflecting 
the individual bases and remaining periods shown on the previous page, and 2) alternative “fresh start” amortization schedules 

using two sample periods that would both result in interest savings relative to the current amortization schedule.  To initiate 
a Fresh Start, please contact the plan actuary. 

 
The Current Amortization Schedule typically contains both positive and negative bases. Positive bases result from plan 

changes, assumption changes, method changes or plan experience that increase unfunded liability. Negative bases result 
from plan changes, assumption changes, method changes, or plan experience that decrease unfunded liability. The 

combination of positive and negative bases within an amortization schedule can result in unusual or problematic circumstances 
in future years, such as: 

 

• When a negative payment would be required on a positive unfunded actuarial liability; or 
• When the payment would completely amortize the total unfunded liability in a very short time period, and results in 

a large change in the employer contribution requirement. 

 
In any year when one of the above scenarios occurs, the actuary will consider corrective action such as replacing the existing 

unfunded liability bases with a single “fresh start” base and amortizing it over an appropriate period.  
 

The Current Amortization Schedule on the following page may appear to show that, based on the current amortization bases, 
one of the above scenarios will occur at some point in the future.  It is impossible to know today whether such a scenario will 

in fact arise since there will be additional bases added to the amortization schedule in each future year. Should such a scenario 
arise in any future year, the actuary will take appropriate action based on guidelines in the CalPERS amortization policy.   

240



CALPERS ACTUARIAL VALUATION - June 30, 2021 
PEPRA Miscellaneous Plan of the Carmel Area Wastewater District 

CalPERS ID: 7018407272  

 

Rate Plan belonging to the Miscellaneous Risk Pool      
 Page 14 

 
 

Amortization Schedule and Alternatives (continued) 

 

  Alternate Schedules 

 
Current Amortization  

Schedule 
N/A Year Amortization N/A Year Amortization 

Date Balance Payment Balance Payment Balance Payment 

6/30/2023 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

6/30/2024       

6/30/2025       

6/30/2026       

6/30/2027       

6/30/2028       

6/30/2029       

6/30/2030       

6/30/2031       

6/30/2032       

6/30/2033       

6/30/2034       

6/30/2035       

6/30/2036       

6/30/2037       

6/30/2038       

6/30/2039       

6/30/2040       

6/30/2041       

6/30/2042       

6/30/2043       

6/30/2044       

6/30/2045       

6/30/2046       

6/30/2047       

6/30/2048       

6/30/2049       

6/30/2050       

6/30/2051       

6/30/2052       

       

Total  N/A  N/A  N/A 

Interest Paid N/A  N/A  N/A 

Estimated Savings   N/A  N/A 

241



CALPERS ACTUARIAL VALUATION - June 30, 2021 
PEPRA Miscellaneous Plan of the Carmel Area Wastewater District 

CalPERS ID: 7018407272  

 

Rate Plan belonging to the Miscellaneous Risk Pool Page 15 
 

       
 

 

Employer Contribution History 

The table below provides a recent history of the required employer contributions for the plan.  The amounts are 

based on the actuarial valuation from two years prior and does not account for prepayments or benefit changes 
made during a fiscal year. Additional discretionary payments before July 1, 2019 or after June 30, 2021 are not 

included. 
 

[  

Fiscal 

Year 

Employer 

Normal Cost 

Unfunded Liability 

Payment ($) 

Additional Discretionary 

Payments 

2016 - 17 6.555% $143 N/A 

2017 - 18 6.533% 219 N/A 

2018 - 19 6.842% 614 N/A 

2019 - 20 6.985% 1,178 0 

2020 - 21 7.732% 5,112 56,674 

2021 - 22 7.59% 5,531  

2022 - 23 7.47% 708  

2023 - 24 7.68% 0  

 

Funding History 

The table below shows the recent history of the actuarial accrued liability, share of the pool’s market value of 

assets, unfunded accrued liability, funded ratio, and annual covered payroll. 

 

 

Valuation 
Date 

 

 
 

Accrued 

Liability 
(AL) 

 

Share of Pool’s 

Market Value of 
Assets (MVA) 

 

Unfunded 

Accrued 
Liability (UAL) 

 

Funded 
Ratio 

 

 
 

Annual 

Covered 
Payroll 

06/30/2013  $883  $1,185  ($302) 134.2%  $214,323 

06/30/2014  35,509  37,442  (1,933) 105.4%  314,659 

06/30/2015  90,858  86,903  3,955 95.6%  407,015 

06/30/2016  183,618  164,479  19,139 89.6%  494,928 

06/30/2017  251,645  233,143  18,502 92.6%  615,694 

06/30/2018  356,676  319,942  36,734 89.7%  691,717 

06/30/2019  543,548  490,107  53,441 90.2%  993,040 

06/30/2020  788,000  707,343  80,657 89.8%  1,040,599 

06/30/2021  1,151,254  1,267,478  (116,224) 110.1%  1,165,419 

 

242



 

 

 

Risk Analysis 

• Future Investment Return Scenarios 

 

• Discount Rate Sensitivity 

 

• Mortality Rate Sensitivity 

 

• Maturity Measures 

 

• Maturity Measures History 

 

• Hypothetical Termination Liability

243



CalPERS Actuarial Valuation – June 30, 2021 
PEPRA Miscellaneous Plan of the Carmel Area Wastewater District 

CalPERS ID: 7018407272 

 

 
 

 

 Page 17 

Future Investment Return Scenarios 

Analysis using the investment return scenarios from the Asset Liability Management process completed in 

2021 was performed to determine the effects of various future investment returns on required employer 
contributions. The projections below reflect the impact of the CalPERS Funding Risk Mitigation policy.  The 

projections also assume that all other actuarial assumptions will be realized and that no further changes in 
assumptions, contributions, benefits, or funding will occur.  

 
The first table shows projected contribution requirements if the fund were to earn either 3.0% or 10.8% 
annually. These alternate investment returns were chosen because 90% of long-term average returns are 

expected to fall between them over the 20-year period ending June 30, 2041.  

 
Required contributions outside of this range are also possible. In particular, whereas it is unlikely that 

investment returns will average less than 3.0% or greater than 10.8% over a 20 -year period, the likelihood 
of a single investment return less than 3.0% or greater than 10.8% in any given year is much greater. The 

following analysis illustrates the effect of an extreme, single year investment return.  
 

The portfolio has an expected volatility (or standard deviation) of 12.0% per year. Accordingly, in any given 
year there is a 16% probability that the annual return will be -5.2% or less and a 2.5% probability that the 

annual return will be -17.2% or less. These returns represent one and two standard deviations below the 
expected return of 6.8%. 

 
The following table shows the effect of a one or two standard deviation investment loss in FY 2021-22 on the 

FY 2024-25 contribution requirements. Note that a single-year investment gain or loss decreases or increases 
the required UAL contribution amount incrementally for each of the next five years, not just one, due to the 

5-year ramp in the amortization policy. However, the contribution requirements beyond the first year are also 
impacted by investment returns beyond the first year. Historically, significant downturns in the market are 

often followed by higher than average returns. Such investment gains would offset the impact of these single 
year negative returns in years beyond FY 2024-25. 

 

Assumed Annual Return for 

Fiscal Year 2021-22 

Required 
Employer 

Contributions 

Projected 
Employer 

Contributions 

2023-24 2024-25 

(17.2)% (2 standard deviation loss)   

    Normal Cost Rate 7.68% 7.7% 

    UAL Contribution $0 $5,300 

(5.2)% (1 standard deviation loss)     

    Normal Cost Rate 7.68% 7.7% 

    UAL Contribution $0 $1,600 

 

• Without investment gains (returns higher than 6.8%) in year FY 2022-23 or later, projected 
contributions rates would continue to rise over the next four years due to the continued phase-in of 

the impact of the illustrated investment loss in FY 2021-22. 

• The Pension Outlook Tool can be used to model projected contributions for these scenarios beyond 
FY 2024-25 as well as to model other investment return scenarios.

Assumed Annual Return 

 FY 2021-22 
through 2040-41 

Projected Employer Contributions 

2024-25 2025-26 2026-27 2027-28 2028-29 

3.0% (5th percentile)      

    Normal Cost Rate 7.7% 7.7% 7.7% 7.7% 7.7% 

    UAL Contribution $0 $160 $1,600 $4,300 $8,300 

10.8% (95th percentile)           

    Normal Cost Rate 7.9% 8.1% 8.3% 8.5% 8.7% 

    UAL Contribution $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 

244



CalPERS Actuarial Valuation – June 30, 2021 
PEPRA Miscellaneous Plan of the Carmel Area Wastewater District 

CalPERS ID: 7018407272 

 

Rate Plan belonging to the Miscellaneous Risk Pool Page 18 

 
 

Discount Rate Sensitivity 
 

The discount rate assumption is calculated as the sum of the assumed real rate of return and the  assumed 
annual price inflation, currently 4.5% and 2.3%, respectively. Changing either the price inflation assumption or 

the real rate of return assumption will change the discount rate. The sensitivity of the valuation results to the 
discount rate assumption depends on which component of the discount rate is changed. Shown below are 

various valuation results as of June 30, 2021 assuming alternate discount rates by changing the two components 
independently. Results are shown using the current discount rate of 6.8% as well as alternate disco unt rates of 

5.8% and 7.8%. The rates of 5.8% and 7.8% were selected since they illustrate the impact of a 1.0% increase 
or decrease to the 6.8% assumption.  

 
Sensitivity to the Real Rate of Return Assumption 

 

As of June 30, 2021 
1% Lower 

Real Return Rate 

Current 

Assumptions 

1% Higher 

Real Return Rate 

Discount Rate 5.8% 6.8% 7.8% 

Inflation 2.3% 2.3% 2.3% 
Real Rate of Return 3.5% 4.5% 5.5% 

a) Total Normal Cost 19.32% 15.43% 12.47% 
b) Accrued Liability $1,395,862 $1,151,254 $956,143 

c) Market Value of Assets $1,267,478 $1,267,478 $1,267,478 
d) Unfunded Liability/(Surplus) [(b) - (c)] $128,384 ($116,224) ($311,335) 

e) Funded Ratio 90.8% 110.1% 132.6% 

 

Sensitivity to the Price Inflation Assumption  
 

As of June 30, 2021 
1% Lower 

Inflation Rate 
Current 

Assumptions 
1% Higher 

Inflation Rate 

Discount Rate 5.8% 6.8% 7.8% 

Inflation 1.3% 2.3% 3.3% 
Real Rate of Return 4.5% 4.5% 4.5% 

a) Total Normal Cost 16.27% 15.43% 14.03% 
b) Accrued Liability $1,204,585 $1,151,254 $1,048,236 

c) Market Value of Assets $1,267,478 $1,267,478 $1,267,478 
d) Unfunded Liability/(Surplus) [(b) - (c)] ($62,893) ($116,224) ($219,242) 

e) Funded Ratio 105.2% 110.1% 120.9% 

Mortality Rate Sensitivity 

The following table looks at the change in the June 30, 2021 plan costs and funded status under two different 

longevity scenarios, namely assuming post-retirement rates of mortality are 10% lower or 10% higher than our 
current mortality assumptions adopted in 2021. This type of analysis highlights the impact on the plan of 

improving or worsening mortality over the long-term. 

 

As of June 30, 2021 10% Lower 

Mortality Rates 

Current 

Assumptions 

10% Higher 

Mortality Rates 

a) Total Normal Cost 15.71% 15.43% 15.18% 

b) Accrued Liability $1,175,277   $1,151,254 $1,129,105 
c) Market Value of Assets $1,267,478 $1,267,478 $1,267,478 

d) Unfunded Liability/(Surplus) [(b) - (c)] ($92,201) ($116,224) ($138,373) 
e) Funded Ratio 107.8% 110.1% 112.3% 

  

245



CalPERS Actuarial Valuation – June 30, 2021 
PEPRA Miscellaneous Plan of the Carmel Area Wastewater District 

CalPERS ID: 7018407272 

 

Rate Plan belonging to the Miscellaneous Risk Pool Page 19 

 
 

Maturity Measures 

As pension plans mature they become more sensitive to risks. Understanding plan maturity and how it affects 

the ability of a pension plan sponsor to tolerate risk is important in understanding how the pension plan is 
impacted by investment return volatility, other economic variables and changes in longevity or other 

demographic assumptions. Since it is the employer that bears the risk, it is appropriate to perform this analysis 
on a pension plan level considering all rate plans. The following measures are for one rate plan only. 

One way to look at the maturity level of CalPERS and its plans is to look at the ratio of a plan’s retiree liability 
to its total liability. A pension plan in its infancy will have a very low ratio of retiree liability to total liability.  As 
the plan matures, the ratio starts increasing. A mature plan will often have a ratio above 60%-65%. 

Ratio of Retiree Accrued Liability to 
Total Accrued Liability 

June 30, 2020 June 30, 2021 

   
1. Retired Accrued Liability $0 $0 

2. Total Accrued Liability 788,000 1,151,254 

3. Ratio of Retiree AL to Total AL [(1) / (2)]  0.00 0.00 

Another measure of maturity level of CalPERS and its plans is to look at the ratio of actives to retirees, also 

called the support ratio. A pension plan in its infancy will have a very high ratio of active to retired members. As 
the plan matures and members retire, the ratio declines. A mature plan will often have a ratio near or below 

one. 

To calculate the support ratio for the rate plan, retirees and beneficiaries receiving a continuance are each 

counted as one, even though they may have only worked a portion of their caree rs as an active member of this 
rate plan. For this reason, the support ratio, while intuitive, may be less informative than the ratio of retiree 

liability to total accrued liability above. For comparison, the support ratio for all CalPERS public agency plans is 
0.82 and is calculated consistently with how it is for the individual rate plan. Note that to calculate the support 

ratio for all public agency plans, a retiree with service from more than one CalPERS agency is counted as a 
retiree more than once. 

Support Ratio June 30, 2020 June 30, 2021 

   
1. Number of Actives 12 13 

2. Number of Retirees 0 0 

3. Support Ratio [(1) / (2)]  N/A N/A 

 

246



CalPERS Actuarial Valuation – June 30, 2021 
PEPRA Miscellaneous Plan of the Carmel Area Wastewater District 

CalPERS ID: 7018407272 

 

Rate Plan belonging to the Miscellaneous Risk Pool Page 20 

 
 

Maturity Measures (Continued)  

The actuarial calculations supplied in this communication are based on various assumptions about long-term 

demographic and economic behavior. Unless these assumptions (e.g., terminations, deaths, disabilities, 
retirements, salary growth, investment return) are exactly realized each year, there will be differences on a 

year-to-year basis. The year-to-year differences between actual experience and the assumptions are called 
actuarial gains and losses and serve to lower or raise required employer contributions from one year to the 

next. Therefore, employer contributions will inevitably fluctuate, especially due to the ups and downs of 
investment returns. 

Asset Volatility Ratio 

Shown in the table below is the asset volatility ratio (AVR), which is the ratio of market value of assets to payroll.  
Plans that have higher AVR experience more volatile employer contributions (as a percentage of payroll) due to 

investment return. For example, a plan with an asset-to-payroll ratio of 8 may experience twice the contribution 
volatility due to investment return volatility than a plan with an asset-to-payroll ratio of 4. It should be noted 

that this ratio is a measure of the current situation. It increases over time but generally tends to stabilize as the 
plan matures. 

Liability Volatility Ratio 

Also shown in the table below is the liability volatility ratio (LVR), which is the ratio of accrued liability to payroll. 

Plans that have a higher LVR experience more volatile employer contributions (as a percentage of payroll) due 
to changes in liability. For example, a plan with LVR ratio of 8 is expected to have twice the contribution volatility 

of a plan with LVR of 4. It should be noted that this ratio indicates a longer-term potential for contribution 
volatility, since the AVR, described above, will tend to move closer to the LVR as the funded ratio approaches 

100%. 
 

Contribution Volatility June 30, 2020 June 30, 2021 

   
1. Market Value of Assets  $707,343  $1,267,478 

2. Payroll  1,040,599  1,165,419 

3. Asset Volatility Ratio (AVR) [(1) / (2)]  0.7  1.1 

4. Accrued Liability  $788,000  $1,151,254 

5. Liability Volatility Ratio (LVR) [(4) / (2)]  0.8  1.0 

 

Maturity Measures History 

 

Valuation Date 

Ratio of 

Retiree Accrued Liability  
to 

Total Accrued Liability 

Support 
Ratio 

Asset 

Volatility 
Ratio 

Liability 

Volatility 
Ratio 

     
06/30/2017 

 

0.00 

 

N/A 0.4 

 

0.4 

 06/30/2018 

 

0.00 

 

N/A 0.5 

 

0.5 

 06/30/2019 

 

0.00 

 

N/A 0.5 

 

0.5 

 06/30/2020 

 

0.00 

 

N/A 0.7 

 

0.8 

 06/30/2021 

 

0.00 

 

N/A 1.1 

 

1.0 

  

247



CalPERS Actuarial Valuation – June 30, 2021 
PEPRA Miscellaneous Plan of the Carmel Area Wastewater District 

CalPERS ID: 7018407272 

 

Rate Plan belonging to the Miscellaneous Risk Pool Page 21 

 
 

Hypothetical Termination Liability 

The hypothetical termination liability is an estimate of the financial position of the plan had the contract with 

CalPERS been terminated as of June 30, 2021. The plan liability on a termination basis is calculated differently 
compared to the plan’s ongoing funding liability. For the hypothetical termination liability calculation, both 

compensation and service are frozen as of the valuation date and no future pay increases or service accruals 
are assumed. This measure of funded status is not appropriate for assessing the need for future employer 

contributions in the case of an ongoing plan, that is, for an employer that continues to provide CalPERS 
retirement benefits to active employees. 

A more conservative investment policy and asset allocation strategy was adopted by the board for the 

Terminated Agency Pool. The Terminated Agency Pool has limited funding sources since no future employer 
contributions will be made. Therefore, expected benefit payments are secured by risk-free assets and benefit 

security for members is increased while limiting the funding risk. However, this asset allocation has a lower 
expected rate of return than the PERF and consequently, a  lower discount rate is assumed. The lower discount 

rate for the Terminated Agency Pool results in higher liabilities for terminated plans. 

The effective termination discount rate will depend on actual market rates of return for risk-free securities on 

the date of termination. As market discount rates are variable, the table below shows a range for the hypothetical 
termination liability based on the lowest and highest interest rates observed during an approximate 19 -month 

period from 12 months before the valuation date to seven months after. 
 

 
Market 

Value of  
Assets (MVA) 

Hypothetical 
Termination 

   Liability1,2 

 at 1.00% 

Funded  

Ratio 

Unfunded 
Termination 

Liability 
at 1.00% 

Hypothetical 
Termination 

    Liability1,2 
 at 2.25% 

Funded 

Ratio 

Unfunded 
Termination 

Liability 
at 2.25% 

$1,267,478 $2,725,607 46.5% $1,458,129 $2,019,356 62.8% $751,878 

 
1 The hypothetical liabilities calculated above include a 5% contingency load. The contingency load and other actuarial 

assumptions can be found in Appendix A. 
 

2 The discount rate used for termination valuations is a weighted average of the 10-year and 30-year U.S. Treasury yields 
where the weights are based on matching asset and liability durations as of the termination date. The discount rates 
used in the table are based on 20-year Treasury bonds, rounded to the nearest quarter percentage point, which is a 
good proxy for most plans. The 20-year Treasury yield was 2.00% on June 30, 2021, the valuation date. 

 
In order to terminate the plan, first contact our Pension Contract Services unit to initiate a Resolution of Intent 

to Terminate. The completed Resolution will allow the plan actuary to provide a preliminary termination valuation 
with a more up-to-date estimate of the plan liabilities. Before beginning this process, please consult with the 

plan actuary. 
 

 

248



CalPERS Actuarial Valuation – June 30, 2021 
PEPRA Miscellaneous Plan of the Carmel Area Wastewater District 

CalPERS ID: 7018407272 

 

Rate Plan belonging to the Miscellaneous Risk Pool Page 22 

 
 

 

Participant Data 
 
The table below shows a summary of the plan’s member data upon which this valuation is based:   

 

 

   June 30, 2020  June 30, 2021 

    

 Active Members     

  Counts  12  13 

  Average Attained Age  46.15  46.20 

  Average Entry Age to Rate Plan  41.95  41.35 

  Average Years of Credited Service  4.13  4.76 

  Average Annual Covered Pay  $86,717  $89,648 

  Annual Covered Payroll  $1,040,599  $1,165,419 

  Present Value of Future Payroll  $9,724,565  $11,414,747 

      

 Transferred Members  0  0 

      

 Separated Members  3  3 

      

 Retired Members and Beneficiaries     

  Counts*  0  0 

  Average Annual Benefits*  $0  $0 

 
Counts of members included in the valuation are counts of the records processed by the valuation. Multiple 
records may exist for those who have service in more than one valuation group. This does not result in double 

counting of liabilities. 
 

* Values include community property settlements. 
 

List of Class 1 Benefit Provisions 

This plan has the additional Class 1 Benefit Provisions: 
 

• None 

249



 
 

CALPERS ACTUARIAL VALUATION - June 30, 2021 
PEPRA Miscellaneous Plan of the Carmel Area Wastewater District 

CalPERS ID: 7018407272 

 

Rate Plan belonging to the Miscellaneous Risk Pool Page 23 
 

 

 

Plan’s Major Benefit Options 
Shown below is a summary of the major optional benefits for which the agency has contracted. A description of principal standard and optional plan provisions 

is in Section 2. 
 

 

Benefit Group 

Member Category Misc       

Demographics        
Actives Yes       
Transfers/Separated Yes       

Receiving No       
Benefit Group Key 111472       

Benefit Provision        
        

Benefit Formula 2% @ 62       

Social Security Coverage Yes       
Full/Modified Full       

        

Employee Contribution Rate 6.75%       
        

Final Average Compensation Period Three Year       
        

Sick Leave Credit Yes       
        

Non-Industrial Disability Standard       
        

Industrial Disability No       
        

Pre-Retirement Death Benefits        
Optional Settlement 2 Yes       

1959 Survivor Benefit Level No       
Special No       

Alternate (firefighters) No       
        

Post-Retirement Death Benefits        
Lump Sum $500       

Survivor Allowance (PRSA) No       
        

COLA 2%       

  
 

 

 

250



 
 

CALPERS ACTUARIAL VALUATION - June 30, 2021 
PEPRA Miscellaneous Plan of the Carmel Area Wastewater District 

CalPERS ID: 7018407272 

 

Rate Plan belonging to the Miscellaneous Risk Pool Page 24 
 

 

PEPRA Member Contribution Rates 

The California Public Employees’ Pension Reform Act of 2013 (PEPRA) established new benefit formulas, final compensation 

period, and contribution requirements for “new” employees (generally those first hired into a CalPERS -covered position on or 
after January 1, 2013). In accordance with Government Code Section 7522.30(b), “new members … shall have an initial 

contribution rate of at least 50% of the normal cost rate.” The normal cost rate is dependent on the plan of retirement 
benefits, actuarial assumptions, and demographics of the risk pool, particularly members’ entry age. Should the total normal 

cost rate change by more than 1% from the base total normal cost rate, the new member rate shall be 50% of the new 
normal cost rate rounded to the nearest quarter percent. 

 
The table below shows the determination of the PEPRA member contribution rates effective July 1, 2023, based on 50% of 

the total normal cost rate as of the June 30, 2021 valuation. 
 

   Basis for Current Rate Rates Effective July 1, 2023 

Rate Plan 

Identifier 
Benefit Group Name 

Total 
Normal 

Cost 

Member 

Rate 

Total 
Normal 

Cost 

Change 
Change 

Needed 

Member 

Rate 

26996 Miscellaneous PEPRA Level 13.735% 6.75% 15.43% 1.695% Yes 7.75% 

 

 

251



 
 

CALPERS ACTUARIAL VALUATION - June 30, 2021 
PEPRA Miscellaneous Plan of the Carmel Area Wastewater District 

CalPERS ID: 7018407272 

 

Rate Plan belonging to the Miscellaneous Risk Pool Page 25 
 

 

Section 2 

 

C A L I F O R N I A  P U B L I C  E M P L O Y E E S ’  R E T I R E M E N T  S Y S T E M  

 
 

 

Risk Pool Actuarial Valuation Information 
 
 

 
 

 
 

Section 2 may be found on the CalPERS website 

(www.calpers.ca.gov) in the Forms and  

Publications section 

 

 

252



STAFF REPORT 
 
 
To:  Board of Directors 
 
From:  Barbara Buikema, General Manager 
 
Date:  February 23, 2023 
 
Subject: CAWD Pension Plan – Actuarial Review July 1, 2022 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION  
 
It is recommended that the Board of Directors make a motion to accept the Carmel Area 
Wastewater District 2022 Actuary Report, with a valuation date of July 1,2022 prepared 
by Nicolay Consulting. 
 
 
DISCUSSION  
 
Nicolay Consulting, the District’s actuary, has completed the July 1, 2022 report for the 
Strategic Asset Management Plan (SAM).  The plan was reviewed by the Pension 
Committee on February 13, 2022. 
 
Actuarial Report Highlights: 
Employer Contribution for plan year ending June 30, 2023:  
       Annual Contribution to fully amortize the Unfunded Actuarial 
       Accrued Liability in five years (adjusted for monthly contributions) 

 
$-0- 

Market Value of Asset on July 1, 2022 $5,608,182 
Actuarial Asset Value on July 1, 2022 $6,053,791 
Present Value of all Accrued Plan Benefits on July 1, 2022 $5,500,816 
Number of Participants on July 1, 2022  
       Retired participants receiving benefits 4 
       Vested Terminated participants entitled to future benefits 3 
       Active participants 6 
       Total participants 13 
 
 
The plan’s funded status on an All Expected Future Benefits basis (represents the present 
value of all expected future benefits under the plan including benefits expected to be 

  

253



earned for future service based on future salary increases) as follows: 
 
 
 

June 30: 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 
Expected 

Future Benefit 97% 96% 100% 103% 102% 108% 110% 
 
 

The unfunded actuarial accrued liability (UAL) as of July 1, 2022 is ($552,975).  Note:  The 
negative value represents the UAL as an asset. 
 
FUNDING  
 
The 2022 Actuary Report recommended minimum required contribution for the 2022-23 
Plan Year is $-0-.     
 
The Pension committee recommended budgeting $100,000 to the Budget committee for 
FY23-24 for future UAL since there is a 6-month lag on the actuarial report.  
 
Nicolay Consulting Services charges to prepare the actuarial report and employee 
statement was $9,260.00.  This included preparation of Government Accounting Standards 
Board (GASB) 68 work for financial statements.  The budget was $10,000. 
 

254



 

 

 

 
 
 

 
Carmel Area  

Wastewater District 
Pension plan 

2022 Actuary’s Report 

Actuarially Determined Contribution for Plan Year 2022/23 

 

 Valuation Date: July 1, 2022 

 Plan Year Ending: June 30, 2023 

 Tax Year Ending: June 30, 2023 

 

 

 

 

255



 

Nicolay Consulting Group  
 

 PENSION CONSULTANTS AND ACTUARIES 

 231 SANSOME STREET, SUITE 300  

 SAN FRANCISCO, CALIFORNIA 94104 
 TEL: 415-512-5300 

 FAX: 415-512-5314 

 

December 14, 2022 

 

Ms. Barbara Buikema 

Carmel Area Wastewater District 

P0 Box 221428 

Carmel, CA 93922 

Dear Ms. Buikema: 

Re:  Carmel Area Wastewater District Pension Plan - July 1, 2022 Actuary's Report   

We have performed an actuarial valuation of the Carmel Area Wastewater District Pension Plan (the “Plan”) 

for the purpose of determining the plan’s funding status as of July 1, 2022 and Actuarially Determined 

Contribution (ADC) for the 2022/23 Plan Year.  This report is provided solely for this purpose and should not 

be used or relied upon for other purposes. It also should not be disclosed or distributed to a third party, unless 

we provide written permission. 

This report is based on actual experience through June 30, 2022 and plan provisions in effect on July 1, 

2022.  The valuation and cost calculations for the 2022/23 Plan Year, as summarized in this report, are 

based on participant data and un-audited Plan financial information provided by Carmel Area Wastewater 

District (the “District”) as of July 1, 2022. 

All costs, liabilities, and other factors under the plan were determined in accordance with generally accepted 

actuarial principles and procedures.  Actuarial assumptions were selected by the plan sponsor. Nicolay 

Consulting Group has reviewed the assumptions and believe them to be reasonable and suitable for the 

purposes of this measurement.  

Future actuarial measurements may differ significantly from the current measurements presented in this 

report due to such factors as the following:  

 plan experience differing from that anticipated by the economic or demographic assumptions;  

 changes in economic or demographic assumptions;  

 increases or decreases expected as part of the natural operation of the methodology used for these 

measurements (such as the end of an amortization period); and  

 changes in plan provisions or applicable law.   

Due to the limited scope of this assignment, we did not perform an analysis of the potential range of possible 

future measurements. 

The valuation was based on results generated in ProVal, a third-party valuation system. Use of this software 

required us to code the plan provisions, assumptions, and methods outlined in this report. We reviewed the 

outputs for reasonableness at a high level and also reviewed sample calculations in detail. We are not aware 

of any material weaknesses or limitations in the software or its parameterization. We certify that the 

amounts presented in the accompanying report have been appropriately determined according to the 

actuarial assumptions stated herein. 

 

256



 

Nicolay Consulting Group  
 

 PENSION CONSULTANTS AND ACTUARIES 

 231 SANSOME STREET, SUITE 300  

 SAN FRANCISCO, CALIFORNIA 94104 
 TEL: 415-512-5300 

 FAX: 415-512-5314 

 

 

The actuarial calculations were completed under the supervision of Earlene L. Young and Malcolm Merrill. 

They have met the Qualification Standards of the American Academy of Actuaries to render the actuarial 

opinion herein.  There is no relationship between the plan sponsor and our employer that would impair our 

objectivity in preparing this report. 

We would be pleased to answer any questions on the material contained in this report or to provide 

explanation or further detail as may be appropriate. 

Respectfully submitted, 

Nicolay Consulting Group     

 

 

 

    
Earlene L. Young, MAAA, FCA, EA     

Senior Actuary           
 

 

 

 

  

Malcolm Merrill, FSA, EA, FCA 

Senior Consulting Actuary 

 

 

257



 
Contents 

Carmel Area Wastewater District Pension Plan 

2022 Actuary's Report 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 

 

SECTION I Summary 1 

 

 

SECTION II Valuation Funding Information 5 

 

 

SECTION III Asset Information 8 

 

 

SECTION IV Census Data 11 

 

 

SECTION V Assumptions and Methods 12 

 

 

SECTION VI Plan Provisions 15 

258



SECTION I 
Summary 

 

Carmel Area Wastewater District Pension Plan Page 1 

2022 Actuary's Report 

A. Highlights 

 

Actuarially Determined Contribution for plan year ending June 30, 2023:   

Annual Contribution to fully amortize the Unfunded Actuarial 

 Accrued Liability in five years (adjusted for monthly contributions) 

 

$ 

 

0 

Market Value of Asset on July 1, 2022 $ 5,608,182 

Actuarial Asset Value on July 1, 2022 $ 6,053,791 

Present Value of all Accrued Plan Benefits on July 1, 2022 $ 5,500,816 

 

Number of Participants at July 1, 2022:   

Retired participants receiving benefits  4 

Terminated vested participants entitled to future benefits  3 

Active participants  6 

Total participants  13 

 

 

259



 
Summary 

 

Carmel Area Wastewater District Pension Plan Page 2 

2022 Actuary's Report 

B. Valuation Summary 

The Carmel Area Wastewater District Pension Plan was established effective July 1, 1969 and has been 

amended from time to time since that date.  The October 29, 2005 Plan amendment froze benefit service as 

of October 29, 2005, credited an additional 3 years of service for active employees and reduced normal 

retirement age from 65 to 62. 

This section presents a summary of the valuation results and the funding status of the Plan at July 1, 2022: 

1. Annual Cost 

Based on funding the initial unfunded actuarial accrued liability over a period of five years from July 1, 

2014 and each Gain/Loss over a 5 year period, the Actuarially Determined Contribution for the 2022/23 

Plan Year is $0. 

2. Change in Annual Cost 

The Actuarially Determined Contribution remained at $0 for the 2022/23 Plan Year.  

 

 2022/2023 2021/2022 2020/2021 

(1) Actuarially Determined Contribution (ADC) $0 $0 $0 

(2) Covered Compensation (less than age 65) $804,534 $784,366 $747,631 

(3) ADC as a Percentage of Covered Compensation 0% 0% 0% 

 

 

260



 
Summary 

 

Carmel Area Wastewater District Pension Plan Page 3 

2022 Actuary's Report 

B. Valuation Summary, continued 

3. Funded Status 

A plan's "funded status" is measured by comparing the Plan's assets with the Plan's actuarial liability.  A 

ratio in excess of 100% means that the Plan's assets exceed the actuarial liability. 

The Plan's actuarial liability may be measured in a variety of ways.  Some of the alternatives are described 

below: 

 Hard Frozen/Terminated Plan Basis: 

This actuarial liability represents the actuarial present value of all benefits accrued as of the valuation 

date, based on service and salary at that date. 

 On-going Plan Basis: 

This actuarial liability represents the actuarial present value of all benefits allocated to plan years prior 

to the valuation date based on a particular actuarial cost method (i.e., Projected Unit Credit cost 

method).  These calculations would include a projection of salary to the anticipated date of 

retirement/termination, based on the salary scale used for determining Plan cost. 

 All Expected Future Plan Benefits: 

This actuarial liability represents the actuarial present value of all expected future benefits under the 

Plan as of the valuation date including benefits expected to be earned for future service based on future 

salary increases. Since service was frozen on October 29, 2005 this is equal to the On-going plan basis. 

The Plan's funded status is described below, based on each of these measures of actuarial liability for the 

current year and the past two years. 

 June 30, 

2022 

June 30, 

2021 

June 30, 

2020 

Actuarial Value of Assets $6,053,791 $5,957,082 $5,496,670 

Actuarial Liabilities: 

 Frozen Plan Basis 

 On-Going Plan/All Expected Future Plan Benefits 

 

$5,060,297 

$5,500,816 

 

$5,003,436 

$5,512,764 

 

$4,871,182 

$5,400,812 

Funded Status: 

 Frozen Plan Basis 

 All Expected Future Plan Benefits 

 

120% 

110% 

 

119% 

108% 

 

113% 

102% 

261



 
Summary 

 

Carmel Area Wastewater District Pension Plan Page 4 

2022 Actuary's Report 

C. Historical Summary 

 2022/2023 2021/2022 2020/2021 2019/2020 2018/2019 

Annual Costs      

Actuarially Determined 

Contribution 
$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 

      

Employer Contribution Made 
Not  

Available 
$0 $0 $0 $34,600 

 

ASSETS AT BEGINNING OF 

PLAN YEAR 

     

      

Market Value of Assets $5,608,182 $6,705,582 $5,532,152 $5,432,101 $5,263,465 

Actuarial Value of Assets $6,053,791 $5,957,082 $5,496,670 $5,368,290 $5,126,285 

      

ACTUARIAL LIABILITIES 

AT BEZGINNING OF PLAN 

YEAR 

     

      

Actuarial Accrued Liability $5,500,816 $5,512,764 $5,400,812 $5,211,326 $5,112,788 

Unfunded Actuarial Accrued 

Liability (Asset) 
($552,975) ($444,318) ($95,858) ($156,964) ($13,497) 

      

NUMBER OF 

PARTICIPANTS 

     

      

Retired 4 4 4 3 3 

Disabled 0 0 0 0 0 

Vested Termination 3 3 3 4 4 

Active      6      6      6      6     6  

      

Total 13 13 13 13 13 

      

      

 
 

262



 
Valuation Funding Information 

Carmel Area Wastewater District Pension Plan Page 5 

2022 Actuary's Report 

A. Development of the 2022/2023 Employer Contribution  

  Contribution required to amortize the July 1, 2022 unfunded actuarial accrued liability over a closed 

5-year period plus gains and losses over 5 years. 

 

 

 (a) Normal cost at July 1, 2022 $ 0 

 

 (b) Amortization of Unfunded Actuarial  

  Accrued liability since July 1, 2022 over 5 years, payable 

  as of beginning of year [see Section II(C)]  0 

 

 (c) Interest adjustment for monthly payments at 4.50%  0 

 

 (d) Actuarially Determined Contribution for 2022/2023 plan year, 

  payable monthly $ 0 
 

 

 

B. Development of the Unfunded Actuarial Accrued Liability 

 

 

1. Projected Unit Credit actuarial accrued liability as of  

July 1, 2022 

(a) Active Participants 

(b) Retired Participants 

(c) Disabled Participants 

(d) Terminated Vested Participants 

 

 

2. Actuarial Value of Assets as of July 1, 2022 

 

3. Unfunded Actuarial Accrued Liability (asset) as of  

July 1, 2022 (1) – (2) 

 

 

 

 

 

$2,584,650 

2,518,026 

0 

   398,140 

$5,500,816 

 

$6,053,791 

 

 

($ 552,975) 

 

263



 
Valuation Funding Information 

Carmel Area Wastewater District Pension Plan Page 6 

2022 Actuary's Report 

C. Summary of Amortization Bases Used in Development of 2022/2023 
 Employer Contribution Range 

Amortization bases for the District have been fully amortized as of June 30, 2022.  Future actuarial 

gains and losses on/after July 1, 2022 will be amortized over a 5-year period beginning on the date 

established. Since the Plan is fully funded, the amortization payment is zero. 

 

      Annual 

     Remaining Amortization 

   Date Initial Balance Payment 

  Initial Estab- Period on (Payable 

Item Amount lished (Years) 7/1/2022 Monthly)  

 

 Total       N/A  0 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 

264



SECTION III 
Asset Information 

Carmel Area Wastewater District Pension Plan Page 7 

2022 Actuary's Report 

A. Statement of Plan Assets at June 30, 2022 

The assets of the Carmel Area Wastewater District Pension Plan are invested with Commonwealth 

Financial Network 

 

 

Investments: 

 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Pooled Mutual Fund-Equity 

Pooled Mutual Fund-Fixed Income 

Participant Loans 

 

Cash value at June 30, 2022 

 

Receivable from disbursement account 

 

Loan payment receivable 

 

Market Value assets at June 30, 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

$     69,777 

4,099,945 

1,372,916 

           2,594 

 

 $ 5,545,232 

 

$62,950 

 

              0 

 

$   5,608,182 

 

265



 
Asset Information 

Carmel Area Wastewater District Pension Plan Page 8 

2022 Actuary's Report 

B. Changes in Assets during the 2021/2022 Plan Year 

 

 1. Market Value assets at July 1, 2021   $ 6,705,582 

 

 

 2. Changes during year 

 

  (a) Credits 

    (i) Employer contributions $ 0 

    (ii) Participant contributions  0 

   (iii) Earned income   116,446 

   (iv) Investment gain (unrealized and realized) (992,571) 

    (v) Total credits    (876,125) 

 

  (b) Charges  

    (i) Investment Expenses $ 46,245 

    (ii) Retirement and Disability benefits  173,066 

   (iii) Lump sum benefits  0 

   (iv) Loan defaulted  0 

   (v)  Administrative fees   1,964 

   (vi) Total charges              221,275 

 

 3. Market Value assets at June 30, 2022 = 1 + 2(a)(v) - 2(b)(v)   $ 5,608,182 
 

 

266



 
Asset Information 

Carmel Area Wastewater District Pension Plan Page 9 

2022 Actuary's Report 

C. ACTUARIAL VALUE OF ASSETS – ASSET AVERAGING 

 
 

(1) July 1, 2022 Market Value  $ 5,608,182 

 

(2)Previous Asset Gains and Losses 

 (i) 

Amount 

(ii) 

Weighting 

(iii) 

(i) x (ii) 

(a) 2021/22 Gain  

(b) 2020/21 Gain 

(c) Total Asset Adjustment 

 $  (1,220,183) 

 1,103,538 

2/3 

1/3 

 

 $(813,455) 

     367,846 

 $(445,609)  

 

 

(3) Adjusted Assets [(1) – (2)(e)(iii)] 

 

(4) Minimum Actuarial Value of Assets  [ 85% x (1) ] 

 

(5) Maximum Actuarial Value of Assets  [ 115% x (1) ] 

 

(6) Actuarial Value of Assets [ (3); not less than (4) or more than (5) ] 

 

$6,053,791 

 

4,766,955 

 

6,449,409 

 

$6,053,791 

 

 

 

 

267



SECTION IV 
Census Data 

 

Carmel Area Wastewater District Pension Plan Page 10 

2022 Actuary's Report 

A. Classification of Participants  

  

  July 1, 2022 July 1, 2021 

 

  1. Active participants accruing benefits: 

 

   (a) Under normal retirement age     5   5  

   (b) Over normal retirement age     1    1 

   (c) Total     6   6 

 

  2. Terminated participants with deferred vested benefits     3   3 

 

  3. Retired and disabled participants presently receiving 

   benefit payments     4   4 

 

  4. Total = (1c) + (2) + (3)   13   13 

 
  

 

B. Age and Service Profile of Active Participants 

 

  Completed Years of Accrual Service July 1, 2022  

 

 Age  1-4 5-9 10-14 15-19 20-30 30+  Total 

 

   0-24  -  -  -  -  -   -  - 

 25-29  -  -  -  -  -   -  - 

 30-34  -  -  -  -  -   -  - 

 35-39  -  -  -  -  -   -  - 

 40-44  -  -  -  -  -   -  - 

 45-49  -  -  -  1  2  -  3 

 50-54  -  -  -  -  1  -  1 

 55-59  -  -  -  -  1  -  1 

 60-64  -  -  -  -  -   -  -  

 65-69  -  -  -  -  1  -  1 

   70+      -  -           -               -  -     -   - 

 

      -  -           -             1      5    -   6 

 

 

 
Active Participants July 1, 2022 July 1, 2021 
 

Average Age 

Average Service Plan Participation: 

Average Annual Salary: 

 

53.93 

23.97 

$134,089 

 

52.93 

22.97 

$130,728 

268



 
Assumptions and Methods 

 

Carmel Area Wastewater District Pension Plan Page 11 

2022 Actuary's Report 

A summary of the actuarial methods and assumptions used in the July 1, 2022 actuarial valuation of the 

Plan follows: 

Actuarial Methods:  

  

Actuarial Cost Method: Projected Unit Credit Actuarial Cost Method.  

 

 

Valuation of Assets: Effective July 1, 2014, the Actuarial Value of Assets are determined 

based on the smoothed market value (without phasing).  Under this 

method, a gain or loss for a year is determined by calculating the 

difference between the expected value of the assets for the year and 

the fair market value of assets at the valuation date.  The actuarial 

value of assets is equal to the market value of plan’s assets with gains 

subtracted or losses added at the rates described as follows: 

 

(1)  2/3 of the prior year’s gain or loss, plus 

(2)  1/3 of the second preceding year’s gain or loss 

 

The asset value determined under this method will be adjusted to be no 

greater than 115% and no less than 85% of the fair market value. 

 

 Before July 1, 2014, assets are valued at fair market value on June 30 

as reported by the District. 

  

Actuarial Assumptions:  

  

Investment Yield (CO): 4.50% per annum, net of investment expenses 

 

The investment return assumption is based on a blending of historical 

asset returns for a benchmark portfolio and a forward looking expected 

return based on the 2022 JP Morgan capital market assumptions. Both 

returns are based on the plan’s investment policy of 60% equities, 38% 

fixed income and 2% cash. The single effective investment yield 

assumption is found by discounting projected cashflows during the 

first 10 years at the forward looking rate, and cashflows after 20 years 

using the historical asset returns. Between years 10 and 20, cashflows 

are discounted based on an interpolation of the two rates.  

  

  

Salary Scale (FE): 

 

3.5% per annum. 

 

The salary scale assumption is based on actual salary increases during 

the 5 year period ending June 30, 2022. 

  

Rate of Retirement (FE): Participants are expected to retire on their Normal Retirement Date. 

269



 
Assumptions and Methods 

 

Carmel Area Wastewater District Pension Plan Page 12 

2022 Actuary's Report 

  

As the plan does not provide for early retirement, and late retirement 

benefits are actuarially equivalent to the Normal Retirement Benefit, 

assuming retirement at Normal Retirement Age is reasonable. 

 

Rate of Employee Turnover 

(FE): 

None 

 

Based on prior experience, and to be conservative, it is assumed that 

all participants will continue in employment until Normal Retirement 

Age.  

 

Rate of Disability (FE): None 

 

Based on prior experience, and to be conservative, it is assumed that all 

participants will continue in employment until Normal Retirement Age. 

  

Rate of Mortality (FE): (1) Pre-retirement:   None 

 

 

 

(2) Post-retirement: 

 For 2022 Valuation: PubG(A)-2010 Healthy Annuitant Mortality table 

with Generational Improvements based on Scale 

MP-2021 

 

For 2021 Valuation: PubG(A)-2010 Healthy Annuitant Mortality table 

with Generational Improvements based on Scale 

MP-2020 

  

Mortality rates are set in accordance with recent mortality studies completed 

by the SOA. Based on employee compensation, the above median mortality 

rates were selected. No pre-retirement mortality is selected to approximate the 

value of the death benefit under the plan. 

 

Expenses: It is assumed that expenses will be paid by investment returns greater than the 

assumed investment yield (i.e., investment return is net of expenses). 

  

Payment Form (FE): 

 

 

It is assumed that : 

(a) 50% participants elect lump sums, 

(b) 50% participants elect annuity payments. 

. 

Amortization Period 

of Unfunded Liabilities 

The unfunded actuarial accrued liabilities are fully amortized as of July, 1 

2022. Gains and losses arising on/after July 1, 2022 will be amortized over a 

5-year period. 

  

FE:  Indicates an assumption is an estimate of future experience.  

MD:  Indicates an assumption is an estimate inherent in market data. 

CO:  Indicates an assumption is based on a combination of estimated future experience and estimates 

inherent in market data. 

270



SECTION VI 
Plan Provisions 

 

Carmel Area Wastewater District Pension Plan Page 13 

2022 Actuary's Report 

Effective Date: July 1, 1969 

  

Most Recent 

 Restatement Date: 

 

July 1, 2003 

  

Most Recent 

 Amendment Date: 

 

Effective July 1, 2009  

  

Plan Year: July 1 to June 30 

  

Eligibility for Coverage: All employees hired prior to October 29, 2005. 

  

Employee Contribution: None required. 

  

District Contribution: Full cost of Plan. 

  

Normal Retirement Date: July 1 after reaching age 62 and completing five years of Plan 

participation. 

  

Delayed Retirement Date: First of any month following actual retirement after attaining age 62 and 

completion of five years of Plan participation.  An employee can work 

beyond his normal retirement date and continue to earn pension 

benefits. 

  

Early Retirement Date: None 

  

Disability Total and permanent disability which lasts at least six months resulting 

in termination of employment. 

  

Normal Form of 

 Retirement Benefit: 

The amount of annual retirement income determined by the benefit 

formula is payable monthly for life with 120 payments guaranteed. 

  

Automatic Form of 

 Distribution of 

 Retirement Benefit: 

Unless otherwise elected by the participant, the normal retirement 

benefit will be automatically paid to a married participant in the form of 

a reduced actuarial equivalent joint and 50% to survivor annuity. 

  

271



 
Plan Provisions 

 

Carmel Area Wastewater District Pension Plan Page 14 

2022 Actuary's Report 

Optional Forms of 

 Distribution of 

 Retirement Benefit: 

If elected by the participant, his benefit, in an actuarial equivalent 

amount, may be paid in the form of: 

 

(a) a joint and survivor annuity with the reduced survivor annuity 

payable as 50%, 66-2/3% or 100% of the monthly benefit payable 

during the lifetime of the participant; 

(b) a straight life annuity; 

(c) a life only annuity; 

(d) a lump sum payment. 

  

Formula for Annual, 

 Normal Retirement 

 Benefit: 

2.5% of the average earnings paid to the employee during the highest 

one plan year, multiplied by the number of years of accrual service. 

  

Accrual Service: 

 

 

 

 

 

Total number of Years in which an employee is credited with at least 

1,000 hours of service. No accrual service shall be credited after 

October 29, 2005. Participants employed on October 29, 2005 shall be 

credited with an additional 3 years plus 0.333 years for the period July1, 

2005 through October 31, 2005. 

 

Early Retirement Benefit: None 

  

Benefit at Deferred 

Retirement: 

Greater of the accrued benefit, based on accrual service and 

compensation to late retirement date and the actuarially increased 

Normal Retirement Benefit. 

 

Disability Benefit: Immediate payment of actuarial equivalence of the accrued benefit 

calculated the same as a retirement benefit, based on average earnings 

and accrual service as of the disability retirement date. 

  

Death Benefit:  

  

 Prior to Retirement: The greater of the actuarial equivalent of the  Vested Accrued Benefit 

(applicable to married or unmarried participants), or the benefit the 

participant's spouse would have received if the participant had 

terminated on his date of death and elected to begin receiving his 

benefit under the automatic joint and 50% to surviving spouse pension 

option commencing on his earliest retirement date 

  

 After Retirement: In accordance with the annuity payment form in effect. 

272



 
Plan Provisions 

 

Carmel Area Wastewater District Pension Plan Page 15 

2022 Actuary's Report 

Vesting: . 
 Years of   Vested 

Vesting 

Service  Percent 

0-2  0% 

3  20% 

4  40% 

5  60% 

6  80% 

7 or more  100% 

   
 

  

Vesting Service Total number of Years in which an employee is credited with at least 

1,000 hours of service. For participants employed on October 29, 

2005, an additional three years is credited. 

 

Benefit: Vested Accrued Benefit as of date of termination, payable as of Normal 

Retirement date.  Immediate lump sum option available.  

 

Plan Factors for Actuarial  

Equivalence 

Interest: 6.25% 

Pre-Retirement Mortality: None 

Post Retirement Mortality: 94 GAR (50% male 50% female) 

 

Termination of Plan: In the event of termination of the Plan, funds are to be distributed, to 

the extent available, in the following order: 

 

(a) benefits of participants who had retired prior to plan termination; 

(b) benefits of participants who had reached Normal Retirement Age 

at termination, but had not yet retired; 

(c) all other benefits; 

 

  

Administration: The District is the Plan Administrator. 

  

Funding of Plan: Through a Trust, assets are held at Commonwealth  Financial 

Network. 

 

273



Staff Report 

TO: Board of Directors 

FROM: Barbara Buikema, General Manager 

DATE: February 23, 2023 

SUBJECT: Double Time Pay Issue 

RECOMMENDATION 

It is recommended that the Board of Directors make a motion concurring with the decision 
of the Salary & Benefits Committee to uphold the Superintendent’s double time offer, but 
for one time only.  Salary & Benefits recommended no change to current District policy on 
double time. 

DISCUSSION 

During the January storms the District had staff members that worked in excess of 24 hours 
continuously.  We had workers who stayed at the plant and workers who remained on 
duty for the collections system.  Staff was told by the three operational superintendents 
that because the hours were worked consecutively in one shift that that the time after 12 
hours would be paid as double time.  This is neither District policy nor is it California State 
law. 

District policy for the payment of hours is the same as the state.  The District sets the 
workweek from Monday through Sunday, and the workday start time at 12:01 a.m. to 
midnight.  The first 8 hours is regular pay, hours over 8 up to 12 is paid at overtime, and 
any time over 12 is paid at double time.  The concept of “pyramiding” or paying double 
time on hours that overlap into a new workday is not in District policy or state law.  The 
District could make a decision to pay this way; however, it potentially creates problems 
when computing the next day and the week in total. 

The Salary & Benefits Committee determined that the District should pay double time for 
the period the Superintendents promised.  However, any time after that would revert to 
the District policy and state laws.   

274



Further, the District makes no concessions for any future negotiations. 

Our Human Resources consultant was asked to contact other Districts and see if there was 
anyone who paid more generously than California wage and hour law.  She contacted five 
districts that all agreed the District was paying in accordance with state law, and that their 
agency did not pay in excess of state law.  One agency has an “emergency” stipend.  And 
one other agency indicated that it would be a management decision in an emergency. 

This episode has also resulted in a recognition that we need to obtain some training in 
California labor law for all managerial staff.  At a minimum they all need to be able to 
speak accurately to staff regarding wage issues. 

FINANCIAL 

There are four people who worked through the night during the atmospheric storm event.  
If the average rate of pay is assumed at $53/hr., The District would end up with 10 hours of 
time paid at regular pay that would convert to double time.  That computes to $2,120 plus 
appropriate payroll taxes of $162 for a total of $2,282.  There are no additional benefit 
charges to double time. 

275



                                                                                                           DRAFT 
 

BOARD TELECONFERENCING RULES  
EFFECTIVE AS OF MARCH 1, 2023 

 
With the recent announcement that the COVID-19 State of Emergency will be lifted by 
the Governor in California effective February 28, 2023, local public agencies are 
considering their next steps for returning to their boardrooms in the coming year. 
 
Back on September 16, 2021, Governor Newsom signed Assembly Bill 361 (AB 361), 
which incorporated into California state law some aspects of the teleconferencing rules 
that had applied by Executive Order to local public agencies during the COVID-19 
pandemic. However, AB 361 provides that it sunsets on January 1, 2024. 
 
Benefits of operating under AB 361 during the COVID-19 pandemic, as opposed to 
under the normal open meeting laws, included the following: 
 
• Agendas did not need to be posted at all remote teleconference locations; 

 
• Each teleconference location did not need to be identified in the notice and agenda of 

the meeting; 
 

• Each remote teleconference location did not need to be accessible to the public; and 
 

• A quorum of the members of the Board did not need to participate in the meeting 
from locations within the boundaries of the territory over which the board exercised 
jurisdiction. 

 

[Note:  The above four “normal” pre-Covid-19 teleconference requirements under the 
Brown Act have remained in effect and will continue to be available to board 
members under appropriate circumstances.] 

 

With the COVID-19 State of Emergency in fact ending on February 28, 2023, AB 361 
may only continue to be invoked if: 
 
• State of local officials have imposed or recommended measures to promote social 

distancing; and 
 
• The Board has continuously made the 30-day renewal findings and continues to do so 

going forward. 
 

276



In the interim, Assembly Bill 2449 (AB 2449) was signed by the Governor on September 
16, 2022, and it amends the Brown Act further, effective from January 1, 2023 through 
the end of 2025 (when its special teleconferencing rules will expire). 
 
AB 2449 authorizes local public agencies to use teleconferencing under more rigorous 
requirements than under AB 361, but the rules are still more flexible than those in effect 
prior to the COVID-19 pandemic.  For example, under AB 2449, members of a public 
agency board may continue to use teleconferencing without complying with the standard 
requirements that (a) the agency notice each remote teleconference location of each 
member who will be participating in the meeting; (2) each remote teleconference location 
be accessible to the public; and (3) members of the public be allowed to address the board 
at each remote teleconference location. 
 
However, to use the AB 2449 teleconferencing rules, at least a quorum of the board 
members must be present together physically within the jurisdiction of the board.  Also, a 
board member may participate by teleconference only if there is “just cause” or an 
“emergency circumstance,” both of which are defined by law and are further outlined 
below.  Further, unlike with “just cause,” the board must by majority vote affirm that an 
“emergency circumstance” situation does exist. 
 
AB 2449 defines “just cause” as restricted to only the following situations: 
 
• A childcare or caregiving need of a child, parent, grandparent, grandchild, sibling, 

spouse or domestic partner that requires them to participate remotely. 
 
• A contagious illness that prevents a member from attending in person. 
 

• A need related to a physical or mental disability, as defined; or 
 

• Travel while on official business of the board’s agency or another state or local 
agency. 

 

In addition to meeting the statutorily required criteria, a board member who intends to 
participate via teleconference must notify the legislative body at the earliest opportunity 
possible, including at the start of a regular meeting, of the need to participate remotely for 
just cause and provide a general description of the circumstances relating to their need to 
appear remotely at the given meeting. AB 2449 prohibits a board member from 
participating via teleconference for “just cause” for more than two meetings in a calendar 
year. 
 
AB 2449 defines an “emergency circumstance” as “a physical or family medical 
emergency that prevents a member from attending in person.”  To invoke the “emergency 
circumstance” situation, the following procedural requirements must also be satisfied: 
 

277



1. “The member requests the legislative body to allow them to participate in the meeting 
remotely due to emergency circumstances and the legislative body takes action to 
approve the request.  The legislative body shall request a general description of the 
circumstances relating to their need to appear remotely at the given meeting.  A 
general description of an item generally need not exceed 20 words and shall not 
require the member to disclose any medical diagnosis or disability or any personal 
medical information that is already exempt under existing law. . . .” 

 
2. A member shall make a request to participate remotely at a meeting pursuant to this 

clause as soon as possible.  The member shall make a separate request for each 
meeting in which they seek to participate remotely. 

 

3. The board must take action on a request to participate remotely at the earliest 
opportunity.  If the request does not allow sufficient time to place the proposed action 
to such a request on the posted agenda for the meeting for which the request is made, 
the board may take action at the beginning of the meeting. 

 

In addition, two other conditions apply under AB 2449 if a board member is permitted to 
teleconference for either “just cause” or “emergency circumstances”: 
 
1. “The member shall publicly disclose at the meeting before any action is taken 

whether any other individuals 18 years of age or older are present in the room at the 
remote location with the member and the general nature of the member’s relationship 
with any such individuals.” 

 
2. “The member shall participate through both audio and visual technology.”  That is, a 

board member who attends by teleconference must be both audible and visible to 
those attending. 

 

Additionally, AB 2449 does not permit its teleconferencing rules to be invoked by any 
board member for more than three consecutive months or 20 percent of the regular 
meetings of the board within a calendar year if the board meets at least 10 times per 
calendar year (in addition to the limitation on “just cause” exceptions invoked by a board 
member to no more than two meetings per calendar year). 
 
Finally, to invoke AB 2449 teleconferencing rules, the agency must: 
 
1. Provide at least one of the following means by which the public may remotely hear 

and visually observe the meeting and remotely address the board; 
 

o A two-way audiovisual platform 
 

o A two-way telephonic service and a live webcasting of the meeting. 
 

278



2. In the agenda, identify how to provide public comment and identify and include an 
opportunity for all persons to attend and address the board directly “via a call-in 
option, via an internet-based service option and at the in-person location of the 
meeting”; 
 

3. Pause the meeting when there is a teleconference disruption; and 
 

4. Implement a procedure for receiving and swiftly  resolving requests for reasonable 
accommodations for individuals with disabilities and provide notice of this procedure 
in notifications and agendas for the meeting. 

 

 
As noted above, the State of Emergency due to the COVID-19 pandemic is scheduled to 
end on February 28, 2023.  This will significantly impact the ability for boards to 
continue to meet under the authorization and procedures established by AB 361 before it 
sunsets at the end of 2023.  As such, board members of local public agencies should 
prepare to return to their boardrooms and should also evaluate their ability and set up 
procedures to comply with the new AB 2449 requirements should a board member need 
to participate via teleconference because there is “just cause” or an “emergency 
circumstance.” 

 
 
 
 

279



 
STAFF REPORT 
 
To:  Board of Directors 
 
From: Domine Barringer                                            

Secretary of the Board 
 
Date:  February 23, 2022 
 
Subject: Form 700 Statement of Economic Interest FY2022-2023 

Reminder and Timeline Submission 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION  
 
It is recommended that the Board of Directors and all principal officers who are filing 
Form 700 submit the final documents into the administration office on or before Monday, 
March 16, 2023.   
 
 
DISCUSSION 
 
The filing deadline, for Form 700, into Clerk of the Board for Monterey County is April 
3rd , 2023.  Having the submission completed in advance allows time for any corrections 
that are needed prior to the April 3rd deadline.  
 
Copies of the prior year Form 700 and the current Form 700 have been provided under 
separate cover. 
 

 

 
 

280



 Information/Discussion Items

281



Carmel Area Wastewater District 
WWTP Elec/Mech Rehab and Sludge Holding Tank Replacement Project 

 
Construction Progress Report 

 
February 8th, 2023 

 

Prepared by: Patrick Treanor, Plant Engineer 
Contractor: Clark Bros Inc (CBI) 

  

  

 
             

282



Section 1: Project Summary 

Project Summary 
General Contractor  Clark Bros Inc 
Contract Value 
Contract Bid Amount  $7,291,500 
Change Orders Issued to Date  1 
Value Added Change 
Order Cost (1) 

% of Bid Amount $43,899.09  0.60% 

Non Value Added 
Change Order Cost (2) 

% of Bid Amount $71,838.19 0.99% 

Total Change Order 
Cost 

% of Bid Amount $115,737.28 1.6% 

Current Contract Value  $7,407,237.28 
Open/Pending Potential Change Orders (PCO) 2 
Contract Time 
Notice To Proceed September 7th, 2021 
Original Contract Time  550 Calendar Days 
Calendar Days Elapsed  520 Days 
Weather Days: Accepted to Date  3 Days 
Contract Change Order(s) Time Extension  0 Days 
Current Contract Completion Date  March 11th, 2023 
Contract Progress Summary 
Total Project Time Expended  95% 
Total Project Construction Cost Expended  60% (not including retention) 

Notes: 
1. Value Added Change Orders include: District Requested Additional Work and 

Betterments 
2. Non Value Added Change Orders include: Design Issues, and 

Unforeseen/Differing Site Conditions  

283



Section 2: Work Performed This Month 

2.1 General 

Work this month was influenced by wet weather which slowed work for about a week 
and a half. Minor mechanical work at the Influent Pump Station, Headworks, and 
Chlorination Building was conducted. Electricians worked on conduit rough in 
anticipation for the delayed Motor Control Center (MCC) equipment to start arriving in 
February. Work continued on the old sludge tanks removal and backfill. 

2.1.1 Submittals 

Submittals reviewed this month included the revised critical path schedule to reflect 
current progress and plan forward amongst delays in MCC procurement. Also, an 
access hatch submittal was received and a seismic calculation submittal for the 
Headworks mechanical bar screen. 

2.1.2 PLC Programming 

PLC programming by Frisch Engineering is in progress. 

2.2 Site Work 

2.2.1 Potholing/Locating Existing Utilities 

None. 

2.3 Sludge Holding Tank Replacement 

Work included demolition of the old sludge tanks underground piping and now that 
the structures are completely removed backfill activities have begun. The new tank and 
mixing pump have been operating continually without issue since late November. The 
new hose bibs at the sludge tank were installed and piping was leak tested. 

2.4 Influent Pump Station Rehab 

Clark Bros demolished an old grease pump from the influent dry well and installed 
new pipe supports on new Influent Pump #4. A new stair rail height extension was 
installed. Some corrective work was done on electrical boxes supports that were 
installed a few months ago to make them plumb. Commissioning of the first new 
Influent Pump is pending delivery and installation of the new Influent MCC. 

284



2.5 Headworks Rehab 

Clark Bros conducted additional mechanical piping work for grit channel flushing 
piping and electricians roughed in conduits for the mechanical bar screens. 
Commissioning of the new screens is pending delivery and installation of the new 
Headworks MCC. 

2.6 Chlorination Building Rehab/3W System Improvements 

Clark Bros grouted tank supports for the new #3 Water (3W) bladder tank. 

2.7 Effluent Pump Station Rehab 

No work observed. 

Section 3: Project Issues 

In March 2022, Clark Bros informed CAWD of delays in procurement of the Motor 
Control Center (MCC) equipment. The Clark Bros schedule provided soon after this 
notice showed MCC equipment arriving in mid-September, which had only a minor 
impact on the overall project completion schedule.  

On September 1st, 2022, Clark Bros notified CAWD that the MCC were experiencing 
further delays beyond what was previously anticipated and the MCC may not be onsite 
until June of 2023. This procurement schedule would have significant impacts on the 
project schedule. CAWD sent a notice to Clark Bros on September 7th, 2022 stating that 
CAWD will incur financial loss if the work is not completed in the Contract Time, and 
reaffirming that there hasn’t been a change to the Contract Time stipulated in the 
Agreement. 

Clark Bros has been working diligently with the supplier in getting the MCC onsite 
without significant delays. The latest revised estimate for delivery of MCC is early 
February 2023 for Influent and Headworks MCCs and April 2023 for Chlorination and 
Effluent MCCs. 

  

285



Section 4: RFI and Submittals Review Summary 

The following table contains a summary of RFI/Clarifications and Submittals to date: 

 Total Number  
Processed 

Number Received   
in Current Month 

RFI/Clarifications 42 1 

Submittals 159 2 

 

Section 5: Change Order Summary 

Potential change orders (PCOs) are being generated for differing site conditions, owner 
requested changes, and design issues.  

 

Total Number 
Processed to 

Date 

Open PCO 
Pending 

Quote/Approval 

Number 
Generated in 

Current Month 

Total Cost 
Approved to 

Date 

Potential Change 
Orders (PCO) 

11 2 2 NA 

Change Orders 3 0 0 $115,737.28 

 

Section 6: Project Schedule and Budget 

6.1 Schedule 

MCC deliveries have been a moving target and have already delayed the project by 
about 3 months. Clark Bros submitted a revised schedule in December and again in 
January that reflects the delays to project completion. Once MCC are delivered the 
project completion date will become more certain. 

286



6.2 Budget 

At this time the approved change orders amount to 1.6% of the project cost. The project 
management team is continually monitoring the costs of potential changes to manage 
costs. 

Currently the amount to be paid to CBI is 60% (not including retention) of the total 
approved budget (66% with retention). 

Section 7: Photos 

• Sludge Holding Tank Replacement 
• Influent Pump Station Rehab 
• Headworks Rehab 
• Chlorination Building/3W System Improvements 

287



Photos:
Sludge Holding Tank 

Replacement

288



289



290



291



292



293



294



295



296



297



Photos:
Influent Pump Station Rehab

298



299



300



301



Photos:
Headworks Rehab

302



303



304



305



306



Photos:
Chlorination Building/3W System 

Improvements

307



308



STAFF REPORT 
 
 
To:   Board of Directors  
 
From:   Patrick Treanor, Plant Engineer 
 
Date:  February 23, 2023 
 
Subject:  Project #18-01 - Wastewater Treatment Plant (WWTP) Rehab Paving 

Repairs Change Order 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
Receive Report- Informational only; no action required.  
 
DISCUSSION 
 

 

There have been discussions at recent Construction Committee and Budget Committee 
meetings regarding a possible change order to the current WWTP Elec/Mech Rehab and 
Sludge Holding Tank Project to expand the paving scope of work to include all paved 
areas of the WWTP. The existing asphalt paving throughout the plant is in poor 
condition and needs major repair. 
 
Certain areas of the paving are more damaged than others. Some areas will require 
complete removal of the existing surface to allow placement of new pavement; other 
areas can be repaired by grinding and repaving a thin section of the paving or 
resurfaced by means of slurry seal. Paving costs rule of thumb is around $3 to $4 per 
square foot, but the total cost increases when damaged material and subbase needs to 
be removed prior to placing the new paving section. The square footage of pavement at 
the plant is about 125,000 square feet. Therefore, estimated cost to return the paving to 
good condition is on the order of $500,000. 
 
CAWD staff has been developing plans on how to approach the various paving issues 
throughout the facility and initial conversations have been had with the contractor 
(Clark Bros). Staff intends to develop a cost effective approach and request a price quote 
from Clark Bros. If a reasonable price can be negotiated staff intends to bring a 
resolution for a contract change order to the full board for a decision in March.    

 

 

 

309



 
STAFF REPORT 
 
 
To:  Board of Directors 
 
From:  Barbara Buikema, General Manager 
 
Date:  February 23, 2023 
 
Subject: Pebble Beach Community Services District (PBCSD) – Regular Board 

Meeting on January 27, 2023 
 
 
DISCUSSION 
 
Agenda items from the January 27, 2023, meeting that are of specific interest to this 
District: 

 
• Total cash balance at the end of December 2022 was $33.3M; of that amount $17.2M 

was designated for Capital Acquisition and Outlay Reserves. Property taxes 
comprise roughly 80% of PBCSD revenues with user fees making up 22% of total 
actual cost of wastewater operations.  
 

• Total revenues through December 2022 in the cash-based budget were $13.5M of 
budget.  Total expenditures were $4.5M or 15% of budget. 
 

• PBCSD presented their Annual Comprehensive Financial Report for the year ended 
June 30, 2022.  Their audit firm, Eide Bailly, gave a “clean opinion” on the financials. 
 

• Approximately 115 million gallons (MG) or 353 AF of recycled water is stored in 
Forest Lake which represents 100% of permitted capacity.   Forest Lake Reservoir 
reached its full storage capacity on January 23, 2023.  The storage volume is 28% 
above the historic average of 90 MG. 
 

• Average daily wastewater flow of 780,000 gallons per day (GPD) was measured in 
December at the PBCSD-Carmel gate. This represents 42% of the total flow at the 
Carmel Area Wastewater District (CAWD) treatment facility.  
 

 

310



The measured PBCSD flow was 74% above the five-year average of 446,000 GPD for 
the month of December.  The CAWD total flows were 40% above the five-year 
average of 1,334,000 GPD for December. 
 

• Total irrigation water demand for the 2022 calendar year through December was 
1,073-acre feet (AF). Total demand for the calendar year is 11% above the 5-year 
average of 969 AF through December.  The 2022 irrigation demand to-date through 
December is 12% above last year’s end of December of 961 AF.  The month of 
December reflected a net storage increase of approximately 39MG. 
 

• All six alternative source water projects are offline and will remain offline until after 
the winter wet season.  Total production for the 2022 calendar year through 
December was approximately 16.5 MG.   
 

• The Reclamation Distribution Main Cathodic Protection Project is currently 
coordinating with CAWD staff on finalizing the design and installation of deep 
anode well at the CAWD treatment plant.  The design revision is anticipated to 
mitigate CAWD’s concerns for potential impacts to adjacent underground utilities at 
the treatment plant. 
 

• Average daily wastewater flows measured in million gallons per day (MG) show: 
 

MONTH TOTAL CAWD FLOW PBCSD FLOW PBCSD 
July – 22 36.043 24.579 11.464 31.806% 
Aug – 22 35.881 24.412 11.469 31.964% 
Sept – 22 33.941 23.173 10.768 31.726% 
Oct - 22 31.961 22.411 9.550 29.880% 

Nov – 22 34.002 22.641 11.361 33.413% 
Dec - 22 57.963 33.771 24.192 41.737% 

Total 229.791 150.987 78.804 34.293% 
 

311



 
Staff Report 
 
 
TO:  Board of Directors 
 
FROM: Barbara Buikema, General Manager 
     
DATE: February 23, 2023 
 
SUBJECT: Reclamation Management Committee 02-07-23 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
This is informational for discussion purposes only. 
 
DISCUSSION 
 
This was a fairly routine meeting inasmuch as there were no unusual items or items that 
had not already been brought up either during budget or earlier meetings.  Discussion as 
follows: 
 

• Mr. Grover reviewed the preliminary Reclamation financial statements for the six 
months ended December 31, 2022.  Results to date are very close to what they were 
one year ago.  Water sales up 18% due to higher price per acre foot (AF).  Total 
waster sold is 486 AF down from 489 AF prior year.  Operating income $112K or 5% 
under budget.   
 

• Mr. Waggoner gave a presentation on Micro Filtration/Reverse Osmosis Operations 
and Maintenance.  Staff continues to work with Trussell Technologies to maximize 
efficiency and lifespan of the filters.  Staff is planning on completing maintenance 
during a shutdown when the reservoir is full.  The Project is now nearly completely 
off the legacy RSView32 platform and working on the Ignition platform as with the 
rest of the plant. 
 

• Mr. Becker provided an update on the Distribution System capital and O&M and on 
Forest Lake water storage status.  A well permit has been issued for Bird Rock Well 
No. 02 and will mobilize dependent on weather and ground conditions.  Pebble 
Beach Community Special District is coordinating with Carmel Area Wastewater 
District on finalizing the design and installation of anode well at the treatment plant. 
 Forest Lake is full at 115 million gallons. 

 
FINANCIAL-None   

  

312



2022 MARKET REVIEW

4TH QUARTER 2022 PERFORMANCE REVIEW

1ST QUARTER 2023 ACTION PLAN
313



Agenda

2022 Review

4Q 2022 Review

Q1 2023 Action Plan

314



2022 REVIEW: STOCKS & BONDS

315



2022 STOCK MARKET REVIEW

316



MORNINGSTAR STYLE BOX ANALYSIS: 4TH QUARTER / 2022

Russell 1000 Value 

4Q: 12.42%

2022: -7.54%

Russell 1000 Total Return

4Q: 7.24%

2022: -19.13%

Russell 1000 Growth

4Q: 2.20%

2022: -29.14%

Russell Mid Cap Value

4Q: 10.45%

2022: -12.03%

Russell Mid Cap Total Return 

4Q: 9.18%

2022: -17.32%

Russell Mid Cap Growth

4Q: 6.90%

2022: -26.72%

Russell 2000 Value 

4Q: 8.42%

2022: -14.48%

Russell 2000 Total Return

4Q: 6.23%

2022: -20.44%

Russell 2000 Growth

4Q: 4.13%

2022: -26.36% 

Value Blend Growth
La

rg
e

M
id

Sm
al

l

Market Environment

 Interest rate increases

 Oct (75 bps), Nov (75 bps), Dec (50 bps)

 Q4 GDP: 2.9% (“advance estimate)

 CPI

• Oct: 7.7% (core 6.3%)

• Nov: 7.1% (core 6.0%)

• Dec: 6.5% (core 5.7%)

Major Market Indices (4Q / 2022)

 Dow: 16.01% / -6.86%

 S&P 500: 7.56% / -19.44%

 Nasdaq: -1.03% / -33.10%

 MSCI EAFE: 17.34% / -14.45%

317



2022 BOND MARKET REVIEW

318



2022 FIXED INCOME INDICES

Market Environment

 Rising interest rates vs. bond prices

• Interest rate increases forecasted into 2023

Actions Taken

 Sold intermediate and short-term duration 

bond holdings

 Purchased ultra-short duration

 Purchased 3- and 6-month U.S. Treasury bills

Index 1Q 2022 2Q 2022 3Q 2022 4Q 2022 YTD to 
12/31/22

Bloomberg U.S. Agg Bond -5.93% -4.69% -4.75% 1.87% -13.01%

Bloomberg U.S. Corporate Bond -7.69% -7.26% -0.65% 3.63% -15.76%

Bloomberg U.S. Government 1 – 3 Yr -2.50% -0.52% -1.54% 0.73% -3.81%

Bloomberg U.S. Intermediate Bond -4.19% -1.65% -3.11% 2.52% -9.10%

Bloomberg U.S. Government/Credit 
Long-Term -10.95% -12.27% -9.03% 2.61% -27.09%

319



2022 FEDERAL RESERVE ACTION

FOMC Meeting Date Rate Change (bps) Federal Funds Rate Range

December 14, 2022 50 4.25% to 4.50%

November 2, 2022 75 3.75% to 4.00%

September 21, 2022 75 3.00% to 3.25%

July 27, 2022 75 2.25% to 2.50%

June 16, 2022 75 1.50% to 1.75%

May 5, 2022 50 0.75% to 1.00%

March 17, 2022 25 0.25% to 0.50%

320



4TH QUARTER / 2022 OVERVIEW

321



4TH QUARTER OVERVIEW

322



4TH QUARTER OVERVIEW

323



4TH QUARTER OVERVIEW

324



1ST QUARTER 2023 ACTION PLAN

 Rebalance the rest of the portfolio

 Sell:
• Columbia Contrarian Core

• iShares Currency Hedged EAFE ETF

• Forester Value Fund

• First Trust Merger Arbitrage 

• iShares Treasury Floating Rate ETF

• PGIM Ultra Short Bond ETF

 Buy:
• Vanguard Dividend Growth Fund 

• Vanguard High Dividend Yield 

• Vanguard S&P Mid-Cap 400 Value

• Janus Henderson European Focus 

• Schwab International Equity 

• Federated Hermes Intl Small-Mid 

• Schwab U.S. Aggregate Bond ETF 

• Vanguard Short-Term Corporate Bond

• Dodge & Cox Income Fund 

325



U.S. TREASURIES YIELD CURVE 9/15/2022

3-Month: 3.22%

6-Month: 3.78%

3-Month Treasury Bill matured 12/15/2022

6-Month Treasury Bill matures 3/16/2023

326



1ST QUARTER 2023 PORTFOLIO ALLOCATIONS

327



1ST QUARTER 2023 OVERALL PORTFOLIO

13%

7%

14%

5%

6%
3%3%6%

3%

8%

6%

10%

14%
2%

iShares Core S&P 500 ETF - 13%

Vanguard Dividend Growth Fund - 7%

BNY Mellon Dynamic Value Fund- 14%

Vanguard High Dividend Yield - 5%

Vanguard S&P Mid-Cap 400 Value - 6%

Oberweis Small-Cap Growth - 3%

Janus Henderson European Focus - 3%

Schwab International Equity ETF - 6%

Federated Hermes Intl Small/Mid - 3%

Schwab U.S. Aggregate Bond ETF - 8%

Vanguard Short-Term Corporate Bond - 6%

Dodge & Cox Income Fund - 10%

6-Month U.S. Treasury Bill - 14%

Cash -2%

328



RISK & RISK ADJUSTED PERFORMANCE

BETA:
A measure of volatility (risk) relative to the Standard & Poor's 500 Index.  Beta of 1.0 indicates 
risk equal to that of the Standard & Poor's 500 Index over a given period of time, usually 3, 5 and  
10 years.  Beta of less than 1.0 indicates risk less than that of the S&P 500 Index.

3 Year 5 Year 10 Year
CAWD Portfolio 0.62 0.62 0.62

329



FUND/ETF RISK & COST STATISTICS

Mutual Fund/ETF 3-Year Beta Net Expense Ratio 
iShares Core S&P 500 ETF 1.00 0.03
Vanguard Dividend Growth Fund 0.79 0.27
BNY Mellon Dynamic Value Fund 0.98 0.68
Vanguard High Dividend Yield 0.84 0.08
Vanguard S&P Mid-Cap 400 Value ETF 1.15 0.15
Oberweis Small-Cap Opportunities 1.10 1.25
Janus Henderson European Focus 1.06 1.03
Schwab International Equity ETF 1.04 0.06
Federated Hermes International Small-Mid 1.13 0.99
Schwab U.S. Aggregate Bond ETF 1.00 0.03
Vanguard Short-Term Corporate Bond ETF 0.56 0.04
Dodge & Cox Income Fund 1.02 0.41

330



RISK & RISK ADJUSTED PERFORMANCE

STANDARD DEVIATION:

Another measure of volatility (risk).  A higher Standard Deviation indicates a higher degree of volatility 
(risk) over a given period of time, usually 3, 5 and 10 years.  We will compare the CAWD Portfolio with 
the S&P 500 Index.

3 Year 5 Year 10 Year_
CAWD Portfolio 13.74 11.92 9.38 

Standard & Poor's 500 Index 21.39 18.72 14.81

331



RISK & RISK ADJUSTED PERFORMANCE

MEAN:

Mean return over a given period of time, usually 3, 5 and 10 years.  We will compare the CAWD 
Portfolio with the S&P 500 Index.

3 Year 5 Year 10 Year
CAWD Portfolio 7.32 6.17 7.44

Standard & Poor's 500 Index 9.88 9.54 12.68

332



RISK & RISK ADJUSTED PERFORMANCE

ALPHA:

A measure of risk-adjusted returns.  An Alpha of 0 indicates a return proportionate to the degree of 
risk taken.  A positive Alpha indicates a return generated in excess of the degree of risk taken.

3 Year 5 Year 10 Year
CAWD Portfolio    0.36 -0.58 -0.78

333



CONTACT INFORMATION

Hastie Financial Group
307 Main Street, Suite 300

Salinas, CA 93901

PH: (831) 422-4910

Toll-Free: (888) 233-2298

HFG@HastieFG.com

www.hastiefinancialgroup.com

Bill Hastie, MBA, CIMA®, AIFA®, RMA®, C(k)P®, CPFA®

Managing Partner
Haley Hitchman, AIF®, CPFA®

Partner
Ryan Hastie, CPFA®

Financial Advisor

334

mailto:HFG@HastieFG.com


 
Staff Report 
 
 
 
TO:  Board of Directors 
 
FROM: Barbara Buikema, General Manager 
     
DATE: February 23, 2023 
 
SUBJECT: Annexation Cost Recovery 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
This is informational for discussion purposes only. 
 
DISCUSSION 
 Annexation fees are imposed as a condition of incorporating areas outside present District 
boundaries to pay for costs of adding the property to the District.  Such costs include, but 
are not limited to, professional fees (engineering, legal, accounting, financial consultants, 
etc.) and the District’s administrative costs. 
 
The 2016 & 2021 “Mass” Annexation projects were a result of the District’s interest in 
taking a more proactive and comprehensive approach to updating its Sphere of Influence 
(SOI) and service area boundaries to meet current and future needs.  Proactive  mass 
expansion of the District’s SOI and boundaries greatly reduced the need for the inefficient, 
“parcel-by-parcel” approach.  The piecemeal approach resulted in boundary growth that 
was not always contiguous to the existing District boundaries.  Taking a proactive mass 
approach allows the District to reserve capacity for those developed and existing legal lots 
which are currently either served by septic systems or undeveloped legal lots of record in a 
more cost effective approach for constituents and allows for a more  uniform neighborhood 
approach. 
 
Sphere of Influence amendments and annexations historically have occurred as service 
needs arose over time.  In contrast, initiating “mass” annexations will help to gradually 
reduce the number of individual septic systems in the area by reducing the regulatory 
hurdle presented.  Reducing the number of septic systems in the Carmel River watershed is 
a public health benefit that has been a long-standing objective of the County Environmental 
Health Department and would align with the District’s mission statement. 

  

335



In Ordinance 85-02 the District refers to “Special Asset Fee” as one paid for by specially 
serving only a limited or designated area with the District and each equivalent residential 
unit being charged a fee of $450 (specifically for the Carmel Valley Trunk Line).  Over time, 
except for properties that were individually annexed and costs could be collected for that 
property, the District has maintained the $450 dollar fee without any adjustment.  In 2016 
and again in 2020 we entered into “Mass” Annexations in order to make it easier for those 
willing to convert from septic to sewer to join the District. 
 
While we have maintained the 1985 charge of $450 the reality is that we do not know when 
and if people will connect to the District.  We believe by proactively annexing these parcels 
it will encourage connection.  However, we also have studies in the District library from 
the 1970s that predicted all of Carmel Valley, out to the village, would be on sewer service 
by now.  So much for predictions. 
 
2016 Annexation      
Total Cost $70,514.81  Starting Amount $168.70 $168.70 
# ERU 418  Number of Periods 10 20 
Individual 
cost 

$168.70  Interest Rate 6% 6% 

   Future Value $302.12 $541.12 
 
2020 Annexation      
Total Cost $66,620.14  Starting Amount $93.83 $93.83 
# ERU 710  Number of Periods 10 20 
Individual 
cost 

$93.83  Interest Rate 6% 6% 

   Future Value $168.04 $300.93 
ERU = Equivalent Residential Unit 
 

The question asked at the January 2023 Board meeting was “are we getting our return 
on money” with annexation fees?  The answer, as seen above, is maybe.  The unknown 
variable is how long the District will have to front its money before repayment.  We 
simply do not know the answer to that question.  And rather than recalculate the fee 
each year we have maintained it at $450 because it can almost be called “de minimis” 
inasmuch as the parcels involved benefit greatly by being part of the “mass annexation” 
but the District must wait to be repaid.  Parcels that proceed on their own end up 
paying anywhere from $6,000 - $15,000 to complete the legal/environmental 
requirements. 
 
 
 
 

336



FINANCIAL 
 
Undetermined at this time.  However, in general, if parcel connect to the District in a short 
period of time the $450 fee will be more than adequate to cover our costs.  If the District has 
to wait in excess of 20 years then there is the chance that we will not completely cover all 
costs.  Please note that the numbers above do not include staff labor – including labor 
would increase the per unit charge and thereby decrease the number of years it would take 
to recover the value of $450. 

337



Announcements Before the Board

338



CLOSED SESSION

339



Adjournment

340


	01.A  Board Packet Cover
	3945 Rio Road, Carmel, CA 93923

	03.A 01-26-23 Mtng Minutes
	CONSENT CALENDAR: APPROVAL OF MINUTES, FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MONTHLY REPORTS
	RESOLUTIONS

	03.B 01-23-23 Budget Minutes
	3645 Rio Road, Carmel, CA 93923
	The committee discussed the following agenda items:
	 The 2022-23 Capital Budget.  The committee decided to accept the capital budget.

	03.C 01-31-23 Budget Minutes
	3645 Rio Road, Carmel, CA 93923
	The committee discussed the following agenda items:
	 The 2022-23 Operations & Maintenance Budget.  The committee recommended changes to be brought forward at the next committee meeting.

	03.D 2-7-23 Budget Minutes
	3645 Rio Road, Carmel, CA 93923
	The committee discussed the following agenda items:
	 The 2022-23 Proposed rate model was on the agenda.  However, the committee decided to return to additional discussion of the 2022-23 O&M budget.  They plan to discuss the rate model on February 16th.

	03.E 2-9-23 Salary & Benefit Minutes
	3645 Rio Road, Carmel, CA 93923
	Closed Session:
	The committee adjourned to closed session at 3:04 p.m.  The Committee came out of closed session at 3:42 p.m.  The Committee took up all items listed on the agenda for closed session.  The reportable action taken with regards to the Administrative-Boa...
	With regard to the General Manager Review, Human Resources Contract Negotiations, and the Double Time Question there was no reportable action taken.

	03.F 2-13-23 Pension Minutes
	Via teleconference and in-person

	03.G 2-16-23 Budget Minutes
	3645 Rio Road, Carmel, CA 93923
	The committee discussed the following agenda items:
	 The 2022-23 Proposed rate model.
	The committee discussed the rate model and capital component of the rate model.
	The committee took no reportable action.

	04. Placecard Holder Jan CLA Independent Letter
	05. CAWD Stmt of Cash Receipts & Disbursements
	0123
	graph 1
	graph 2

	06. CAWD February Cash Disbursements
	Financials Feb Board 4
	Financials Feb Board 5
	Financials Feb Board 6
	Financials Feb Board 7

	07. Reclamation Disbursements
	08. February Financial Stmts
	Financials Feb Board 9
	Financials Feb Board 10
	Financials Feb Board 11
	Financials Feb Board 12
	Financials Feb Board 13
	Financials Feb Board 14
	Financials Feb Board 15
	Financials Feb Board 16
	Financials Feb Board 17
	Financials Feb Board 18
	Financials Feb Board 19
	Financials Feb Board 20
	Financials Feb Board 21

	09.A Collections January 2023 Staff Board Report
	STAFF REPORT
	FROM: Daryl Lauer, Collection Superintendent
	RECOMMENDATION

	Permits Issued
	Maintenance
	Line Cleaning Table
	CCTV Progress Graph (River Watch Settlement Agreement Target)
	Manhole Inspection Table
	Riverwatch Update
	 Staff has completed the manhole inspection part of the settlement. The Principal Engineer will use this data to schedule rehabilitation or replacement of damaged or deteriorated manholes.
	 Staff has completed the CCTV inspections and pumps station evaluations are being reviewed by the Principal Engineer. All of this information will be used for the final Collection System Asset Management Plan.
	General Comments

	09.B Cleaning Map Jan 23
	09.C CCTV Map Jan 23
	09.D SSO Map
	10. Safety Staff Report 01- Jan '23.v1
	RECOMMENDATION
	DISCUSSION

	11. Treatment Facility Operations Report-Jan 2023
	12. 2023 January Laboratory Report RD
	13. Implementation Plan Schedule 2-3-23
	14. Project Summaries 2-23-2023
	            ADP Workforce Now

	15.A Plant Ops Staff January 2023-V2
	RECOMMENDATION
	DISCUSSION
	Training:
	 Staff continued to complete online training at the treatment facility from Target Solutions as Carmel Area Wastewater District (CAWD) implements  new safety policies.
	 Staff  participated in scheduled tailgate safety meetings in the digester building conference room.
	  January 18, the Operations Superintendent attended an online class on “Operations Plans” PFAS in California.
	• Staff continues working with Plant Engineer, Patrick Treanor, on Project #18-01, the Electrical/Mechanical Rehabilitation and Sludge Holding Tank Replacement Project for the following areas: Influent Pump Station, Headworks, Blower Building, Chlorin...
	Meetings Attended
	  January 5, Zoom meeting with Trussell Technologies to review  the past three months operational data on the Wastewater Reclamation Project.
	 January 6, Zoom meeting with Trussell Technologies and Kennedy/Jenks Engineering to clarify questions on the asset evaluation program.
	Annual Reports
	 Submitted the following Annual reports:
	o Annual Report for National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) Number CA0047996, Order No. R3-2014-0012, which included annual outfall inspection and Bio-solids disposal. To view the report click the link: To view the Secondary NPDES Annu...
	o Annual Report for Reclamation Permit 93-72. To view the report click the link: To view the Tertiary NPDES Annual Report 2022.
	o Environmental Protection Agency Sewage Sludge (Biosolids) Annual Report Permit CAL047996
	o CalRecycle Annual (Quarterly) Biosolids Report Permit RD10733
	o State of California Annual Volumetric Reporting of Wastewater and Recycle Water, WDR100029577
	Discharge Permit Violations
	• There were no violations of Reclamation Permit 93-72 for the month of December 2022.
	  There was one violation of the National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) Number CA0047996, Order No. R3-2014-0012 within the month of December 2022.
	 On December 15, 2022, Carmel Area Wastewater District, Monterey County exceeded Waste Discharge Requirements (WDR) Order No. R3-2014-0012 National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) Permit No. CA0047996. For the following constitution fo...
	1. Instantaneous Maximum Chlorine Residual of 7300 micrograms per liter or 7.3 milligrams per liter (mg/L). Chlorine Residual at time of Supervisory Control and Data Acquisition alarm condition at 0851 hours by laboratory titration was 9.7 mg/L.
	Note: see attached PDF for the full report filed to the Central Coast Regional Water Quality Control Board.
	.
	FUNDING-N/A-Informational item only
	Attachment:
	 Attachment 1-12-15-2022 Chlorine Violation

	15.B Plant Effluent Permit Violation Letter
	16. Maintenance Staff Report 2- January 2023-V2
	RECOMMENDATION
	DISCUSSION

	17. Engineering Staff Report  February  2023
	17.B Resolutions Section Break
	18.A SEPTEMBER RANCH SEWER INSTALL STAFF REPORT DRAFT 2_8_23
	18.B Attachment 1 blank page Break-drawing of project
	18.B.1 Exh 6.1 Sanitary Sewer-color 
	Sheets and Views
	6 - SS OWNERSHIP


	18.B.2  Attachment 2 blank page Break-installation agreemt
	18.C SEWER INSTALLATION AGREEMENT- September Ranch_FINAL 2_15_23 (CJP 2.15.23)
	1. CONSTRUCTION OF IMPROVEMENTS.  CARMEL RESERVE, through GENERAL CONTRACTOR, shall at its own expense, construct the Extension in accordance with the plans and specifications approved by DISTRICT.
	2. INDEMNIFICATION.  CARMEL RESERVE shall to the full extent permitted by law exonerate, indemnify, and immediately defend (with independent counsel reasonably acceptable to the DISTRICT), and hold harmless DISTRICT, including without limitation, the ...
	(a) The provisions of this Section are not limited by the provisions herein relating to insurance, including without limitation, the provisions of any workers’ compensation act or similar act. CARMEL RESERVE waives its statutory immunity under such st...
	(b) CARMEL RESERVE shall obtain executed indemnity agreements with provisions identical to those in this Section from each and every contractor, subcontractor, sub-tier contractor or any other person or entity involved by, for, with or on behalf of CA...
	(c) Failure of the DISTRICT to monitor compliance with any of the requirements of this Section 2 imposes no additional obligations on the DISTRICT and in no way acts as a waiver of any rights hereunder.

	3. INSURANCE. For the full term of this Agreement (and any extensions thereof) CARMEL RESERVE shall obtain for itself, and shall require of GENERAL CONTRACTOR and every other contractor, subcontractor, sub-tier contractor or any other person or entity...
	(i) Worker's Compensation in the minimum statutorily required coverage amounts.  This insurance coverage shall be required.
	(ii) Vehicles used in the performance of this Agreement by CARMEL RESERVE or any persons or entities required above in this Section to obtain and maintain insurance, including owned, non­owned (e.g., owned by CARMEL RESERVE or said persons’ or entitie...
	(iii) Comprehensive or Commercial General Liability Insurance coverage in the minimum amount of $3,000,000.00 combined single limit, including coverage for: bodily injury, personal injury, broad form property damage, contractual liability, and cros...
	(b) Other Insurance Provisions
	(i) All required Automobile and Comprehensive or Commercial General Liability Insurance shall be endorsed to contain the following clause:
	(ii) All required insurance policies shall be endorsed to contain the following clause: “This insurance shall not be cancelled, reduced or modified until and unless thirty (30) days prior written notice has been given to:


	4. EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY.  CARMEL RESERVE, unless excused in writing by DISTRICT, shall require for itself, and shall obtain promises by written agreements that GENERAL CONTRACTOR and every other contractor, subcontractor, sub-tier contractor, ...
	(a)  They shall not discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, color, religion, national origin, ancestry, physical handicap or disability, medical condition (cancer related), marital status, sex, sexual preference,...
	(b) If they employ fifteen (15) or more employees, the following requirements shall be included in their agreements.
	(c) They shall, in all solicitations or advertisements for employees placed, state that all qualified applicants will receive consideration for employment without regard to race, color, religion, national origin, ancestry, physical handicap or disabil...
	(i) They shall furnish CARMEL RESERVE and  District’s Affirmative Action Office information and reports in the prescribed reporting format (PER 4012) identifying the sex, race, handicap or disability, and job classification of its employees and the na...


	5. FEES.  CARMEL RESERVE will deposit $319,662  in a trust fund with the DISTRICT for District’s engineering reviews and inspection costs.  Only actual costs will be billed to this account. The costs include $ 299,662 for inspection services by MNS En...
	6. TIME OF COMPLETION.  The construction work shall be completed within Two thousand (2,000) working days from date work begins and shall be completed no later than 4 years from date of execution.  This Agreement shall be void unless work is initiated...
	7. EASEMENTS.  CARMEL RESERVE agrees to provide or has provided DISTRICT with all necessary easements for the purposes of installing, maintaining, repairing or replacing the two pump stations and sewer lines leading to and from the pump stations, all ...
	8. CONSENT TO ACCESS.  During the course of construction of the Extension, District consents to CARMEL RESERVE, GENERAL CONTRACTOR, CONSTRUCTION MANAGER and any of said entities’ duly authorized representatives, including, but not limited to, any subc...
	9. ACCEPTANCE OF SEWERS.  DISTRICT, for and in consideration of the execution of this Agreement and fulfillment by CARMEL RESERVE of the terms set forth herein, agrees to accept full ownership and possession of and to undertake all maintenance, upkeep...
	10. NOTICES.  All notices to the parties, provided for or permitted under this Agreement or by law, must be in writing and shall be deemed duly served when personally delivered to the other party.
	In lieu of personal service, notices shall be deemed duly served on a party when deposited in the United States mail, certified postage prepaid, addressed to such party as set forth below or at such other place as may from time to time be specified in...
	11. BINDING EFFECT.  This Agreement shall be binding upon each party and their respective successors in interest and assigns.
	12. CONTROLLING LAW.  This Agreement has been negotiated, drafted and executed in Monterey County, California.  The parties agree that this Agreement and the rights and remedies of the parties hereunder shall be governed by California law.  Each party...
	13. COUNTERPARTS.  This Agreement may be executed in a number of counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original and all of which shall constitute one and the same Agreement.
	14. COMPLETE AGREEMENT.  This instrument, any attached exhibits, and the documents expressly described or referred to in the Agreement constitute all of the understandings and agreements existing between the parties concerning this Agreement and the r...
	15. SEVERABILITY.  If any one or more of the provisions contained in this Agreement is held by a court of competent jurisdiction (or by an arbitrator who adjudicates any dispute or interprets this Agreement) for any reason to be invalid, illegal, or u...
	16. AMENDMENTS.  The exclusive method to change or modify this Agreement shall be by a written amendment to this Agreement, signed by the parties, and shall be effective from the date specified in such amendment unless the parties agree to another eff...
	17. NUMBER; GENDER.  Whenever appropriate in this Agreement, terms in the singular form shall include the plural (and vice versa) and any gender form shall include all others.
	18. HEADINGS.  Section headings in this Agreement are for the convenience of the parties only and do not form a part of this Agreement, nor should such headings be used to interpret any provision of this Agreement.
	19. REMEDIES.  All rights and remedies of any party under this Agreement or under applicable law shall be separate and cumulative, and no right or remedy, whether or not exercised, shall preclude a party from exercising any other right or remedy.
	20. PREPARATION OF AGREEMENT.  The parties acknowledge that the law offices of Anthony Lombardo & Associates, a professional corporation ("Lombardo"), has prepared this Agreement on behalf of CARMEL RESERVE; and that Lombardo has not provided legal re...
	21. TIME OF THE ESSENCE.  Time is of the essence of this Agreement and failure to comply strictly with this provision and the time periods specified herein (unless waived or extended by written agreement) shall be a material breach of this Agreement.
	22. CUMULATIVE RIGHTS.  All rights and remedies of any party under this Agreement or under applicable law shall be separate and cumulative, and no right or remedy, whether or not exercised, shall preclude a party from exercising any other right or rem...
	23. INTERPRETATION/CONSTRUCTION OF AGREEMENT.  The parties acknowledge that this Agreement was drafted after negotiations between the parties.  The parties agree that any ambiguities or uncertainties shall be resolved by giving effect to the ascertain...
	24. AUTHORITY.  The individuals signing the Agreement on behalf of the District and CARMEL RESERVE represent, covenant and warrant that they have the full and absolute authority and ability to bind the respective organizations on whose behalf they are...
	25. ATTORNEYS’ FEES AND COSTS.  Each party shall bear its own attorneys’ fees and costs incurred through the Effective Date, as well as all costs of preparing, negotiating and executing this Agreement.  If any action is necessary to enforce or interpr...
	26. ALTERNATE DISPUTE RESOLUTION.  Any dispute arising out of or relating to this Agreement, or the making, performance or interpretation thereof, shall first be submitted to mediation in Monterey County, California, before a neutral mediator to be se...

	18.C.1 Attachment 4 blank page Break-RES 2022-10
	18.C.2 RES 2023-10 September Ranch Sewer installation Agreement
	RESOLUTION NO. 2023-10

	19.A Attachment 3 blank page Break-deed agreemt
	19.B Carmel Reserve Pump and Pipeline Easement Agrmnt updated 2_8_23 (CJP 2.15.23)
	2. COMPLETE AGREEMENT -   This instrument, any attached exhibits, and the documents expressly described or referred to in the Agreement constitute all of the understandings and agreements existing between and among the parties concerning this Agree...

	19.C Attachment 5 blank page Break-RES 2022-11
	19.D RES 2023-11 September Ranch_ Easement Agreement 2_8_23
	RESOLUTION NO. 2023-11

	20.A. Attachment 6 blank page Break-MNS Proposal-Construction Inspection
	20.B Attachment 6 September Ranch Cosntruction Inspection Proposal 10-7-22
	20.C Attachment 7 blank page Break-MNS Proposal-Construction Inspection-Consulting MNS Agreemt
	20.D Attachment 7 MNS Consulting Services Agreement -September Ranch Inspections_2_15_23
	20.E Attachment 8 blank page Break-RES 2022-12
	20.F RES 2023-12 MNS September Ranch  Proposal Resolution
	21.A Corona Road CWSRF 02-23-23
	21.B  RES 2023-13 Reimbursement Resolution for Corona Rd SWRCB
	(Governing Board of the Agency) (Date)

	22.B  RES 2023-14 Authorizing GM to file Financial Assistance Application with SWRCB-Corona
	23.A Ejector Pump Policy Staff Report-c1
	23.B DRAFT EJECTOR PUMP POLICY updated 2_15_23-c1
	CAWD INSTALLED EJECTOR PUMP POLICY
	1. DEFINITIONS
	2. GENERAL
	3. TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR CAWD MAINTENANCE OF EJECTOR PUMP SYSTEM


	23.C RES 2023-15 Ejector Pump Policy-c1
	24.A Execute Professional Services Contract with Kennedy Jenks for Design of Water and Gas Service Replacement
	24.B KJ Proposal for CAWD WWTP Water and Gas Service Pipelines Jan 2023
	Letter Proposal CAWD Water and Gas Service Pipelines Jan 2023
	Task 1 – 50% Design
	Task 2 – 90% Design
	Task 3 – Final Design
	Task 4 – Coordination and Permitting Support
	Task 5 – Bidding Services
	Task 6 – Project Management

	2022 Rate Schedule
	Personnel Compensation
	Classification Hourly Rate

	Direct Expenses

	KJ fmProposalFeeEstimate CAWD pipelines Jan 2023
	Proposal Fee Estimate

	BTE Proposal
	Survey Proposal

	24.C RES 2023-16 Kennedy Jenks - Water and Gas Service Replacement
	25. A Salary Adjustment 02-23-23
	RECOMMENDATION

	25. B  RES 2023-17 Desginated Classification Titles Monthly Salary Ranges
	02-23-23

	26.A Electric Vehicle Charging Staff Report February 2023
	RECOMMENDATION
	DISCUSSION

	26.B Workplace EV Charging Policy
	26.C Res 2023-18 Electric Vehicle Charging Policy Resolution
	RESOLUTION NO. 2023-18

	27.A FEMA Assistance Cal OES 130 Staff Report 02-23-23
	27.B  Designation of Applicants Agent Resolution
	27.C  RES 2023-19 Emergency Services Financial Assistance
	28.A  Pension Plan Trustee 02-23-23
	RECOMMENDATION
	DISCUSSION

	28.B  Pension Plan Attachment A 02-25-21
	28.C  RES 23-20 Pension Plan Amendment 02-23-23
	29.A Communications General Manager's Oral Report Break 
	29.B Recap of GM Goals
	29.C Scenic Road Lttr 01-28-23
	29.D Other Items Before the Board-blank Break
	30. Mo Co Treasurer 12-31-22
	31.A  CalPERS Actuarial Review 07-01-22
	RECOMMENDATION
	DISCUSSION

	31.B  CAWD Classic 06-30-21
	31.C  CAWD PEPRA 06-30-21
	32.A  SAM Pension Plan Actuarial Review 07-01-22
	RECOMMENDATION
	DISCUSSION

	32.B  SAM 2022 Actuarial Report
	33. Doubletime issue
	34. Wellington -CovidPandemicBrownActIssues_AB2449
	35. 2023 Form 700 Staff Report - Reminder Deadline
	RECOMMENDATION

	36. Information & Disscusion Items Break
	36.A Project #18-01 - Monthly Construction Progress Report - February 2023
	Section 1: Project Summary
	Section 2: Work Performed This Month
	2.1 General
	2.1.1 Submittals
	2.1.2 PLC Programming

	2.2 Site Work
	2.2.1 Potholing/Locating Existing Utilities

	2.3 Sludge Holding Tank Replacement
	2.4 Influent Pump Station Rehab
	2.5 Headworks Rehab
	2.6 Chlorination Building Rehab/3W System Improvements
	2.7 Effluent Pump Station Rehab

	Section 3: Project Issues
	Section 4: RFI and Submittals Review Summary
	Section 5: Change Order Summary
	Section 6: Project Schedule and Budget
	6.1 Schedule
	6.2 Budget

	Section 7: Photos

	37. WWTP Rehab Project Paving Change Order
	38. PBCSD 2-23-23
	DISCUSSION
	Agenda items from the January 27, 2023, meeting that are of specific interest to this District:

	39. Reclamation Mtg 02-07-23
	40. Hastie Financial Packet CAWD 1Q2023
	Slide Number 1
	Slide Number 2
	Slide Number 3
	Slide Number 4
	Slide Number 5
	Slide Number 6
	Slide Number 7
	Slide Number 8
	Slide Number 9
	Slide Number 10
	Slide Number 11
	Slide Number 12
	Slide Number 13
	Slide Number 14
	Slide Number 15
	Slide Number 16
	Slide Number 17
	Slide Number 18
	Slide Number 19
	Slide Number 20
	Slide Number 21
	Slide Number 22

	41. Annexation Recovery Costs
	42.A Announcements Before the Board
	43. Closed Session Break
	44. Adjournment



